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Differences Between U.S. GAAP and IFRS
(Exhibit 17.1, p. 670)

Chapter Reporting Topic U.S. GAAP IFRS

8 Revenue recognition Must have delivered a product or service in One general standard and a few documents with
return for net assets capable of sufficiently industry-specific guidance. For long-term contracts,
reliable measurement. Over 200 documents use percentage-of-completion method if amounts
provide industry-specific and transaction- are estimable. Otherwise, use cost-recovery method.
specific guidance. Completed contract method not permitted.

9 Inventories and cost of Measurement of market value uses a Measurement of market value uses net realizable value.

goods sold: lower of cost combination of replacement cost and net
or market realizable values.

9 Inventories: cost flow Specific identification, FIFO, weighted- Specific identification, FIFO, and weighted-average
average, and LIFO cost-flow assumptions cost-flow assumptions permitted. LIFO not permitted.
permitted.

10  Property, plant, and Not permitted. Permitted under certain conditions.

equipment: revaluations
above acquisition cost

10  Research and development  Recognize as an expense in the period Recognize research costs as an expense in the period
cost incurred, except for certain software incurred. Capitalize certain development costs and

development costs. amortize them over the expected period of benefit.

10  Property, plant, and If carrying value exceeds undiscounted cash ~ Recognize an impairment loss for the excess of carrying
equipment: impairment flows value, recognize an impairment loss value over recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is
loss equal to the excess of carrying value over larger of the fair value less cost to sell and the value

fair value. in use. Can subsequently reverse the impairment loss
but not above acquisition cost.

10 Intangible assets with If undiscounted cash flows exceed carrying Recognize an impairment loss for the excess of carrying
finite lives: impairment value, recognize an impairment loss equal value over recoverable amount. Recoverable amount
loss to the excess of carrying value over fair is the larger of the fair value less cost to sell and the

value. value in use. Can subsequently reverse the impairment
loss but not above acquisition cost.

10 Intangible assets, Recognize an impairment loss for the excess ~ Recognize an impairment loss for the excess of carrying
other than goodwill, of carrying value over fair value. value over recoverable amount. Recoverable amount
with indefinite lives: is the larger of the fair value less cost to sell and the
impairment loss value in use. Test these assets annually for impairment

losses and recoveries of impairment losses.

10  Goodwill: impairment loss Step 1: Compare the carrying value to the Step 1: Compare the carrying value to the recoverable
fair value of a reporting unit. If the carrying  amount for a cash-generating unit.
value exceeds the fair value, proceed to Step 2: Recognize an impairment loss for any excess
Step 2. of carrying value over recoverable amount of the cash-
Step 2: Allocate the fair value of the generating unit. First write down goodwill and then
reporting unit to assets and Liabilities allocate any remaining loss to other assets based on
based on their fair values and any excess to  their relative recoverable amounts.
goodwill. Recognize an impairment loss on Step 3: Test goodwill annually for impairment losses.
the goodwill if the carrying value exceeds
the allocated fair value.

Step 3: Test goodwill annually for
impairment loss or whenever a goodwill
impairment loss is probable. Firms may also
apply a qualitative impairment test.

12 Contingent obligations Recognize as liabilities if payment is Recognize as liabilities if payment is more likely than
(U.S. GAAP) and probable (probability usually exceeds 80%).  not (probability exceeds 50%). Measure at the best
provisions (IFRS) Measure at the most likely amount or at estimate of the amount to settle the obligation.

the low end of range if no one estimate is
better than any other.

11 Leases A lease is a capital lease if it satisfies Judgment required based on several indicators to
one of four conditions; otherwise, it is an identify the entity that enjoys the benefits and bears
operating lease. the risks of leasing.

15  Convertible bonds Unless the conversion option can be settled  Allocate issue price between the bonds and the

in cash, allocate issue price entirely to
bonds and none to conversion option.

conversion option.
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Summary of Financial Statement Ratios

Ratio

(Exhibit 7.11, p. 244)

Numerator

Denominator

Profitability Ratios
Return on Equity (ROE) . ..........

Return on Assets (ROA) ...........

Return on Assets, adjusted
for financing ................

Profit Margin . . ................
Various Expense Ratios ...........
Asset Ratio Turnover . . ...........

Accounts Receivable Turnover

Inventory Turnover Ratio . . ........
Fixed-Asset Turnover Ratio . ........

Financial Leverage Ratio ..........

Short-Term Liquidity Risk Ratios
Current Ratio . . ................

Quick or Acid Test Ratio. ..........

Cash Flow from Operations to Current
Liabilities Ratio . .............

Accounts Payable Turnover Ratio. . . . .

Days Accounts Receivable
Qutstanding. . ...............

Days Inventories Held . ... ........

Days Accounts Payable
Qutstanding. . ...............

Long-Term Liquidity Ratios

Liabilities to Assets Ratio..........
Long-Term Debt Ratio ............
Debt-Equity Ratio. . .............

Cash Flow from Operations to Total
Liabilities Ratio . .............

Interest Coverage Ratio . ..........

Net Income

Net Income

Net Income + Interest Expense
(net of tax effects)

Net Income
Various Expenses

Sales

Sales
Cost of Goods Sold
Sales

Average Total Assets During the Period

Current Assets

Highly Liquid Assets
(cash, marketable securities,
and accounts receivable)?

Cash Flow from Operations

Purchases®

365 days
365 days

365 days

Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Long-Term Debt

Cash Flow from Operations

Income Before Interest and
Income Taxes

Average Shareholders’ Equity
During the Period

Average Total Assets During the Period

Average Total Assets During the Period

Sales
Sales
Average Total Assets During the Period

Average Accounts Receivable During
the Period

Average Inventory During the Period
Average Fixed Assets During the Period

Average Shareholders’ Equity During
the Period

Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Average Current Liabilities During
the Period

Average Accounts Payable During
the Period

Accounts Receivable Turnover Ratio

Inventory Turnover Ratio

Accounts Payable Turnover Ratio

Assets
Assets
Shareholders’ Equity

Average Total Liabilities During
the Period

Interest Expense

aThe calculation could exclude receivables for some firms and include inventories for others.

bPyrchases = Cost of Goods Sold + Ending Inventories — Beginning Inventories.
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For Our Students

Whatever be the detail with which you cram your students, the chance of their meeting in after-
life exactly that detail is infinitesimal; and if they do meet it, they will probably have forgot-
ten what you taught them about it. The really useful training yields a comprehension of a few
general principles with a thorough grounding in the way they apply to a variety of concrete
details. In subsequent practice the students will have forgotten your particular details; but
they will remember by an unconscious common sense how to apply principles to immediate
circumstances.

Alfred North Whitehead
The Aims of Education and Other Essays

WARNING: Study of this book is known to cause thinking, occasionally deep thinking.
Typical side effects include mild temporary anxiety followed by profound long-term
understanding and satisfaction.
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Preface

ver the years, we have come to refer to our book’s title by the acronym FACMU—
Financial Accounting: An Introduction to Concepts, Methods, and Uses. We take con-
cepts, methods, and uses to be the central elements in learning and teaching about
financial accounting.

The 14th Edition of FACMU has the same objectives as the previous editions:

B To help students develop a sufficient understanding of the basic concepts underlying finan-
cial reports so that they can apply the concepts to new and different situations.

B To train students in accounting terminology and methods so that they can interpret, ana-
lyze, and evaluate financial statements and notes currently published in corporate annual
reports.

Most introductory financial accounting textbooks state these, or similar, objectives. Textbooks
differ in their relative emphases on concepts, methods, and uses.

1. Concepts This book emphasizes the rationale for, and implications of, accounting con-
cepts. To learn accounting, students must develop the ability to conceptualize the transac-
tions that accounting summarizes and the process of summarization. Without such concepts,
students will have difficulty focusing on the relevant issues in new and different situations.

Accordingly, each chapter identifies important accounting concepts and includes
numerical examples illustrating their application. The end-of-chapter material includes
numerous short exercises and longer problems to check students’ ability to apply the con-
cepts to different situations.

2. Methods We place enough emphasis on accounting procedures to enable students to
interpret, analyze, and evaluate published financial statements. The text does not empha-
size procedures to such an extent that students bog down in detail. All writers of account-
ing textbooks must decide just how much accounting procedure to include. We believe
students learn most effectively by working exercises and problems. Too much emphasis on
accounting procedures, however, lulls students into the security of thinking they under-
stand accounting concepts when they do not. We have for many years used the mixture of
concepts and procedures in this book and have found it effective in the classroom.

Understanding the accounting implications of an event requires that students con-
struct the journal entry for that event. Throughout this book we use journal entries in
describing the nature of accounting events. Moreover, most chapters contain exercises and
problems that require the analysis of transactions with debits and credits. Do not conclude
by a glance at this text, however, that it is primarily procedural. We want students to learn
concepts; the procedures enhance the learning of concepts.

3. Uses This book attempts to bridge the gap between the preparation of financial reports
and their use in various decision situations. The chapters consider the effects of alterna-
tive accounting principles on the measurement of earnings and financial position and the
appropriate interpretations of them. Numerous problems based on financial statement
data of actual companies appear at the end of most chapters.

OVERVIEW OF THE 14TH EDITION

WHAT’s New IN FACMU 14€

Most important, but easily visible, we have simplified the book. The text pulls back a bit from
discussion of advanced accounting topics and simplifies the treatments remaining.
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The major visible changes occur at the beginning and end of the book:

B NEW: We have split the former Chapter 2, which treated record-keeping procedures, into
two chapters, now Chapters 2 and 3. Chapter 2 treats balance sheet basics, and Chapter 3
treats income statement basics.

B NEW: Chapter 17 now treats issues of organizing and presenting elements of income in
a single place. We discuss the following in sequence, with emphasis on why these matter:
recurring versus nonrecurring income, operating versus peripheral income, earnings versus
other comprehensive income, and errors and accounting changes.

Other important features of the 14th Edition are as follows. These features affect multiple chap-
ters of the text.

B Integration of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) We continue to inte-
grate IFRS into the text. We start from the premise that U.S. GAAP and IFRS use the
same concepts but sometimes require or permit different methods. At the FACMU level,
for MBA students and upperclass undergraduates, the methods are often identical or simi-
lar; where they are not, we describe and illustrate the differences. You can easily see the
scope of the U.S. GAAP/IFRS details in this book by examining the chart inside the front
cover. That chart shows the chapters and topics where the discussion includes both IFRS
and U.S. GAAP.

B Fair values and components of other comprehensive income As U.S. GAAP and IFRS
incorporate more required or permitted fair value measurements, we have broadened our
coverage. The fair value option in U.S. GAAP affects accounting for some debt securities
and some investments. We discuss these in Chapters 11, 13, 14, 15, and 17, both concepts
and methods. Insofar as changes in fair values affect other comprehensive income, we’ve
expanded that discussion as well.

B Actual financial statements We have continued the use of actual financial statement excerpts
in the chapters and in end-of-chapter assignment materials. We often change the names and
dates in the financial statements. You will see that Chapter 1, for example, shows the financial
statements for Great Deal and Thames, which are based on the financial statements of Best
Buy and Thales, respectively.

The following features affect individual chapters.

B Treatment of record-keeping cycle in early chapters Given the success the Duke Univer-
sity authors have had with the record-keeping material they give to their MBA students
before the financial accounting class begins, we have reorganized the balance sheet and
income statement record-keeping material into « pair of chapters that precede most of the
conceptual discussions. Chapter 2 introduces assets, liabilities, shareholders’ equity, jour-
nal entries, and T-accounts. Chapter 3 introduces the recording of operating transactions,
elementary adjusting entries, closing entries, and preparation of financial statements.

Chapters 2 and 3 accomplish this without overwhelming the student with advanced
accounting and economic concepts. The problem material for Chapter 3 includes the
“working backward” problems that have distinguished this text from many of its com-
petitors. The basic record-keeping cycle gives students transactions and then asks them to
produce recording entries and adjusting entries, prepare the income statement, supply the
closing entries, and finally provide the ending balance sheet and statement of cash flows. In
the working backward problems, we give students some of the later items and ask them to
derive earlier items. We say one doesn’t understand accounting until one can work through
the record-keeping cycle backward as well as forward. The typical accounting problem
gives facts and asks the students to derive the financial statements. The working backward
problems start with some subset of the financial statements and ask the students to derive
the underlying transactions.

B Focus on balance sheet and income statement measurements, formats, and conventions Chap-
ter 4 (balance sheet) introduces the asset and liability recognition criteria and measure-
ment bases, including fair value measurement. Chapter 5 (income statement) continues by
describing basic revenue and expense recognition criteria and measurement and timing
issues. Chapter 8 contains a more detailed discussion of revenue recognition. All three
chapters highlight classification and display differences that exist across firms, as well as
between firms that follow U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Preface vii

B Emphasis on the direct method of computing cash flow from operations Both the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB) have expressed a preference for the direct method of computing cash flow from
operations. Students are likely to increasingly encounter the direct method during their
professional careers. Thus, we continue our emphasis on the direct method in the 14th
Edition. Our students encounter difficulty with the indirect method of computing cash
flow from operations when they first study the statement of cash flows. We have found
that introducing the direct method early, as we do in Chapter 1, helps students to under-
stand the adjustments required to convert net income to cash flow from operations under
the indirect method. Chapter 6 therefore emphasizes the direct method, without deleting
material on the indirect method commonly found in practice. Chapter 16 revisits the state-
ment of cash flows, integrating material on more advanced topics into discussions of both
the direct and indirect methods for presenting cash flow from operations. For example, we
include transactions for, and income tax effects of, stock option compensation expense,
impairment loss, and, employees’ exercise of their stock options.

B Organization of topics involving revenue recognition and working capital Chapter 8 treats
revenue recognition, receivables, and advances from customers. Chapter 9 treats other cur-
rent assets and current liabilities, including inventories, payables, and restructuring liabili-
ties. The decision to bring all the working capital account issues together results from our
view that the accounting for current liabilities has more in common with the accounting for
current assets than with the accounting for noncurrent assets. Consider, for example, the
parallels between the allowance method applied to uncollectibles and to warranty costs.

B IFRS differences from U.S. GAAP for noncurrent assets Chapter 10 contrasts the U.S.
GAAP and IFRS treatments of noncurrent assets. At the elementary level of this book, the
major differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS in the accounting for noncurrent assets
occur in the accounting for development costs and impairments.

B Organization of noncurrent liability topics Chapter 11 treats mortgages, bonds, install-
ment notes, and lease liabilities. Leases are so common in business that we treat them as a
basic, not an advanced, topic in liabilities. As this book goes to press, the standard setters
have proposed to change the accounting for leases. We have introduced the topics in such a
way that the students learn both the existing and proposed accounting treatments. Chapter
12 treats income taxes, off-balance sheet financing, and defined benefit pension arrange-
ments, each in separate sections allowing the instructor to select one or two of these topics,
without doing all three. For example, you can skip the pension material and assign the
material on income taxes. We don’t expect students to master all this material during their
first term in accounting, but many will not take more accounting and find later in their
careers that they need to understand the basics of accounting for these more advanced top-
ics. We have included this material, in the FACMU style of concepts, methods, and uses, so
that this book can serve as a reference on these topics for our alumni.

B Separation of investments in marketable securities and derivatives from treatment of the equity
method and consolidated statements Chapter 13 simplifies our coverage of accounting for
derivatives, while Chapter 14 continues to present material on joint ventures and variable
interest entities (U.S. GAAP) and special purpose entities (IFRS). We have expanded this
material into two chapters so that we can provide more coverage on derivatives without
having a single enormous chapter. As in Chapter 12, we have provided some advanced
materials to support instructor choice as to which advanced topics to cover and to ensure
that our alumni will have this material at the ready when they encounter these issues on the
job or in more advanced courses in the MBA curriculum.

B  Summary of the FASB’s and IASB’s joint projects on the conceptual framework Chapter 17
discusses the conceptual frameworks of both the FASB and IASB and the changes under
consideration in their joint conceptual framework project.

B Reporting on transactions of a company, other than with owners that affect owners’ equity.
New in this edition, Chapter 17 brings together into a unified discussion the reporting and
disclosure of income statement information, including the nature and reporting of transac-
tions, accounting errors and adjustments, earnings per share, and segment reporting.

B More complex topics appear on the Web site We have placed complex material on deferred
taxes, foreign currency translation, and general price level adjusted accounting on the text’s
Web site.
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viii Preface

ORGANIZATION
This book comprises four major parts:

B Part 1: “Overview of Financial Statements,” consisting of Chapters 1 through 3.
B Part 2: “Accounting Concepts and Methods,” Chapters 4 through 7.

B Part 3: “Measuring and Reporting Assets and Equities,” Chapters 8 through 15.
B Part 4: “Synthesis,” Chapters 16 and 17.

In our view, the four parts are tiers, or steps, in the learning process. Part 1 presents a general
overview of the principal financial statements and basic transactions recording and financial
statement preparation. Part 2 discusses the basic accounting model accountants use to gen-
erate the principal financial statements. Part 3 considers the specific accounting principles or
methods used in preparing the financial statements. Part 4 summarizes and integrates the mate-
rial from the first three parts. This organization reflects our view that learning takes place most
effectively when students begin with a broad picture, then break up that broad picture into smaller
pieces until achieving the desired depth, and finally synthesizing so that the relation between the
parts and the whole retains its perspective.

Chapter 1 presents a brief description of the principal activities of a business firm (goal
setting and strategy formulation, investing, financing, and operating) and shows how the prin-
cipal financial statements—the balance sheet, the income statement, and the statement of cash
flows—report the results of these activities. We use the business activities and the financial
statements of Best Buy and Thales, renamed Great Deal and Thames, to illustrate the impor-
tant concepts. Chapter 1 also provides an overview of the financial reporting environment.
Many students feel deluged with the multitude of new terms and concepts after reading Chap-
ter 1. Later, many students admit that the broad overview helped piece material together as
they later explored individual topics at greater length and in greater depth. Chapters 2 (balance
sheet) and 3 (income statement) focus on record-keeping vocabulary and processes. Chapter
3, unlike treatments in other texts, integrates the accounting entries for transactions during a
period with the related adjusting entries at the end of the period. When textbooks discuss these
two types of entries in separate chapters, students often lose sight of the fact that measuring net
income and reporting financial position requires both kinds of entries.

Chapters 4 and 5 present the basic accounting model that generates the financial state-
ments. They discuss the elements of financial statements: assets, liabilities, equity, revenue, and
expenses. The conceptual frameworks of the FASB and the IASB provide the basis for these
discussions, which include fair value measurements for assets and liabilities.

Chapter 6 discusses cash flows. We continue to put coverage of the statement of cash flows
early in the text. This placement serves two purposes. First, it elevates the statement to its right-
ful place among the principal financial statements. Students can thereby integrate the concepts
of profitability and cash flow more effectively and begin to understand that one does not neces-
sarily accompany the other. Covering this statement at the end of the course can lead students
to think the cash flow statement less important. Placing this chapter early in the book forces
the student to cement understanding of the basic accounting model from Chapters 2, 3, 4, and
5. Preparing the statement of cash flows requires the student to work backward from the bal-
ance sheet and income statement to reconstruct the transactions that took place. We present
the direct method of computing cash flow from operations, without detracting from the impor-
tance of understanding the indirect method. The FASB, for more than a decade, and the IASB
have expressed a preference for the direct method. Few U.S. companies currently use it, but we
think this will change during the careers of students.

Chapters 2 through 6 use the Balance Sheet Equation or changes in the Balance Sheet
Equation to motivate understanding of the topics discussed. Each of these chapters includes
one or more simple problems that students can work using the balance sheet approach to pre-
pare the principal financial statements. Although these chapters emphasize debit/credit proce-
dures, instructors can use the Balance Sheet Equation approach to communicate the basics of
statement preparation.

Chapters 3 through 6 each contain a section on analyzing and interpreting the financial
statement introduced in the chapter. This presages the integrated analysis of profitability and
risk in Chapter 7.

Chapter 7 describes and illustrates tools for analyzing the financial statements. The discus-
sion structures the various financial statement ratios in a multi-level format that, students have
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Preface ix

found, reduces the students’ need to memorize formulas. Instructors who incorporate annual
reports of actual companies throughout their course, as we do with Great Deal and Thames,
will find that analysis of the financial statements of such companies provides an effective syn-
thesis at this point. An appendix to Chapter 7 illustrates procedures for preparing pro forma
financial statements. This topic helps cement understanding of the relation among the principal
financial statements.

Chapters 8 through 15 discuss the guidance in U.S. GAAP and IFRS for generating the
financial statements. Each chapter not only describes and illustrates the application of the
guidance but also considers how accounting principles affect the financial statements. This
approach reflects the view that students should be able to interpret and analyze published
financial statements and to understand the effect of alternative accounting methods on such
assessments.

Chapter 16 deepens the exploration of the statement of cash flows by presenting a compre-
hensive illustration using the transactions in Chapters 8 to 14. Chapter 17 reviews the account-
ing principles discussed in Chapters 8 to 15 and discusses reporting issues that standard-setting
bodies are currently addressing, particularly those where U.S. GAAP and IFRS diverge.

An appendix to the book describes compound interest and present value computations for
students not previously exposed to this topic.

The end of the book includes a comprehensive glossary of accounting terms. It serves as
a reference tool for accounting and other business terms and provides additional descriptions
of a few topics, such as accounting changes and inventory profit, considered only briefly in the
text. The companion website for the book includes expanded discussion of certain topics in the
text, including income taxes, foreign currency translation, and general price-level account. Go
to http://login.cengage.com.

RELATED MATERIALS ACCOMPANYING THE TEXTBOOK

The following supplementary materials augment the textbook:

NEW online homework For the 14th Edition we have added CengageNOW.

CengageNOW is a powerful course management and online homework tool that providles CENGAGENOW
robust instructor control and customization to optimize the student learning experience and
meet desired outcomes.

CengageNOW has the following advantages: Where True Learning Takes Place

B “Smart Entry” ensures students do not guess their way through an assignment by unthink-
ingly clicking on an option in a drop-down menu. Instead, in selected assignments, students
must use free response to type in the account title, meaning that students must understand
the accounting to get the answer right. It will also help you prepare for tests and quizzes.
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Instructor’s Resource CD (ISBN 978-1-133-62940-5) The Instructor’s Resource
CD includes the following supplements:

B Solutions Manual The Solutions Manual, written by the authors, provides full solutions
for all end-of-chapter assignment items, including questions, exercises, and problems. We
give computations, allowing the instructor to show how to reach a particular answer. The
Solutions Manual also appears as a printed item.

B Solutions Transparency Masters Transparency masters, available to adopting instructors,
accompany all numerical end-of-chapter exercises and problems.

B Test Bank The test bank includes multiple-choice items, matching questions, short essay
questions, and problems.

B ExamView computerized testing software All items in the Test Bank are available in
ExamView computerized testing software format. This supplement allows instructors to
add or edit questions, instructions, and answers by previewing them onscreen. They can
also create and administer quizzes online—whether over the internet, a local area network
(LAN), or wide area network (WAN).

B Lecture presentations in PowerPoint These sample lectures aid in class preparation by
those using this text. The PowerPoint slides are also available by download to instructors
on the book’s Web site.

Printed Solutions Manual (ISBN 978-1-133-37249-3) The Solutions Manual,
written by the authors, provides full solutions for all end-of-chapter assignment items, includ-
ing questions, exercises, and problems. We give computations, allowing the instructor to show
how to reach a particular answer.

Bundle for Text Plus Solutions Manual (ISBN: 978-1-285-47797-8)

Spreadsheet template software To reduce tedium in solving problems and increase
student awareness of basic software applications, at least three problems per chapter have a
corresponding template where basic problem data appear on a Microsoft Excel® spreadsheet.
Additional spreadsheet templates are a pedagogical tool in learning selected topics such as for
the statement of cash flows. The templates, both student and instructor versions, are available
by download on the book’s Web site.

Student Solutions Manual (ISBN 978-1-133-59102-3) The Student Solutions
Manual, written by the authors, provides full solutions for the odd end-of-chapter assignment
items, including questions, exercises, and problems. We give computations, allowing the student
to see how to reach a particular answer.

Bundle for Text Plus Student Solutions Manual (ISBN: 978-1-285-48198-2)

Web resources Many helpful Web resources, including free Study Guide components,
topical discussions, advanced topics, regulatory updates, editorial and marketing contacts, and
more are available for students to access. These items help reinforce and shed light on text top-
ics. We invite you to discover this wealth of student and instructor resources by logging into the
text Web site. www.CengageBrain.com, or, for instructors, http://login.cengage.com.

We encourage instructors to contact their South-Western Cengage Learning sales representative
for information and samples of these items.
Instructors may also contact the publisher directly with questions, comments, or concerns:

Matt Filimonov, Senior Acquisitions Editor — matt.filimonov(@cengage.com
Craig Avery, Senior Developmental Editor — craig.avery@cengage.com
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Introduction to Business
Activities and Overview

of Financial Statements
and the Reporting Process

Understand four key activities of
business entities: (a) establish goals
and strategies, (b) obtain financing,
(c) make investments, and (d) conduct
operations.

Understand the purpose and content

of the financial statements: (a) balance
sheet, (b) income statement, (c) state-
ment of cash flows, and (d) statement

regulators, independent external audi-
tors, and financial statement users.

Gain an awareness of financial report-
ing as part of a global system for
providing information for resource
allocation decisions, including two
financial reporting systems (U.S. GAAP
and International Financial Reporting
Standards).

Chapter

LEARNING
OBJECTIVES

, .
of shareholders” equity. 5. Understand the difference between
3. Understand the roles of participants in the cash basis and the accrual basis of
the financial reporting process, includ- accounting, and why the latter provides
ing managers and governing boards, a better measure of performance.

accounting standard setters and

In making resource allocation decisions, investors and creditors depend on reliable and relevant
information about financial position, profitability, and risk. Financial reports are a key source
of this information. The process of preparing those reports is financial accounting, or, more
broadly, financial reporting. Understanding the basics of the financial reporting process is funda-
mental to understanding how to use financial reports for resource allocation decisions, such as
making investments.

You are about to embark on the study of financial accounting. You will learn the concepts
underlying the accounting principles firms use to measure the results of their business activities,
the accounting principles themselves, some of the judgments and estimates managers must make
to apply accounting principles, and tools for analyzing financial statements. You will learn about
two similar—but not identical—financial accounting systems: U.S. GAAP' and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Accounting systems specify the financial accounting prin-
ciples that firms must use, and the kinds of estimates and judgments that managers must make
in applying those principles. We introduce these two systems in this chapter, illustrate them with
a firm that uses U.S. GAAP (Great Deal, Inc., hereafter Great Deal) and a firm that uses IFRS
(Thames Limited, hereafter Thames), and continue to present both systems throughout the book.?

Our goal is to help you understand the concepts, methods, and uses of financial accounting to
enable you to use financial accounting information effectively. As a financial statement user, you
will encounter financial reports with a variety of formats and presentations. We show a few of
those variations, understanding that you will encounter many more.

As the chapter title suggests, this chapter introduces the concepts, methods, and uses that later
chapters discuss in detail. We begin with a description of Great Deal’s and Thames’s business
activities. We next see how firms measure the results of their business activities and report those

'GAAP refers to generally accepted accounting principles. U.S. GAAP is the authoritative guidance for financial
accounting in the United States. We discuss U.S. GAAP and IFRS in more detail throughout the book.
*Financial information presented for Great Deal and Thames Limited is derived from the financial reports of two
actual firms that report using U.S. GAAP and IFRS, respectively. That information has been modified for inclusion
in this book.
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

results in their financial statements. Finally, we describe several components of the financial
reporting process and introduce U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

OVERVIEW OF BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The managers of a business® prepare financial reports to present information about that busi-
ness’s activities to external users. External users include owners of the business, lenders, regula-
tors, and employees. Understanding those financial reports requires an understanding of the
activities of the business:

1. Establishing goals and strategies.
2. Obtaining financing.

3. Making investments.

4. Conducting operations.

We illustrate these four business activities using two firms, Great Deal and Thames.

Example 1 Great Deal, based in the United States, operates more than 3,500 retail stores in
the United States and around the world. The United States is its largest market. It prepares
financial statements using U.S. GAAP. Its retail stores sell consumer electronics, home office
products, entertainment software, appliances, and related services.

Example 2 Thames, based in France, is an electronics company that provides information
systems and related services to the aerospace, defense, and security sectors. Thames prepares its
financial statements using IFRS. It operates around the world. Europe is its largest market.

Although Great Deal and Thames differ in terms of business model, size, and geographical
scope, their managers must carry out similar kinds of business activities. Differences in the two
firms’ business models affect the content of each of the activities.

EstABLISH CORPORATE GOALS AND STRATEGIES

Goals are the end results toward which the firm directs its energies, and strategies are the means
for achieving those results. Examples of corporate goals include maximizing the return to the
firm’s owners, providing a good working environment for employees, and improving the envi-
ronmental performance of the firm’s products and manufacturing processes. Management,
under the oversight of the firm’s governing board (or boards),* sets the firm’s strategies—for
example, determining the firm’s lines of business and its geographic locations and the strate-
gies for each business unit. Factors that would affect a firm’s goals and strategies include the
following:

1. Goals and strategies of competitors.
2. Barriers to entry of the industry, such as patents or large investments in buildings.

3. Nature of the demand for the firm’s products and services. For example, demand might
be increasing, such as for certain pharmaceutical products, or demand might be relatively
stable, such as for groceries.

4. Existence and nature of government regulation.

Firms provide extensive information about their corporate goals and strategies. For exam-
ple, a recent Great Deal financial report indicates that store development, including entering
new markets, opening new stores in existing markets, and remodeling/expanding existing stores,
plays a role in Great Deal’s growth. The report provides quantitative information about store
openings and store closings in the past year as well as plans for the coming year. Similarly,

3We use the terms managers and management to refer to employees who make operating, investing, and financing
decisions and apply accounting standards to prepare financial statements. We also use the term firms to refer to
these same decision makers.

“By law, some countries require firms to have two governing boards; other countries require one.
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Overview of Business Activities

Thames’s recent financial report announced a plan to address the difficult business outlook in
its main markets by undertaking cost-cutting efforts.

Establishing corporate goals and strategies does not directly affect the firm’s cash flows.
The other three business activities—carrying out operations, making investments, and obtain-
ing financing—either generate cash or use cash. The statement of cash flows, introduced later
in the chapter, describes these cash flows in more detail.

OBTAIN FINANCING

To carry out their plans, firms require financing, that is, funds from owners and creditors.
Owners provide funds to a firm and in return receive ownership interests. For a corpora-
tion, the ownership interests are shares of common stock and the owners are shareholders or
stockholders.’ In some cases the common shares trade in active markets such as the New York
Stock Exchange and the London Stock Exchange. Firms whose shares trade in active markets
are publicly traded and subject to special regulations. When the firm raises funds from own-
ers, it has no obligation to repay these funds. Sometimes, a firm’s governing board may decide
to distribute dividends to that firm’s shareholders. Dividends are a distribution of assets, often
cash, to owners.

Creditors provide funds that the firm must repay in specific amounts at specific dates. Long-
term creditors require repayment from the borrower over a period of time that exceeds one
year. Short-term creditors require payment over the next year. One common form of long-term
financing is bonds. A bond agreement specifies the amount borrowed and the terms of repay-
ment, including the timing and amounts of cash the borrower agrees to pay to the creditors.
Another common form of long-term borrowing is bank loans. Banks usually lend for periods
between several months and several years. Finally, suppliers of raw materials or merchandise
that do not require payment immediately also provide funds—the firm gets raw materials or
merchandise now but does not pay cash until later.

Each firm makes financing decisions about the proportion of funds to obtain from owners,
long-term creditors, and short-term creditors. Corporate finance courses cover the techniques
that firms use to make financing decisions.

MAKE INVESTMENTS

A firm makes investments to obtain the productive capacity to carry out its business activities.
Investing activities involve acquiring the following:

1. Land, buildings, and equipment. These investments provide the capacity to manufacture and
sell products and to create and sell services. They are usually long term, in the sense that
they provide productive capacity for a number of years.

2. Patents, licenses, and other contractual rights. These investments provide rights to use ideas
and processes. They are intangible, in the sense that they do not have a physical existence.

3. Common shares or bonds of other firms. These investments make a firm an owner or creditor
of another firm. Short-term investments in equity shares typically involve partial owner-
ship, while long-term investments in equity interests involve partial or complete ownership
of another business.

4. Inventories. Firms maintain an inventory of products to sell to customers. For example,
Great Deal maintains inventories of consumer electronics, home office products, entertain-
ment software and appliances.

5. Accounts receivable from customers. In many businesses, customers do not pay for goods
and services immediately. Accounts receivable describes the amounts owed to a firm by its
customers for short periods, such as 30 days. In extending credit to customers, the firm
does not collect cash right away. If the firm did not extend the credit, however, it might not
make the sale in the first place.

6. Cash. Most firms maintain cash balances (like a corporate checking account) to pay their
current bills.

SIf the business is organized as a partnership, the owners are partners. If the business is organized as a propri-
etorship, the owner is the proprietor. This book considers corporations, in which the owners are shareholders or
stockholders.
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

Managerial accounting courses and corporate finance courses cover the techniques that
firms use to make investment decisions.

CARRY OuT OPERATIONS

Management operates the productive capacity of the firm to generate earnings.
Operating activities include the following:

1. Purchasing. The purchasing department of a retailer, such as Great Deal, acquires items
to sell to customers. The purchasing department of a firm with manufacturing operations,
such as Thames, acquires raw materials needed for production.

2. Production. The production department in a manufacturing firm combines raw materials,
labor services, and other manufacturing inputs to produce goods for sale. A service firm
combines labor inputs and other inputs to provide services to customers.

3. Marketing. The marketing department oversees selling and distributing products and ser-
vices to customers.

4. Administration. Administrative activities include data processing, human resource manage-
ment, legal services, and other support services.

5. Research and development. A firm undertakes research and development with the objective
of discovering new knowledge that it can use to create new products, new processes, Or new
services.

Managerial accounting, marketing, and operations management courses cover the tech-
niques that firms use to make operating decisions.

PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Firms communicate the results of their business activities in the annual report to shareholders.°
The annual report may contain letters from the firm’s management describing the firm’s goals,
strategies, and accomplishments, as well as descriptions and pictures of the firm’s products,
facilities, and employees. If the firm’s shares trade publicly, it will also file an annual report
with a regulator, typically a government agency.” The applicable laws and regulations of the
country where the shares trade specify the form and content of the annual report. In the United
States, regulatory requirements applicable to publicly traded firms require the inclusion of a
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), in which management discusses operating
results, liquidity (sources and uses of cash), capital resources, and reasons for changes in profit-
ability and risk during the past year.

We focus on the four principal financial statements and the supplementary information that
firms report, including the following:

1. Balance sheet or statement of financial position at a specified time.

2. Income statement or statement of profit and loss for a specified time period.

3. Statement of cash flows.

4. Statement of shareholders’ equity or statement of changes in shareholders’ equity.
5. Notes to the financial statements, including various supporting schedules.

®Many firms provide these annual reports on their Web sites, often in the investor relations section. Some securi-
ties regulators’ Web sites also provide required filings, including annual reports.

"The regulator may also require interim reports, for example, on a quarterly basis. In the United States, firms
whose shares trade publicly file quarterly reports that contain a subset of the information in the annual report.
Those quarterly reports appear on the regulator’s Web site (www.sec.gov). The U.S. regulator is the Securities
and Exchange Commission (SEC).
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Principal Financial Statements

The following sections of this chapter briefly discuss each of these five items. In describ-
ing these items, we refer to the financial statements of Great Deal and Thames. Great Deal’s
financial statements appear in Exhibits 1.1-1.4, and Thames’s financial statements appear in
Exhibits 1.5-1.8. We begin with several observations about conventions and concepts that apply
to financial statements in general.

FiNANCIAL REPORTING CONVENTIONS

In this section we describe some conventions used in financial statement preparation. These
conventions govern the length of time covered by the financial statements (the account-
ing period), the number of reporting periods included in the financial reports, the monetary
amounts, and the terminology and level of detail in the financial statements.

Length of Reporting (Accounting) Period Financial statement presentations can
span intervals of any length. The most common accounting period for external reporting is one
year, called the fiscal year. While many firms use the calendar year as their fiscal year (that is,
the fiscal year ends on December 31), some firms select other fiscal year-ends. When the fiscal
year ends in June-December of calendar year T, convention describes the financial reports as
pertaining to fiscal year T. For example, Thames’s financial report for the year ended December
31, 2013, reports Thames’s performance for fiscal 2013. When the fiscal year ends in January—
May of year T, convention describes the financial reports as pertaining to fiscal year T — 1.
For example, Great Deal’s financial report for the year ended February 27, 2013, reports Great
Deal’s performance for fiscal 2012.%

Number of Reporting Periods To assist in making comparisons over time, both U.S.
GAAP and IFRS require firms to include results for multiple reporting periods in each report.
Firms must include two balance sheets describing the beginning and ending balances of the
accounts for the current fiscal year and the prior fiscal year. Refer to Exhibit 1.1, which shows
that Great Deal’s fiscal 2012 annual report includes a balance sheet as of February 27, 2013
(the end of fiscal 2012), and a balance sheet as of February 28, 2012 (the end of fiscal 2011).
For the income statement, statement of cash flows, and statement of shareholders’ equity, SEC
rules require statements for the current year and the two prior years; IFRS requires statements
for the current year and the prior year.

Monetary Amounts The financial statements report a numerical amount, the monetary
amount, for each listed item. The financial statements indicate the measuring units, both the
numerical expression such as in thousands or in millions, and the currency, such as dollars ($)
or euros (€). A firm typically reports in the currency of the country where it is headquartered
or where it conducts most of its business. For example, a firm with headquarters and most of
its business activities in England would report its results in pounds sterling (£).

Terminology and Level of Detail US. GAAP and IFRS contain broad guidance
on what the financial statements must contain, but neither completely specifies the level of
detail or the names of accounts. IFRS contains relatively more guidance. For example, IFRS
describes the line items that the balance sheet must display and described items that the firm
must separately disclose.” U.S. GAAP contains no analog to this IFRS guidance.'® You should
therefore expect to encounter variation in the ways financial statements display information and
variation in the level of detail provided. In addition, the rules do not always require firms to use
specific names for accounts and line items on the financial statements. While practice tends to
converge on certain names, such as cash, accounts receivable, and inventories, you should expect
to encounter variation in account titles as well as variation in format and display.
With these conventions in mind, we turn to a discussion of the financial statements.

8Not all firms follow this convention, so use caution in comparing results across firms.

International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), International Accounting Standard 1, “Presentation of
Financial Statements,” revised 2003.

YAs of late 2011, a long-running project underway to improve and converge the U.S. GAAP and IFRS guidance
for financial statement presentation was incomplete.
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

Great Deal, Inc.
EXHIBIT 1.1 Consolidated Balance Sheets
(amounts in millions of US$)

February 27, February 28,
2013 2012
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents. .. .............................. $ 1,826 $ 498
Short-term investments. .. ... ... . 90 1"
Receivables . .. ... ... . 2,020 1,868
Merchandise inventories ... ............ ... 5,486 4,753
Other CUImreNt @ssets . ... ... 1,144 1,062
Total current @ssets. . . ... .. 10,566 8,192
Property and Equipment
Land and buildings. .. ... . 757 /55
Leasehold improvements. . ... ... 2,154 2,013
Fixtures and equipment. .. ... . 4,447 4,060
Property under capital lease . .......... ... ... .. ... ... ... .. 95 112
7453 6,940
Less: Accumulated depreciation .. ... ... oo (3,383) (2,766)
Net property and equipment. .. ................ ... 4,070 4,174
Goodwill . .o 2,452 2,203
Tradenames . . ... oo 159 173
Customer relationships. .. ... ... . 279 829
Equity and otherinvestments. . . ........... .. .. ... o 324 395
Other assets. . .. ..ot 452 367
Total @assets . .. ........... ... .. $18,302 $15,826
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable. . ... ... $ 5,276 $ 4,997
Unredeemed gift card liabilities . . ........................... 463 479
Accrued compensation and related expenses. . ................ 544 459
Accrued liabilities . . . ... ... ... 1,681 1,382
Accrued iNCOME taXeS . . . o vttt 316 281
Short-termdebt . .. ... ... 663 783
Current portion of long-termdebt . .......................... 85) 54
Total current liabilities .. ........... ... ... 8,978 8,435
Long-term liabilities .. ........ .. .. . 1,256 1,109
Long-termdebt. .. ... ... . 1,104 1,126
Total liabilities. . .. ... . 11,338 10,670
Commitments and contingencies. . .. ... .. — —
Shareholders’ Equity
Preferred stock. . . ... ... — —
Common stock. . .. .. 42 41
Additional paid-in capital. . .. ...... ... .. 441 205
Retained Earnings . .. ... . 5,797 4,714
Accumulated other comprehensive income . .................. 40 (317)
Total Great Deal shareholders' equity . . .................... 6,320 4,643
Noncontrolling interests. ... ... 644 513
Total shareholders’ equity . ............... ... ... ... ....... 6,964 5,156
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . .. ............ ... ... $18,302 $15,826
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BALANCE SHEET

The balance sheet, also called the statement of financial position, provides information, at
a point in time, on the firm’s productive resources and the financing used to pay for those
resources. Exhibit 1.1 presents Great Deal’s balance sheet as of February 27, 2013, and Feb-
ruary 28, 2012. Exhibit 1.5 presents Thames’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, and
December 31, 2012. These balance sheets present information at the end of each firm’s fiscal
year. Great Deal’s annual report states that its fiscal year ends on February 27 or February 28
of each year; Thames states that its fiscal year ends on December 31. The financial position of
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Principal Financial Statements

Great Deal, Inc.
EXHIBIT 1.2 Consolidated Statements of Earnings
(amounts in millions of US$)

February 27, February 28, February 27,

2013 2012 2011

Revenue $49,694 $45,015 $40,023
Costofgoodssold............................ 37534 34,017 30,477
Gross profit. .. ... .. 12,160 10,998 9,546
Selling, general, and administrative expenses . . ... .. 9,873 8,984 7385
Restructuringcharges. .. ....................... 52 78 0
Goodwill and trade name impairment ............. 0 66 0
Operating inCome. . .. ... ..ot 2,235 1,870 2,161
Other income (expense)

Investment income and other ... ........... ... 54 &3 129

Investment impairment . ... ... .o 0 (111) 0

Interestexpense . ............. ... (94) (94) (62)
Earnings before income tax expense and equity in

income (loss) of affiliates. .. ................ 2,195 1,700 2,228

Income tax expense. ............... . 802 674 815
Equity in income (loss) of affiliates. .. ............. 1 7 (3)
Net earnings including noncontrolling interests . . . . .. 1,394 1,033 1,410
Net earnings attributable to noncontrolling interests . . (77) (30) (3)
Net earnings attributable to Great Deal, Inc. . ....... $ 1,317 $ 1,003 $ 1,407
Earnings per share attributable to Great Deal, Inc.

Basic ... $3.16 $2.43 $3.20

Diluted . . ... $3.10 $2.39 $3.12
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

(in millions)
EESI 0000000000006 0000000080600006000000 416.8 412.5 439.2
Diluted . . ..o 4275 422.9 452.9
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the firm at other times during the year can differ substantially from that depicted on the end-of-
year balance sheet.

Concepts of Assets, Liabilities, and Shareholders’ Equity The balance sheet
lists the firm’s assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity and provides totals and subto-
tals. Each line item on the balance sheet has a title that indicates the nature of the item and
a numerical amount, in units of currency. For example, the first item on Great Deal’s balance
sheet is Cash and Cash Equivalents of $1,826 million. The heading of the balance sheet indi-
cates the measuring unit is millions of U.S. dollars. The first item on Thames’s balance sheet is
Goodwill, net, measured in millions of euros (€); the amount is €2,986.9 million.

Assets are economic resources with the potential to provide future economic benefits to a
firm. The firm’s investments in items to provide productive capacity are examples of assets. For
example, both Great Deal and Thames list property and equipment (Thames calls these “tan-
gible assets, net”) among the assets on their balance sheets.!!

Liabilities are creditors’ claims. Creditors have provided funds, or goods and services, and
the firm has an obligation to pay creditors for those goods and services. We describe two exam-
ples of liabilities that result from a firm’s having previously received benefits (inventories, labor
services):

B Both Great Deal and Thames have made purchases but have not yet paid the entire amount
owed. Great Deal includes the amount owed to its suppliers in the liability account labeled
“Accounts payable.” Thames includes the amount in the account “Accounts, notes and
other current payables.”

"The order in which the assets appear differs between Great Deal’s and Thames’s balance sheets. We discuss this
ordering later in this chapter.
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

Great Deal, Inc.
EXHIBIT 1.3 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(amounts in millions of US$)

February 27, February 28, February 27,

2013 2012 2011
Operating Activities
Net earnings including noncontrolling interests . . . .... .. $ 1,394 $ 1,033 $ 1,410
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to total cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation. . ... ... 838 730 580
Amortization of definite lived intangible assets . . ... .. 88 63 1
Asset impairments. .. ... 4 177 0
Restructuringcharges .. ................... ... .. 52 78 0
Stock-based compensation .. ... ... 118 110 105
Deferred incometaxes. . ............ .. ... ... .. (30) (43) 74
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation . . (7) (6) (24)
Other,net. ... .. (4) 12 (7)
2,453 2,154 2,139
Changes in operating assets, net of acquired assets
and liabilities:
Receivables .. ......... ... .. ... (63) (419) 12
Merchandise inventories .. ...................... (609) 258 (562)
Otherassets . .........c i (98) (175) 42
Accounts payable. ......... ... ... ... . ... 141 139 221
Other liabilities. . .. ... 279 (75) 74
Income taxes . ... ..o 103 (5) 99
Total cash provided by operating activities. . ........... 2,206 1,877 2,025
Investing Activities
Additions to PPE, net of non-cash expenditures . . . . .. (615) (1,303) (797)
Purchases of investments . . ..................... (16) (81) (8,501)
Sales of investments . .. .......... ... . ... . ... .. 56 246 10,935
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired . . . . . (7) (2,170) (89)
Change inrestrictedcash ....................... 18 (97) (85)
Settlement of net investmenthedges . . ............ 40 0 0
Other,net. . ... .. . (16) (22) 1
Total cash (used in) provided by investing activities. . . . (540) (3,427) 1,464
Financing Activities
Repurchase of common stock . ................... 0 0 (3,461)
Issuance of common stock . .......... .. L 138 83 146
Dividends paid . .. ......... ... . ... (234) (223) (204)
Repayments of debt . .............. .. ... ... ... (5,342) (4,712) (4,353)
Proceeds from issuance of debt . ................. 5,132 5,606 4,486
Acquisition of noncontrolling interests. .. ........... (34) (146) 0
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation . . 7 6 24
Other,net. .. ... (15) (23) (16)
Total cash (used in) provided by financing activities. . . . (348) 591 (3,378)
Effect of exchange rate changesincash. . ....... ... .. 10 19 122
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . . . . 1,328 (940) 233
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year. . . . .. 498 1,438 1,205
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year . . ... ... ... $ 1,826 $ 498 $ 1,438
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Incometaxespaid ............ ... ... 732 766 644
Interestpaid. . ... .. ... 78 83 49
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Great Deal, Inc.
EXHIBIT 1.4

Principal Financial Statements

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
(amounts in millions of US$ except share amounts)

Accumulated

1

Additional Other Non-
Common Common Paid-In Retained Comprehensive controlling
Shares Stock Capital Earnings Income Subtotal Interests Total
Balance at February 28, 2010. . ... ........... ... 481 $48 $430 $5,507 $216 $6,201 $ 35 $6,236
Netearnings. .. ... ..o — — — 1,407 — 1,407 3 1,410
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments ... ... .. — — — — 31 31 2 313
Unrealized losses on available for sale
investments. . ........... .. — — — — (25) (25) (25)
Total comprehensive income . ................... 1,693 5 1,698
Cumulative effect of adopting a new accounting . . . . .
standard related to uncertain tax positions.. . . . . — — — (13) —= (13) — (13)
Stock options exercised . . .................. ... 4 — 93 — — 93 — 93
Tax benefit from stock options, restricted stock, and
employee stock purchaseplan .............. — — 17 — — 17 — 17
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchaseplan . ....... ... ... ... .. ... .. .. 1 — 53 — — 53 — 53
Stock-based compensation. . .................... — — 105 — — 105 — 105
Common stock dividends, $0.46 per share ......... — — — (204) — (204) 1 (204)
Repurchase of common stock .. ................. (75) (7) (690) (2,764) (3,461) — (3,461)
Balance at February 27,2011 . .................. 41 41 8 3,933 502 4,484 40 4,524
Netearnings. .. ... — — — 1,003 — 1,003 30 1,033
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments .. ...... — — — — (830) (830) (175) (1,005)
Unrealized losses on available for sale
investments. . .......... . — — — — (19) (19) — (19)
Reclassification adjustment for impairment loss
on available for sale security. ................ — — — — 30 30 — 30
Total comprehensive income . ................... 184 (145) 39
Acquisition of business. .. ....... ... o oL — — — — — 666 666
Acquisition of noncontrolling interest. . ............ — — — — — — (48) (48)
Stock options exercised . .. .............. ... ... 2 — 34 — — 34 — 34
Tax benefit from stock options, restricted stock,
and employee stock purchase plan........... — — 4 — — 4 — 4
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchaseplan . .......... ... ... .. ... .. .. 1 — 49 — — 49 — 49
Stock-based compensation. . .. .................. — — 110 — — 110 — 110
Common stock dividends, $0.54 per share . ........ — — a (222) — (222) — (222)
Balance at February 28, 2012. .. ... ............. 414 41 205 4,714 (317) 4,643 513 5,156
Netearnings. . ... ..ot — — — 1,317 — 1,317 77 1,394
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments ... ... .. — — — — 329 329 76 405
Unrealized gains on available for sale investments . . — — — — 28 28 — 28
Total comprehensive income . ................... 1,674 153 1,827
Purchase accounting adjustments .. .............. — — — — — (22) (22)
Stock options exercised . ... ... 4 1 95 = = 96 = 96
Tax loss from stock options, restricted stock, and
employee stock purchase plan . ............. — — (19) — — (19) — (19)
Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchaseplan ............. ... ... .. ..., 1 — 42 — 42 — 42
Stock-based compensation. ... ... ..o — — 118 — — 118 — 118
Common stock dividends, $0.56 per share ......... = = = (234) = (234) — (234)
Balance at February 27,2013 ... ................ 419 $42 $441 $5,797 $ 40 $6,320 $644 $6,964
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B Employees have provided labor services for which Great Deal and Thames have not made
full payment. Great Deal includes the amounts owed to employees in the liability account
“Accrued compensation and related expenses.” Thames includes them in “Accounts, notes

and other current payables.”
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

Thames Limited
EXHIBIT 1.5 Consolidated Balance Sheets
(amounts in millions of euros [€] except share amounts)

December 31, December 31,
2013 2012
GoodWill . .o € 2,986.9 € 2,793.2
Other intangible assets, net .. ......... ... .. ... .. . ... 925.3 1,129.3
Tangible assets, net . .......... . 1,338.3 1,262.9
Total noncurrent operatingassets. . . ............ ... . ... 5,250.5 5,185.4
Share in net assets of equity affiliates ......................... 711.0 692.4
Available for sale investments. .. ........ .. .. ... . L 101.9 175.4
Loans and other financial assets . ............... ... .. ... .... 171.9 258.8
Total noncurrent financial assets .. .......... ... .. ... ........ 6,235.3 6,312.0
Fair value of derivatives: interest rate risk management. . .......... 24.8 13.1
Pension and other employee benefits. . . ....................... 66.0 44.0
Deferred tax assets. . . ...t 678.0 433.5
Noncurrentassets . .. .............. ..., 7,004.1 6,802.6
Inventories and work inprogress . . .......... ... 2,210.8 2,227.4
Construction contracts:assets . .. ........... ... ... ... 2,243.2 2,400.6
Advances to suppliers. . .. ... 342.4 548.2
Accounts, notes and other current receivables. . . ................ 3,934.8 4,064.1
Fair value of derivatives: currency risk management .. ............ 172.6 292.4
Total current operatingassets. . . ................ ..., 8,903.8 9,632.7
Currenttax receivables. . .. ......... .. i 40.4 13.1
Current accounts with affiliated companies ..................... 94.8 65.1
Marketable securities . .. ........ .. . 4.4 22.4
Cashandequivalents. .. ......... .. .. .. ... 1,960.1 1,499.8
Total current financial assets . .......... ... ... .. ... ... . ..., 2,099.7 1,600.4
Currentassets .. ............ ... .. .. .. i 11,003.5 11,133.1
Totalassets . ............. it €18,007.6 €17,935.7
Capital, paid-in surplus and otherreserves ..................... € 4,168.3 € 4,498.9
Cumulative translation adjustment . .. ............ ... ... .. .... (283.2) (399.8)
Treasuryshares . ......... ... .. i (141.5) (150.2)
Shareholders' equity. .. .......... ... ... .. i 3,743.6 3,948.9
Noncontrolling interests . ........ ... ... .. ... .. ... .. ... ... ... 10.2 2.9
Total shareholders' equity and noncontrolling interests . . . . . . 3,753.8 3,951.8
Financial debt:longterm .......... ... ... ... ... .......... 1,651.6 761.3
Pension and other employee benefits. ... ...................... 856.7 8475
Deferred tax liabilities . .. ........... . 258.6 268.6
Noncurrent liabilities . . . . ............................... 2,766.9 1,877.4
Advances received from customersoncontracts . ................ 3,849.4 3,6874
Refundable grants ............ ... ... ... ... .. . 172.8 169.5
Construction contracts: liabilities . ........... ... ... ... ... .... 882.7 578.4
Reserves for contingencies . ........... ... .. i 1,129.8 961.5
Accounts, notes and other current payables. . .. ................. 4,736.0 5,045.9
Fair value of derivatives: currency risk management .. ............ 100.7 279.5
Total current operating liabilities . . . . ......... ... ... .. ... ..... 10,8714 10,722.2
Currenttax payables. . . ...... ...t 92.2 88.9
Financial debt: shortterm. ............. ... ... .. ... .. .. ..... 326.4 1,136.3
Current accounts with affiliated companies ..................... 196.9 159.1
Total current financial liabilities . . .. ........................... 523.3 1,295.4
Total current liabilities. . . ............................... 11,486.9 12,106.5
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity. . ................ €18,007.6 €17,935.7
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Shareholders’ equity shows the amount of funds owners have provided either by buying
shares or by reinvesting (retaining) the net assets generated by earnings. Owners have a claim
on the firm’s assets because they have provided funds to the firm. The owners’ claim is a resid-
ual interest in the firm’s assets. That is, owners have a claim on assets that are in excess of the
assets required to meet creditors’ claims. Shareholders’ equity lists both the amount invested by
shareholders for their ownership interests and the amount of retained earnings. Thames com-
bines contributed capital and retained earnings in the account “Capital, paid-in surplus and
other reserves”; Thames’s total shareholders equity is €3,743.6 million. Great Deal also uses
the term shareholders’ equity. As of February 27, 2013, there were 419 million shares issued
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Principal Financial Statements

Thames Limited
EXHIBIT 1.6 Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
(amounts in millions of euros [€])

A. Consolidated Profit and Loss Statements 2013 2012
ReVeNUES. . ... ... . e € 12,881.5 €12,664.8
Costofsales. . ... ... .. (10,633.4) (9,964.5)
Research and developmentexpenses ... ...................... (550.5) (440.2)
Marketing and sellingexpenses. .. .............. ...t (901.9) (806.7)
General and administrative expenses .. ....................... (543.4) (558.7)
Restructuringcosts. .. ......... .. .. (116.1) (32.5)
Amortization of intangible assets ... ......... .. ... oL (84.4) (109.8)
Income fromoperations. . .......... ... ... L 51.8 752.4
Impairment of noncurrent operatingassets . .................... (260.1) (69.1)
Gain (loss) on disposal of assetsandother. .................... (1.0) 35.2
Income of operating activities. . . .................... ... .. .. (209.3) 718.5
Financial interestongrossdebt . ............. .. ... .. ... .. ... (91.6) (101.4)
Financial income from cash and equivalents .. .................. 26.0 49.6
Cost of netfinancialdebt .. ......... .. .. ... .. ... .. ... L. (65.6) (51.8)
Other financial income (expense). .. ... .. (44.9) (49.8)
Other components of pensioncharge ......................... (105.1) (11.1)
INCoMeE taX . . ..ot 175.3 (103.0)
Share in net income (loss) of equity affiliates. . .................. 48.0 576
Netincome (I0SS) . . ... . € (201.6) € 560.4
Of which: - = =
Netincome, Group Share. . ............ ..., (201.8) 559.9
Noncontrolling interests . .......... .. ... i 0.2 0.5
Basic earningspershare . ... € (1.03) € 2.87
Diluted earningspershare. . ......... ... .. .. .. € (1.03) € 2.85
B. Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income 2013 2012
Netincome (I0SS) . . ... vov i € (201.8) € 559.9
Translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries . . ... .. 119.1 (263.3)
Foreign investments' hedge, netoftax. ........................ (2.5) 2.9
Cash flow hedge, netoftax .............. .. ... .. ... .. ... .... 514 (29.7)
Financial assets available for sale, netoftax.................... 15 (0.5)
Total other comprehensive income (loss), netoftax .............. 169.5 (290.6)
Total comprehensive income (loss), for the period . . .............. € (32.3) € 269.3
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to shareholders, who had provided total funds to Great Deal of $483 million (= $42 + $441).
Great Deal’s retained earnings is $5,797 million, discussed next.

Retained earnings represent the net assets (= total assets — total liabilities) a firm derives
from its earnings that exceed the dividends it has distributed to shareholders. Management
operates the firm’s assets with the intent of generating earnings. That is, the firm expects to
receive more assets than it consumes in operations. The increase in assets, after claims of credi-
tors, is called Retained Earnings, and it belongs to the firm’s owners. As of February 27, 2013,
Great Deal’s retained earnings is $5,797 million, meaning that cumulative earnings exceed
cumulative dividends by $5,797 million. As of December 31, 2013, Thames has an accumulated
deficit, as shown in Exhibit 1.8, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders Equity
and Minority Interests.”> An accumulated deficit means that cumulative earnings less dividends
are negative. The amount of Thames’s accumulated deficit at December 31, 2013 is €197.3
million.

An amount of assets equal to retained earnings does not appear on any single line on the
balance sheet. Instead, firms use the assets generated by the retention of earnings to acquire
various assets including inventories, buildings, equipment, and other assets. Almost all success-
ful firms use a large percentage of the assets they generate by earnings to replace assets and to
grow, rather than to pay dividends.

12 Authoritative guidance uses the term noncontrolling interest, not minority interest. However, firms sometimes
continue to use the latter term in their financial reports.
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Thames Limited
EXHIBIT 1.7 Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(amounts in millions of euros [€])

2013 2012
Netincome(loss)............... ... ... ... ... ... ...... € (201.6) € 560.4
Add (deduct):
Income tax expense (gain) . . ........... .. (175.3) 103.0
Share in net (income) loss of equity affiliates, net of dividends . .. ... (21.5) (29.6)
Depreciation and amortization of tangible and intangible assets . . . . . 420.8 433.0
Provisions for pensions and other employee benefits. . .. .......... 162.6 70.9
Impairment of noncurrent operatingassets . .................... 260.1 69.1
Gain (loss) on disposalsofassets . ............. ... ... ... 1.0 (35.2)
Net allowance to restructuring provisions. . .. ................... 121 (85.9)
Otheritems. .. ... ... 26.6 49.4
Change in working capital requirements and in reserves. .. ........ 924.6 (44.5)
Payment of contributions / pension benefits. ... ......... ... .. ... (156.2) (189.7)
Income tax paid (received) . . ........ ... (98.2) (80.1)
Net cash flows from operating activities. .. ................ 1,155.0 820.8
Capital expenditure. . ........ ... ... ... (418.9) (534.6)
Proceeds from disposal of tangible and intangible assets .......... 5.8 1.7
ACQUISItIONS . . ..o (148.0) (173.2)
Disposals .. ... ... = 89.1
Changeinloans .. ...... ... 41 (24.7)
Change in current assets with affiliated companies . . ............. (32.0) (6.8)
Decrease (increase) in marketable securities. . . ................. 24.0 (3.3)
Net cash flows from investing activities ................... (565.0) (641.8)
Dividends paid . .. ... ... (204.7) (195.3)
Exercise of stock options ... ......... .. .. i 4.6 12.3
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares. .. ...................... 170 (56.8)
Increaseindebt . ...... ... . ... . ... 1,125.2 412.8
Repaymentofdebt............... ... ... . ... .. ... ... .. (1,103.9) (184.4)
Net cash flows from financing activities . . . ................ (161.8) (11.4)
Effect of exchange rate variations. . ........................... 32.1 (131.9)
Total increase (decrease)incash......................... 460.3 35.7
Cash at beginningofperiod . .. ........ ... .. ... . i 1,499.8 1,464.1
Cashatendofperiod......... ... ... .. i, 1,960.1 1,499.8
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Interestreceived. .. ......... ... ... ... 32.5 32.5
Interestpaid . ... ... . 82.2 82.2
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Equality of Assets and Liabilities Plus Shareholders’ Equity The total of all
assets equals the total of all liabilities and all shareholders’ equity amounts. This equation
holds for both Great Deal and Thames:

Assets = Liabilities® + Shareholders” Equity
Great Deal  $18,302 = $11,338 + $6,964
Thames €18,007.6 = €14,253.8 + £3,753.8

A firm invests the resources it obtains from financing. The balance sheet views the same
resources from two perspectives. First, as the assets the firm currently holds, having acquired
them with funds. Second, as the claims of creditors and owners who provided the funds. Thus,

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholder’s Equity
or

Investing = Financing

Resources = Sources of Resources

Resources = Claims on Resources

BNeither Great Deal nor Thames reports a subtotal for total liabilities. To obtain total liabilities, sum the liability
accounts. Thames shows Shareholders’ Equity = €3,743.6, and Minority Interest (another component of Share-
holders’” Equity) = €10.2. Minority interest (noncontrolling interest) is discussed in Chapter 14.
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EXHIBIT 1.8

Principal Financial Statements

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and Minority Interests
(amounts in millions of euros [€] except share amounts)

Number
of shares Cumulative Share- Non-
outstanding ~ Share Paid-in Retained  Cash flow AFS translation  Treasury  holders’ controlling

(in 000s) capital surplus earnings hedge investments adjustment  shares equity interest Total
Balance at December 31,2011. ... .. 195,401 595.0 3,638.2 (173.8) 86.0 45 (139.4) (129.6) 3,880.9 3.3 3,884.2
Netincome...................... — — — 559.9 - - -— o 559.9 05 560.4
Other comprehensive loss . ......... — — - —  (29.7) (0.5) (260.4) o (290.6) (0.5) (291.1)
Total comprehensive income . ....... — — — 5599 (29.7) (0.5) (260.4) — 269.3 — 269.3
Capital increase .. ................ 391 12 9.6 — — — — — 10.8 — 10.8
Dividends . . .......... ..., — — (195.3) — — — — (195.3) — (195.3)
Share based payments. . ........... —1 — - 279 —= I . o 279  — 279
Changes in treasury shares . . ....... (811) — — (20.4) - — —- (20.6) (41.0) — (41.0)
@UER socaraashoamondofoamanas — — — (3.7) — — — — (870 — (3.7)
Changes in scope of consolidation. . . . — — — — — — — — — (04 (0.4)
Total transactions with shareholders. . . (420) 1.2 9.6 (191.5) — — 0.0 (20.6)  (201.3) (0.4) (201.7)
Balance at December 31,2012. . . . .. 194,981 596.2 3,647.8 194.6 56.3 4.0 (399.8) (150.2) 3,948.9 2.9 3,951.8
Netincome...................... — — — (201.8) — — — — (201.8) 0.2 (201.6)
Other comprehensive loss .. ........ = = — = 514 1.5 116.6 — 169.5 0.6 170.1
Total comprehensive income . ....... — — — (201.8) 514 1.5 116.6 — (32.3) 0.8 (31.5)
Capital increase .. ................ 299 0.9 75 — — — — — 8.4 — 8.4
Dividends . ...................... — — — (204.7) — — — — (204.7) — (204.7)
Share based payments. ... ......... — — — 22.5 — — — — 225 — 225
Changes in treasury shares .. ... .. .. 187 — — (1.6) — — — 8.7 71 — 71
Other .........c.oiiiiininn... — — — (6.3) — — — — (6.3) — (6.3)
Changes in scope of consolidation. . . . — — — — — — — — — 65 6.5
Total transactions with shareholders. . . 486 0.9 75 (190.1) — . 0.0 8.7 (173.0) 6.5 (166.5)
Balance at December 31,2013. . .. .. 195,467 5971 3,655.3 (197.3) 107.7 5.5 (283.2) (141.5) 3,743.6 10.2 3,753.8
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The amounts of individual assets that make up total assets, represented by accounts receiv-
able, inventories, equipment, and other assets, reflect a firm’s investment decisions. The mix of
liabilities plus shareholders’ equity reflects a firm’s financing decisions, each measured at the

balance sheet date.

Balance Sheet Classification and Aggregation Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require
that balance sheets separate current items from noncurrent items.'*

B Current assets include cash and assets that a firm expects to turn into cash, or sell, or con-
sume within one year from the date of the balance sheet. Examples are accounts receivable

and inventory.

B Current liabilities represent obligations a firm expects to pay within one year. Examples are
accounts payable to suppliers and salaries payable to employees.

B Noncurrent assets are assets that will be used for several years. Examples include land,
buildings, equipment, and patents.

B Noncurrent liabilities and shareholders’ equity are sources of funds whose suppliers do not
expect to receive payment within the next year. Rather, they expect payment sometime after

next year.

The line items on the balance sheet represent aggregated amounts. For example, the amount
shown for the line item labeled “Merchandise inventories” on Great Deal’s balance sheet repre-

sents all of Great Deal’s inventories.

4Great Deal displays its current assets and current liabilities first. Thames displays its noncurrent assets and
noncurrent liabilities first. IFRS, but not U.S. GAAP, permits the display used by Thames.
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

Balance Sheet Measurement Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS use two bases to measure the
monetary amounts at which assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity appear on the balance
sheet:

1. The historical amount, which reflects the acquisition cost of assets or the amount of funds
originally obtained from creditors or owners.

2. The current amount, which reflects some measure of current value as of the balance sheet
date. The notion of a current amount, or current value, can be applied to assets, to liabili-
ties, or to shareholders’ equity.

Some accounting information is reported at historical cost, a historical amount, and some at
current cost, a current amount (one example of a current amount is fair value), depending on the
requirements of U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Later chapters discuss and illustrate these measurement
bases.

Analysis of the Balance Sheet Firms typically finance current assets with current liabil-
ities and finance noncurrent assets with noncurrent liabilities and shareholders’ equity. Current
assets such as accounts receivable generally convert into cash within one year. Firms can use
this near-term cash flow to pay current liabilities, which require payment within one year. Non-
current assets, such as buildings and equipment, generate cash flows over several years. Firms
can use these more extended cash inflows to repay long-term liabilities as they come due.

Great Deal’s balance sheet as of February 27, 2013, shows the following (in millions of

USS):
Current Assets. .. ....covvunnn.. $10,566 Current Liabilities. . ............. $ 8,978
Noncurrent Liabilities and
Noncurrent Assets . .............. 7,736 Shareholders’ Equity. . .. ........ 9,324
Total o ovvee i $18,302 Total...ovvvveen i $18,302

Similar information presented in Thames’s balance sheet as of December 31, 2013, reveals
the following (in millions of euros [€]):

Current Assets. .......covunn.. €11,003.5 Current Liabilities. . ............. €11,486.9
Noncurrent Liabilities and
Noncurrent Assets . .. ........... 7,004.1 Shareholders’ Equity. . .. ........ 6,520.7

Total ..oov i €18,007.6 Total........ ..ot €18,007.6

These data show that Thames and Great Deal have raised funds from noncurrent sources (non-
current liabilities and shareholders’ equity) in amounts that exceed (in the case of Great Deal)
or are less than (in the case of Thames) the amount of noncurrent assets.

INCOME STATEMENT

The income statement (sometimes called the statement of profit and loss by firms applying
IFRS), provides information on profitability. The terms net income, earnings, and profit are
interchangeable. Exhibit 1.2 shows Great Deal’s income statement for fiscal years 2012, 2011,
and 2010. Great Deal refers to its income statement as the Consolidated Statement of Earnings.
Exhibit 1.6 shows Thames’s income statement for 2012 and 2013. Thames refers to its income
statement as the Consolidated Profit and Loss Account.

The income statement reports a firm'’s success in generating earnings during a given report-
ing period.” Net income is equal to revenues minus expenses, adjusted for any gains or losses.
(We ignore gains and losses in this chapter.) The income statement reports the sources and
amounts of a firm’s revenues and the nature and amounts of its expenses. A firm strives to gen-
erate more revenues than expenses. Net income indicates a firm’s accomplishments (revenues)

SAn income statement can report for a period of any length: a year, a quarter, or a month. In all cases, the report-
ing period is the time period between two successive balance sheets, and the time period over which the firm
measures net income.
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relative to the efforts required (expenses) in pursuing its operating activities. When expenses for
a period exceed revenues for that period, the result is a net loss.

Revenues (also called sales or sales revenue) measure the inflows of assets from selling goods
and providing services to customers. In exchange for providing goods and services, firms receive
assets (either cash or promises to pay cash, Accounts Receivable). The amount of revenue gen-
erated is equal to the net assets received. Great Deal reports revenue of $49,694 million for fis-
cal 2012. Thames reports revenue of €12,881.5 million for fiscal 2013.

Expenses measure the outflow of assets incurred in generating revenues. Cost of goods sold
or cost of sales (an expense) measures the cost of inventories sold to customers. For a service
firm, cost of sales measures the cost of providing services. Selling and administrative expenses
measure the cost of selling and administrative services received during the period. An expense
means that an asset decreases or a liability increases. The amount of the expense is equal to the
asset decrease or the liability increase.

Classification of Revenues and Expenses Firms classify revenues and expenses in
different ways and apply different levels of aggregation. For example, Thames reports expenses
for research and development of €550.5 million in 2013. Some firms might include this expense
in another line item. Thames’s income statement classifies some expenses by the department
that carried out the activities (for example, marketing and selling expenses) and some expenses
by their nature (for example, income taxes).

Relation Between the Income Statement and the Balance Sheet The income
statement links the balance sheet at the beginning of the period with the balance sheet at the
end of the period. The balance sheet amount for retained earnings represents the sum of all
prior earnings (or losses) of a firm in excess of dividends.'® Net income (or net loss) for the cur-
rent period helps explain the change in retained earnings between the beginning and the end
of the period. For example, Great Deal’s income for fiscal 2012, labeled on the income state-
ment “Net earnings attributable to Great Deal, Inc.” was $1,317 million. Exhibit 1.4 shows that
Great Deal paid cash dividends of $234 million to shareholders in fiscal 2012. We can use this
information to analyze the change in Great Deal’s retained earnings (in millions of US$):

Retained Earnings, February 28, 2012 . . . .o v vttt ittt e e $4,714
Add Net Income for Fiscal 2012 . . ... ..o it 1,317
Subtract Dividends Declared and Paid During Fiscal 2012 .. .. ....................... _(234)
Retained Earnings, February 27,2013 ... ... .o i $5,797

STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

The statement of cash flows reports information about cash generated from (or used by) oper-
ating, investing, and financing activities during the period. It shows where the firm obtains or
generates cash and where it spends or uses cash. If a firm is to continue operating successfully,
it must generate more cash than it spends. A firm generates cash from operations when it col-
lects more cash from customers than it spends on operating activities. While firms can borrow
cash from creditors, future operations must generate cash to repay these loans.

Exhibit 1.3 presents the statements of cash flows for Great Deal for fiscal years 2012, 2011
and 2010. Exhibit 1.7 shows this information for Thames for fiscal years 2013 and 2012. These
statements have three sections, describing operating, investing, and financing activities that gen-
erate or use cash.

Operating Activities Most firms expect to collect more cash from customers than they
pay to suppliers, employees, and others in carrying out operating activities. For many firms,
operating activities provide the largest source of cash. Both Great Deal and Thames generated
significant cash flows from operating activities in the years presented. For example, Thames’s

1QOther items can also affect retained earnings. Later chapters discuss some of these and others are beyond the
scope of this textbook.
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cash provided by operating activities in 2013 was €1,155.0 million. Great Deal’s cash provided
by operating activities in 2012 was $2,206 million."”

Investing Activities Firms acquire buildings, equipment, and other noncurrent assets
to maintain or expand their productive capacity. These acquisitions, referred to as
capital expenditures, use cash. A firm can obtain the cash needed for capital expenditures from
selling existing assets, from operating activities, and from financing activities. Great Deal’s cash
paid for additions to property and equipment was $615 million in fiscal 2012. Thames’s capital
expenditures in 2013 was €418.9 million.

Financing Activities Firms obtain financing to support operating and investing activities
by issuing debt or common shares. The firm uses cash to pay dividends and to repay or retire
existing debt financing, such as repaying long-term debt. For example, Great Deal’s statement
of cash flows shows that in fiscal 2012 it used $5,342 million cash to repay long-term debt, it
borrowed $5,132 by issuing debt, and it paid $234 million in cash dividends. Thames borrowed
€1,125.2 million, it repaid €1,103.9 million, and it paid cash dividends of €204.7 million.

Relation of the Statement of Cash Flows to the Balance Sheet and Income
Statement The statement of cash flows explains the change in cash between the beginning
and the end of the period. It also displays the changes in cash from operating, investing, and
financing activities. The following table analyzes the changes in cash for Great Deal (for fiscal
2012) and for Thames (for fiscal 2013). Numbers in parentheses ( ) are subtracted, indicating a
net use of cash.

Changes in Cash for Great Deal (fiscal 2012) and Thames (fiscal 2013)

Great Deal Thames
Cash at the Start of Fiscal 2012 0r2013 ... ... .. i i i i $ 498 €1,499.8
Cash Flow from Operations During the Year ... ................... 2,206 1,155.0
Cash Flow from Investing During the Year ... ............ ... ..... (540) (565)
Cash Flow from Financing Duringthe Year . . .. .. ....... ... . ..... (348) (161.8)
Adjustment for Exchange Rate Differences™. .. ....... ... ......... 1o 32.1
Cash at the End of Fiscal 2012 0r 2013 . . . . o oo vttt it et e e e e e e e $1,826 €1,960.1

In addition to sources and uses of cash, the statement of cash flows shows the relation
between net income and cash flow from operations. Cash flow from operations exceeds net
income for each of the three years shown for Great Deal. Cash flow from operations is posi-
tive in fiscal 2013 for Thames, even though it reported a loss for that year, and cash flow from
operations exceeded net income for fiscal 2012."°

STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQuUITY

The fourth financial statement presents changes in shareholders’ equity. Firms use various titles
for the statement of shareholders’ equity. For example, Great Deal’s statement, in Exhibit 1.4,
is called Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, while Thames’s state-
ment, in Exhibit 1.8, is called Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity and
Minority Interests. This statement displays components of shareholders’ equity, including com-
mon shares and retained earnings, and changes in those components. For example, Great Deal’s
retained earnings changed between February 28, 2012, and February 27, 2013, because Great
Deal earned net income (an increase of $1,317 million) and paid cash dividends (a decrease of
$234 million).

"Both of these statements begin with net income and make adjustments to net income to calculate cash flow
from operations. Chapter 6 discusses these adjustments.

8Both Great Deal and Thames operate in several countries, implying that their activities involve multiple curren-
cies. Thames reports a €32.1 million effect of exchange rate changes and includes that amount in its statement
of cash flows. Great Deal reports the effects of exchange rate changes as $10 million. This book does not con-
sider the accounting effects of different currencies or of changes in exchange rates among currencies.

Chapter 6 discusses reasons for the difference between net income and cash flow from operations.
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SUPPORTING SCHEDULES AND NOTES

The financial statements present aggregated information, for example, the total amount of
land, buildings, and equipment. Financial reports provide more detail for some of the items
reported in the financial statements. They provide additional explanatory material to help the
user understand the information in the financial statements. The additional material appears in
schedules and notes.

The notes to the financial statements describe the accounting guidance that the firm uses to
prepare those financial statements. The notes also provide information that elaborates on, or
disaggregates, items presented in the financial statements. Understanding a firm’s balance sheet,
income statement, statement of cash flows, and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
requires understanding the notes.

SUMMARY: PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements provide information about a firm’s financial position (balance sheet),
its profitability (income statement), its cash-generating activity (statement of cash flows), and
its changes in shareholders’ equity. The balance sheet reports amounts of assets, liabilities, and
shareholders’ equity at the balance sheet date. The income statement reports the outcome of
using assets to generate earnings during a reporting period and helps explain the change in
retained earnings on the balance sheet between the beginning and end of the period. The state-
ment of cash flows reports the cash inflows and outflows from operating, investing, and financ-
ing activities and explains the change in cash on the balance sheet between the beginning and
end of the period. The statement of shareholders’ equity reports the reasons why the compo-
nents of shareholders’ equity increased or decreased during the reporting period. Users should
read the financial statements in conjunction with the supporting notes and schedules, which
provide additional information to help users understand the financial statements.

[ :7:36):105 Y0 1.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

Preparing a balance sheet and an income statement. The following information is based on
the annual report of Sargent AG, a German multinational firm. Amounts are reported in
millions of euros (€).

September 30

2013 2012

Balance Sheet Items
Accounts Payable. . . . ... € 8,382 € 8,443
Property and Equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) .......... 10,555 12,072
Cash and Cash Equivalents. . . .o ov vttt et e e 4,005 10,214
ComMmMON SEOCK. « v v vt e e e e e e e e e 8,823 8,335
Intangible Assets. . . . oo o e 17,120 13,074
Other Noncurrent AsSetsS . . v v v v vttt it et e et et et et e e e 3,371 4,370
Long-Term Investment Securities . ... ........ . .y 12,577 7,998
07721 0 oY =33 12,930 12,790
Long-Term Debt. . . ..ot 9,860 13,122
Other Noncurrent Liabilities. . . ... v i i ittt i e it e 8,174 9,547
Other Shareholders’ Equity Items . . . ... ... ottt 351 858
Accounts Receivable. . . .. oo i i e 14,620 15,148
Other CUMment ASSetS. « v v v vttt it e et et et et et e 16,377 11,862
Other Current Liabilities . . . . v v v vttt i e e e e e e 33,098 28,939
Retained Earnings . ... ..o v it 20,453 16,702
Current Income Taxes Payable .. ... ... ... .. ... 2,414 1,582

(continued)
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September 30

2013
Income Statement Items
CoSt Of SalES .« v vttt e €51,572
Income Tax EXpense. . . ..ot 1,192
Other (Nonoperating) EXpense . . . . o oottt et e et 144
SalES . vt e e e e e 72,448
Research & Development EXPENSeS . . . .o v vttt ittt et e e e 3,399
Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses . ...............coeeiinnn.. 12,103

a. Prepare a comparative balance sheet as of September 30, 2013 (fiscal 2013), and Sep-
tember 30, 2012 (fiscal 2012) in the format used in Exhibit 1.1. Classify the balance
sheet items into the following categories: current assets, noncurrent assets, current
liabilities, noncurrent liabilities, and shareholders’ equity. Refer to the Glossary at the
back of the book if you have difficulty with any of the accounts. For each year, verify
that assets equal liabilities plus shareholders’ equity on your balance sheet.

b. Prepare an income statement for the year ending September 30, 2013. Classify income
statement items into revenues and expenses.

c. Based only on the information given here, did this firm pay cash dividends to its
shareholders during the year ending September 30, 2013? If yes, what is the amount?

Solutions to self-study problems appear at the end of each chapter.

FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS

This section discusses participants in the financial reporting process:

1. Managers and governing boards of reporting entities.
2. Accounting standard setters and regulatory bodies.
3. Independent external auditors.

4. Users of financial statements.

This section also discusses three concepts and conventions that underpin the financial reporting
process:

1. The distinction between recognition and realization.
2. Materiality.
3. The accounting period.

MANAGERS AND GOVERNING BOARDS OF REPORTING ENTITIES

Firms receive funds from owners with the expectation that managers will use the funds to
increase shareholder value. Managers are agents of the shareholders and have responsibility for
safeguarding and properly using the firm’s resources. Managers establish internal controls to
ensure the proper recording of transactions and the appropriate measurement and reporting of
the results of those transactions. Shareholders elect a governing board, sometimes called a board
of directors. The governing board is responsible for selecting, compensating, and overseeing
managers; for establishing dividend policy; and for making decisions on major issues such as
acquisitions of other firms and divestitures of lines of business. Some governing boards, includ-
ing the boards of publicly traded U.S. firms, have a special committee charged with oversight of
financial reporting.

Managers are responsible for preparing the firm’s financial reports. If the firm’s shares
trade publicly, laws and regulations specify the accounting system the firm must follow (for
example, U.S. GAAP or IFRS). Management is responsible for understanding the transactions,
events, and arrangements that it reports in the firm’s financial statements and for properly
applying accounting standards.
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ACCOUNTING STANDARD SETTERS AND REGULATORY BODIES

Firms apply accounting standards to prepare their financial reports. This book considers two
systems of accounting standards, U.S. GAAP and IFRS. This section discusses these two sets
of standards and their regulatory regimes.

U.S. GAAP In the United States the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), an agency
of the federal government, has the authority to establish accounting standards. The SEC is also
the enforcement agency for U.S. securities laws. These laws apply to firms that access the public
debt and equity markets of the United States. The SEC enforces the application of required
accounting standards for U.S. SEC registrants as well as non-U.S. SEC registrants (also called
foreign private issuers). A U.S. SEC registrant is a firm incorporated in the United States that
lists and trades its securities in the United States. A non-U.S. SEC registrant is a firm incorpo-
rated under non-U.S. laws that has filed the necessary documents with the SEC to list and trade
its securities in the United States.

Although it occasionally issues authoritative accounting guidance, the SEC has largely
delegated the task of setting U.S. financial accounting standards to the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (FASB), a private-sector body with seven voting members. FASB members
work full time for the FASB and sever all relations with their previous employers. As the FASB
considers a financial reporting issue, its due-process procedures ensure that it receives input from
constituencies, including preparers of financial reports, auditors, and financial statement users.?’

Common terminology includes the pronouncements of the FASB in the compilation of
accounting rules, procedures, and practices known as generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP). The applicable accounting guidance for preparing financial reports of U.S. firms is
U.S. GAAP. The applicable guidance includes, as well, writings of the SEC, consensuses of the
Emerging Issues Task Force (a committee that operates under the oversight of the FASB), and
some pronouncements of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA, a
professional association). From its inception in 1973 until 2009, the FASB issued its major pro-
nouncements in the form of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS), with both a
number (for example, SFAS 95) and a title (for example, “Statement of Cash Flows”).

In 2009, the FASB completed a codification project that organized all of U.S. GAAP by
topic (for example, revenues). The FASB Accounting Standards Codification is now the source
of U.S. GAAP and can be accessed on the FASB’s Web site. Authoritative guidance is referred
to in terms of its codification section (or ASC for Accounting Standards Codification); for
example, Inventory is in FASB ASC 330; Revenue is in ASC 605; and Research and Develop-
ment is in ASC 730. The FASB issues new authoritative guidance in the form of Accounting
Standards Updates (ASU) that are amendments to the Accounting Standards Codification.

FASB board members make standard-setting decisions guided by a conceptual framework
that addresses the following issues:?!

1. Objective of financial reporting. The conceptual framework establishes the objective of
financial reporting as providing information to current and potential investors, creditors,
and others to assist them in making resource allocation decisions.?

2. Qualitative characteristics of accounting information. The conceptual framework establishes
two qualitative characteristics of financial information that enable the information to meet
the objective of financial reporting. The two characteristics are relevance and representa-
tional faithfulness:

B Relevance. The information should be pertinent to the decisions made by users of finan-
cial statements. This means that the information should have the capacity to affect their
resource allocation decisions.

B Representational faithfulness. The information should represent what it is supposed
to represent. This means that the information should correspond to the phenomenon
being reported, and it should be reasonably complete and free from bias and error.

2 Additional information is available on the FASB’s Web site (www.fasb.org).

2'The FASB’s conceptual framework is in Statements of Financial Accounting Concepts, available on the FASB’s
Web site.

2With one exception, a method of accounting for inventories and cost of goods sold, the accounting methods
permitted or required by U.S. GAAP differ from the methods required for calculating taxable income in the
United States. With the exception of inventories, you should assume there will be significant differences between
tax accounting methods and financial accounting methods under U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

The conceptual framework also establishes certain features of financial information
that enhance the ability of that information to meet the objective of financial reporting.

B Comparability. The information should facilitate comparisons across firms and over
time. Accounting information is comparable if firms account for similar events and
transactions the same way.

B Verifiability. Information is verifiable if knowledgeable and independent observers of
that information reach consensus that a specified depiction of an item is a faithful
representation of that item. Information can be verified in several ways, including, for
example, direct observation, such as counting the amount of cash or inventory.

B Timeliness and understandability. In order to be useful for resource allocation decisions,
information must be available to decision makers in time to be capable of influencing
their decisions. Also, decision makers must be able to understand that information.
Financial reports are prepared with the assumptions that users have reasonable business
knowledge and analyze the reports diligently.

3. Elements of financial statements. The conceptual framework defines assets, liabilities, rev-
enues, expenses, and other items. An item can appear in the financial statements only if it
meets these definitions. Items that do not meet these definitions may be disclosed in the
notes.

4. Recognition and measurement principles. The conceptual framework defines recognition as
the depiction of an item in words and numbers in the financial statements with the amount
included in the totals. For example, the amount payable to suppliers is a recognized item
that appears as a liability on the balance sheet, and its amount is part of total liabili-
ties. Other items in financial reports are not recognized in the financial statements but, if
significant, appear as disclosures in the notes to the financial statements. The conceptual
framework specifies criteria that an item must meet in order for it to be recognized in the
financial statements. It also describes various ways to measure recognized items.

The conceptual framework guides the FASB in setting accounting standards. The con-
ceptual framework is not a rigorous, analytical structure from which the FASB can logically
deduce acceptable accounting methods, however.?

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) At one time, accounting was
a largely jurisdiction-specific activity. This meant that each country developed its own distinct
accounting standards. As a result, firms based in different countries applied different standards
in their financial reports, impeding comparisons of firms by investors and creditors. The glo-
balization of capital markets has increased the need for comparable financial statements across
countries.

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) is an independent account-
ing standard-setting entity with voting members from several countries. (As of 2011, there
were 15 voting members; this number is subject to change.) Standards set by the IASB are
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The TASB’s conceptual framework is sim-
ilar to the FASB’s conceptual framework and is used for similar purposes. The IASB began
operating in 2001.%* More than 100 countries require or permit firms to use IFRS, or a set of
standards based on or adapted from IFRS. Each of these countries has its own regulatory
arrangements for enforcing the application of IFRS. These enforcement arrangements differ
considerably across countries.

In 2007 the U.S. SEC adopted rules that permit non-U.S. firms that list and trade their
securities in the United States (non-U.S. SEC registrants) to apply IFRS in their financial
reports filed with the SEC without any reconciliation to U.S. GAAP. Prior to this rule change,
non-U.S. SEC registrants could use any set of accounting standards to prepare their finan-
cial reports, but they had to reconcile those reported numbers to the numbers that they would
have reported had they prepared the financial statements using U.S. GAAP. The main effect
of the 2007 rule change is to create two sets of acceptable financial reporting systems in the

ZChapter 17 discusses the FASB’s conceptual framework more fully.
*The standards set by its predecessor body, the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC), are
called International Accounting Standards (IAS), and IFRS includes them.
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United States, specifically, U.S. GAAP for U.S. SEC registrants and IFRS for non-U.S. SEC
registrants.?

The FASB and IASB have committed to converge their standards. The goal of the conver-
gence process is to eliminate differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS and to improve the
resulting standards. The intention is produce a single set of high-quality financial reporting
standards. In addition, a separate project is under way to converge, complete, and improve the
conceptual frameworks.?

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

Regulatory bodies require firms whose securities trade publicly to obtain an audit of their
financial reports by an independent external auditor.”” Even if the securities do not trade pub-
licly, financing sources such as banks may require that the firm obtain an independent audit of
its financial reports. An audit involves the following:

1. An assessment of the capability of a firm’s accounting system to accumulate, measure, and
synthesize transactional data.

2. An assessment of the operational effectiveness of the accounting system.

3. A determination of whether the financial report complies with the requirements of the
applicable authoritative guidance.

The auditor obtains evidence for the first assessment by studying the procedures and inter-
nal controls built into the accounting system. The auditor obtains evidence for the second
assessment by examining a sample of actual transactions. The auditor obtains evidence for the
third assessment through a combination of audit procedures. The auditor’s conclusions appear
in the audit opinion, part of the financial report.

Concerns over the quality of financial reporting and auditing have led to government ini-
tiatives in the United States. For example, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 established the
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (PCAOB), which is responsible for monitoring the
quality of audits of SEC registrants. This Act requires the PCAOB to register firms conducting
independent audits; establish acceptable auditing, quality control, and independence standards;
and provide for periodic inspections of registered auditors. In addition, for larger firms whose
shares trade in the United States, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires the independent auditor to pro-
vide an assessment of the effectiveness of a firm’s internal control system for financial reporting.

Users OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Standard setters and securities regulators intend that financial reports provide information that
helps decision makers allocate resources (for example, lend funds or buy shares) and evaluate
the results of their decisions. Financial reporting is not intended to measure firm value or to
provide all the information decision makers may need to make resource allocation decisions.
Financial reporting is intended to provide information that is useful in helping decision makers
assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of future cash flows.

Users of financial statements must have reasonable business knowledge and reasonable
knowledge of the kinds of transactions that firms engage in. They must also have reason-
able knowledge of the financial accounting guidance that firms follow to prepare financial
reports, and reasonable understanding of the judgments and estimates required to apply those
principles.

3Non-U.S. SEC registrants could also choose to apply U.S. GAAP. Or they could apply some other accounting
standards (not IFRS and not U.S. GAAP) and reconcile the resulting numbers to U.S. GAAP. As this book
goes to press, the SEC has not decided whether to permit or require U.S. SEC registrants to apply IFRS.

2Specific information about convergence activities appears on the FASB’s Web site (www.fasb.org) and on the
TASB’s Web site (www.ifrs.org). Chapter 17 summarizes some of the differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

“"Employees of a firm may also conduct audits (called internal audits). The employees’ knowledge and familiarity
with the activities of their firm enhance the quality of the audit work and increase the likelihood that the audit
will generate suggestions for improving operations.
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BASIC ACCOUNTING CONVENTIONS
AND CONCEPTS

Recognition and realization are two fundamental accounting concepts. We have previously
described recognized items as being depicted in words and numbers on the face of the financial
statements, with their amounts included in the totals. Items must meet certain conditions in
order for them to be recognized.?® Realization refers to converting a noncash item to cash. An
example of a realized event is collecting cash on an account receivable.

Accounting conventions recognize many accounting items (that is, include them in the
financial statements) before the firm realizes them (that is, converts them to cash). To illustrate,
suppose a firm ships an item for $1,000 on account, payable in 30 days, to a creditworthy cus-
tomer. The firm recognizes revenue when it ships the goods but realizes revenue when it collects
the cash.

Materiality captures the notion that financial reports need not include items that are so
small as to be meaningless to users. Immaterial items do not appear in the financial reports.
No precise quantitative materiality threshold exists, so financial statement preparers must apply
judgment to decide whether a given item is immaterial.

The accounting period convention refers to the length of financial reporting periods. Most
business activities do not divide into distinguishable pieces. For example, a firm acquires a plant
and uses it in manufacturing products for 30 years. A firm purchases delivery equipment and
uses it to transport merchandise to customers for five years. Because there is no natural stop-
ping point in business activities, the convention is to prepare financial statements for periods of
specified length. This approach facilitates timely comparisons and analyses among firms.

An accounting period (also called a reporting period) is the time between two successive bal-
ance sheet dates. Balance sheets prepared at the end of the day on December 31 of one year
and at the end of the day on December 31 of the next year bound a calendar-year accounting
period. The December 31 balance sheet is also the beginning balance sheet for the next year.
Balance sheets prepared at the end of the day on November 30 and at the end of the day on
December 31 bound a one-month accounting period—the month of December.

Some firms use the calendar year as the accounting period, while others use a
natural business year that coincides with changes in the level of operating activities. For exam-
ple, firms often establish their year-end as the point in time when inventories are at their lowest
level. Retailers, like Great Deal, use a year-end close to the end of January or February, the
natural end of the holiday sales season. The ending date of a natural business year is therefore
associated with the activities of the particular firm’s business.

Firms may prepare interim reports for periods shorter than a year. Preparing interim reports
does not eliminate the need to prepare an annual report. Firms with publicly traded securities
in the United States must prepare and file with the SEC quarterly reports as well as annual
reports. Firms file quarterly reports on SEC form 10-Q (the 10-Q report) and file annual
reports using SEC form 10-K (the 10-K report). Some firms use the 10-K report as their annual
report to shareholders. Other firms incorporate the 10-K report into their annual report. Still
others prepare a separate annual report to shareholders in addition to the 10-K report.

ACCOUNTING METHODS FOR
MEASURING PERFORMANCE

Many operating activities start in one accounting period and finish in another. For example, a
firm may acquire a building in one period and use it in operations for 30 years. Firms may pur-
chase merchandise in one accounting period, pay for it in a second, sell it in a third, and collect
cash from customers in a fourth. Cash collection can precede the sale of merchandise, as occurs
when customers make advance payments, or follow it, as occurs with sales made on account.
Measuring performance for a specific accounting period requires measuring the amount of

#For example, Chapter 4 discusses the recognition criteria for items to be included as assets and liabilities on the
balance sheet. Chapter 8 discusses the criteria for recognizing revenues on the income statement.
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revenues and expenses from operating activities that span more than one accounting period.
The following are two approaches to measuring operating performance:

1. The cash basis of accounting.
2. The accrual basis of accounting.

CAsH BAsis OF ACCOUNTING

Under the cash basis of accounting, a firm measures performance from selling goods and pro-
viding services as it receives cash from customers and makes cash expenditures to providers of
goods and services. To understand performance measurement under the cash basis of account-
ing, consider the following information.

Example 3 Joan Adam opens an art supply store (Adam-Art Supply) on January 1, 2013.
The financing of the store consists of €150,000 in cash, provided by Joan in exchange for all
the common stock of the firm. The firm rents space on January 1 and pays two months’ rent of
€14,000 in advance. During January it acquires merchandise costing €140,000, paying €86,000
in cash and acquiring the rest (€54,000) on account for payment in February. Sales to custom-
ers during January total €140,000, of which €114,000 is for cash and €26,000 is on account
for collection in February and March. The cost of the merchandise sold during January was
€42,000. The firm paid €25,000 in salaries.

Using the cash basis of accounting, the firm records sales as it receives cash. Income is cash
receipts less cash disbursements for goods and services. Adam-Art Supply made €140,000 in
total sales during January, but it records performance equal to cash receipts of €114,000. It
will record the remaining €26,000 as performance when customers pay the amounts owed in
later months. The firm acquires merchandise costing €140,000 during January but pays €86,000
cash to suppliers. Under cash-basis accounting, the performance measure subtracts only the
cash paid from cash receipts. The firm also subtracts January’s cash expenditures for salaries
(€25,000) and rent (€14,000), even though it paid the rent for both January and February. Cash
expenditures for merchandise and services (€125,000 = €86,000 + €25,000 + €14,000) exceeded
cash receipts from customers (€114,000) during January by €11,000:

Cash Inflows
Cash Receipts from CUSTOMErS . . . v v ittt ittt ettt et ettt et e e e eanan € 114,000
Total Cash Inflows . . v v it e e et e 114,000

Cash Outflows

Cash Paid for Rent . . . . e (14,000)
Cash Paid for Merchandise. . . . ... oot e (86,000)
Cash Paid for Salaries . . . ..ottt e (25,000)
Total Cash Outflows . . . oo e e (125,000)
Net Cash FLOW . . . .ttt e e e € (11,000)

As a basis for measuring performance for a particular accounting period, the cash basis of
accounting has three weaknesses.

1. The cash basis does not match the cost of the efforts required to generate inflows with the
inflows themselves. Cash outflows of one period can relate to operating activities whose
cash inflows occur in preceding or succeeding periods. For example, the store rental pay-
ment of €14,000 provides rental services for both January and February. Yet the cash basis
subtracts the full amount in measuring performance during January and none for Feb-
ruary. As a result, February’s performance will look better than January’s for no reason
except the timing of cash payments for rent.

The cash basis does a better job of matching the cost of the efforts required in generat-
ing inflows with the inflows themselves over a longer period than over a shorter period. For
example, if Adam-Art Supply calculates cash-basis performance over rwo months, January
and February, the €14,000 cost of rental services exactly matches the period over which
the firm receives the benefits. Delaying performance measurement is not a good solution,
however, because users of financial statements want timely information and because of the
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reasons given in the description of the accounting period convention—business activities
do not divide neatly into discrete projects and discrete periods.

2. The cash basis separates the recognition of revenue from the process of earning those
revenues. A firm should recognize revenues when it earns them by delivering goods and
services to customers. Delivery often occurs before the firm collects cash from customers.
Waiting to recognize revenues until the firm collects cash results in reporting the effects of
operating activities one or more periods after the critical revenue-generating activity—the
customer’s purchase of goods and service—has occurred. For example, sales to customers
during January by Adam-Art Supply were €140,000. Under the cash basis, the firm will not
recognize €26,000 of this amount until it collects the cash in February or later.

3. Performance measured using the cash basis is sensitive to the timing of cash expenditures.
For example, the cash-basis measure reduces the performance for Adam-Art Supply in
January by the entire €14,000 cash payment for rent, even though the firm will benefit from
the results of those expenditures for two months in the future. A delay of even a few days
in cash expenditures near the end of the accounting period will increase earnings for that
period.

AccrRuUAL BAsis OF ACCOUNTING

The accrual basis of accounting recognizes revenue when a firm sells goods (manufacturing
and retailing firms) or renders services (service firms). And it recognizes expenses in the period
when the firm recognizes the revenues that the costs helped produce. Thus accrual accounting
attempts to match expenses with revenues. When the usage of an asset’s future benefits does not
match with particular revenues, the firm recognizes those costs as expenses in the period when
the firm uses the benefits.

Example 4 Under the accrual basis of accounting, Adam-Art Supply recognizes, for January
2013, the entire €140,000 of sales during January as revenue, even though it has received only
€114,000 in cash by the end of January. The firm reasonably expects to collect the remaining
accounts receivable of €26,000 in February or soon thereafter. The sale of the goods, rather
than the collection of cash from customers, triggers the recognition of revenue. The merchan-
dise sold during January cost €42,000. Recognizing this amount as an expense (cost of goods
sold) matches the cost of the merchandise sold with revenue from sales of those goods. Of
the advance rental payment of €14,000, only €7,000 applies to the cost of benefits consumed
during January. The remaining rental of €7,000 purchases benefits for the month of Febru-
ary and will therefore appear on the January 31 balance sheet as an asset. Unlike the cost of
merchandise sold, January’s salaries and rent expenses do not match January revenues. These
costs become expenses of January to the extent that the firm consumed salary and rent services
during the month. Using the accrual basis of accounting, Adam-Art would report January net

income of €66,000:
Sales REVENUE . . . v vttt e e €140,000
Cost 0f Goods Sold. . . . ..ot e (42,000)
RENE EXPENSE .« . ettt et e e et e e e e (7,000)
Salaries EXPENSE . o o vttt e e e e (25,000)

Net INCOMe. « ottt e e e e e e e € 66,000

The accrual basis of accounting illustrates the matching convention: it matches expenses
with their related revenues by subtracting their amount in measuring performance. The accrual
basis focuses on revenues and expenses in measuring performance. This measure of perfor-
mance is independent of whether the firm has collected cash for the inflows from generating
revenues or spent cash for the outflows from the expenses.

The accrual basis of accounting provides a better measure of January operating perfor-
mance for Adam-Art Supply than does the cash basis, for two reasons.

1. Revenues more accurately reflect the results of sales activity during January than does cash
received from customers during that period.

2. Expenses more closely match reported revenues than expenditures match receipts.
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Solutions to Self-Study Problems

The accrual basis also provides a superior measure of performance for future periods
because activities of future periods will bear their share of the costs of rent and other services
the firm will consume.

Most firms use the accrual basis of accounting. From this point on, all discussions assume
use of the accrual basis.

| 20610 VE 1.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

Cash versus accrual basis of accounting. Thompson Hardware Store commences
operations on January 1, 2013, when Jacob Thompson invests $30,000 for all of the
common stock of the firm. The firm rents a building on January 1 and pays two months’
rent in advance in the amount of $2,000. On January 1 it also pays the $1,200 premium
for property and liability insurance coverage for the year ending December 31, 2013. The
firm purchases $28,000 of merchandise inventory on account on January 2 and pays
$10,000 of this amount on January 25. On January 31 the cost of unsold merchandise
is $15,000. During January the firm makes cash sales to customers totaling $20,000
and sales on account totaling $9,000. The firm collects $2,000 from these credit sales by
the end of January. The firm pays other costs during January as follows: utilities, $400;
salaries, $650; and taxes, $350. What are Thompson Hardware Store’s revenues, expenses,
and income for January, assuming (1) the accrual basis of accounting and (2) the cash
basis of accounting?

SUMMARY

This chapter shows how business activities relate to the financial statements. The chapter
provides a broad overview of the four basic financial statements. Later chapters examine the
concepts and procedures underlying each statement. This chapter also describes the financial
reporting process and introduces U.S. GAAP and IFRS.

Now we turn to the study of financial accounting. To comprehend the concepts and pro-
cedures in the book, you should study the numerical examples presented in each chapter and
prepare solutions to several problems, including the self-study problems.

SOLUTIONS TO SELF-STUDY PROBLEMS

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 1.1 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Preparing a balance sheet and an income statement using data of Sargent AG)

a. Balance sheet for years ended September 30, 2013, and September 30, 2012.

September 30

2013 2012
Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents . . . .... o vttt e e e i € 4,005 €10,214
Accounts Receivable . ... ... e 14,620 15,148
TNVENEOTIES « v vt e ettt e 12,930 12,790

(continued)
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September 30

2013 2012
Other Current ASSetS . . oot e e 16,377 11,862
Total Current Assets . . . o oo e 47,932 50,014
Property and Equipment (net of accumulated depreciation) . . ............. 10,555 12,072
Intangible AsSets . v v v vttt e 17,120 13,074
Long-Term Investment Securities. . ... ...ttt i 12,577 7,998
Other Noncurrent Assets. . . ...t v i i e 3,371 4,370
Total Noncurrent Assets . ... ...t 43,623 37,514
Total AsSets . . oottt e €91,555 €87,528
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Accounts Payable . . . ... e € 8,382 € 8,443
Current Income Taxes Payable. . .. ... ..o i 2,414 1,582
Other Current Liabilities. . . . v v vt e e e e e e e e 33,098 28,939
Total Current Liabilities. . . o v v oo it it e e e 43,894 38,964
Long-Term Debt . ... ..ot e 9,860 13,122
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . . .. . o ittt e e e e e 8,174 9,547
Total Noncurrent Liabilities . . . . oo v i it e e 18,034 22,669
Total Liabilities . . v v v v oo e e 61,928 61,633
Common STOCK . . ot vt e e e 8,823 8,335
Retained Earnings. . . ...ttt e 20,453 16,702
Other Shareholders” Equity Ttems. . . . . ..o o 351 858
Total Shareholders” EqUity . . . oo oottt 29,627 25,895
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity . ... ..ot €91,555 €87,528
Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
Fiscal 2013: €91,555 million = €61,928 million + €29,627 million
Fiscal 2012: €87,528 million = €61,633 million + €25,895 million
b. Income statement for year ended September 30, 2013:
SalES . ot e e €72,448
Costof Sales. . . v i e (51,572)
Research and Development Expenses . ......... ..., (3,399)
Selling, General, and Administrative EXpenses . . . .. ..o it ittt it (12,103)
Operating Profit . ... .. o e 5,374
Other (Nonoperating) Expense. . ... ... ottt i e (144)
Earnings Before IncomMe TaXeS . . o v v v vttt et e e e e e e 5,230
Income Tax EXpense. . . .ottt e e e (1,192)
NEt INCOME . ottt et et et e e e e e e e e € 4,038

c. Yes. The change in Retained Earnings is €3,751 million, and Net Income is €4,

038 million.

Based on this information only, dividends are €287 million (= €4,038 — €3,751).

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 1.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Thompson Hardware Store: cash versus accrual basis of accounting)

Calculation of revenues, expenses, and income for January 2013 under the cash basis and

accrual basis of accounting:
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Cash Basis  Accrual Basis

REVENUES . . ottt e e $22,000 $29,000
Expenses:

ReNt . o e e $ 2,000 $ 1,000
INSUIANCE & vttt e e e e e e e e e 1,200 100
Costs Of INVENLOrY. « .« v oo e e 10,000 13,000
UBIEIES. o vttt e e e e 400 400
SalareS . v et e 650 650
LD 350 350
Total EXPeNSES « v vttt et e et $14,600 $15,500
Net INCOMe. . . .ttt e e e e e e $ 7,400 $13,500

KEY TERMS AND CONCEPTS

Goals U.S. SEC registrant

Strategies Non-U.S. SEC registrant, foreign private
Financing issuer

Shareholders, stockholders Financial Accounting Standards Board
Publicly traded (FASB)

Dividends U.S. GAAP (generally accepted accounting
Creditors principles)

Investing activities

Operating activities

Annual report to shareholders
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Statements of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS)

Accounting Standards Codification

Conceptual framework

(MD&A) Relevance
Fiscal year Representational faithfulness
Monetary amount Comparability
Balance sheet or statement of financial Verifiability
position Timeliness
Assets Understandability
Liabilities Recognition
Shareholders’ equity Disclosure
Retained earnings International Accounting Standards Board
Historical amount (IASB)
Current amount International Financial Reporting
Income statement or statement of profit Standards (IFRS)
and loss Convergence
Net income, earnings, profit Audit opinion
Net loss Sarbanes-Oxley Act
Revenues, sales, sales revenue Public Company Accounting Oversight
Expenses Board (PCAOB)
Statement of cash flows Realization
Capital expenditures Materiality
Statement of shareholders’ equity Accounting period convention, reporting
Schedules and notes period

Financial reporting process
Managers
Governing board

Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)

Natural business year

Cash basis of accounting
Accrual basis of accounting
Matching convention
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QUESTIONS, EXERCISES, AND PROBLEMS

QUESTIONS

1.
2.

11.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.
17.

Review the meaning of the terms and concepts listed in Key Terms and Concepts.

The chapter describes four activities common to all entities: setting goals and strategies,
financing activities, investing activities, and operating activities. How would these four
activities likely differ for a charitable organization versus a business firm?

. “The photographic analogy for a balance sheet is a snapshot, and for the income statement

and the statement of cash flows it is a motion picture.” Explain.

. What is involved in an audit by an independent external auditor?
. Who prepares a firm’s financial statements?
. In what sense can suppliers of raw materials, merchandise, or labor services (employees)

also be sources of financing for firms?

. In what sense are a firm’s accounts receivable a source of financing for that firm’s customers?
. Investing activities pertain to the acquisition of productive capacity to enable a firm to

carry out its activities. Examples of this capacity include (1) land, buildings, and equipment
and (2) patents and licenses. How are these two kinds of capacity the same, and how are
they different?

. When will a firm’s fiscal year differ from a calendar year?
10.

Financial statements include amounts in units of currency. What is the most common
determinant of a firm’s choice of currency for financial reporting?

Assets and liabilities appear on balance sheets as either current or noncurrent. What is the
difference between a current item and a noncurrent item? Why would users of financial
statements likely be interested in this distinction?

The measurement basis for reporting items on a firm’s balance sheet can be either histori-
cal amounts or current amounts. What is the difference between these two measurement
bases?

How does an income statement connect two successive balance sheets? How does a state-
ment of cash flows connect two successive balance sheets?

What is the role of the following participants in the financial reporting process: the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC); the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB); the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB)?

This chapter introduces both U.S. GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). Which of these systems may U.S. firms use, and which may non-U.S. firms that list
and trade their securities in the United States use?

What is the purpose of the FASB’s and IASB’s conceptual frameworks?

What is the advantage of the accrual basis of accounting, relative to the cash basis of
accounting, for measuring performance?

EXERCISES

18.

Understanding the balance sheet. Refer to Exhibit 1.9, which contains balance sheet infor-
mation from the financial report of Palmer Coldgate, a U.S. consumer products manufac-
turer. This firm reports all amounts in millions of U.S. dollars ($). Answer the following
questions that pertain to the information in this exhibit.

a. What is the firm’s largest asset, and what is the asset’s carrying value on the balance
sheet?

b. What is the total amount of the firm’s noncurrent assets?

c. What is the firm’s largest liability, and what is the liability’s carrying value on the bal-
ance sheet?

d. By how much do the firm’s current assets differ from its current liabilities?
e. Has the firm been profitable since its inception? How do you know?
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Palmer Coldgate

AL e Consolidated Balance Sheet

As of year end 2013
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents . . ... oo vttt ettt $ 428.7
Receivables (net of allowances of $50.6 and $46.4, respectively) . .. ................ 1,680.7
INVENTOMIES o o ot 1,171.0
Other current @ssets . . .. ..ottt e e e 338.1
Total current @ssets . . . . oo vttt e 3,618.5
Property, plant, and equipment, net. . . . ... .. e 3,015.2
GoodWwill, Net . o o oot 2,272.0
Other intangible assets, Net . . . . ...ttt e 844.8
Other @SSEtS. « v v vttt e e 361.5
Total @SSEES .« v v v vttt e e e $10,112.0

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Notes and loans payable. . . . . .. e $ 155.9
Current portion of long-termdebt . ... ... . . . 138.1
Accounts payable . . ... e 1,066.8
Accrued INCOME TAXES .« ¢ v vttt e e et e e e e e e 262.7
Other aCCruals . .. v vttt e e e e e e 1,539.2
Total current labilities. . . oo oottt e e e 3,162.7
Long-term debt . . . ... e 3,221.9
Deferred INCOME taXes . .« o v vttt ettt e e e e 264.1
Other Habilities . . v vttt e e e e e e e e e e 1,177.1
Total Habilities . . v v v ottt e e e e 7,825.8
Commitments and contingent liabilities . . . ... ... ... —
Shareholders’ Equity
Preference stock . . . . oottt e 197.5
Common stock, $1 par value (1,000,000,000 shares authorized,
732,853,180 shares issued) . . . ...ttt i ittt e 732.9
Additional paid-in capital. . . . oottt e 1,517.7
Retained armings . . v v vttt it ittt e e e e 10,627.5
Accumulated other comprehensive income .. ... ... ... e (1,666.8)
11,408.8
s Unearned compensation. . . . ... v e e (218.9)
_% Treasury stock, @t COSt. . . o oot e (8,903.7)
g Total shareholders’ equity. . . . ..ottt e 2,286.2
% Total liabilities and shareholders” equity . . . ..o oo vttt e e $10,112.0
©

f. What fraction of its assets does the firm finance with liabilities?
g. Verify that the firm’s assets equal the sum of liabilities plus shareholders’ equity.

19. Understanding the income statement. Refer to Exhibit 1.10, which contains income state-
ment information that is based on the financial report of Capcion, an Austrian paper and
packaging manufacturer. Capcion reports all amounts in thousands of euros (€). Answer
the following questions that pertain to the information in this exhibit.

a. What is Capcion’s largest expense on its income statement, and what is the amount?

b. What is Capcion’s second largest expense on its income statement, and what is the amount?
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Capcion

ol ot Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended
(amounts in thousands of euros [€]) Dec. 31, 2013
SAlES it e e € 1,736,959.2
CoSt Of SAlES . & v vttt e e e e e e (1,331,292.1)
GroSS MArgiN. . . . oottt et ettt e e 405,667.1
Other operating iNCOME . . . . . ittt ittt ettt eeee e 10,746.7
Selling and distribution expenses . ...... ... ... . . .. (172,033.4)
Administrative @XPenses. . . ...t (74,204.0)
Other operating eXPenSesS. . . ..ottt i ittt et e (758.2)
Operating profit . . ... ... .. . e 169,418.2
Financial eXpenses . . ... ...t (9,082.9)
Financial inCome. . . . .ottt e e e e e e e e 14,534.1
Share of profit (loss) of associated companies. .. ........ ... .. 377.9
% Other income (expenses)—net . ... ... ...ttt (4,383.4)
g Profit before tax . . ... .. .. . i e 170,863.9
§ INCOME taX EXPENSE . v v ittt e et e e e e e e e e e e e (54,289.9)
g  Profitfortheyear........ ... ... ... . i € 116,574.0
©

c¢. What is the ratio of Capcion’s gross margin to sales (this ratio is the gross margin
percentage)?

d. What amount does Capcion report as operating profit for 2013? What amount does it
report as profit before tax? What explains the difference between the two?

e. What is Capcion’s effective tax rate for the year? (The effective tax rate is the ratio of
income tax expense to profit before tax.)

f. Did Capcion generate profit for the year, or incur a loss? How much?

20. Understanding the statement of cash flows. Information based on and adapted from the
statement of cash flows of Seller Redbud, a U.S. retailer, appears in Exhibit 1.11. This firm
reports all amounts in thousands of U.S. dollars (§). Answer the following questions that
pertain to the information in this exhibit.

a. Did Seller Redbud generate cash inflows or outflows from operating activities in the
year presented, and in what amount?

b. Did Seller Redbud generate cash inflows or outflows from investing activities in the year
presented, and in what amount?

c. Did Seller Redbud generate cash inflows or outflows from financing activities in the
year presented, and in what amount?

d. What was Seller Redbud’s net cash flow for the year presented?

e. What was the change in the cash balance between the beginning and end of the year
presented? What caused this change?

21. Balance sheet relations. The balance sheet of EuroTel, a European Union communications
firm, shows current assets of €20,000 million, current liabilities of €15,849 million, share-
holders’ equity of €17,154 million, and noncurrent assets of €29,402 million. What is the
amount of noncurrent liabilities on EuroTel’s balance sheet?

22. Balance sheet relations. The balance sheet of GoldRan, a South African mining company,
shows current assets of R6,085.1, noncurrent assets of R49,329.8, noncurrent liabilities
of R13,948.4, and current liabilities of R4,360.1. GoldRan reports in millions of South
African rand (R). What is the amount of GoldRan’s shareholders’ equity?

23. Income statement relations. The income statement of GrandRider, a U.K. automotive man-
ufacturer, reported revenues of £7,435, cost of sales of £6,003, other operating expenses of
£918, a loss of £2 on the sale of a business, and net financing income of £221. Tax expense
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Seller Redbud

el L Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ending

January 31,
(in thousands of US$) 2013
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
NEE BAMMINGS. « ¢ v vt e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 562,808
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cash provided by operating activities:
DEPreCiation. . v o vt e e e e e e 157,770
Amortization of bond premium . . ... ... e 1,538
Stock-based ComMPeNSation . v v v vttt e e e 43,755
Tax benefit from stock-based compensation . .......... ... ... .. 2,719
Deferred TNCOME TaXES &« v v v e e e et e et e e e e et e e e e 2,315
(Increase) decrease in assets, net of effect of acquisition:
Merchandise iNVENtories. . . . .ottt it e e (96,673)
Trading investment securities . . . . ... e (3,020)
Other current @ssets. . .« v v vttt e (16,217)
Other @SSEtS . . v v vttt ettt e e e 529
(Decrease) increase in liabilities, net of effect of acquisition:
Accounts payable . . . ... e (31,764)
Accrued expenses and other current labilities . . . ... ... i i . 15,774
Merchandise credit and gift card labilities .. ....... ... ... ... . . ... 24,430
Income taxes payable . .. ... ... e (74,530)
Deferred rent and other liabilities . .. ..o vttt i e 25,102
Net cash provided by operating activities . . ... ... ... . 614,536
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchase of held-to-maturity investment securities . ........... ... ... ... ... ... —
Redemption of held-to-maturity investment securities . ............ ... ... ...... 494,526
Purchase of available-for-sale investment securities . . . .. ..o v v ittt in it i (1,495,155)
Redemption of available-for-sale investment securities. . .. ..., 1,546,430
Capital expenditures . . . . ...ttt e (358,210)
Payment for acquisition, net of cash acquired ... ...... ... ... ... . . . . ... (85,893)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . .......... ... ... ... . ... ... 101,698
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . .. ... ... ... . . 22,672
Excess tax benefit from stock-based compensation. .. ........... ... .. ... ... ... 5,990
Repurchase of common stock, including fees. . ...... ... .. .. i i (734,193)
Payment of deferred purchase price for acquisition. ... ......... ... ... .. ... ... —
Net cash used in financing activities . .. ... i (705,531)
s Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents . . .. ..... ... ... ... ...... 10,703
E’ Cash and cash equivalents:
8 Beginning of period. . . . . ... 213,381
ﬂg End of period . . . .ot teeeea § 224,084
6

for the year was £133. GrandRider reports in millions of pounds sterling (£). Compute net
income or net loss for GrandRider.

24. Income statement relations. The income statement of AutoCo, a U.S. automotive manufac-
turer, reported revenues of $207,349, cost of sales of $164,682, other operating expenses,
including income taxes, of $50,335, and net financing income, after taxes, of $5,690.
Amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars (§). Compute net income or loss for AutoCo.

25. Retained earnings relations. The balance sheet of Veldt, a South African firm, showed a
balance in retained earnings of R5,872.4 at the end of 2013 and R4,640.9 at the end of
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2012. Net income for the year was R2,362.5 million. All amounts are in millions of South
African rand (R). Compute the amount of dividends declared during the year.

26. Retained earnings relations. The balance sheet of Delvico, an Indian firm, showed retained
earnings of Rs26,575 at the start of a year and Rs70,463 at the end of that year. The
firm declared dividends during the year of Rs3,544. All amounts are in millions of Indian
rupees (Rs). Compute net income for the year.

27. Cash flow relations. The statement of cash flows for BargainPurchase, a retailer, showed a
net cash inflow from operations of $4,125, a net cash outflow for investing of $6,195, and a
net cash inflow for financing of $3,707. The balance sheet showed a beginning-of-year bal-
ance in cash of $813. All amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars ($). Compute the amount
of cash on the balance sheet at the end of the year.

28. Cash flow relations. The statement of cash flows for Buenco, a firm in Argentina, showed
a net cash inflow from operations of Ps427,182 and a net cash outflow for financing of
Ps21,806. The comparative balance sheets showed a beginning balance in cash of Ps32,673
and an ending balance in cash of Ps101,198. All amounts are in millions of pesos (Ps).
Compute net cash provided or used by investing activities.

29. Preparation of simple balance sheet; current and noncurrent classifications. Kenton Limited
began retail operations on January 1, 2013. On that date it issued 10,000 shares of common
stock for £50,000. On January 31, Kenton used £48,000 of the proceeds to rent a store,
paying in advance for the next two years. Kenton also purchased £12,000 of merchandise
on credit, agreeing to pay the supplier within 30 days. Kenton applies IFRS. Prepare, in
good format, Kenton’s balance sheet as of January 31, 2013.

30. Preparation of simple balance sheet; current and noncurrent classifications. Heckle Group
began operations as an engineering consulting firm, on June 1, 2013. On that date it issued
100,000 shares of common stock for €920,000. During June, Heckle used €600,000 of the
proceeds to purchase office equipment. It acquired a patent for €120,000, agreeing to pay
the seller within 30 days. On June 30 Heckle signed a bank loan for €400,000, bearing inter-
est at 8% per year and payable in full on June 30, 2016. Prepare, in good format, Heckle’s
balance sheet as of June 30, 2013.

31. Accrual versus cash basis of accounting. The following information is based on the financial
statements of Hewston, a large manufacturing firm. Annual revenues are $66,387 million
and net expenses (including income taxes) are $62,313 million. During the year, the firm
collected $65,995 million in cash from customers and had cash outflows associated with
payments to suppliers and vendors of $56,411 million.

a. Calculate net income and net cash flow for the year.
b. How can cash collected from customers be less than revenues?
c¢. How can cash payments to suppliers and vendors be less than expenses?

32. Accrual versus cash basis of accounting. Consider the following information reported by
DairyLamb, a New Zealand firm; all figures are in millions of New Zealand dollars (8§).
The firm reported revenues of $13,882, cost of goods sold of $11,671, interest and other
expenses of $2,113, and tax expense of $67. It also reported $13,894 in cash receipts from
customers, $102 in miscellaneous cash receipts, $5,947 in cash payments to employees and
creditors, $6,261 in cash payments for milk, $402 in cash payments for interest, and $64 in
cash payments for taxes. Calculate net income and its net cash flow.

PROBLEMS

33. Balance sheet relations. Selected balance sheet amounts for ComputerCo, a manufacturer
located in Singapore, appear next. All amounts are in millions of Singapore dollars (8$).
Compute the missing amounts.

2013 2012
TOtal ASSEES « v v vttt e e e e $199,824 ?
Noncurrent Liabilities . ...t i e 7,010 ?

(continued)
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2013 2012
NONCUITENE ASSEES .« v v v v e e e e et e et e e et et et e e e e ? $ 17,368
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity . ........ ... .. ? ?
Current Liabilities . . v o v vttt e 139,941 126,853
Shareholders” Equity . .. ..o oo ? 53,721
Total Liabilities. . . . . vt te ? ?
Current ASSetS . v vt e e 170,879 170,234

34. Balance sheet relations. Selected balance sheet amounts for SinoTwelve, a Chinese manu-
facturer, appear next. All amounts are in thousands of U.S. dollars ($). Compute the miss-
ing amounts.

2013 2012
Total ASSetS . v vt e e ? $5,450,838
Current Liabilities . . o v v v it e e $4,488,461 3,527,504
Current Assets . . oo e ? 3,062,449
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity . .......... ... 7,199,847 ?
Noncurrent Liabilities .. ... ..o 1,098,123 ?
Shareholders EqUItY « .o oo vt e e e ? 1,134,276
NONCUITENt ASSEES . « v v vttt ettt et et e e e e e 2,494,481 ?
Total Liabilities. . . v oot ? ?

35. Income statement relations. Selected income statement information for EastonHome, a U.S.
consumer products manufacturer, appears next. All amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars
($). Compute the missing amounts.

2013 2012 2011

SaleS. o et e $13,790 ? $11,397
Costof Goods Sold . .. ... ? $5,536 5,192
Selling and Administrative Expenses . ..................... 4,973 4,355 3,921
Other (Income) Expense. . . .. oo v ittt 121 186 69
Interest Expense, net. . ... ... 157 159 136
Income Tax EXpense . .. ... ..ottt 759 648 728
NetIncome ... .. it 1,738 1,354 ?

36. Income statement relations. Selected income statement information for YankeeFashion, a
U.S. clothing retailer, appears next. All amounts are in millions of U.S. dollars ($). Com-
pute the missing amounts.

2013 2012 2011

Net REVENMUES .« v v ettt e et e e e et e e $4,295.4 $3,746.3 $3,305.4
Costof GoodsSold . ...t 1,959.2 1,723.9 1,620.9
Selling and Administrative Expenses .. ................... 1,663.4 1,476.9 1,377.6
Other (Income) Expense. . . ... oo, 34.0 ? 2.7
Interest (Income) Expense, net. ....... ... ... oo, ? (1.2) 6.4
Income Tax EXpense . ... ..o i it et 242.4 194.9 107.4
NetIncome .. ..ottt 400.9 308.0 ?

37. Statement of cash flows relations. The following information is based on data reported in
the statement of cash flows for AB Brown, a Swedish firm. All amounts are in millions of
Swedish kronor (SEK).
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38.

39.

2013 2012 2011

Inflows of Cash

Proceeds from Borrowings ... .......... i, SEK15,587 SEK 1,290 SEK 657
Sale of Common Stock . . .. ... .. 94 124 174
Revenues, Net of Expenses, from Operations . ........... 19,210 18,489 16,669
Sale of Property and Equipment. .. .................. 152 185 362
Sale of Short-Term Investments. . ... ................ 3,499 6,180 6,375
Other Financing Activities . ......... ... ... .. ..., 406 58 —
Other Investing Activities ......... ... ... ... .... — 663 —
Outflows of Cash

Acquisition of Property and Equipment. ............... 4,319 3,827 3,365
Acquisition of BuSinesses. ... ....cuiiiiinneeaan. 26,292 18,078 1,210
Repayment of Borrowings. . . .......... . ... 1,291 9,510 2,784
Dividends Paid . . . ..o oot 8,132 7,343 4,133
Other Financing Activities . ......... ... ... .. .. ... — — 288
Other Investing Activities . ........... ..., 573 — 1,131

Prepare a statement of cash flows for AB Brown for the three years presented using
the format in Exhibit 1.3. Set cash flow from operations equal to revenues, net of expenses,
from operations. The balance in cash at the beginning of 2011 was SEK30,412. AB Brown
classifies changes in short-term investments as investing activities.

Statement of cash flows relations. Selected data from the statement of cash flows for Jack-
son Corporation for the years ended October 31, 2013, 2012, and 2011 appear as follows
(amounts in millions of US$):

2013 2012 2011

Inflows of Cash
Proceeds from Long-Term Borrowings. . ............... § 836 $ 5,096 $ 3,190
Revenues from Operations Increasing Cash .. ........... 19,536 19,083 17,233
Issue of Common Stock ... ... .. i 67 37 3
Sale of Property, Plant, and Equipment. ............... 332 401 220
Other Investing Transactions. . . ... .. 71 0 268

Total Inflows. . v v oot e e e e e $20,842 $24,617 $20,914
Outflows of Cash
Acquisition of Property, Plant, and Equipment........... $ 3,678 $ 3,640 $ 1,881
Expenses for Operations Decreasing Cash . ............. 16,394 18,541 18,344
Repayments of Long-Term Debt. .. .................. 766 922 687
Other Investing Activities . ......... ... ...t 0 1,501 0

Total Outflows. . v v o vt e e $20,838 $24,604 $20,912

Prepare a statement of cash flows for each of the three years 2013, 2012 and 2011
using the format in Exhibit 1.3. Set cash flow from operations equal to revenues providing
cash minus expenses using cash. The balance in cash at October 31, 2010, was $102 million.

Preparing a balance sheet and income statement. The accounting records of JetAway Air-
lines reveal the following. The fiscal year ends on September 30 and amounts are in thou-
sands of USS:

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).

Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Questions, Exercises, and Problems 37

September 30

Balance Sheet Items 2013 2012

Accounts Payable . ... ..o $ 157,415 $ 156,755
Accounts Receivable . .. ..o il e 88,799 73,448
Cash . o e e e e e 378,511 418,819
Common Stock . . v v vttt e 352,943 449,934
Current Maturities of Long-Term Debt. . .. ... ... ... 11,996 7,873
InVentories . ... e e 50,035 65,152
Long-Term Debt . . ...ttt e 623,309 871,717
Other Current AsSetsS . . v v v ittt it et et et e e e e 56,810 73,586
Other Current Liabilities. . . . . oo vttt i e e e e 681,242 795,838
Other Noncurment AsSetS. . v v v it i it it e e et e et et ettt e e 4,231 12,942
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . . .. ... ... i 844,116 984,142
Property, Plant, and Equipment (net)........ ... . ... ... o ... 4,137,610 5,008,166
Retained Earmings. . . .o vttt e e 2,044,975 2,385,854

For the Year Ended

Income Statement Items September 30, 2013
FUBL EXPENSE « o vttt e e e e $ 892,415
Interest EXpense. . . ..ottt e e 22,883
Interest INCOME & v v v vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e 14,918
Maintenance EXpense. . . .. i ittt e 767,606
Other Operating EXpenses. . ..o oo v vttt e e e i eeanns 1,938,753
Sales RevenUE . . ..ottt e e 4,735,587
Salaries and Benefits EXPense. . . . vt ittt e e 1,455,237

a. Prepare a comparative balance sheet for JetAway Airlines as of September 30, 2013, and
September 30, 2012, in the format used in Exhibit 1.1. Classify each balance sheet item
into one of the following categories: current assets, noncurrent assets, current liabilities,
noncurrent liabilities, and shareholders’ equity.

b. Prepare an income statement for JetAway Airlines for the year ended September 30,
2013.

c. Prepare a schedule explaining the change in retained earnings between September 30,
2012, and September 30, 2013. JetAway declared and paid dividends during fiscal 2013.

40. Cash versus accrual accounting. Jack Block opens a tax and bookkeeping services business,
Block’s Tax and Bookkeeping Services, on July 1, 2013. He invests $40,000 for all the com-
mon stock of the business, and the firm borrows $20,000 from the local bank, promising to
repay the loan on December 31, 2013, along with interest at 8% per year, or approximately
$133 per month (= [0.08 X $20,000]/12 months). The firm rents space on July 1 and pays
$6,000 for three months rent in advance, and leases office equipment for the year, prepay-
ing $12,000 for six months rent. The firm hires an office assistant whom it will pay $72,000
per year with payments every two months, issuing the first paycheck on August 31. Finally,
the firm pays cash for office supplies during July costing $370; a physical count at the
end of July shows that $280 of office supplies are on hand. During July, Block’s Tax and
Bookkeeping Services performs services and bills customers for $44,000. On July 31, 2013,
customers had paid $13,000 of the amount owed.

a. What is income for Block’s Tax and Bookkeeping Services for July 2013:
(1) Applying cash-basis accounting.
(2) Applying accrual accounting.
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Chapter 1 Introduction to Business Activities

b. How much cash on hand does Block’s Tax and Bookkeeping Services have as of July
31, 2013? Why is the amount of cash on hand not a good representation of the firm’s
performance during July?

41. Cash versus accrual accounting. Dina Richards opens a high-end stationery store, Stationery
Plus, on November 1, 2013. She finances the store by investing $80,000 in cash in exchange
for all the common stock of the firm. She also obtains a bank loan for $100,000, which she
promises to repay in four equal installments of $25,000 at the end of each of the next four
months, beginning December 31. The interest rate on the loan’s outstanding amount owed
is 12% per year (or 1% per month); interest is to be paid along with each principal repay-
ment. The store rents space, paying $9,000 for six months’ rent, and acquires goods costing
$40,000. The supplier agrees to allow Stationery Plus to pay half ($20,000) immediately
and half on December 15. To attract customers, the firm allows customers 40 days to pay
for their purchases. Stationery Plus’s other monthly costs are $10,000 in salaries and $480
in utilities and insurance, all paid in cash at the end of every month. During November
total sales to customers were $56,000; Stationery Plus had collected $23,000 by the end
of November; it collected the remainder by December 15. During December total sales to
customers were $62,000; the firm had collected $34,000 by the end of December. So far, no
customers have failed to pay the amount owed within 40 days. During December Stationery
Plus acquired more merchandise costing $55,000, paying half immediately and agreeing to
pay half in January. During November, Stationery Plus sold goods for which it had paid
$29,000, and during December, Stationery Plus sold goods for which it had paid $33,600.

a. What is income for Stationery Plus for November 2013:
(1) Applying cash-basis accounting.
(2) Applying accrual accounting.

b. What is income for Stationery Plus for December 2013:
(1) Applying cash-basis accounting.
(2) Applying accrual accounting.

42. Relations between net income and cash flows. The ABC Company starts the year in fine
shape. The firm makes widgets—just what the customer wants. It makes them for $0.75
each and sells them for $1.00. The ABC Company keeps an inventory equal to shipments
of the past 30 days, pays its bills promptly, and collects cash from customers within 30 days

after the sale. The sales manager predicts a steady increase in sales of 500 widgets each
month beginning in February. It looks like a great year, and it begins that way.

January 1 Cash, $875; receivables, $1,000; inventory, $750

January In January the firm sells, on account for $1,000, 1,000 widgets costing $750.
Net income for the month is $250. The firm collects receivables outstanding
at the beginning of the month. Production equals 1,000 units at a total cost
of $750. The books at the end of January show the following:

February 1 Cash, $1,125; receivables, $1,000; inventory, $750

February  This month’s sales jump, as predicted, to 1,500 units. With a correspond-
ing step-up in production to maintain the 30-day inventory, ABC Company
makes 2,000 units at a cost of $1,500. It collects all receivables from January
sales. Net income so far is $625. Now the books look like this:

March 1 Cash, $625; receivables, $1,500; inventory, $1,125

March March sales are even better, increasing to 2,000 units. Collections are on time.
Production, to adhere to the inventory policy, is 2,500 units. Operating results
for the month show net income of $500. Net income to date is $1,125. The
books show the following:

April 1 Cash, $250; receivables, $2,000; inventory, $1,500

April In April, sales jump another 500 units to 2,500, and the manager of ABC
Company shakes the sales manager’s hand. Customers are paying right on
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time. Production increases to 3,000 units, and the month’s business nets $625
for a net income to date of $1,750. The manager of ABC Company takes off
for Miami before the accountant issues a report. Suddenly a phone call comes
from the treasurer: “Come home! We need cash!”

May 1 Cash, $0; receivables, $2,500; inventory, $1,875

a. Prepare an analysis that explains what happened to ABC Company. (Hint: Compute
the amount of cash receipts and cash disbursements for each month during the period
January 1 to May 1.)

b. How can a firm show increasing net income but a decreasing amount of cash?

c¢. What insights does this problem provide about the need for all three financial state-
ments—balance sheet, income statement, and statement of cash flows?

d. What actions would you suggest that ABC Company take to deal with its cash flow
problem?

43. Balance sheet and income statement relations. (Prepared by Professor Wesley T. Andrews Jr.
and reproduced, with adaptation, by permission.)

Once upon a time many, many years ago, a feudal landlord lived in a small province of
central Europe. The landlord, called the Red-Bearded Baron, lived in a castle high on a hill.
This benevolent fellow took responsibility for the well-being of many peasants who occu-
pied the lands surrounding his castle. Each spring as the snow began to melt, the Baron
would decide how to provide for all his serf dependents during the coming year.

One spring the Baron was thinking about the wheat crop of the coming growing sea-
son. “I believe that 30 acres of my land, being worth five bushels of wheat per acre, will
produce enough wheat for next winter,” he mused, “but who should do the farming? I
believe I'll give Ivan the Indefatigable and Igor the Immutable the task of growing the
wheat.” Whereupon he summoned Ivan and Igor, two gentry noted for their hard work and
not overly active minds, for an audience.

“Ivan, you will farm on the 20-acre plot of ground, and Igor will farm the 10-acre
plot,” the Baron began. “I will give Ivan 20 bushels of wheat for seed and 20 pounds of
fertilizer. (Twenty pounds of fertilizer are worth two bushels of wheat.) Igor will get 10
bushels of wheat for seed and 10 pounds of fertilizer. I will give each of you an ox to pull a
plow, but you will have to make arrangements with Feyador, the Plowmaker, for two plows.
The oxen, incidentally, are only three years old and have never been used for farming, so
they should have a good 10 years of farming ahead of them. Take good care of them,
because an ox is worth 40 bushels of wheat. Come back next fall and return the oxen and
the plows along with your harvest.” Ivan and Igor bowed and withdrew from the Great
Hall, taking with them the things provided by the Baron.

The summer came and went. After the harvest Ivan and Igor returned to the Great
Hall to account to their master for the things given them in the spring. Ivan, pouring 223
bushels of wheat onto the floor, said, “My Lord, I present you with a slightly used ox,
a plow broken beyond repair, and 223 bushels of wheat. I, unfortunately, owe Feyador,
the Plowmaker, three bushels of wheat for the plow I got from him last spring. And, as
you might expect, I used all the fertilizer and seed you gave me last spring. You will also
remember, my Lord, that you took 20 bushels of my harvest for your own personal use.”

Igor, who had been given 10 acres of land, 10 bushels of wheat, and 10 pounds of fer-
tilizer, spoke next. “Here, my Lord, is a partially used-up ox, the plow for which I gave Fey-
ador, the Plowmaker, three bushels of wheat from my harvest, and 105 bushels of wheat.
I, too, used all my seed and fertilizer last spring. Also, my Lord, you took 30 bushels of
wheat several days ago for your own table. I believe the plow is good for two more seasons.”

“Knaves, you did well,” said the Red-Bearded Baron. Blessed with this benediction,
the two serfs departed. After the servants had taken their leave, the Red-Bearded Baron,
watching the two hungry oxen slowly eating the wheat piled on the floor, began to contem-
plate what had happened. “Yes,” he thought, “they did well, but I wonder which one did
better?”
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a. What measuring unit should the Red-Bearded Baron use to measure financial position
and operating performance?

b. Prepare a balance sheet for Ivan and for Igor at both the beginning and the end of the
period.

c. Prepare an income statement for Ivan and for Igor for the period.

d. Prepare a schedule reconciling the change in owner’s equity between the beginning and
the end of the period.

e. Did Ivan or Igor perform better during the period? Explain.
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Chapter

The Basics of Record Keeping
and Financial Statement

Preparation: Balance Sheet

1. Learn the conventions for record- 2. Understand how the recording of trans-
ing transactions, including the dual actions is the foundation for preparing
nature of transactions and the use of financial statements. LEARNING

T-accounts and journal entries.

OBJECTIVES

Businesses engage in transactions with customers, suppliers, employees, governmental entities,
and others. This chapter demonstrates how the accountant records transactions and prepares
financial statements. This chapter focuses on record-keeping procedures, while the rest of this
book focuses on accounting principles and judgments, which form the core of financial account-
ing. Record-keeping procedures organize and present transactions in a standardized manner that
guides the user in understanding and interpreting financial statements.

You may think, “I don’t intend to be an accountant. Why do I need to learn record-keeping
procedures?” Understanding both the recording of transactions and the preparation of financial
statements helps you develop two skills: (1) the ability to communicate the results of transac-
tions, and (2) the ability to understand how transactions affect the financial statements and how
the financial statements reflect the transactions. We adopt a user perspective throughout this text,
which means we focus on how a user of financial statements can best understand and analyze
financial reports. You will limit your ability to analyze financial statements if you do not understand
how the statements reflect both the record-keeping process and management’s choices of accounting
principles and its professional judgments.

This chapter considers three record-keeping concepts:

1. The dual nature (duality) of transactions and events.
2. The use of T-accounts and journal entries for recording the duality of a transaction or event.
3. The preparation of a simple balance sheet.

Because each of these concepts relies on common record-keeping terminology, we begin with an
overview of key terms and their definitions. Subsequent chapters describe the terms in more detail.

ACCOUNTS

ComMMON TERMINOLOGY

Accounting relies on a system of accounts to record transactions. The name or title of each
account describes the nature of the items in the account. Common accounts include Cash, Build-
ings, and Equipment. The amount in each account appears on a line of a balance sheet or income
statement. A detailed system of accounts allows the preparer of financial statements to decom-
pose, or disaggregate, each transaction to convey information about the effects of the transaction.
For example, separate information on Cash, Accounts Receivable, and Inventories conveys more
information than combining all transactions affecting these three accounts into a single account
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Chapter 2 The Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation: Balance Sheet

called Current Assets. The accounts also group the effects of similar transactions that occur
during the reporting period. For example, if a firm sells one million copies of a piece of soft-
ware during a year, little benefit would result from reporting the individual effect of each of the
one million transactions. The accounting process combines, or aggregates, the effects of similar
transactions for financial reporting.

Accounting does not prescribe a list of accounts that firms must use. Management’s flex-
ibility to choose account names results from the complexity and differing nature of businesses,
proprietary information considerations,! and the amount of space that a long list of accounts
would require. Although firms need this flexibility, following conventional naming practices
increases the understandability of financial statements to knowledgeable users who apply their
common understanding of the account titles. We believe that you will increase your effective-
ness as a user of financial statements if you also follow conventions—by choosing account
titles that are descriptive and unambiguous, by using identical (or similar) account titles for
identical (or similar) items, and as your accounting vocabulary grows, by selecting titles that
others commonly use to describe the item.

The word accounts refers to items on both the balance sheet, discussed in this chapter, and
the income statement, discussed later. Balance sheet accounts are permanent accounts in the
sense that they remain open, with nonzero balances, at the end of the reporting period. In con-
trast, income statement accounts, discussed in the next chapter, are temporary accounts in the
sense that they start a period with a zero balance, accumulate information during the report-
ing period, and have a zero balance at the end of the reporting period. As a result, a balance
sheet account shows an amount at the end of a period of time, such as a month, or quarter,
or year, whereas an income statement account shows the amount for a period of time.> The
recording of transactions during a period causes amounts in accounts to increase and decrease.
For balance sheet accounts, the total additions during the period increase the (beginning) bal-
ance carried forward from the previous balance sheet date, and the total subtractions decrease
this balance.

Chapter 1 taught that the balance sheet is one of the principal financial statements. The
balance sheet shows the assets of a firm and the sources of financing for those assets—the
liabilities and shareholders’ equity, which have a claim on the assets. The next section describes
several typical balance sheet accounts.

THE BALANCE SHEET

ComMMON TERMINOLOGY

Typical Asset Accounts This section discusses several typical asset accounts.

Cash: Coins and currency, bank checks and money orders, bank deposits against which the
firm can draw checks, and time deposits, usually savings accounts and certificates of deposit.
Although money orders are claims against individuals or institutions, they are treated as cash.

Marketable Securities: Government bonds or corporate stocks and bonds that the firm will
hold for a relatively short time. The word marketable implies that the firm can readily buy and
sell them, perhaps through an exchange such as the New York Stock Exchange or the London
Stock Exchange.

Accounts Receivable: Amounts due from customers from the sale of goods or services on
account. Accounts Receivable describes the total amount of cash owed by (that is, receivable
from) customers. The reporting entity maintains a separate record for each customer and fol-
lows up with customers who have not paid within the agreed-upon period of time.

'All else equal, a user of financial statements would prefer to have more disaggregated data, since a user can
always aggregate data (but cannot do the reverse). Readers of a firm’s financial statements include, however,
competitors, so accounting guidance provides some amount of flexibility to combine information in ways that
mask competitively sensitive (that is, proprietary) information. Authoritative guidance nevertheless requires dis-
aggregated information in some instances. For example, both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the disclosure of
segment information, which details resources (assets) and results of operations (income or loss) by segment.
(The Glossary defines both segment and segment reporting.)

>The closing process, discussed in Chapter 3, ensures that each income statement account has a zero balance
at the end of the reporting period and that the amounts that had been in the income statement accounts get
transferred to the balance sheet account, Retained Earnings, at the end of the period.
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Notes Receivable: Amounts due from customers or from others to whom a firm has made
loans or extended credit. The customer or other borrower puts the claim into writing in a for-
mal note, which distinguishes the claim from an account receivable.

Interest Receivable: Interest on assets such as promissory notes or bonds, which the bor-
rower owes to the reporting entity because of the passage of time, but the reporting entity has
not collected.

Inventory: Goods available for sale, partially completed goods, and materials used in the
manufacture of products. (Outside the United States, common usage refers to inventories as
stocks.’) Merchandise Inventory reflects goods on hand purchased for resale, such as canned
goods on grocery store shelves or suits on the racks of a clothing store. Raw Materials Inven-
tory includes materials as yet unused for manufacturing products. Work-in-Process Inventory
includes partially completed manufactured products. Finished Goods Inventory is completed but
unsold manufactured products.

Advances to Suppliers: Payments the firm has made in advance to a supplier for goods
(such as raw materials) or services (such as for Web advertising that has not yet run) that it will
receive at a later date.

Prepaid Rent: Rent paid in advance for the future use of land, buildings, equipment, and
other resources; a particular form of Advances to Suppliers.

Prepaid Insurance: Insurance premiums paid for future coverage; a particular form of
Advances to Suppliers.

Investments in Securities: Bonds or shares of common or preferred stock that the firm plans
to hold for more than one year.

Land: Land used in operations or occupied by buildings used in operations.

Buildings: Factory buildings, store buildings, warehouses, and other buildings.

Equipment: Lathes, machine tools, boilers, computers, cranes, conveyors, automobiles, and
so forth.

Furniture and Fixtures: Desks, tables, chairs, showcases, and other selling and office equipment.

Accumulated Depreciation: The cumulative amount of the acquisition cost of long-term
assets (such as buildings and equipment) that the firm has allocated to production costs or to
current and prior period expenses. The amount in this account is subtracted from the cost of
the long-term asset to which it relates, to measure the carrying value (sometimes called the book
value or net book value) of the asset.

Patents: Rights granted for varying numbers of years (depending on the country that issues
the patent) to exclude others from manufacturing, using, or selling certain processes or devices.
The accounting treatment of a cost to acquire a patent depends on whether the firm applies
U.S. GAAP or IFRS. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require that the firm recognize as an asset
the cost to purchase a patent from an external third party. Under U.S. GAAP, firms expense
the research and development costs incurred to develop a patentable process or device. IFRS
requires firms to expense research costs as incurred but, under some circumstances, to recog-
nize development costs as an asset.*

Goodwill: When one firm acquires another firm, it measures the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed at their current fair values. If the purchase price exceeds the sum of
the fair values of the identifiable assets less the identifiable liabilities, the excess is goodwill.
Goodwill is an asset that includes intangibles that the acquiring firm cannot separately iden-
tify, such as customer loyalty. These desirable attributes cause the buyer to pay more for the
acquired firm than the sum of the fair values of all the other assets, less liabilities, identified in
the acquisition.’

Typical Liability Accounts This section describes typical liability accounts.

Accounts Payable: Amounts owed for goods or services acquired under an informal credit
agreement. The firm typically pays these liabilities within one or two months after the balance
sheet date. (The same items appear as Accounts Receivable on the creditor’s balance sheet.)

Notes Payable: The face amount of promissory notes that the firm gives in connection
with loans from a bank or with the purchase of goods or services. (The same items appear as
Notes Receivable on the creditor’s [lender’s] balance sheet.) Most Accounts Payable, Accounts

Do not confuse the use of stocks to describe inventory with the term common stock, which refers to a compo-
nent of shareholders’ equity.

“Chapter 9 discusses the treatment of internally developed and externally purchased patents in more detail.
SChapter 4 describes fair values in detail.
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Receivable, Notes Payable, and Notes Receivable are current items, due within a year of the bal-
ance sheet date. Similar items due more than one year after the balance sheet date could have
the same account titles, but would appear in the noncurrent assets or noncurrent liabilities sec-
tions of the balance sheet.

Interest Payable: Interest on obligations that has accrued or accumulated but that the firm
has not yet paid as of the balance sheet. (The same item appears as Interest Receivable on the
creditor’s balance sheet.) Firms often include this item with the preceding one in an account
called Notes and Interest Payable.

Income Taxes Payable: The estimated liability for income taxes, accumulated and unpaid,
based on the taxable income of the business.

Advances from Customers: An obligation incurred when a firm receives payments in
advance for goods or services it will furnish to customers in the future. This is a nonmonetary
liability, because the firm has an obligation to deliver goods or services, not to return the cash.
Even so, the firm records this liability as the amount of cash received.®

Advances firom Tenants, or Rent Received in Advance: Another example of a nonmonetary
liability that is an advance from a customer. For example, a tenant may prepay for its rented
office space for several months in advance. The owner of the office space cannot include in
income the amounts paid by the tenant for future months until the owner provides rental ser-
vices. Meanwhile the advance payment results in a liability payable in services—the use of the
building. (On the balance sheet of the tenant, the same amount appears as an asset an advance,
often called Prepaid Rent.)

Mortgage Payable: A form of long-term promissory note, or loan, where the borrower has
pledged specific pieces of property as security for payment. If the borrower does not pay the
loan or interest according to the agreement, the lender can require the sale of the property to
generate cash to repay the loan.

Bonds Payable: A form of long-term loan. The borrower has signed a formal written con-
tract called an indenture. The borrower usually raises the funds from a number of lenders, each
of whom receives written evidence of its share of the loan.

Deferred Income Taxes: Income tax amounts that are delayed beyond the current account-
ing period.’

Typical Shareholders’ Equity Accounts This section describes typical shareholders’
equity accounts.

Common Stock (at par): The amount of cash or other assets received equal to the par or
stated value of a firm’s principal class of voting stock; part of contributed capital.

Additional Paid-In Capital: The amount of cash or other assets received at the time of the
issuance of stock in excess of the stock’s par value or stated value. Some firms use the title Cap-
ital Contributed in Excess of Par (or Stated) Value. Accountants and analysts often refer to the
sum of the amounts in this account and the Common Stock at par account as contributed capi-
tal, because the sum of these two items represents the cash and other assets directly provided by
shareholders to a firm. The distinction between this account and the preceding one often mat-
ters in law, but not in economics: the owners have contributed assets, usually cash, and that’s all
that matters in most business analyses.

Preferred Stock: The amount of cash or other assets received for shares of a class of a
firm’s stock that has some preference relative to common stock. Common forms of preference
include a higher dividend or a higher priority in terms of asset distribution in the event the firm
liquidates. Preferred stock, if a company has it, is part of contributed capital.

Retained Earnings: Net assets (defined as all assets minus all liabilities) increase as a firm
generates earnings in excess of cash (or other assets) distributed as dividends. When a firm
earns income, it generates new net assets. The firm can distribute these assets or keep them
for various uses. Retained Earnings is the balance sheet account that shows the amount of
net assets a firm has generated from earnings, but has not distributed to owners as dividends.
Retained earnings are not assets, but are the source of the financing of the assets retained.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income: An account that accumulates changes in net
assets that are not included in net income.

®Chapter 8 discusses this account in more detail.
"Chapter 12 discusses this item, which appears on the balance sheets of most corporations.

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



The Balance Sheet

A TypicAL BALANCE SHEET

The balance sheet groups individual accounts by type (asset, liability, or shareholders’ equity)
and lists these accounts with their balances as of a specific date. The date of the balance sheet
appears at the top of the balance sheet. The asset and liability categories further group individ-
ual accounts by the expected timing of cash receipts (for assets) or cash payments (for liabili-
ties). Common terminology describes items whose cash receipts or payments the firm expects
will occur within one year as current assets or current liabilities, respectively. If the firm expects
to collect or pay more than one year after the balance sheet date, the balance sheet classifies
these as noncurrent assets and noncurrent liabilities, respectively.®

The balance sheet begins with a list of assets and then lists liabilities and shareholders’
equity. Exhibit 2.1 shows the balance sheet for Toothpaste Soap Company (“Toothpaste™) for

Toothpaste Soap Company
Balance Sheet

EXHIBIT 2.1

As of December 31, Year 7 Year 6
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents .. .........ounteineennennnn $ 428.7 $ 489.5
Receivables (net of allowances of $50.6 and $46.4, respectively) . . . . 1,680.7 1,523.2
INVENEOMIES & v v vttt e et e e e e e e 1,171.0 1,008.4
Other current assets . ... .....oiiniinn . 338.1 279.9
Total currentassets . . ... ..o i 3,618.5 3,301.0
Property, plant, and equipment, net. ... ... ... ... ... .. .. 3,015.2 2,696.1
Goodwill, net . ..ot e e 2,272.0 2,081.8
Other intangible assets, met . .. ... .. . .. 844.8 831.1
Other assets. . . ..ottt e 361.5 228.0
Total @SSetS v v vt e e $10,112.0 $9,138.0

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Current Liabilities

Notes and loans payable. . ... ... ... $ 155.9 $ 1741
Current portion of long-termdebt . .. ........ ... ... ... ... 138.1 776.7
Accounts payable . .. ... .. 1,066.8 1,039.7
Accrued iNCOME taXeS . . v v v vt ittt et et e e 262.7 161.5
Other accruals . .. oo v vttt e e 1,539.2 1,317.1
Total current labilities. . . . . .o o i oo i 3,162.7 3,469.1
Long-termdebt .. ... ... .. .. e 3,221.9 2,720.4
Deferred income taxes . . .« v oo i it et 264.1 309.9
Other labilities ... ... ittt i i e e e 1,177.1 1,227.7
Total labilities . . . . . .o it e 7,825.8 7,727.1

Commitments and contingent liabilities . . .. ................... — —
Shareholders’ Equity

Preference stock . . ... oo oot 197.5 222.7

Common stock, $1 par value (1,000,000,000 shares authorized,
732,853,180 sharesissued) . ..........oi ... 732.9 732.9
Additional paid-in capital. . . . . ... . 1,517.7 1,218.1
Retained €arnings. . . . ..o oottt e 10,627.5 9,643.7
Accumulated other comprehensive income . .................. (1,666.8) (2,081.2)
11,408.8 9,736.2
% Unearned compensation. . ... .....vvutntintennnennennn.. (218.9) (251.4)
B TSy Siodk, G @08k c cccoocsoocsoocsooscoosnocsnscsnos (8,903.7) (8,073.9)
g Total shareholders” equity. . . . . . oo i i 2,286.2 1,410.9
% Total liabilities and shareholders” equity . . . . ................. $10,112.0 $9,138.0

©

$Chapter 4 describes the balance sheet classifications in more detail.
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Chapter 2 The Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation: Balance Sheet

the fiscal year ended December 31, Year 7.° Toothpaste is a leading consumer products com-
pany that operates in two principal segments: (1) oral, personal, and home care (including
products such as toothpaste, soaps, and shampoo), and (2) pet nutrition.

Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require firms to report balance sheet accounts for the prior
year in addition to the current year. Toothpaste reports the results for the prior year in the
rightmost column (the column labeled Year 6), and the results for the current year in the col-
umn to the left of this one (the column labeled Year 7).!° The lists of asset, liability, and share-
holders’ equity accounts include many of the accounts described earlier, as well as a few (such
as treasury stock) described in later chapters. Under U.S. GAAP, assets and liabilities appear in
order of decreasing closeness-to-cash; many firms that report under IFRS reverse this ordering.

DuAaL EFFEcT OF TRANSACTIONS

Firms engage in transactions, or exchanges, with other entities and individuals. For example,
firms acquire merchandise from suppliers, pay employees for labor services, sell merchandise
to customers, pay taxes to governments, and so on. In addition, other events not involving
exchanges occur during a period. For example, firms consume the services of buildings and
equipment as they use them in operations and incur an obligation to pay interest on outstand-
ing loans. Accountants record the effects of each of these transactions and events as they occur,
and then accumulate the effects of all transactions and events for presentation in the financial

statements.
g% Individual Accounting System for Principal
;';’ 2 Transactions — Accumulating Information e Financial
G 8 and Events About Transactions and Events Statements

The balance sheet equation provides the analytical framework that we use throughout this
book to understand the effects of transactions and events on the financial statements. This
equation captures the financial statement effects of operating, investing, and financing transac-
tions—three key activities of business firms. It shows the equality of assets with liabilities plus
shareholders’ equity:

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity

This equation requires that an entity’s assets exactly balance, or offset, an equal amount
of financing provided by creditors and owners of the corporation. Total liabilities plus share-
holders’ equity shows the sources of all the firm’s financing, and the assets show how the firm
holds or has invested those funds. The balance sheet equation maintains this equality by report-
ing the financial statement effects of each event and transaction in a dual manner, called the
dual effect of transactions. Any single event or transaction will have one of the following four
effects or some combination of these effects:

1. Tt increases an asset and increases either a liability or shareholders’ equity.

2. It decreases an asset and decreases either a liability or shareholders’ equity.

3. It increases one asset and decreases another asset.

4. Tt increases one liability or shareholders’ equity and decreases another liability or share-
holders’ equity.

To understand the dual effects of various transactions on the balance sheet equation, con-
sider the following transactions for Miller Corporation (Miller) during January as it prepares to
open for business on February 1:

(1) On January 1, Miller issues 10,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for $100,000
cash.

(2) On January 5, Miller pays $12,000 cash to rent equipment for one year. In this transaction,
Miller’s asset is prepaid rent, not the equipment itself.

(3) On January 15, Miller purchases merchandise inventory costing $15,000 from a supplier,
agreeing to pay later.

“We have adapted this balance sheet from the published financial statements of the Colgate Palmolive Company.
"Firms do not use the same ordering for showing the current year’s results and the prior year’s results. Some
firms order the columns oldest to most recent, while others order most recent to oldest.
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The Balance Sheet
(4) On January 21, it pays the supplier in (3) $8,000 of the amount due.
(5) On January 25, the supplier in (3) accepts 700 shares of Miller common stock at par value
in settlement of the $7,000 amount still owed.
(6) On January 31, Miller pays $600 cash for a one-year insurance premium for coverage
beginning February 1.
(7) On January 31, Miller receives $3,000 from a customer for merchandise Miller will deliver
during February.
(8) On January 31, Miller purchases a building for $40,000 and finances this purchase by sign-
ing a note payable with a local bank. Miller promises to repay the note in full in three years
and to pay interest at 10% per year.
Exhibit 2.2 illustrates the dual effect of these transactions on the balance sheet equation.
After each transaction, assets equal liabilities plus shareholders’ equity.
Each transaction has at least two effects. For example, in transaction (1) Miller issues com-
mon stock to shareholders and receives cash. In transaction (2) Miller makes a cash expen-
diture and receives the right to use equipment. In transaction (3) Miller promises to make a
future cash payment to a supplier and receives merchandise inventory. These and other transac-
tions recorded in the accounting system result from exchanges. The accounting records reflect
effects on assets, liabilities, and shareholders equity arising from these exchanges.
The recording of each transaction maintains the balance sheet equality. Transactions
(1), 3), (7), and (8) increase assets and increase either a liability or shareholders’ equity.
Miller Corporation
2L B lllustration of Dual Effect of Transactions on Balance Sheet Equation
Shareholders’
Transaction Assets Liabilities Equity
(1) On January 1, Miller Corporation issues 10,000 shares of $10 par value
common stock for $100,000 cash (an increase in an asset and shareholders’
equity). +$100,000 $ 0 +$100,000
Subtotal . ..o $100,000 $ $100,000
(2) OnJanuary 5, the firm pays $12,000 cash to rent some equipment + 12,000
(an increase in one asset and a decrease in another asset). — 12,000
Subtotal .. ... $100,000 $ 0 $100,000
(3) OnJanuary 15, the firm purchases merchandise inventory costing $15,000
from a supplier on account (an increase in an asset and a liability). + 15,000 + 15,000
Subtotal .. ..o $115,000 $15,000 $100,000
(4) On January 21, the firm pays the supplier in (3) $8,000 of the amount due
(a decrease in an asset and a liability). — 8,000 — 8,000
Subtotal .. ... e $107,000 $ 7,000 $100,000
(5) On January 25, the supplier in (3) accepts 700 shares of Miller common
stock in settlement of the $7,000 still owed (an increase in shareholders’
equity and a decrease in a liability). — 7,000 + 7,000
Subtotal . . ..o e $107,000 $ 0 $107,000
(6) On January 31, the firm pays $600 cash for a one-year insurance premium
for coverage beginning February 1 (an increase in one asset and a decrease AF 600
in another asset). = 600
Subtotal ... e $107,000 $ 0 $107,000
(7) OnJanuary 31, the firm receives $3,000 from a customer for merchandise
Miller will deliver during February (an increase in an asset and a liability). + 3,000 + 3,000
Subtotal—January 31 . ..ottt $110,000 $ 3,000 $107,000
(8) On January 31, the firm purchases a building for $40,000, financed by a
note payable with a local bank (an increase in an asset and a liability). + 40,000 + 40,000
Total—January 31. . .. v vttt e $150,000 $43,000 $107,000

© Cengage Learning 2014
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Chapter 2 The Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation: Balance Sheet

Transaction (4) decreases assets and a liability. Transactions (2) and (6) increase one asset and
decrease another asset. Transaction (5) increases shareholders’ equity and decreases a liability.

| (e 1:TRIVE 2.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

Dual effect of transactions on balance sheet equation. Using the format in Exhibit 2.2,
indicate the effects of each of the following transactions of Gaines Corporation on the
balance sheet equation.

1. The firm issues 20,000 shares of £10 par value common stock for £12 cash per share.
2. The firm issues £100,000 principal amount of bonds for £100,000 cash.

3. The firm acquires, with £220,000 in cash, land costing £40,000 and a building costing
£180,000.

4. The firm acquires, on account, equipment costing £25,000 and merchandise inventory
costing £12,000. (“On account” means that the firm agrees to pay later for the equip-
ment and inventory.)

5. The firm signs an agreement to rent equipment from its owner and pays £1,500 rental
in advance.

6. The firm pays £28,000 to the suppliers in 4.

T-ACCOUNTS

Although Exhibit 2.2 illustrates the dual effect of individual transactions, it does not provide
a process for preparing a balance sheet. Specifically, the exhibit does not describe how much
of the total assets of $150,000 at the end of the period (January 31 for Miller Corporation)
represents cash, how much represents inventory, how much represents equipment, and so on. A
disaggregated display of balance sheet items provides users of financial statements with infor-
mation about the sources of a firm’s financing and how management has invested the cash and
other assets received from shareholders and creditors in specific assets. For example, Exhibit 2.1
shows that as of December 31, Year 7, Toothpaste has invested over $1 billion in inventories. To
move to a disaggregated reporting format, we introduce the use of T-accounts for accumulating
information about how transactions and events during a period affect specific asset, liability,
and shareholders’ equity accounts.

A T-account is a device or convention for organizing and accumulating the accounting
entries of transactions that affect an individual account, such as cash, accounts receivable,
bonds payable, or additional paid-in capital. As the name implies, the T-account looks like the
letter T, with a horizontal line bisected by a vertical line. Conventionally, the name of the spe-
cific individual account title appears on the horizontal line.

Account Title

Increases and Decreases to the T-Account One side of the space formed by the
vertical line records increases in the account, and the other side records decreases. Which side
records increases and which side records decreases differs depending on whether the T-account
represents an asset, liability, or shareholders’ equity account. Long-standing custom follows
three rules:

1. Increases in assets appear on the left side, and decreases in assets appear on the right side
of T-accounts.

2. Increases in liabilities appear on the right side, and decreases in liabilities appear on the left
side of T-accounts.
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The Balance Sheet

3. Increases in shareholders’ equity appear on the right side, and decreases in shareholders’
equity appear on the left side of T-accounts.

This custom reflects the fact that in the balance sheet equation, assets appear to the left of
the equal sign, while liabilities and shareholders’ equity appear to the right side. Following this
format, asset balances appear on the left side of T-accounts; liability and shareholders’ equity
balances appear on the right side."

The net amount or balance in an account results from summing the amounts recorded on
the left side and right side of the account and netting the two sums. As we noted previously, the
balance in an asset account typically appears as an amount on the left side, whereas liability
and shareholders’ equity accounts typically have net balances on the right side. The balance in
an account at the end of one reporting period is that account’s opening balance at the start of
the next reporting period. By convention, the first line in the T-account reports the beginning
or opening balance, and the last line reports the ending or closing balance. Thus, the following
equation describes a typical asset account with a left side balance:

Beginning Balance in Asset Account (left side)
+ Sum of the transactions affecting the left side of the Asset Account
— Sum of the transactions affecting the right side of the Asset Account

= Ending Balance in Asset Account (left side)
For a typical liability or equity account, the T-account equation is as follows:

Beginning Balance in Liability or Shareholders’” Equity Account (right side)
+ Sum of the transactions affecting the right side of the Liability or Shareholders” Equity Account
— Sum of the transactions affecting the left side of the Liability or Shareholders’ Equity Account

= Ending Balance in Liability or Shareholders’ Equity Account (right side)

The equality of the amounts recorded on the left and right for any transaction provides a
powerful check for the accuracy of record keeping. If you analyze a transaction and get unequal
amounts for left and right amounts, you will know you have erred.

Debit and Credit Accountants use two abbreviations: debit (Dr.) and credit (Cr.). Debit,
used as a verb, means “record an entry on the left side of an account.” Used as a noun or
an adjective, it means “an entry on the left side of an account.” (Many use the word charge
to mean debit, as either a verb or a noun.) Credit, used as a verb, means “record an entry on
the right side of an account.” Used as a noun or an adjective, it means “an entry on the right
side of an account.” Combining these terms with the three rules for T-accounts, we see the
following:

B A debit or charge indicates (1) an increase in an asset, or (2) a decrease in a liability, or
(3) a decrease in a shareholders’ equity item.

B A credit indicates (1) a decrease in an asset, or (2) an increase in a liability, or (3) an
increase in a shareholders’ equity item.

Maintaining the equality of the balance sheet equation requires that the amounts debited
to various accounts for each transaction equal the amounts credited to various accounts. As
a result, the sum of balances in accounts with debit balances at the end of each period must
equal the sum of balances in accounts with credit balances. “Debits equal credits” applies to
each individual transaction and to the balance sheet as a whole.

Summary of Account Terminology and Procedure The following T-accounts
summarize the conventional use of the account form and the terms debit and credit.

""As we describe in a subsequent section of this chapter, some accounts that appear in the asset section of the bal-
ance sheet accumulate subtractions from an asset. These are contra accounts, the general term for accounts that
accumulate subtractions from another account. An increase in a contra-asset account appears on the right side,
not the left side. A contra-asset account appears on the asset side of the balance sheet as a subtraction from an
asset, not among the liability or shareholders’ equity accounts. Contra-liability and contra-equity accounts also
exist; in subsequent chapters, we discuss these contra accounts as they arise.
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Asset Account Liability Account Shareholders’ Equity Account

Beginning Beginning Beginning
Balance Balance Balance
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases Decreases Increases
+ - - + - +
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
Ending Balance Ending Balance Ending Balance

REFLECTING THE DuAL EFFECT OF TRANSACTIONS IN T-ACCOUNTS

To show how the dual effect of transactions changes the T-accounts, Exhibit 2.3 records the
transactions of Miller Corporation for January using separate T-accounts for each balance
sheet item. The numbers in parentheses refer to the eight January transactions. The data in
Exhibit 2.3 show that Miller Corporation’s total assets of $150,000 as of January 31 comprise
$82,400 in cash, $15,000 in merchandise inventory, $600 in prepaid insurance (advances fo the
insurance provider), $12,000 in prepaid rent (advances to landlords), and $40,000 in building.
Total liabilities plus shareholders’ equity of $150,000 comprises $3,000 of advances from cus-
tomers, $40,000 in notes payable, and $107,000 of common stock.

EXHIBIT 2.3

Cash (Asset)

Miller Corporation
Individual T-Accounts Showing Transactions

Accounts Payable (Liability)

Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Dr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
(1) 100,000 12,000 ) (4) 8,000 15,000 (3)
(7) 3,000 8,000 (4) (5) 7,000
600 (6) 0 Balance
Balance 82,400
Merchandise Inventory (Asset) Advances from Customer (Liability)
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
(3) 15,000 3,000 (7)
Balance 15,000 3,000 Balance
Prepaid Insurance (Asset) Note Payable (Liability)
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
(6) 600 40,000 (8)
Balance 600 40,000 Balance
Prepaid Rent (Asset) Common Stock (Shareholders’ Equity)
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
(Dr.) (Dr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
(2) 12,000 100,000 (1)
Balance 12,000 7,000 (5)
107,000 Balance
Retained Earnings (Shareholders’
Buildings (Asset) Equity)
% Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
Bl (Dr.) (Cr.) (Dr.) (Cr.)
) 40,000 0 Balance
§ Balance 40,000
S
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One can prepare the balance sheet using the amounts shown as balances in the T-accounts.
The balance sheet of Miller Corporation after the eight transactions of January appears in
Exhibit 2.4.

| 060N VE 2.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

T-accounts for various transactions. Set up T-accounts for the following accounts:

Cash Bonds Payable
Merchandise Inventory Land

Prepaid Rent Buildings

Equipment Common Stock—Par Value
Accounts Payable Additional Paid-In Capital

Indicate whether each account is an asset, a liability, or a shareholders’ equity item. Enter
in the T-accounts the transactions of Gaines Corporation in Problem 2.1 for Self-Study.

JOURNAL ENTRIES
The preceding section illustrated the use of T-accounts to do the following:

1. Record the effects of transactions on individual balance sheet accounts.

2. Sum the effects of all transactions affecting a particular account during a period, obtain an
ending balance in that account, and then prepare a balance sheet.

Miller Corporation
EXHIBIT 2.4 Balance Sheet

January 31

ASSETS
Current Assets
CaSh o et $ 82,400
Merchandise Inventory. . . . .ottt e 15,000
Prepaid INSUMANCE . . . . . e et e et e et e e e e e e e e e e e 600
Prepaid Rent . . . oo e 12,000

Total CUMTENE ASSEES. « v v v et e e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e $110,000

Property, Plant, and Equipment
BUIldINGS. « . ettt 40,000

TOtAl ASSEES & v vttt e e e e e $150,000
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Advances from CUSEOMET . . v vt vttt e et e et et e et et e et et e e e e e $ 3,000
Noncurrent Liabilities
Note Payable . . ... .o e 40,000
Total Liabilities. . o v vt e e e $ 43,000
=  Shareholders’ Equity
B COmien SE% 00 00000000000000000000000000900000090000000000900000000 $107,000
8 Retained Fammings. . . o v vttt ettt e e e e —
g Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . ... ..... ..ottt nnnn.. $150,000
6
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T-accounts are a useful pedagogical device to understand how individual transactions flow
to and accumulate within various accounts, and they provide the information needed to prepare
a balance sheet. If the resulting balance sheet does not balance, however, then it becomes nec-
essary to retrace the recording of every transaction to find the error. Tracking down the error
using T-accounts can be awkward and time consuming because the effects of each transaction
spread across two or more T-accounts.

To address this problem, we introduce a step that precedes the recording of transactions
in T-accounts: the journal entry. A journal entry uses a standardized format to indicate the
accounts and amounts affected by each transaction. Each journal entry reflects equal debits
and credits to various accounts. The accountant transfers the amounts from the journal entry
to the appropriate T-accounts. Assuming proper recording in the T-accounts and summing all
entries in the T-accounts, the resulting balance sheet will balance (that is, total assets will equal
the sum of total liabilities plus shareholders’ equity). Journal entries formalize the reasoning
that supports entering the results of transactions directly in the T-accounts.'

The standard format of a journal entry is as follows:

Account Title. . v oo et e e Amount
Account Title. . . . it Amount

The journal entry indicates the dual effect of a transaction on both the accounts and the
balances in accounts. By convention, the first line of the journal entry is the debit line, and the
second (indented) line of the journal entry is the credit line.

Account Debited . ... . e Amount Debited
Account Credited . . .. ...t Amount Credited

The recording of journal entries follows the same rules for increases and decreases in asset,
liability, and shareholders’ equity accounts as illustrated earlier for entries in T-accounts:

1. Debits increase an asset account, or decrease a liability or shareholders’ equity account.
2. Credits decrease an asset account, or increase a liability or shareholders’ equity account.

Journal entries may have multiple debit lines or multiple credit lines, or both. The dual
effect rule requires that the sum of the amounts debited equals the sum of the amounts credited
so that the journal entry balances. Ensuring that all individual journal entries balance simul-
taneously guarantees that total assets equal the sum of total liabilities plus total shareholders’
equity.

Journal entries generally include the date of the transaction and an explanation for the
transaction(s) journalized. Often they include an identifying number as well. In this book we
sometimes show you how journal entries affect the balance sheet equation. This equation is not
part of the journal entries made in the accounting records, but it helps explain the transac-
tion.”* Thus, the standard format for journal entries in the early chapters of this book is as
follows:

”We sometimes use T-accounts, sometimes use journal entries, and sometimes use both to illustrate the effects
of transactions in this book. They are both pedagogical devices to assist your understanding of the effects of
transactions. Firms initially record transactions in journal entries in a general journal and then periodically post
(that is, record) the entries to accounts in the general ledger. The use of T-accounts mimics the use of posting to
the general ledger.

3 Another approach that is sometimes used, for pedagogical purposes, is to include abbreviations for assets (A),
liabilities (L) and shareholders’ equity (SE) to describe the type of account affected by each portion of the jour-
nal entry. For example, the acquisition of equipment in exchange for a promise to pay the equipment supplier
in the future would be journalized (recorded) as follows:

EQUIPMENt (A) e ettt e Amount Debited
Notes Payable (L) . .« vvv v it Amount Credited
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(#) Date
Account Debited . . ...ttt e Amount
Account Credited . . . oo vttt e e e Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

Journal entry explanation.

Later chapters omit the box with the accounting equation. We use the column labeled
“(Class.)” to indicate the classification of the shareholders’ equity account that the transaction
affects.

The journal entries for the eight transactions of Miller Corporation appear next.

(1) January 1

Cash o e e e 100,000
Common Stock. « v v it e 100,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+100,000 +100,000 ContriCap

Issue 10,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for cash. The issuance of
common stock increases the contributed capital, specifically, common stock.

(2) January 5

Prepaid Rent . . . oot e 12,000
CaSh vt e 12,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+12,000
-12,000

Pay annual rent of $12,000 for use of equipment.

(3) January 15

Merchandise Inventory . . ... ..o 15,000
Accounts Payable. . ... ... L 15,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+15,000 +15,000

Purchase merchandise inventory costing $15,000 on account.

(4) January 21

Accounts Payable. . .. ..o 8,000
CasSh vt e e e e 8,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—8,000 —8,000

Pay liabilities of $8,000 with cash.
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(5) January 25

Accounts Payable. . . ..ot e 7,000
Common SEOCK. « v v v ot e 7,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—7,000 +7,000 ContriCap

Issue 700 shares of $10 par value common stock in settlement of $7,000
accounts payable.

(6) January 31

Prepaid Insurance (or Advances to Insurance Company)............... 600
Cash oo 600
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+6,000
—6,000

Pay one-year insurance premium of $600 in advance.

(7) January 31

CaSh o e e 3,000
Advances from CUStOmMers . . ..o v it i ittt et e e e e 3,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+3,000 +3,000

Receive $3,000 from customer for merchandise to be delivered in February.

(8) January 31

BUildings . . oottt e 40,000
Note Payable. . ... i e 40,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+40,000 +40,000

Purchase building costing $40,000, financed by note payable from local bank.

2 61:0E YN 2.3 FOR SELF-STUDY

Journal entries for various tramsactions. Prepare journal entries for each of the six
transactions of Gaines Corporation in Problem 2.1 for Self-Study.

| 061N VR 2.4 FOR SELF-STUDY

Journal entries, T-accounts, and balance sheet preparation. Electronics Appliance
Corporation begins operations on September 1 and engages in the following transactions
during September:

(continued)
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(1) September 1: Issues 4,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for $12 cash per
share.

(2) September 2: Gives 600 shares of $10 par value common stock to acquire a patent
from another firm. The two entities agree on a price of $7,200 for the patent.

(3) September 5: Pays $10,000 as two months’ rent in advance on a factory building that
it leases for the three years beginning October 1. Monthly rental payments are $5,000.

(4) September 12: Purchases raw materials on account for $6,100.

(5) September 15: Receives a check for $900 from a customer as a deposit on a special
order for equipment that Electronics plans to manufacture. The contract price is
$4,800.

(6) September 20: Acquires office equipment with a list price of $950. After deducting a
discount of $25 for prompt payment, it issues a check in full payment.

(7) September 28: Issues a cash advance totaling $200 to three new employees who will
begin work on October 1.

(8) September 30: Purchases factory equipment costing $27,500. It issues a check for
$5,000 and assumes a long-term note payable for the balance.

(9) September 30: Pays $450 for the labor costs of installing the new equipment in (8).
a. Prepare journal entries for each of the nine transactions.

b. Set up T-accounts and enter each of the nine transactions. Note that all account
balances are zero at the beginning of September.

c. Prepare a balance sheet for Electronics Appliance Corporation as of September 30.

SUMMARY

Recording the effects of each transaction in a dual manner in the accounts maintains the bal-
ance sheet equation: assets = liabilities + shareholders’ equity. The format of a journal entry to
record a transaction is as follows:

Debit Account (Asset Increases and Liability and
Shareholders’ Equity Decreases) .. ... ...t Debit Amount

Credit Account (Asset Decreases and Liability and
Shareholders’ Equity Increases). ... ..., Credit Amount

T-accounts provide an alternative way of organizing the recording of transactions. They are
also convenient devices for collecting the records of a series of transactions that affect a single
account during a period. Like journal entries, T-accounts reflect the dual effect of transactions
as shown by the following T-account format:

Asset Account Liability (or Shareholders’ Equity) Account
Beg. Bal. Beg. Bal.
Increases Decreases Decreases Increases
Dr. Cr. Dr. Cr.
End. Bal. End. Bal.

The record-keeping process for the balance sheet generally involves the following steps:
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1. Recording each transaction in a file or other record in the form of a journal entry.

2. Posting the amounts from the journal entries to individual balance sheet accounts in a
general ledger. T-accounts are useful devices for textbook illustrations and end-of-chapter
problems to accumulate the effects of transactions on balance sheet.

SOLUTIONS TO SELF-STUDY PROBLEMS

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 2.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Gaines Corporation; dual effects of transactions on balance sheet equation)

Shareholders’
Transaction Assets = Liabilities + Equity
1. The firm issues 20,000 shares of £10 par value
common stock for £12 cash pershare.......... +£240,000 = 0 + +£240,000
2. The firm issues £100,000 principal amount of
bonds for £100,000 cash. . . .. ... v ii i -+100,000 = -+100,000 + 0

3. The firm acquires, with £220,000 cash, land
costing £40,000 and a building costing +220,000
£180,000 .. .0 v ot e e —220,000 = 0 + 0

4. The firm acquires, on account, equipment
costing £25,000 and merchandise inventory

costing £12,000 . ... i +37,000 = +37,000 + 0
5. The firm signs an agreement to rent equipment

from its owner and pays £1,500 rental in +1,500

AAVANCE . v vt e e —1,500 = 0 + 0
6. The firm pays £28,000 to the suppliersin 4. .. ... —28,000 = —28,000
Totals . oo e e £349,000 = £109,000 + £240,000

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 2.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Gaines Corporation; T-accounts for various transactions)

Cash (Asset) Merchandise Inventory (Asset) Prepaid Rent (Asset)
(1) 240,000 | 220,000 (3) (4) 12,000 (5) 1,500
(2) 100,000 1,500 (5)
28,000 (6)
Land (Asset) Buildings (Asset) Equipment (Asset)
(3) 40,000 (3) 180,000 (4) 25,000

Common Value
Accounts Payable (Liability) Bonds Payable (Liability) (Shareholders’ Equity)

(6) 28,000 37,000 (4) 100,000  (2) 200,000 (1)

Additional Paid-In Capital
(Shareholders’ Equity)

40,000 (1)
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SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 2.3 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Gaines Corporation; journal entries for various transactions)

(1) Cash o 240,000
Common SEOCK. « v v v ot e 200,000
Additional Paid-In Capital. . ..., 40,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+240,000 +200,000 ContriCap
+40,000 ContriCap

Issue 20,000 shares of £10 par value common stock for £12 cash per share.

(2)  Cash oo 100,000
Bonds Payable. . ... ... 100,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+100,000 +100,000

Issue £100,000 principal amount of bonds for £100,000 cash.

(3)  Land .o e 40,000
Building. . .o 180,000
Cash .o 220,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+40,000
+180,000
—220,000

Acquire for £220,000 land costing £40,000 and a building costing £180,000.

(4) EQUIpmMent . ...t 25,000
Merchandise Inventory . . . ..o oot 12,000
Accounts Payable. . ... ... 37,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+25,000 +37,000
+12,000

Purchase equipment costing £25,000 and merchandise inventory costing
£12,000 on account.

(5) Prepaid Rent....... ..o e 1,500
Cash oo 1,500
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,500
—1,500

Pay £1,500 as advance rental on equipment.
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(6) Accounts Payable......... ... 28,000
Cash o e 28,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—28,000 —28,000

Pay £28,000 to the supplier in (4).

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 2.4 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Electronics Appliance Corporation; journal entries, T-accounts, and balance sheet preparation)

a. Journal entries for the nine transactions follow:

(1) Sept.1
Cash o e 48,000
Common StOCK. « v v v et e 40,000
Additional Paid-In Capital. . ....... ... ... 8,000
Shareholders’

Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

+48,000 440,000 ContriCap

+8,000 ContriCap

Issue 4,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for $12 cash per share.

(2) Sept.2
Patent . ..o e 7,200
Common Stock. . .« vt v vt 6,000
Additional Paid-In Capital. . ... ... 1,200
Shareholders’

Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

+7,200 +6,000 ContriCap

+1,200 ContriCap

Issue 600 shares of $10 par value common stock in the acquisition of a
patent; the market value of the shares is $12/share.

(3) Sept.5
Prepaid Rent or Advances to Landlord . . ... ... ... . i i 10,000
Cash .o e 10,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—10,000
+10,000

Prepay rent for October and November on factory building.

(4) Sept. 12

Raw Materials Inventory . ... ...ttt e 6,100
Accounts Payable. . ... ..o i 6,100
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+6,100 +6,100

Purchase raw materials costing $6,100 on account.
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(5) Sept. 15

Cash o e e e 900
Advances from Customers . . ...ttt 900
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+900 +900

Receive an advance of $900 from a customer as a deposit on equipment to
be manufactured in the future.

(6) Sept. 20

Equipment . . ... e 925
Cash oo e 925
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+925
—925

Acquire equipment with a list price of $950 for $925 after taking a discount
for prompt payment.

(7) Sept. 28

Advances t0 EMployees. . . . vt e 200
Cash .o e 200
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+200
—200

Give cash advances of $200 to employees beginning work on Oct. 1.

(8) Sept. 30
Equipment . . ... e 27,500
Cash vt e 5,000
Note Payable. .. ... o 22,500

Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+27,500 +22,500
—5,000

Acquire equipment for $5,000 cash and assume a $22,500 note payable for
the balance of the purchase price.

(9) Sept. 30

Equipment . .. oo e e 450
Cash .o e 450
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities + Equity (Class.)
+450
—450

Pay installation cost of $450 on equipment acquired in (8).
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62 Chapter 2 The Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation: Balance Sheet

b. Exhibit 2.5 presents T-accounts for Electronics Appliance Corporation and shows the
recording of the nine entries in the accounts. The letters 4, L, and SE after the account
titles indicate the balance sheet category of the accounts.

c. Exhibit 2.6 presents a balance sheet as of September 30.

Electronics Appliance Corporation
EXHIBIT 2.5 T-Accounts and Transactions During September
(Problem 2.4 for Self-Study)

Cash (A) Advances to Employees (A) Raw Materials Inventory (A)
(1) 48,000 (7) 200 (4) 6,100
(5) 900 10,000 (3)
925 (6)
200 (7)
5,000 (8)
450 (9)
V3232 D /6100
Prepaid Rent (A) Equipment (A) Patent (A)
(3) 10,000 (6) 925 (2) 7,200
(8) 27,500
(9) 450
v/ 10,000 v 28875 v 1,200
Accounts Payable (L) Advances from Customers (L) Note Payable (L)
6,100 (4) 900 (5) 22,500 (8)
6,100 v 900 v 22,500
= Common Stock (SE) Additional Paid-In Capital (SE)
E 40,000 (1) 8,000 (1)
5 6,000 (2) 1,200 (2)
g 46,000 v 9,200 v
o

Electronics Appliance Corporation
Balance Sheet

September 30

(Problem 2.4 for Self-Study)

EXHIBIT 2.6

ASSETS LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Current Assets Current Liabilities
Cash oot e $32,325 Accounts Payable . .. ... ... . L., $ 6,100
Advances to Employees .. ...... ... ... ... ... 200 Advances from Customers. . ................... 900
Raw Materials Inventory. . . ... ... ... ... 6,100 Total Current Liabilities .. ......... .. .. ..... $ 7,000
PrepaidRent . ........ .. ... ... . .. . ... 10,000
Total Current Assets. . .. oo oo i i i i i i $48,625 ) D

Note Payable . ....... ... .. ... .. . ... 22,500
Property, Plant, and Equipment Total Liabilities. . .. .... .. oo $29,500
Equipment. . ....... ... . . $28,875

Shareholders’ Equity
Intangibles Common Stock, $10 Par Value. . ................ $46,000
Patent. . . ..o o 7,200 Additional Paid-In Capital .................... 9,200

Total Shareholders’ Equity. . . . ............... $55,200

Total ASSetS . v v v o ettt $84,700 Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity .......... $84,700

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Questions, Exercises, and Problems

KEY TERMS AND CONCEPTS

Account Dual effect of transactions
Permanent accounts T-account
Temporary accounts Contra account
Asset Debit
Liability Charge
Shareholders’ equity Credit
Current and noncurrent assets Journal entry
and liabilities Posting

Balance sheet equation

QUESTIONS, EXERCISES, AND PROBLEMS

QUESTIONS

1. Review the meaning of the terms and concepts listed in Key Terms and Concepts.
. Why does every accounting transaction have two effects?

. What is the relation between a T-account and a journal entry?

. What distinguishes noncurrent assets from current assets?

0N A W N

. What is the purpose of using contra accounts? What is the alternative to using them?

EXERCISES

6. Dual effects on balance sheet equation. Fresh Foods Group, a European food retailer that
operates supermarkets in seven countries, engaged in the following three transactions dur-
ing 2013: (1) purchased and received inventory costing €678 million on account from vari-
ous suppliers; (2) returned inventory costing €45 million because of damage that occurred
during shipment; (3) paid the various suppliers the total amount due. Indicate the effects of
each of these three transactions on the balance sheet equation. Fresh Foods Group applies
IFRS and reports its results in millions of euros (€).

7. Dual effects on balance sheet equation. Cement Plus, a firm specializing in building materi-
als, engaged in the following four transactions during 2014: (1) purchased and received
inventory costing $14,300 million, of which $12,000 million was on account with the rest
paid in cash; (2) purchased a machine for $3,000 million with cash; (3) issued 2,000 shares
of common stock for $6,500 million in cash; (4) issued shares of common stock to its sup-
pliers for the remaining amount due on purchases of inventory. Indicate the effects of each
of these four transactions on the balance sheet equation. Cement Plus applies U.S. GAAP
financial reporting standards and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars (§).

8. Balance sheet classification. GAAP classifies items on the balance sheet in one of the fol-
lowing ways:
Asset (A)
Liability (L)
Shareholders’ equity (SE)
Item that would not appear on the balance sheet as conventionally prepared under
GAAP. (N/A)
Using the abbreviations, indicate the appropriate classification of each of the following
items. If you can find no basis in the chapter for giving an answer, then speculate.
a. Salaries payable
b. Retained earnings
¢. Notes receivable
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. Unfilled customers’ orders
Land

Interest payable

. Work-in-process inventory

S oo s

. Mortgage payable

=

Organization costs
Advances by customers
. Advances to employees

=

Patents

E

. Good credit standing
n. Common stock

9. Balance sheet classification. GAAP classifies items on the balance sheet in one of the fol-
lowing ways:

Asset (A)

Liability (L)

Shareholders’ equity (SE)

Item that would not appear on the balance sheet as conventionally prepared under
GAAP. (N/A)

Using the abbreviations, indicate the appropriate classification of each of the following
items. If you can find no basis in the chapter for giving an answer, then speculate.

a. Preferred stock
b. Furniture and fixtures

c. Potential liability under lawsuit (case has not yet gone to trial); attorneys estimate 40%
chance of losing a material amount.

Prepaid rent

Capital contributed in excess of par value
Cash on hand

Goodwill

Estimated liability under warranty contract

kS

=

Raw materials inventory
Rental fees received in advance
. Bonds payable

= 5

Prepaid insurance
. Income taxes payable

s B

Treasury stock

PROBLEMS

10. Dual effects of transactions on balance sheet equation and journal entries. Assume that
during Year 15, Bullseye Corporation, a U.S. retailer, engages in the following six transac-
tions. Bullseye Corporation applies U.S. GAAP and reports its results in millions of U.S.
dollars ($). Do not be concerned that after these transactions, the balance in the Cash
account is negative. The firm will deal with that issue in transactions not shown here.

(1) The firm issues 20 million shares of $0.0833 par value common stock for a total of
$960 million cash.

(2) It purchases merchandise costing $1,500 million on account.

(3) The firm acquires a new store location, consisting of a building costing $3,200 million
and land costing $930 million. It pays cash to the owner of the property.

(4) The firm purchases fixtures for the new store costing $860 million, on account.
(5) The firm pays the merchandise supplier in transaction (2) the amount due.

(6) The firm pays the supplier of the fixtures in transaction (4) half of the amount due
in cash. The firm pays the other half by issuing 8.6 million common shares to the
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supplier. At the time of this transaction, Bullseye Corporation’s shares traded at $50
per share in the market.

a. Indicate the effects of these six transactions on the balance sheet equation using this

format:
Transaction Number Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
(1) +$960 $0 +3$960
Subtotal $960 = $0 + $960

b. Give the journal entries for each of the six transactions.

11. Dual effects of transactions on balance sheet equation and journal entries. Assume that dur-
ing Year 14, Inheritance Brands, a U.S. manufacturer and distributor, engaged in the fol-
lowing five transactions. Inheritance Brands applies U.S. GAAP and reports its results in
millions of U.S. dollars ($). You may round to one significant digit after the decimal point.

(1) The firm issues 10 million shares of $3.125 par value common stock for $55 cash per
share.

(2) At the end of Year 14, the firm acquires land costing $250 million and a building cost-
ing $900 million. It pays for the purchase by giving $400 million in cash and promising
to pay the remainder in Year 15. It signed a note payable for the remainder.

(3) The firm pays $30 million cash for a one-year insurance policy on the land and build-
ing. The policy period begins at the start of Year 15.

(4) The firm acquires merchandise inventory costing $400 million on account from various
suppliers.

(5) The firm pays cash to the suppliers in transaction (4) for its purchases on account.
a. Indicate the effects of these five transactions on the balance sheet equation using this

format:
Transaction Number Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
(1) +$550 $0 +3$550
Subtotal $550 = $0 + $550

b. Give the journal entries for each of the five transactions.

12. Journal entries for various transactions. Express the following transactions of Winkle Gro-
cery Store, Inc., in journal entry form. If an entry is not required, indicate the reason. You
may omit explanations for the journal entries. The store:

(1) Receives $30,000 from John Winkle in return for 1,000 shares of the firm’s $30 par
value common stock.

(2) Gives a 60-day, 8% note to a bank and receives $5,000 cash from the bank.
(3) Rents a building and pays the annual rental of $12,000 in advance.
(4) Acquires display equipment costing $8,000 and issues a check in full payment.

(5) Acquires merchandise inventory costing $25,000. The firm issues a check for $12,000,
with the remainder payable in 30 days.

(6) Signs a contract with a nearby restaurant under which the restaurant agrees to pur-
chase $2,000 of groceries each week. The firm receives a check for the first two weeks’
orders in advance.

(7) Obtains a fire insurance policy providing $50,000 coverage beginning next month. It
pays the one-year premium of $1,200.

(8) Pays $600 for advertisements that will appear in newspapers next month.
(9) Places an order with suppliers for $35,000 of merchandise to be delivered next month.

13. Recording transactions and preparing a balance sheet. Moulton Corporation engaged in
the following seven transactions during December, Year 12, in preparation for opening the
business on January 1, Year 13. We continue with data for Moulton Corporation in Chap-
ter 3, Problem 3.22. You will not need some of the information given here until you work
that problem. We give this information here, as the firm would often learn this information
at the time of the transaction described here.
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(1) Issued for cash 80,000 shares of $10 par value at par.

(2) Acquired for cash land costing $50,000 and a building costing $450,000. Information
for later use: The building has an expected useful life of 25 years beginning on January
1, Year 13.

(3) Purchased merchandise inventory costing $280,000 on account from various suppliers.

(4) Paid for inventory purchased in (3) with an original invoice price of $250,000 in time to
take advantage of a 2% discount for prompt payment. The firm treats discounts taken
as a reduction in the cost of inventories. The firm has not yet paid for the remaining
$30,000 of purchases on account.

(5) Paid $12,000 for a one-year insurance policy on the land and building. The insurance
coverage begins January 1.

(6) Borrowed $300,000 from a bank on December 31, Year 12. Information for later use:
The loan bears interest at an annual rate of 8% and is due in five years. The interest
is payable on January 1 of each year, beginning January 1, Year 14, and the $300,000
amount borrowed is due on December 31, Year 17.

(7) Acquired equipment on December 31 costing $80,000 and signed a 6% note payable to
the supplier. The note is due on June 30, Year 13. Information for later use: The equip-
ment has an estimated useful life of 5 years.

a. Record these seven transactions in T-accounts.
b. Prepare a balance sheet for Moulton Corporation as of December 31.

14. Recording transactions and preparing a balance sheet. Patterson Corporation begins opera-
tions on January 1, Year 13. See the assumptions given at the end of the list. Problem 3.23
continues this problem. The firm engages in the following transactions during January:

(1) Issues 15,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for $210,000 in cash.

(2) Issues 28,000 shares of common stock in exchange for land, building, and equipment.
The land appears at $80,000, the building at $220,000, and the equipment at $92,000
on the balance sheet.

(3) Issues 2,000 shares of common stock to another firm to acquire a patent. The price
per share is $14 per share.

(4) Acquires merchandise inventories with a list price of $75,000 on account from
suppliers.

(5) Acquires equipment with a list price of $6,000. It deducts a $600 discount and pays
the net amount in cash. The firm treats cash discounts as a reduction in the acquisi-
tion cost of equipment.

(6) Pays freight charges of $350 for delivery of the equipment in (5). The firm treats
freight charges as part of the acquisition cost of the equipment.

(7) Discovers that merchandise inventories with a list price of $800 are defective and
returns them to the supplier for full credit. The merchandise inventories had been
purchased on account—see (4)—and no payment had been made as of the time that
the goods were returned.

(8) Signs a contract for the rental of a fleet of automobiles beginning February 1. Pays
the $1,400 rental for February in advance.

(9) Pays invoices for merchandise inventories purchased in (4) with an original list price
of $60,000, after deducting a discount of 3% for prompt payment. The firm treats
cash discounts as a reduction in the acquisition cost of merchandise inventories.

(10) Obtains fire and liability insurance coverage from Southwest Insurance Company.
The two-year policy, beginning February 1, carries a $2,400 premium that has not yet
been paid.

(11) Signs a contract with a customer for $20,000 of merchandise that Patterson plans to
deliver in the future. The customer advances $4,500 toward the contract price.

(12) Acquires a warehouse costing $60,000 on January 31. The firm makes a down pay-
ment of $7,000 and assumes a 20-year, 6% mortgage for the balance. Information for
later use: Interest is payable on January 31 each year.

(13) Discovers that merchandise inventories with an original list price of $1,500 are defec-
tive and returns them to the supplier. This inventory was paid for in (9). The returned
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merchandise inventories are the only items purchased from this particular supplier
during January. A cash refund has not yet been received from the supplier.

(14) On January 31, the firm purchases 6,000 shares of $10 par value common stock of
the General Cereal Corporation for $95,000. This purchase is a short-term use of
excess cash. The shares of General Cereal Corporation trade on the New York Stock
Exchange.

The following assumptions will help you resolve certain accounting uncertainties:
B Transactions (2) and (3) occur on the same day as transaction (1).

B The invoices paid in (9) are the only purchases for which suppliers made discounts
available to the purchaser.

a. Enter these 14 transactions in T-accounts.
b. Prepare a balance sheet as of January 31, Year 13.

15. Recording transactions in T-accounts and preparing a balance sheet. Veronica Regaldo cre-
ates a new business in Mexico on January 1, Year 8, to operate a retail store. Transactions
of Regaldo Department Stores during January Year 8 in preparation for opening its first
retail store in February Year 8 appear below. Regaldo applies IFRS and reports its results
in thousands of Mexican pesos ($).

(1) January 1, Year 8: Receives $500,000 from Veronica Regaldo for all of the common
stock of Regaldo Department Stores. The stock has no par or stated value.

(2) January 5, Year 8: Pays another firm $20,000 for a patent, and pays the Mexican gov-
ernment $4,000 to register the patent. IFRS treats the cost to register the patent as part
of its acquisition cost.

(3) January 10, Year 8: Orders merchandise from various suppliers at a cost of $200,000.
See transactions (5), (6), and (7) for later information regarding these merchandise
orders.

(4) January 15, Year 8: Signs a lease to rent land and a building for $30,000 a month. The
rental period begins February 1, Year 8. Regaldo pays $60,000 for the first two months’
rent in advance.

(5) January 20, Year 8: Receives the merchandise ordered on January 10, Year 8. Regaldo
delays payment for the merchandise until it receives an invoice from the supplier—see
transaction (7) below.

(6) January 21, Year 8: Discovers that merchandise costing $8,000 is defective and returns
the items to the supplier.

(7) January 25, Year 8: Receives invoices for $160,000 for the merchandise received on
January 20, Year 8. After subtracting an allowed discount of 2% of the invoice for
paying promptly, Regaldo pays the suppliers the amount due of $156,800 (0.98 X
$160,000). The firm treats cash discounts taken as a reduction in the acquisition cost
of the merchandise.

(8) January 30, Year 8: Obtains fire and liability insurance coverage from Windwards
Islands Insurance Company for the period beginning February 1, Year 8. It pays the
one-year insurance premium of $12,000.

a. Record these eight transactions in T-accounts.

b. Prepare a balance sheet for Regaldo Department Stores on January 31, Year 8.

16. Recording transactions and preparing a balance sheet. Whitley Products Corporation begins
operations on April 1. The firm engages in the following transactions during April:

(1) Issues 25,000 shares of $10 par value common stock for $15 per share in cash.

(2) Acquires land costing $25,000 and a building costing $275,000 by paying $50,000 in
cash and signing a note payable to a local bank for the remainder of the purchase
price.

(3) Acquires equipment costing $125,000 for cash.

(4) Pays $2,800 to transport the equipment to the office of Whitley Products Corporation.

U.S. GAAP treats the cost to transport the equipment as part of the acquisition cost
of the equipment.

(5) Pays $3,200 to install and test the equipment. U.S. GAAP treats the cost to install and
test the equipment as part of the acquisition cost of the equipment.
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Chapter 2 The Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation: Balance Sheet

(6) Pays the one-year premium of $12,000 for property and liability insurance on the
building and equipment for coverage beginning May 1.

(7) Agrees to manufacture custom-ordered merchandise for a particular customer begin-
ning in May at a selling price of $15,000. The customer advances $1,500 of the selling
price with the order.

(8) Orders raw materials costing $60,000 from various suppliers.

(9) Receives notification from the suppliers that the raw materials ordered in transaction
(8) were shipped. The merchandise belongs to the suppliers until received by Whitley
Products Corporation.

(10) Receives the raw materials shipped in transaction (9).

(11) Discovers that raw materials costing $8,000 are damaged and returns them to the sup-
plier. The firm has not yet paid the supplier.

(12) Pays the raw materials suppliers in transactions (8), (9), (10), and (11) the amounts
due, after subtracting 2% for prompt payment. The firm treats cash discounts as a
reduction in the acquisition cost of the raw materials.

a. Enter these twelve transactions in T-accounts.
b. Prepare a balance sheet for Whitley Products Corporation as of April 30.

17. Effect of recording errors on the balance sheet equation. Using the notation O/S (overstated),
U/S (understated), or No (no effect), indicate the effects on assets, liabilities, and share-
holders’ equity of failing to record or recording incorrectly each of the following transac-
tions or events. For example, a failure to record the issuance of common stock for $10,000
cash would be shown as follows:

B Assets—U/S $10,000
B Liabilities—No
B Shareholders’ equity—U/S $10,000

(1) A firm ordered $23,000 of merchandise from a supplier but did not record anything in
its accounts.

(2) The firm received the merchandise in transaction (1) and recorded it by debiting Mer-
chandise Inventory and crediting Accounts Payable for $32,000.

(3) The firm acquired an automobile costing $20,000 by paying $2,000 in cash and signing
a note payable for the remainder of the purchase price. It recorded the acquisition by
debiting Automobile for $20,000, crediting Cash for $18,000, and crediting Note Pay-
able for $2,000.

(4) The firm paid the $1,800 annual insurance premium on the automobile in transaction
(3) by debiting Automobile and crediting Cash for $1,800. The insurance period begins
next month.

(5) The firm received an order from a customer for $5,500 of merchandise that the firm
will deliver next month. The customer included a check for $1,500. The firm made no
entry for this transaction.

(6) The firm issued 2,000 shares of its $10 par value common stock having a market value
of $32,000 in exchange for land. It recorded the transaction by debiting Land and
crediting Common Stock for $20,000.

(7) The firm signed a three-year employment agreement with its chief executive officer at
an annual salary of $275,000. The employment period begins next month. The firm did
not record anything in its accounts related to this agreement.

18. Effect of recording errors on the balance sheet equation. A firm recorded various trans-
actions with the journal entries shown below. Using the notation O/S (overstated), U/S
(understated), or No (no effect), indicate the effects on assets, liabilities, and sharehold-
ers’ equity of any errors in recording each of these transactions. For example, if a firm
recorded the issue of $10,000 of common stock by debiting Cash and crediting Bonds
Payable, the effects of the error are shown as follows:

B Assets—No
B Liabilities—O/S $10,000
B Sharcholders’ equity—U/S $10,000
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(1) EqUIpmMent . ..ottt e 10,000
Cash it e 2,000
Note Receivable. . . ..ot i e e 8,000

Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

+10,000
—2,000
—8,000

To record acquisition of equipment using $2,000 cash and signing of an
$8,000 promissory note for the balance.

(2) EqUipment .. ...t 4,000
Cash .o e 1,000
Note Payable. . ... .o o 3,000

Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+4,000 +3,000
—1,000

To record the placing of an order for equipment to be delivered next month.
The firm made a $1,000 deposit with the order.

(3) Cash oo e 800
Accounts Receivable. . . ... .. i 800
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities + Equity (Class.)
+800
—800

To record an advance from a customer on merchandise to be shipped next
month. The customer did not owe the firm any amounts at the time of this

transaction.
(4) PrepaidRent......... ... ... .o 1,000
RentPayable. . ... .. 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,000 +1,000

To record the signing of a rental agreement for warehouse space for a one-
year period beginning next month. The monthly rental fee of $1,000 is due
on the first day of each month.

(5) Patent . ... e 2,500
Cash o 2,500
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+2,500
—2,500

To record the issuance of common stock in the acquisition of a patent.
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(6) Merchandise Inventories ... ... 4,900
Cash o 4,900
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+4,900
—4,900

To record the acquisition of office equipment for cash.
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1. Continue mastering the conventions of 3. Understand the need for adjusting

recording transactions, including the entries and begin to learn how accoun-

dual nature of transactions and the use tants use a variety of clues and data to LEARNING

of T-accounts and journal entries. compute the amounts for such entries. OBJECTIVES
2. Understand the recording of income 4. Understand the difference between

statement transactions in temporary transaction entries, adjusting entries,

accounts, which the record-keeping and closing entries.

rocess closes at the end of the period
P . . P 5. Understand how the balance sheet and
to the Retained Earnings account on . .
the income statement articulate.

the balance sheet.

his chapter shows how the accountant records operating transactions and then combines

transaction records to prepare the income statement. This chapter, as did Chapter 2, focuses
on record-keeping procedures, not on accounting principles and judgments.

This chapter considers four record-keeping concepts:

The dual nature (duality) of transactions and events.

The use of T-accounts and journal entries for recording the duality of a transaction or event.
The preparation of a simple income statement and statement of cash flows.

4. The link, or articulation, between the balance sheet and the income statement.

Ll S

These concepts rely on the record-keeping terminology introduced in Chapter 2.

The word account refers to items on both the balance sheet and the income statement. An
account is a device for keeping track of the amount on a line of the balance sheet or the income
statement. Balance sheet accounts are permanent accounts in the sense that they remain open, with
nonzero balances, at the end of the reporting period. In contrast, income statement accounts are
temporary accounts in the sense that they start a period with a zero balance, accumulate informa-
tion during the reporting period, and have a zero balance at the end of the reporting period. An
income statement account shows the amount for a period of time.

The closing process (discussed below) ensures that each income statement account has a zero
balance at the end of the reporting period and that the amounts that had been in the income state-
ment accounts get transferred to the balance sheet account, Retained Earnings, at the end of the
period for which the income statement reports data.

THE INCOME STATEMENT

CoMMON TERMINOLOGY

Chapter 2 described the application of three record-keeping conventions (dual effects of transac-
tions, T-accounts, and journal entries) to transactions affecting the balance sheet and emphasized
the usefulness of the balance sheet equation in understanding how the recording of transactions
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Chapter 3 Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation: Income Statement

maintained the equality of assets and liabilities plus shareholders’ equity. We now consider
operating transactions that affect the income statement, a second principal financial statement
that firms prepare to report on their business activities. First, we describe some account titles
used in income statements to provide a sense of typical names (sometimes called “rows” or
“line items”) used in published income statements.

Revenues or Sales: a measure of the assets received (for example, cash) in exchange for goods
sold and services rendered. Outside the United States, sales or revenues are sometimes called
turnover.

Cost of Goods Sold: the cost of products sold. Cost of services is a similar concept and refers
to the cost of services sold.

Selling, General, and Administrative (SG&A ): costs incurred to sell products and services (such
as salaries of the sales force) as well as costs of administration (such as the salaries of top
executives and rent and insurance on corporate headquarters buildings and furnishings).

Research and Development (R&D) Expense: costs incurred to create and develop new products,
processes, and services.

Adpvertising Expense: costs incurred with the goal of increasing sales by attracting more custom-
ers or inducing existing customers to increase their purchases. No rule requires that the income
statement separately show these items, which can be part of SG&A.

Interest Expense: the cost of using borrowed funds.

Interest Income: income earned on amounts lent to others or from investments in interest-
yielding securities.

Income Tax Expense: federal, state, and local taxes levied on income.

A TypicAL INCOME STATEMENT

Just as the balance sheet lists accounts, grouped by type, so too does the income statement.
The income statement displays, for a given period, revenues (net asset inflows) and expenses
(net asset outflows); the difference is net income (also called earnings or profit). If the expenses
exceed the revenues of a period, the result is a loss or a net loss.

The income statement begins with revenues (sometimes called the “top line”) and then sub-
tracts expenses associated with operating the business (for example, cost of goods sold, SG&A,
R&D, and advertising). The next line items display other sources of income (such as interest
income) and other expenses (such as interest expense) to arrive at income before taxes. Income
tax expense is then subtracted to arrive at net income (sometimes called the “bottom line”).
Some firms declare, then pay, dividends to their shareholders. A dividend is a distribution
of net assets generated by earnings—not a cost incurred in generating earnings—so it never
appears as an expense on the income statement.

The income statement of Toothpaste Company for the fiscal year ended December 31, Year 7,
appears in Exhibit 3.1. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the display of income statements for
the current year as well as the two prior years. Toothpaste reports the results for the current year,

EXHIBIT 3.1 Toothpaste Company Income Statement

For the years ended December 31 Year 7 Year 6 Year 5
Netsales. . .ovoennen i $13,789.7 $12,237.7 $11,396.9
Costofsales .......coviininnennnnn 6,042.3 5,536.1 5,191.9
GrosS Profit « oo v v et $ 7,747.4 $ 6,701.6 $ 6,205.0
Selling, general, and administrative expenses . . . ... 4,973.0 4,355.2 3,920.8
Other (income) expense, net. .. ............... 121.3 185.9 69.2
Operating profit . . ......ovviennneenn.. $ 2,653.1 $ 2,160.5 $ 2,215.0
= Interest expense, net. . . ... ... . ... ... ... 156.6 158.7 136.0
E Income before income taxes . ............... $ 2,496.5 $ 2,001.8 $ 2,079.0
§ Provision for income taxes . .. ............. ... 759.1 648.4 727.6
g Wi WIEETE o o5 00cooos0o0s000s00c000s0a $ 1,737.4 $ 1,353.4 $ 1,351.4
6
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Relation Between the Balance Sheet and the Income Statement

Year 7, in the first (leftmost) column of numbers, with the results for Year 6 and Year 5 reported
in the remaining two columns. Toothpaste’s income statement reflects a relatively sparse listing of
accounts. Most firms’ income statements contain more detail, that is, more line items or rows.

Firms have considerable flexibility in the way they present income items. Toothpaste, for
example, reports subtotals for Gross Profit, Operating Profit, and Income Before Income Taxes.
A later section of this chapter and subsequent chapters discuss these terms more fully.

RELATION BETWEEN THE BALANCE
SHEET AND THE INCOME STATEMENT

The income statement links the beginning and ending balance sheets. The beginning balance of
the shareholders’ equity account Retained Earnings plus net income from the income statement
less dividends equals the ending balance of Retained Earnings. The equation that describes the
relation between the balance sheet and the income statement through the Retained Earnings
account is as follows:

Retained Earnings (beginning) + Net Income — Dividends = Retained Earnings (ending)

In this sense, common terminology often says that the income statement “articulates” with
the balance sheet. Retained earnings measures the cumulative excess of net income over divi-
dends for the life of a firm. Cumulative means that retained earnings aggregates a// undistrib-
uted earnings.

Inspection of Toothpaste’s balance sheet, shown in Exhibit 2.1, reveals that Tooth-
paste’s Retained Earnings balance increased from $9,643.7 million on December 31, Year 6,
to $10,627.5 million on December 31, Year 7. From Exhibit 3.1 we see that Toothpaste’s net
income for Year 7 was $1,737.4 million. Elsewhere in its annual report, Toothpaste reported
Year 7 dividends of $721.6 million for common shareholders and $28.0 million for preferred
shareholders, or a total of $749.6 million in dividends. Using this information, we can calculate
whether Toothpaste’s balance sheet and income statement articulate by examining whether the
retained earnings relation holds:

Retained Earnings (beginning) + Net Income — Dividends = Retained Earnings (ending)
= $9,643.7 + $1,737.4 — $749.6
= $10,631.5

The calculated amount, $10,631.5, is $4.0 million higher than Toothpaste’s reported balance
in Retained Earnings at the end of Year 7, $10,627.5 million. The difference of $4.0 million
results from an adjustment for the application of a new accounting standard, which Toothpaste
charged to Retained Earnings.

In summary, the retained earnings relation does not hold for Toothpaste for Year 7 because
of other transactions that affected its Retained Earnings during the year.'

The following disaggregation of the balance sheet equation shows the relation of revenues,
expenses, and dividends to the components of the balance sheet.

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
A — Liabiliti Contributed Retained Earnings !
ssets = Liabilities Capital g
. I
Retained
st Contributed Earnings, . Dividends
Assets = Liabilities Capital Beginning Net Income for Period ~  for Period
of Period
Retained Revenues Expenses
— Liabiliti Contributed Earnings, for pfor Dividends
Assets = Liabilities Capital + Beginning + . - . ~ for Period
- Period Period
of Period

"We ignore these kinds of items here and revisit them in Chapter 15.
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Chapter 3 Basics of Record Keeping and Financial Statement Preparation: Income Statement

The preceding diagram shows that items that affect net income (revenues and expenses)
also affect shareholders’ equity. It is, therefore, possible to record revenue and expense amounts
directly in the Retained Earnings account. Measuring net income would then involve solving
the retained earnings relation for net income, as follows:

_ Retained Earnings  Retained Earnings at o
Net Income = at End of Period Beginning of Period * Dividends

The purpose of the income statement is not the calculation of net income, because the reader
can do this by analyzing the retained earnings relation. Recording revenues and expenses directly
in the Retained Earnings account suppresses information about the causes of net income. The
line items or rows on the income statement display the sources and amounts of revenues as well
as the nature and amounts of expenses that net to earnings for the period. Knowing these com-
ponents helps the user to understand the causes of the firm’s performance. Knowing the pur-
pose of the income statement—to display the line items for components of net income—will
help you understand the procedures for preparing it.

Accountants maintain individual revenue and expense accounts during an accounting
period to permit preparation of an income statement. Recall from our discussion in Chapter 2
that income statement accounts are temporary accounts, as opposed to the permanent accounts
that appear on the balance sheet. All temporary accounts begin with a zero balance and accu-
mulate information for the period. After preparing the income statement at the end of the
period, the accountant transfers the balance in each temporary revenue and expense account
to the Retained Earnings account. This procedure is called closing the revenue and expense
accounts, because after closing (that is, the transfer to Retained Earnings), each revenue and
expense account has a zero balance. Retained Earnings increases by the amount of net income
(or decreases by the amount of net loss) for the period.

Maintaining separate revenue and expense accounts during the period and transferring
their balances to the Retained Earnings account at the end of the period has the same effect on
the balance sheet equation as initially recording revenues and expenses directly in the Retained
Earnings account. The separate revenue and expense accounts collect the information needed
to display the specific types of revenues and expenses in the income statement, which other-
wise could show the total amount of net income but not its components. Once revenue and
expense accounts serve their purpose of accumulating specific revenue and expense items for an
accounting period, they have no further purpose for that period. The accountant closes these
accounts so that they begin the following accounting period with a zero balance, ready for the
revenue and expense entries of the new period.

ACCOUNTING PROCESS FOR REVENUES,
EXPENSES, AND DIVIDENDS

Revenues, expenses, and dividends increase or decrease retained earnings, so the recording pro-
cedures for these items are the same as for any other transaction affecting shareholders’ equity
accounts.

Shareholders’ Equity

Decreases Increases

(Debit) (Credit)

Expenses Revenues

Dividends Issues of
Capital Stock

A transaction generating revenue increases net assets (either by increasing assets or decreas-
ing liabilities) and increases shareholders’ equity. The usual journal entry to record a revenue
transaction is therefore as follows:
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Accounting Process for Revenues, Expenses, and Dividends

Asset Increase or Liability Decrease (orboth). .. ... ... ... ... ..... Amount
Revenue. .. ... i e Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+ or - + IncSt - RE

Typical entry to recognize revenue.

We use the designation IncSt > RE in the “(Class.)” column to indicate an income state-
ment account that is closed to retained earnings at the end of the period.

A transaction generating an expense decreases net assets (either by decreasing assets or
increasing liabilities) and decreases shareholders’ equity. The usual journal entry to record an
expense transaction is therefore as follows:

EXPENSE .« ot e e Amount
Asset Decrease or Liability Increase (or both). ................ Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
- or + - IncSt - RE

Typical journal entry to recognize expense.

Dividends, which a firm may pay in cash or in other assets, decrease net assets and decrease
shareholders’ equity. We assume that firms pay dividends in cash unless we have contrary infor-
mation. The following journal entry records the declaration of a dividend by the board of

directors:
Retained Earmings . v v vve ettt ittt et e e Amount
Dividend Payable . . . ... Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+ - RE

Typical entry to record dividend declaration.

The following journal entry records the payment of the dividend:

Dividend Payable . . . ..ot e Amount
Cash ot e Amount
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

Typical entry to record dividend payment.

Although the journal entries for dividends resemble those for expenses, dividends are not
expenses. They are not costs incurred in generating revenues. Rather, dividends represent distri-
butions, to owners, of assets that the firm obtained from its operations. Because dividends are
not expenses, they do not affect the measurement of net income and, therefore, are not included
in the calculation of net income. Note that Toothpaste’s income statement in Exhibit 3.1 shows
no deduction for the $749.6 million dividends paid in Year 7.

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.
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ILLUSTRATION OF DuAL EFFECTS AND JOURNAL
ENTRIES FOR INCOME TRANSACTIONS

In Chapter 2, we illustrated the transactions of Miller Corporation for January. None of those
transactions involved income statement accounts. Exhibit 2.4 shows a zero balance in the
Retained Earnings account on January 31 because during January Miller did not generate rev-
enues nor incur expenses nor declare a dividend.

In this section, we consider transactions that affect both the income statement and the bal-
ance sheet. We consider seven transactions of Miller during February.

Transaction 1 On February 5 Miller purchases an additional $25,000 of merchandise on

account.
(1) Merchandise Inventory . .. ..ot it e 25,000
Accounts Payable. . . ... .. 25,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+25,000 +25,000

Purchase of inventory costing $25,000 on account.

Transaction 2 During February, Miller sells merchandise to customers for $50,000. Of
this amount, $3,000 represents sales to customers who paid $3,000 to Miller on January 31. We
recorded this amount as Advances from Customer (Chapter 2, transaction (7) that occurred
during January). Miller makes the remaining $47,000 of sales on account. Retail firms such as
Miller typically recognize revenue at the time they deliver merchandise to customers, regardless
of whether the customers have paid cash. The journal entry to record these sales is:

(2) Advances from Customer. . ...t e 3,000
Accounts Receivable. . ... oo i it e 47,000
Sales REVENUE .« v v ot et e 50,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+47,000 —3,000 +50,000 IncSt > RE

Sales of merchandise for $50,000, $3,000 of which relates to cash received
in January for merchandise delivered to customers in February and $47,000
of which relates to sales on account during February for which Miller will
receive cash sometime after the delivery of merchandise to customers.

Sales Revenue is a temporary income statement account that Miller will close to Retained
Earnings at the end of February.

Transaction 3 The acquisition cost of the merchandise sold to customers in transaction (2)
is $30,000. Because Miller has sold and delivered this merchandise to customers, it is no lon-
ger Miller’s asset. The following journal entry reduces the balance in Miller’s inventory account
and recognizes the cost of the inventory sold as an expense. (Firms often delay the computation
of cost of goods sold until the end of the period and compute that cost for all sales in a single
computation. In this example, we show only one sales transaction, so there is only one cost of
goods sold computation to make, which we can make at the time of sale or at the end of the
period.)

(3) CostofGoodsSold........ovuuinuiniiniin i, 30,000
Merchandise Inventory . . . .o v et it e 30,000
(continued)
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Accounting Process for Revenues, Expenses, and Dividends

Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—30,000 —30,000 IncSt — RE

The cost of merchandise sold to customers during February is $30,000.

Cost of Goods Sold is a temporary income statement account that Miller will close to the
Retained Earnings account at the end of February. The minus sign under the Shareholders’
Equity column shows the effect on shareholders’ equity, not on Cost of Goods Sold.

Transaction 4 Miller Corporation incurs and pays $14,500 of selling and administrative
costs during February. The journal entry to record this transaction is:

(4) Selling and Administrative Expenses . . ... ..ot 14,500
Cash o 14,500
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—14,500 —14,500 IncSt ~ RE

Selling and administrative expenses paid in cash during February total
$14,500.

We assume that Miller Corporation received all the benefits of these selling and administrative
services during February, so the full amount of cost is an expense for the month. None of the
expenditure results in an asset that would appear on the balance sheet at the end of February.

Transaction 5 Miller Corporation collects $35,000 from customers for sales previously
made on account. Miller recognized revenue from these sales at the time of sale (see transac-
tion (2) for February); it will not record those revenues again. Collecting cash from customers
increases the balance in the cash account and decreases accounts receivable.

(5) Cash oo 35,000
Accounts Receivable. . ... .. oo i e 35,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+35,000
—35,000

Cash collections of $35,000 from sales previously made on account.

Transaction 6 Miller pays $20,000 to suppliers for merchandise previously purchased on
account. The journal entry to record this payment is:

(6) Accounts Payable. .. ... e 20,000
Cash oo 20,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—20,000 —20,000

Cash payments of $20,000 for purchases previously made on account.

Transaction 7 Miller Corporation declares and pays a dividend to shareholders of $1,000.
The entry to record the dividend is:
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(7) Retained Earnings ... ..ottt e 1,000
Cash o 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—1,000 —1,000 RE

Dividends declared and paid during February total $1,000.

These seven journal entries summarize Miller Corporation’s activities during February.
Each entry records an exchange between Miller and its suppliers or its customers or its share-
holders. We have simplified the journal entries by aggregating the month’s transactions into a
single summary number.

The accounting system transfers the information in these journal entries to the balance sheet
and income statement accounts affected; this activity is the posting process. We use T-accounts
to show the account balances at the beginning of February (from Exhibit 2.3) and the post-
ing of these seven transactions during February for Miller Corporation. Exhibit 3.2 shows the
T-accounts, with the seven entries recorded in blue. We discuss the entries recorded in red and
gold next. The balance sheet accounts have beginning-of-February balances equal to their end-
ing balances at the end of January. The income statement accounts have zero balances at the
beginning of February (by design, because they are temporary accounts). Both the balance sheet
accounts and the income statement accounts reflect the effects of the seven February transactions.

[ 3:1:36):{03 % 3.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

Journalizing transactions during a period. Harris Equipment Corporation began
operations on January 2, Year 2, by issuing 10,000 shares of $10-par value common stock
for $15 cash per share. The firm engages in the following transactions during Year 2:

1. January 2, Year 2: Acquires a building costing $80,000 and equipment costing
$40,000. It pays cash in the amount of $60,000 and assumes a 10% mortgage for the
balance of the purchase price. (“Assumes a mortgage” means the company borrows
the cash and signs a mortgage note to give to the lender.) Interest is payable on Janu-
ary 2 of each year, beginning one year after the purchase.

2. January 2, Year 2: Obtains a two-year fire insurance policy on the building and equip-
ment. It pays the insurance premium of $1,200 for the two-year period in advance.

3. During Year 2: Acquires merchandise on account totaling $320,000. It makes pay-
ments to these suppliers during Year 2 totaling $270,000.

4. During Year 2: Makes sales of merchandise totaling $510,000, of which $80,000 is
for cash and $430,000 is on account. Collections from credit customers during Year 2
total $360,000.

During Year 2: Pays employees’ salaries totaling $80,000.
During Year 2: Pays utility bills totaling $1,300.

November 1, Year 2: Receives a $600 cash advance from a customer toward the pur-
chase price of merchandise to be delivered during January, Year 3.

8. November 1, Year 2: Receives a $1,000, 9%, 90-day note from a customer to settle an
open account receivable.

9. December 1, Year 2: Rents out a portion of its building for a three-month period,
at the rate of $300 per month. The firm received the rent for the period, $900, in
advance.

Give the journal entries to record these nine transactions during Year 2. (The next self-
study problem analyzes adjusting entries at the end of Year 2, including recognizing cost
of goods sold.) Omit explanations for the journal entries and the box, which shows the
effect on the balance sheet equation.
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ADJUSTING ENTRIES

Transactions (1) to (7) involve exchanges between Miller Corporation and other entities or
individuals during February. Each of the seven transactions involves a transaction or exchange
that triggers accounting recognition in the form of a journal entry. For example, the events in
transactions (1) and (2) are a purchase of inventory and the sale of merchandise to a customer,
respectively. In addition to accounting entries that result from transactions or exchanges, some
entries result from the passage of time. For example, interest expense on borrowing accrues as
time passes. The costs of rent and insurance accrue as the firm uses these services.

Most firms record journal entries that result from the passage of time at the end of the
accounting period. These entries are called adjusting entries, because they adjust the accounting
records for changes in balance sheet and income statement accounts that continually occur and
reflect changes in the firm’s resources (assets) and claims on those assets (liabilities and share-
holder’s equity). The adjusting entries are part of the measurement of net income for the period
and financial position at the end of the period. Some companies record cost of goods sold
as an adjusting entry, making this computation once per period, rather than every time they
make a sale. Unless we give explicit contrary instructions, assume the firms in our examples
and problems make cost of goods sold computations once per period, as an adjusting entry. In
this example, for Miller Corporation, we showed this computation earlier, in Transaction (3),
because we had not yet introduced the concept of and procedures for adjusting entries.

Miller Corporation will make five adjusting entries at the end of February (shown in red in
Exhibit 3.2).

Transaction 8 Miller records the cost of insurance, which is the portion of prepaid insur-
ance attributable to insurance services received during February. Miller paid the $600 one-year
insurance premium on January 31 for coverage from February 1 of this year through Janu-
ary 31 of next year. Assuming the allocation of an equal amount of this insurance premium
to each month of the year, the cost of insurance during February is $50 (= $600/12 months).
Miller includes the cost of insurance in selling and administrative expenses. The entry is:

(8) Selling and Administrative Expenses . .. ... ..o i 50
Prepaid INSUMANCE .« v vttt ittt ettt et e e 50
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
50 -50 IncSt — RE

The cost of insurance services received during February is $50.

The remaining $550 of prepaid insurance becomes an expense during the next 11 months.
In the meantime, it remains an asset on the balance sheet.

Transaction 9 Miller Corporation records the cost of rent, which is the portion of pre-
paid rent that is attributable to rental services consumed during February. Miller paid $12,000
on January 31 to prepay its rent for February 1 of this year through January 31 of next year.
Assuming the allocation of an equal amount of rental cost to each month, February’s rent
expense is $1,000 (= $12,000/12 months). Miller Corporation includes rent expense in selling
and administrative expenses. The entry is:

(9) Selling and Administrative Expenses . . ... ... .. . oo 1,000
Prepaid Rent. ... .o i 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—-1,000 —1,000 IncSt - RE

The cost of rental services received during February is $1,000.

The remaining $11,000 of prepaid rent becomes an expense during the next 11 months.
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Miller Corporation

24l IR Individual T-Accounts Showing Transactions During February

Cash (A) Accounts Receivable (A)
v 82,400 v 0
(5) 35,000 14,500 (4) (2) 47,000 35,000 (5)
20,000 (6)
1,000 (7)
v 81,900 4 12,000
Merchandise Inventory (A) Prepaid Insurance (A)
v 15,000 4 600
(1) 25,000 30,000 (3) 50 (8)
v 10,000 v 550
Prepaid Rent (A)
v 12,000
1,000 (9)
v 11,000
Buildings (A) Accumulated Depreciation (A)
v 40,000 0 4
167 (10)
v 40,000 167 v
Accounts Payable (L) Advances from Customer (L)
0 v 3,000 v
(6) 20,000 25,000 (1) (2) 3,000
5,000 v 0 v
Note Payable (L) Accrued Interest Payable (L)
40,000 v 0 v
333 (11)
40,000 v 333 v

(continued)

© Cengage Learning 2014

Transaction 10 Accumulated Depreciation shows the cumulative amount of the acqui-
sition cost of long-lived assets that the firm has allocated to the cost of production or to
expenses. On February 1, Miller Corporation begins consuming the services of the build-
ing that it purchased on January 31 for $40,000 and recorded as an asset on that date.> Miller
records depreciation on the building starting from February 1 (the date that it began using the
building) to reflect the consumption over time of building services. Assume that Miller expects
the building to last for 20 years and that Miller believes the building will have no value at that
time (that is, the salvage value at the end of 20 years is zero). Miller will depreciate the cost
of the building over its useful life by recording an expense proportional to the amount of the
asset’s life that has elapsed during the period. The depreciation charge each month is thus $167
[= $40,000/(20 years X 12 months per year)]. Miller includes depreciation on the building in
selling and administrative expenses.

One way to record depreciation is to reduce the amount in the Buildings account by $167
and recognize an expense of $167. Instead of reducing the amount in the Buildings account
directly, firms use the balance sheet contra account Accumulated Depreciation to accumulate
the subtractions for depreciation charges. That is, each accounting period Miller will add to the

2Chapter 10 describes the judgments and estimates involved in measuring depreciation on long-lived assets;
Transaction (10) illustrates only the mechanics and the accounts affected.
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Miller Corporation (continued)

2L LAR R b Individual T-Accounts Showing Transactions During February

Income Tax Payable (L) Income Tax Expense (SE)
0 v v 0
1,382 (12) (12) 1,382 1,382 (13)
1,382 v 4 0
Common Stock (SE) Retained Earnings (SE)
107,000 v 0 v
(7) 1,000 2,568 (13)
107,000 v 1,568 v
Sales Revenue (SE) Cost of Goods Sold (SE)
0 v v 0
(13) 50,000 50,000 (2) (3) 30,000 30,000 (13)
0 v v 0
Interest Expense (SE) Selling and Administrative Expenses (SE)
v 0 v 0
(11) 333 333 (13) (4) 14,500
4 0 (8) 50
9) 1,000
- (10) 167 15,717 (13)
g v 0
5 Black = Balances Red = Adjusting Entries
% Blue = Transaction Entries Gold = Closing Entries
s

balance in Accumulated Depreciation the cost of the building services used during the period.
The Accumulated Depreciation account appears on the balance sheet as a subtraction from the
acquisition cost of the building.’ An account, such as Accumulated Depreciation, that accumu-
lates subtractions from another account is a contra account. Thus, Miller will record deprecia-
tion for February as follows:

(10) Selling and Administrative Expenses (Depreciation Expense)............ 167
Accumulated Depreciation. .. ... ... L i il 167
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
-167 -167 IncSt - RE

Depreciation of building for February of $167.

The minus sign under Assets in the balance sheet equation indicates the effect on assets, not
on Accumulated Depreciation. Likewise, the minus sign under Shareholders’ Equity indicates
the effect on shareholders’ equity, not on Selling and Administrative Expense.

Transaction 11 Miller Corporation records interest expense on the note payable for the
month of February. On January 31, Miller signed a note payable promising to repay the bank
the $40,000 of principal borrowed in three years’ time and to make yearly interest payments at
the rate of 10% per annum, or $4,000 (= 10% X $40,000) per year. Whenever Miller prepares
financial statements, it will compute the amount of interest that has accumulated or accrued

3Chapter 10 explains the extra, useful information provided by this separate recording.
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since the previous financial statement date. At the end of February, Miller will recognize
(accrue) $333 (= $4,000/12) of interest, which is 1/12th of the total yearly interest amount, by
making an adjusting entry:

(11) IntereSt EXPENSE . ..o vttt ittt et 333
Interest Payable .. ... ... ... 333
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+333 —333 IncSt — RE

The cost of interest on the note payable for the month of February is $333.

Transaction 12 Miller Corporation recognizes income tax expense on February’s income
before income taxes. Assume an income tax rate of 35%. Net income before income taxes for
February is $3,950 (= $50,000 — $30,000 — $14,500 — $50 — $1,000 — $167 — $333). Income
tax expense is therefore $1,382 (= 0.35 X $3,950). Firms pay income taxes quarterly, so Mill-
er’s income taxes remain unpaid at the end of February. Income taxes are an expense of the
accounting period, regardless of when the firm pays them. The adjusting entry to record
income tax expense is:

(12) Income Tax EXpense .. ... ..ottt 1,382
Income Tax Payable . . ........ i, 1,382
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,382 -1,382 IncSt - RE

Income tax expense for February is $1,382.

In addition to recording effects that arise with the passage of time, adjusting entries also
correct recording errors that the firm detects at the end of the period. These entries are some-
times called correcting entries. For example, property taxes on the headquarters buildings may
appear as a debit to Cost of Goods Sold instead of Selling and Administrative Expenses, or a
payment to a supplier for purchases on account may appear as a debit to Accounts Receivable
instead of Accounts Payable. There were no such errors for Miller Corporation during Febru-
ary so it need not make adjusting entries to correct errors. After all the adjusting entries are
complete, the accountant posts those entries to the accounts affected. Adjusting entries appear
in red in Exhibit 3.2.

| A0 I0EVE 3.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

Journalizing adjusting entries at the end of the period. Refer to the data for Harris
Equipment Corporation in Problem 3.1 for Self-Study. Give the adjusting entries on
December 31, Year 2, to reflect the following items. You may omit explanations to the
journal entries and the box, which shows the effect on the balance sheet equation.

10. The building acquired on January 2, Year 2 (see transaction (1) in Problem 3.1 for
Self-Study), has a 20-year estimated life and zero salvage value. The equipment has
a seven-year estimated life and $5,000 salvage value. The firm uses the straight-line
depreciation method.

11. The firm recognizes insurance expense on the fire insurance policy obtained on Jan-
uary 2, Year 2 (see transaction (2) in Problem 3.1 for Self-Study).

12. After the firm takes a physical inventory at the end of the year, it finds the cost of
merchandise sold during Year 2 to be $180,000 (see transaction (3) in Problem 3.1
for Self-Study).

(continued )
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Financial Statement Preparation

13. The firm recognizes interest expense on the mortgage liability for Year 2 (see trans-
action (1) in Problem 3.1 for Self-Study).

14. Salaries earned by employees during the last three days of December total $800. The
firm will pay them on January 4, Year 3.

15. The firm recognizes interest revenue on the note receivable (see transaction (8) in
Problem 3.1 for Self-Study).

16. The firm makes an adjusting entry to record the proper amount of rent revenue for
Year 2 (see transaction (9) in Problem 3.1 for Self-Study).

17. The firm declares dividends of $25,000. It will pay the dividend on January 15, Year 3.

18. The income tax rate is 40% of net income before income taxes.

| :1:36]:{03 YN 3.3 FOR SELF-STUDY

Preparing adjusting entries. To achieve efficient recording of day-to-day cash receipts
and disbursements relating to operations, a firm may credit all cash receipts to revenue
accounts and debit all cash disbursements to expense accounts. The efficiency stems from
treating all receipts in the same way and all disbursements in the same way. The firm can
program its computer to automatically record operating cash receipts and disbursements
in this way. In the day-to-day recording of transactions, the computer program need
not be concerned with whether a specific cash transaction reflects settlement of a past
accrual, or a revenue or expense correctly assigned to the current period, or a prepayment
relating to a future period. At the end of the period, accountants analyze the existing
account balances and construct the adjusting entries required to correct them. This
process results in temporarily incorrect balances in some balance sheet and income
statement accounts during the accounting period.
Construct the adjusting entry required for each of the following scenarios.

a. On May 1, Year 2, a tenant paid $12,000 rent for the one-year period starting at that
time. The tenant debited the entire amount to Rent Expense and credited Cash. The
tenant made no adjusting entries for rent between May 1 and December 31. Con-
struct the adjusting entry to be made on December 31, Year 2, to recognize the proper
balances in the Prepaid Rent and Rent Expense accounts. What is the amount of
Rent Expense for Year 2?

b. The tenant’s books for December 31, Year 2, after adjusting entries, show a balance
in the Prepaid Rent account of $10,000. This amount represents rent for the period
January 1 through April 30, Year 3. On May 1, Year 3, the tenant paid $36,000 for
rent for the one-year period starting May 1, Year 3. The tenant debited this amount
to Rent Expense and credited Cash but made no adjusting entries for rent during
Year 3. Construct the adjusting entry required on December 31, Year 3. What is Rent
Expense for Year 3?

c¢. The tenant’s books for December 31, Year 3, after adjusting entries, show a balance in
the Prepaid Rent account of $20,000. This amount represents rent for the period Janu-
ary 1 through April 30, Year 4. On May 1, Year 4, the tenant paid $48,000 for rent for
the 12-month period starting May 1, Year 4. The tenant debited this amount to Rent
Expense and credited Cash but made no adjusting entries during Year 4. Construct the
adjusting entry required on December 31, Year 4. What is Rent Expense for Year 4?

FINANCIAL STATEMENT PREPARATION

PREPARATION OF THE INCOME STATEMENT

The revenue and expense accounts show the effects of income transactions during February and
adjusting entries at the end of February. We can use these amounts to prepare an income state-
ment for the month. Exhibit 3.3 shows Miller Corporation’s income statement for February.
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Miller Corporation
EXHIBIT 3.3 Income Statement
For the Month of February

SaAlES REVEMUE . . v ittt ittt ettt et e e e e e e e $ 50,000

Cost of Goods Sold . . . ..t (30,000)

Selling and Administrative EXpenses . . . ..ottt ittt e (15,717)

0perating INCoOmMe . .« o v vttt ettt e e e e e $ 4,283
% Interest EXPENSE. « o v ettt et (333)
g Income Before INCOME TaXeS. « v v v v v vt e et et e e e e e et e e ettt et ee e eeee e $ 3,950
% Income Tax EXPENSE . . .o v vttt e e 1,382)
L T $ 2,568
6

This income statement uses the convention that parentheses indicate numbers to be sub-
tracted. Numbers without parentheses are revenues, income subtotals, or net income.
Exhibit 3.3 shows a measure of income before financing charges (that is, interest expense)
and before taxes. This measure is called operating income in Exhibit 3.3; in Exhibit 3.1 Tooth-
paste uses the term operating profit. Operating income (or profit) is usually sales revenues less
expenses associated with core operations, where core refers to transactions that are central to a
firm’s business. Miller Corporation operates a retailing business model: it buys and resells mer-
chandise. Its operating income calculation includes the revenues associated with sales of mer-
chandise and the expenses associated with operating this business. These expenses include, for
example, the cost of merchandise sold and selling and administrative expenses. Neither U.S.
GAAP nor IFRS defines operating income and profit, although both subtotals often appear on
income statements. Managers can exercise judgment in deciding whether to report this number,
and, if reported, managers can use judgment in how to calculate it. In addition, IFRS requires
separate presentation of financing costs, as shown in Exhibit 1.6 for Thames. In particular,
Thames reports financial expenses of €91.6 million for Year 9.

CLOSING ENTRIES

The revenue and expense accounts have now served their purpose in accumulating the amounts
to be included as line items on the income statement. That is, each revenue account contains a
total of that revenue, and each expense account contains a total for that expense. Income state-
ment accounts are temporary accounts and, as such, will have beginning and ending balances
of zero. The next step is to transfer the amounts in the revenue and expense accounts to the
Retained Earnings account—that is, to close each revenue and expense account for the period.
The closing process involves reducing to zero the balance in each income statement account by:

1. Debiting the revenue accounts and crediting Retained Earnings for the amounts in the
revenue accounts.

2. Crediting the expense accounts and debiting Retained Earnings for the amounts in the
expense accounts.

Closing entries are shown in gold in Exhibit 3.2.

An income statement account with a debit balance requires a closing entry that credits
that account, because a credit closing entry will result in a zero ending balance in the account.
Miller’s Cost of Goods Sold account has a debit balance of $30,000. The closing entry for this

account is:
Retained Earmings . v v v ve ettt ittt e e e 30,000
Costof Goods Sold. . .. oo v v ettt e 30,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—30,000 IncSt — RE
+30,000 IncSt — RE

To close the Cost of Goods Sold account to Retained Earnings at the end of
February.
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An income statement account with a credit balance requires a closing entry that debits that
account, because a debit closing entry will result in a zero ending balance in the account. For
example, Miller’s Sales Revenue account has a credit balance of $50,000. The closing entry for
this account is:

Sales REVENMUES . . v vttt et et e e 50,000
Retained Earnings . . ..o i ittt e 50,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
-50,000 IncSt — RE
+50,000 IncSt — RE

To close the Sales Revenue account to Retained Earnings at the end of
February.

Exhibit 3.2 shows, in gold, the closing entry for the revenue and expense accounts; the entry
nets all of the income statement accounts in a single journal entry:

(13) SaleSReVeNUE . ..o vttt e e 50,000

Costof Goods Sold. . ... ..o 30,000
Selling and Administrative Expenses . . ......... ... .. .. ... 15,717
Interest EXpense . . ..o i it e 333
Income Tax EXpense. . . oo v ittt e e 1,382
Retained Earnings . ... v ittt 2,568

To close the income statement accounts to Retained Earnings at the end of

February.

The net effect of journal entry (13) changes the balance in the Retained Earnings account
to reflect the net income of the period. In the case of Miller Corporation, the net effect cred-
its Retained Earnings for February net income of $2,568 (as reported in the income statement
shown in Exhibit 3.3).

If you look at the journal entries for transactions (3)—(12) on pages 76 through 82, you will
see that any entry for a revenue or expense shows in the (Class.) box of the balance sheet equa-
tion the notation “NI — RE.” The designation indicates that, later, there will be a closing entry
that reclassifies the amount from an income statement account to the balance sheet account for
Retained Earnings.

PREPARATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET

After the closing process is completed, the accounts with nonzero balances are all balance sheet
accounts. We can use these accounts to prepare the balance sheet as at the end of the period.
Exhibit 3.4 presents the comparative balance sheets for Miller Corporation on January 31 and
February 28.

The balance in Retained Earnings has increased from zero at the end of January to $1,568
at the end of February. The change in Retained Earnings equals net income of $2,568 minus
dividends of $1,000. Retained Earnings will begin March with a balance of $1,568. Net income
less dividends (if any) for March will be added to $1,568 to yield the balance in Retained Earn-
ings at the end of March. The balance in the Retained Earnings account, like all other balance
sheet accounts, reflects the cumulative effect of transactions affecting that account.

PREPARATION OF A STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

The statement of cash flows describes the sources and uses of cash during a period and classi-
fies them into operating, investing, and financing activities. It provides a detailed explanation
for the change in the balance of the cash account during that period. For example, a statement
of cash flows for Miller Corporation explains why the cash balance decreased from $82,400 on
February 1 to $81,900 on February 28.% The first approach, called the direct method, involves

“Chapter 6 and Chapter 16 focus on the statement of cash flows and describe two approaches used to compute
cash flow from operations.
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Miller Corporation

EXHIBIT 3.4 Comparative Balance Sheets

February 28 January 31

ASSETS
Cash o et e e $ 81,900 $ 82,400
Accounts Receivable . ... ... e 12,000 —
Merchandise Inventory. . . ..o i i ettt e 10,000 15,000
Prepaid InSUrance . . . . oottt et e e 550 600
Prepaid Rent . . ... ..ottt e 11,000 12,000
Total Current ASSEtS. . v v v vttt $115,450 $110,000
BUildings. .« o vt vt $ 40,000 $ 40,000
Accumulated Depreciation .. ... ... . e (167) 0
Buildings, Net of Depreciation . ........... ... .iiuueinn... $ 39,833 $ 40,000
Total ASSELS « v v v v e e e e e $155,283 $150,000

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY

Accounts Payable . ... ... .. $ 5,000 $ —

Advances from CUStOMEr . . . v v it i it ittt et et e et e — 3,000

Accrued Interest Payable . . .. ... .. . L 333 —

Income Tax Payable. . . ... .. ... o 1,382 —

Total Current Liabilities . . . oo vt e it e e e $ 6,715 $ 3,000

Note Payable . . ... ...t e 40,000 40,000

Total Liabilities. . . oo v v it e $ 46,715 $ 43,000

T Common Stock . v vt $107,000 $107,000

E’ Retained Earmings. . . . oo i ittt e e e 1,568 —

é Total Shareholders” Equity. . . oo oo oo ittt $108,568 $107,000

% Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . ................... $155,283 $150,000
S

a relatively straightforward listing of the sources and uses of cash from operating activities, as
one would understand from identifying and understanding the transactions that affect the Cash
account. The second approach, called the indirect method, reconciles net income to cash flows
from operations by adjusting net income for noncash income statement components. Although
the indirect method dominates in practice, you would find it difficult to understand at this
point because we have not yet discussed the adjustments necessary to reconcile net income to
cash flow from operations.’

As noted previously, Miller’s cash balance declined by $500 during February. A simplified
statement of cash flows for February, shown in Exhibit 3.5, explains this change.

The rows reported in Exhibit 3.5 correspond to all transactions that generated cash and all
transactions that consumed cash during February. One way to identify these transactions is to
look at the T-account for the cash account (shown in Exhibit 3.2 and reproduced below):

Cash (A)
82,400
(5) 35,000 14,500  (4)
20,000  (6)
1,000  (7)
81,900

Recall from transaction (2) that the $50,000 in February sales revenues consists of $3,000
in the form of a cash advance received in January (so it is a cash inflow on the January state-
ment of cash flows) and $47,000 in the form of customers’ promise to pay in the future (so
this amount will be a cash inflow in the accounting period when the cash is collected). For the
latter, transaction (5) tells us that Miller collected $35,000 in cash from customers in February

SFor this reason, we illustrate the direct method in this chapter and defer the discussion of the indirect method
to Chapter 6.
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Miller Corporation
EXHIBIT 3.5 Statement of Cash Flows—Direct Method
For the Month of February

Sources of Cash

Cash Received from CUSEOMErS. . . o o vttt e ettt $ 35,000
Uses of Cash

Cash Paid for Selling and Administrative Items. . . ... . .. ... i (14,500)

Cash Paid to SUPPLIErS . . . . ettt e (20,000)
% Dividends Paid . . . . v v e e e e e 1,000)
i @2 i @@8o o c o ccooos00000000005000500050000000000500050005000000 $  (500)
§ Cash, Beginning of Month . . ... ... i e e et 82,400
€  Cash, Endof Month. .. ... i $ 81,900
6

for goods that customers purchased on credit in February. Therefore, Miller has a $35,000
cash inflow for February associated with collections of cash from customers on sales made in
February.

Cash outflows in February consist of $14,500 for selling, general, and administrative
expenses and $20,000 for items purchased on account in February; Miller also paid a cash
dividend of $1,000. Total cash outflows ($35,500) exceed cash inflows ($35,000), meaning that
Miller used some cash on hand to cover the shortfall of $500. As shown in Exhibit 3.5, the
shortfall explains the decrease in the cash balance from $82,400 at the beginning of February to
$81,900 at the end of February.

The statement of cash flows in Exhibit 3.5 is a simplified presentation based on a statement
of cash flows prepared using the direct method. Under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, the state-
ment of cash flows displays sources and uses of cash by activity. That is, the statement contains
separate sections for operating cash flows, investing cash flows, and financing cash flows.®

SUMMARY

The income statement reports the results of operating activities. The process of recording oper-
ating activities involves recording

B Transaction entries, but not all operating activities involve transactions during the cur-
rent period, so to record the effects of events that occur without transactions, the
company records

B Adjusting entries and, after the company has prepared the income statement, it makes
B Closing entries, to transfer revenue and expense amounts to Retained Earnings.

All income statement accounts are temporary: they begin and end with zero balances. The
closing process ensures that the ending balance in an income statement account is zero, by deb-
iting or crediting each account with exactly the amount necessary to ensure that debits equal
credits, so that the ending account balance is zero. The offsetting credit or debit to each of
these closing transactions is Retained Earnings. Thus, the closing process reflects the articula-
tion between the income statement and the balance sheet, as expressed in the retained earnings
relation:

Retained Earnings (beginning) + Net Income — Dividends = Retained Earnings (ending)

In this equation, net income is a summary measure of the individual revenue and expense
amounts.

The dual nature of transactions and the reporting consequences of that dual nature extend
to items for which no event triggers a journal entry. Some items give rise to a journal entry and

®We leave the discussion of these three sections, as well as more complex issues relating to this statement, to
Chapter 6 and Chapter 16.
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recognition in the financial statements because of the passage of time, such as wages earned
but not yet paid to employees, consumption of a portion of a prepaid asset (for example, pre-
paid rent and prepaid insurance), and interest accrued on loans but not yet paid. The com-
pany records these and similar items using adjusting entries at the end of the reporting period.
Adjusting entries may increase or decrease balances in balance sheet accounts and income
statement accounts.

OVERVIEW OF THE ACCOUNTING PROCESS
The record-keeping process generally involves the following steps:

1. Recording each transaction in the form of a journal entry.

2. Posting the amounts from the journal entries to individual balance sheet and income state-
ment accounts in a general ledger. T-accounts are useful devices for accumulating the
effects of transactions on balance sheet and income statement accounts.

These first two steps occur daily (and perhaps many times during a day). The remaining steps
typically occur at the end of the accounting period:

3. Making adjusting journal entries to the accounts to correct errors and to reflect the finan-
cial statement impacts of items that occur because of usage or the passage of time.

4. Preparing the income statement for the period from amounts in the income statement
accounts.

5. Closing the temporary income statement accounts to retained earnings.

6. Preparing the balance sheet from amounts in the balance sheet accounts.

7. Preparing the statement of cash flows from balance sheet amounts and from details of
transactions affecting the cash account.

Figure 3.1 shows these operations, which the previous sections illustrated using the transac-
tions of Miller Corporation during February.

SOLUTIONS TO SELF-STUDY PROBLEMS

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 3.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Harris Equipment Corporation; journalizing transactions during a period.)

(1) Jan. 2, Year2
BUIlding . o oot e e 80,000
Equipment ... ... . 40,000
Cash vt e e 60,000
Mortgage Payable. . . .. ... L 60,000
(2) Jan. 2, Year2
Prepaid INSUranCe . ..ottt i e e e e e 1,200
Cash vt e e 1,200
(continued)

m Record-Keeping Cycle

Making Preparing Preparing
Results of Journalizing Posting to Gy the Mak1-ng the Ay
L - . — and — Closing == Statement of

Transactions Transactions Accounts . Income . Balance

Correcting Entries Cash Flows
: Statement Sheet
Entries
Occur Continually During the Period Occur at the End of the Period
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(3) During Year 2

Merchandise Inventory . . . ... oottt e 320,000
Accounts Payable . ....... ... .. . 320,000
During Year 2
Accounts Payable. . ... oot e 270,000
Cash .o e 270,000
(4) During Year 2
Cash .« ot e 80,000
Accounts Receivable. . . . ... o i 430,000
Sales ReVENUE . ...ttt e 510,000

Note: Harris Equipment Corporation recognizes all cost of goods sold at the
end of the period; see next problem for self-study.

During Year 2
Cash ot e 360,000
Accounts Receivable. . . ... ... o 360,000
(5) During Year 2
Salaries EXPeNSe . . v vttt e e 80,000
Cash .o e 80,000
(6) During Year 2
Utilities EXPENSE « v v vttt e e e e e 1,300
Cash .o e 1,300
(7) Now. 1, Year 2
Cash o e 600
Advances from Customers . .......... i 600
(8) Nowv. 1, Year 2
Notes Receivable . . . . ..o o 1,000
Accounts Receivable. . . .. ... i 1,000
(9) Dec. 1, Year 2
Cash oo e 900
Advances from Tenants . . ... ..o 900

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 3.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Harris Equipment Corporation; journalizing adjusting entries at the end of the period.)

(10) Depreciation EXpense . ...t vv it e 9,000
Accumulated Depreciation. . ...... ... ... i i 9,000
($80,000 — $0)/20 = $4,000;
($40,000 —$5,000)/7 = $5,000.

(11) Insurance EXpense ... ... ....uiniiininnnn .. 600
Prepaid Insurance . . ..... ..ottt 600
(12) Costof GoodsSold. . ......covviinuiiiii i, 180,000
Merchandise Inventory . . . oo v i i et 180,000
(13) INtereSt EXPENSE . . vv v vt ettt ettt e e e e 6,000
Interest Payable ... ..o it 6,000
$60,000 X 0.10 = $6,000
(14) Salaries EXPENSe . .. .v ettt e 800
Salaries Payable. . . ... .. i 800
(15) InterestReceivable ........ ... .. 15
InterestRevenue ... ... ... .. . il 15
$1,000 X 0.09 X 60/360
(16) AdvancesfromTenants ... ........c.ouiuiiuinin .. 300
RentRevenue ...... ... . i 300
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(17) Retained Earnings ... .....ovuintiiii it 25,000

Dividends Payable . .........c..uii i 25,000
(18) Income Tax EXpense ... ....cvuvnuitin i, 93,046

Income Tax Payable . ... ...t i 93,046

0.40($510,000 + $900 — $600 + $15 — $80,000 — $1,300 -
$9,000 — $600 — $180,000 — $6,000 — $800) = $93,046.

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 3.3 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Preparing adjusting entries.)

a. The Prepaid Rent account on the year-end balance sheet should represent four months of
prepayments. The rent per month is $1,000 (= $12,000/12), so the balance required in the
Prepaid Rent account is $4,000 (= 4 X $1,000). Rent Expense for Year 2 is $8,000 (= 8 X
$1,000 = $12,000 — $4,000).

Prepaid Rent . . . oottt e e 4,000
Rent EXpense . . ..ottt it e e e 4,000

To increase the balance in the Prepaid Rent account, reducing the amount in
the Rent Expense account.

b. The Prepaid Rent account on the balance sheet for the end of Year 3 should represent four
months of prepayments. The rent per month is $3,000 (= $36,000/12), so the required bal-
ance in the Prepaid Rent account is $12,000 (= 4 X $3,000). The balance in that account
is already $10,000, so the adjusting entry must increase it by $2,000 (= $12,000 — $10,000).

Prepaid Rent . . . ..ot 2,000
Rent EXpense . ... .. it e 2,000

To increase the balance in the Prepaid Rent account, reducing the amount in
the Rent Expense account.

The Rent Expense account will have a balance at the end of Year 3 before closing entries
of $34,000 (= $36,000 — $2,000). This amount comprises $10,000 for rent from January
through April and $24,000 (= $3,000 X 8) for rent from May through December.

c. The Prepaid Rent account on the balance sheet at the end of Year 4 should represent four
months of prepayments. The rent per month is $4,000 (= $48,000/12), so the required bal-
ance in the Prepaid Rent account is $16,000 (= 4 X $4,000). The balance in that account
is $20,000, so the adjusting entry must reduce it by $4,000 (= $20,000 — $16,000).

Rent EXPeNse. . v v vttt e e e e 4,000
Prepaid Rent. . v v i et i e e 4,000

To reduce the balance in the Prepaid Rent account, increasing the amount in
the Rent Expense account.

The Rent Expense account will have a balance at the end of Year 4 before closing entries
of $52,000 (= $48,000 + $4,000). This amount comprises $20,000 for rent from January
through April and $32,000 (= $4,000 X 8) for rent from May through December.

KEY TERMS AND CONCEPTS

Account Adjusting entries
Permanent accounts Contra accounts
Temporary accounts Closing process

Posting process
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QUESTIONS, EXERCISES, AND PROBLEMS

QUESTIONS

1. Review the meaning of the terms and concepts listed above in Key Terms and Concepts.
. What is the purpose of temporary accounts?

. What does “articulation of the balance sheet with the income statement” refer to?

. What is the purpose of the income statement?

N A W N

. What is the key difference between an adjusting entry and a correcting entry?

EXERCISES

6. Analyzing changes in accounts receivable. BrasPetro S.A., a large Brazilian petrochemical
company, reported a balance of R$1,594.9 million in Accounts Receivable at the begin-
ning of Year 7 and R$1,497.0 million at the end of Year 7. Its income statement reported
total Sales Revenue of R$12,134.5 million for Year 7. Assuming that BrasPetro makes all
sales on account, compute the amount of cash collected from customers during Year 7.
BrasPetro applies Brazilian accounting standards, and reports its results in millions of reals
(RS), the Brazilian currency. In answering this question, assume that BrasPetro uses either
U.S. GAAP or IFRS; for purposes of this problem, this choice will not matter.

7. Analyzing changes in inventory. BigWing Company, a U.S. airplane manufacturer, reported
a balance of $8,105 million in Inventory at the beginning of Year 7 and $9,563 million at
the end of Year 7. Its income statement reported Cost of Products Sold of $45,375 million
for Year 7. Compute the cost of inventory either purchased or manufactured during Year
7. BigWing Company applies U.S. GAAP, and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.

8. Analyzing changes in inventory and accounts payable. EkaPhone, a Swedish firm special-
izing in communication networks, reported a balance in Inventories of SEK21,470 million
at the beginning of Year 7 and SEK22.,475 million at the end of Year 7. It also reported a
balance in Trade (Accounts) Payable of SEK 18,183 million at the beginning of Year 7 and
SEK 17,427 million at the end of Year 7. During Year 7, EkaPhone reported SEK 114,059
million in Cost of Sales. Compute the amount of cash paid to suppliers of inventory dur-
ing Year 7 for purchases made on account. Assume that all of EkaPhone’s inventory pur-
chases are made on account. EkaPhone applies IFRS, and reports its results in millions of
Swedish kronor (SEK).

9. Analyzing changes in income taxes payable. Conima Corporation, a Japanese construction
firm, reported a balance in Income Taxes Payable of ¥3,736 million at the beginning of
Year 7 and ¥14,310 million at the end of Year 7. Net income before income taxes for Year
7 totaled ¥73,051 million. Assume that the firm is subject to an income tax rate of 43%.
Compute the amount of cash payments made for income taxes during Year 7. Conima
Corporation applies Japanese accounting standards and reports its results in millions of
yen (¥). In answering this question, assume that Conima Corporation uses either U.S.
GAAP or IFRS; for purposes of this problem, this choice will not matter.

10. Analyzing changes in retained earnings. Ealing Corporation, a U.S. diversified power man-
agement company, reported a balance in Retained Earnings of $2,796 million at the begin-
ning of Year 7 and $3,257 million at the end of Year 7. Based on Ealing Corporation’s
financial reports for fiscal Year 7, it reported dividends declared and paid of $251 million
for Year 7. Compute the amount of net income for Year 7. Ealing Corporation applies U.S.
GAAP and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.

11. Relations between financial statements. The following selected information is based on the
Year 7 financial statements of the German healthcare firm, adopted from the financial
statements Bayer Group. Bayer Group applies IFRS, and reports its results in millions of
euros. Compute the missing information in each of the following four independent cases.
The letters in parentheses refer to the following:

BS—Balance sheet
IS—Income statement
SCF—Statement of cash flows
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a. Accounts Receivable, January 1, Year 7 (BS) . .. oo oo € 5,868
Sales on Account for Year 7 (IS) . o o oo oo 32,385
Collections from Customers on Account during Year 7 (SCF) . . ... ..... ... ... .. ?
Accounts Receivable, December 31, Year 7 (BS) . . . .o oo oo 5,830

b. Income Taxes Payable, January 1, Year 7 (BS) . ... ..o € 109
Income Tax Expense for Year 7 (IS) . . .ot v i i it ?
Payments to Governments during Year 7 (SCF) . . . . ... ..o i 763
Income Taxes Payable, December 31, Year 7 (BS) . . . ..o oot 56

c.  Noncurrent financial liabilities, January 1, Year 7 (BS) ... ......... . ... €14,723
Issuance of new debt during Year 7 (SCF) . . . .. ..o 2,155
Principal payments of debt during Year 7 (SCF) ... ... ... it ?
Noncurrent financial liabilities, December 31, Year 7 (BS) . . . ... ... oo vit 12,911

d. Retained Earnings, January 1, Year 7 (BS). . . . . ..o oo € 6,782
Net Income for Year 7 (IS) . . . vt v i et e 4,711
Dividends Declared and Paid during Year 7 (SCF) .. ... ... .ottt ?
Retained Earnings, December 31, Year 7 (BS) ... ... oot 10,749

12. Relations between financial statements. The following selected information is based on the
Year 7 financial statements adapted from those of Beyond Petroleum (BP). BP applies
IFRS and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars. Compute the missing information
in each of the following four independent cases. The letters in parentheses refer to the
following:

BS—Balance sheet
IS—Income statement
SCF—Statement of cash flows

a. Accounts Receivable, January 1, Year 7 (BS) . .o oo oot $ ?
Sales on Account for Year 7 (IS) . o oo oot e 288,951
Collections from Customers on Account during Year 7 (SCF) . . . ... ... ..ot .. 289,623
Accounts Receivable, December 31, Year 7 (BS) . . . o oo oot 38,020

b. Income Taxes Payable, January 1, Year 7 (BS) . ... ..., $ 2,635
Income Tax Expense for Year 7 (IS) . .« vt i it i e 10,442
Payments to Governments during Year 7 (SCF) . . . ... oo oo il ?
Income Taxes Payable, December 31, Year 7 (BS) . . . .« oo oo i it 3,282

c. Trade Payables, January 1, Year 7 (BS) . . . . o oot $ 42,236
Purchases of Supplies during Year 7 (SCF) . . .« oo v i i it 15,162
Payments to Suppliers during Year 7 (SCF). . . . oo vt i it i ?
Trade Payables, December 31, Year 7 (BS). . .« oo it it 43,152

d. Retained Earnings, January 1, Year 7 (BS). . . . o o oo oot § 88,453
Net Income for Year 7 (IS) . . . ettt et e e 21,169
Dividends Declared and Paid during Year 7 (SCF) .. ... ... oot 8,106
Retained Earnings, December 31, Year 7 (BS) .. ... ... ?

13. Journal entries for inventories and accounts payable. On December 31, Year 6, the Merchan-
dise Inventories account of a Japanese electronics firm had a balance of ¥408,710 million,
based on the firm’s financial reports for fiscal Year 7. Assume that during Year 7, the firm
purchased merchandise inventories on account for ¥1,456,412 million. On December 31,
Year 7, it finds that merchandise inventory on hand is ¥412,387 million. The Accounts
Payable account had a balance of ¥757,006 million on December 31, Year 6, and ¥824,825
million on December 31, Year 7. Present journal entries to account for all changes in the
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Inventories and Accounts Payable accounts during Year 7. The firm reports its results in
millions of yen (¥). In answering this question, assume that the firm uses either U.S. GAAP
or IFRS; for purposes of this problem, this choice will not matter.

14. Journal entries for insurance. Bonana Company, a U.S. clothing designer, manufacturer,
and retailer, reported a balance in prepaid insurance of $24.0 million, based on its financial
reports dated March 31, Year 8, the end of its fiscal year. Assume that all of this balance
relates to an insurance policy with two remaining months of coverage. Assume also that
on June 1, Year 8, the firm paid $156 million for a one-year renewal of this policy. Give
the journal entries that Bonana would make on April 30, Year 8; May 31, Year 8; June 30,
Year 8; July 31, Year 8; and June 1, Year 8, assuming that the firm closes its books monthly.
Bonana applies U.S. GAAP, and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.

15. Journal entries for prepaid rent. EBB Group (EBB), headquartered in Switzerland, is one of
the world’s largest engineering companies. EBB applies U.S. GAAP, and reports its results in
millions of U.S. dollars. Based on EBB’s financial reports for Year 7, at January 1, Year 7,
EBB reported a balance in its Prepaid Rent account of $247 million; assume that this amount
reflects its prepayments of rent on factory and office space for the next month. Assume also
that on January 31, Year 7, EBB paid $3,200 million as the annual rent for the period from
February 1, Year 7, to January 31, Year 8. EBB has a calendar year reporting period.

a. Provide the journal entries that EBB Group would make during January Year 7 that
affect the Prepaid Rent account.

b. Provide the journal entry that EBB Group would make at the end of Year 7 that affects
the Prepaid Rent account.

16. Journal entries for borrowing. A South African paper company, SAPC Limited (SAPC),
reports noncurrent Interest-Bearing Borrowings of $1,634 million at September 30, Year
6. SAPC applies IFRS and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars. At September 30,
Year 7, this balance had increased to $1,828 million. Assume that on March 30, Year 7,
SAPC borrowed $1,200 million from a local bank. The loan bears interest at an annual
rate of 7.5% and is due on March 31, Year 9. Assume also that SAPC makes its interest
payments once per year on the last day of March. SAPC’s fiscal year begins October 1 and
ends on September 30. The firm closes its books on September 30 of each year.

a. What journal entry did SAPC record for the repayment of debt during the fiscal year
ending September 30, Year 7?

b. Present the journal entries that SAPC Limited made in fiscal years ending September
30, Year 7, Year 8, and Year 9, related to the bank loan obtained on March 30, Year 7.

17. Journal entries related to the income statement. A Japanese car manufacturer (JCM)
reported Sales of Products of ¥22,670 billion for the year ended March 31, Year 7. The
Cost of Products Sold was ¥18,356 billion. Assume that JCM made all sales on credit. By
March 31, Year 7, JCM had collected cash for all the sales made on account during the
fiscal year ended March 31, Year 7. Provide the journal entries that JCM made during the
fiscal year ended March 31, Year 7, related to these transactions. JCM applies U.S. GAAP,
and reports its results in billions of yen (¥).

18. Journal entries related to the income statement. An Israeli drug company (IDC) reported
Net Sales of $9,408 million for the year ended December 31, Year 7. Based on IDC’s finan-
cial reports for fiscal Year 7, the cost of these sales was $6,531 million. Assume that IDC
made all sales on credit, and that it collected $2,659 million cash during Year 7. Provide
the journal entries that IDC made in Year 7 related to these transactions. IDC applies U.S.
GAAP, and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.

19. Journal entries to correct recording error. In the fiscal year ended December 31, Year 14,
Bostick Enterprises paid $120,000 for equipment that it had purchased on January 1, Year
14. The equipment has an expected useful life of 10 years and zero salvage value. The firm
recorded the acquisition by debiting Equipment Expense and crediting Cash for $120,000.
Give the journal entries that Bostick Enterprises would make to correct its initial recording
error and any related effects (ignore income tax effects). Bostick Enterprises applies U.S.
GAAP, and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.
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PROBLEMS

20. Preparing a balance sheet and an income statement. The accounting records of Callen
Incorporated reveal the following for Year 7 and Year 8. Callen applies U.S. GAAP, and
reports its results in thousands of euros.

December 31

Balance Sheet Items Year 8 Year 7

Accounts Payable . . . ... o e € 16,402 € 14,063
CaSh e e e e 30,536 2,559
Property, Plant, and Equipment (net)........ ... .. .. i 98,130 149,990
Common SEOCK « « o v vt 72,325 72,325
Merchandise INVeNtOry. . v v vttt i et e e et 114,249 151,894
Notes Payable to Banks (due withinoneyear)............. ... ... ... 15,241 43,598
Long-Term Debt . . .. ..ot e 31,566 38,315
Other CUMent ASSEtS & v v v vt ettt et et et et e et et e e e 109,992 134,916
Other Current Liabilities. . . . o oo v it e e e e e 84,334 109,335
Other Noncurrent Assets. . . ... v ittt e e e e 56,459 88,955
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . .. ... .o 19,859 27,947
Retained Earmings. . v v v vttt e e e 169,639 222,731

For the Year Ended
December 31,

Income Statement Items Year 8

Administrative Expenses. . . . ... e €141,183
Cost of Goods Sold . ..o vttt e 382,349
Income Tax EXpense . . ..o ittt e 24,324
Interest EXPeNse. . o vttt e e e e 2,744
Sales RevenUE . . ..ottt e 695,623
Selling EXPeNnses . . v v v vttt e 72,453

a. Prepare a comparative balance sheet for Callen Incorporated as of December 31, Year
7, and December 31, Year 8. Classify each balance sheet item into one of the following
categories: current assets, noncurrent assets, current liabilities, noncurrent liabilities, and
shareholders’ equity.

b. Prepare an income statement for Callen Incorporated for the year ended December 31,
Year 8. Separate income items into revenues and expenses.

c. Prepare a schedule explaining the change in Retained Earnings between December 31,
Year 7, and December 31, Year §. Callen declared dividends during Year 8. You will
need to derive the amount in working this part of the problem.

21. Preparing a balance sheet and an income statement. The following information is based
on accounting data for Year 7 and Year 8 for China Oil Company (COC), a large petro-
chemicals company in China. COC applies IFRS, and reports its results in millions of U.S.

dollars.
December 31

Balance Sheet Items Year 8 Year 7
CaSh . ot e e e $ 88,589 $ 54,070
Accounts Receivable . . ... .. e 18,419 8,488
Advances 10 SUPPLIETS . . v v vttt e e 20,386 12,664
TNV ENEOTIES « v vttt e et e e e 88,467 76,038
Other Current Assets . . .o v it e e e e 20,367 13,457
Property, Plant, and Equipment (net). ....... ... .. 247,803 231,590

(continued)
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Oil and Gas Properties . . . oottt e e e 326,328 270,496
Intangible Assets . . ..o oottt e 20,022 16,127
Other NonCUImeNt ASSetS. & v v v vttt e e e e et e e et ettt e et e ee 163,711 132,214
Accounts Payable to Suppliers. .. ... .. 104,460 77,936
Advances from CUStOmers. . . ...ttt e 12,433 11,590
Other Current Liabilities. . . ... oot 84,761 90,939
Long-Term Debt . . ..ottt e e 35,305 30,401
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . . .. .o oottt i e e e 42,062 36,683
Common SEOCK . . vt i e e e e e 444,527 354,340
Retained Earnings. . . . .ottt e 270,544 213,255
Income Statement Items Year 8

Net Operating ReVENUES . . . o v ittt ettt et et e e ettt it e $835,037
Interest and Other Revenues. . . . ..ottt e 3,098
Cost Of Sales . . oottt e 487,112
Selling EXPONSES . o v v et e e 41,345
General and Administrative EXPENSes . . . . vttt e 49,324
Other Operating EXpenses. . . . oo vttt e e et e e 64,600
Interest EXPenSe. . . vttt e e 2,869
TNCOME TaXES « o v v ettt et e 49,331

a. Prepare an income statement for COC for the year ending December 31, Year 8.

b. Prepare a comparative balance sheet for COC on December 31, Year 7, and Decem-
ber 31, Year 8. Show noncurrent assets before current assets and noncurrent liabilities
before current liabilities, as is the customary presentation for IFRS, which COC uses.

c. Prepare an analysis of the change in Retained Earnings during the year ending Decem-
ber 31, Year 8.

22. Analysis of transactions and preparation of income statement and balance sheet. Refer
to the information for Moulton Corporation as of December 31, Year 12, in Chapter 2,
Problem 2.13, Moulton Corporation opened for business on January 1, Year 13. It uses the
accrual basis of accounting. Transactions and events during Year 13 were as follows:

(1) During Year 13: Purchased inventory on account costing $1,100,000 from various
suppliers.

(2) During Year 13: Sold merchandise to customers for $2,000,000 on account.
(3) During Year 13: The cost of merchandise sold to customers totaled $1,200,000.

(4) During Year 13: Collected $1,400,000 from customers for sales made previously on
account.

(5) During Year 13: Paid merchandise suppliers $950,000 for purchases made previously
on account.

(6) During Year 13: Paid various suppliers of selling and administrative services $625,000.
The firm consumed all of the benefits of these services during Year 13.

(7) June 30,Year 13: Repaid the note payable to a supplier with interest (see transaction
(7) in Chapter 2, Problem 2.13).

(8) December 31, Year 13: Recognized interest on the long-term bank loan (see transac-
tion (6) in Chapter 2, Problem 2.13).

(9) December 31,Year 13: Recognized insurance expense for Year 13 (see transaction (5)
in Chapter 2, Problem 2.13).

(10) December 31, Year 13: Recognized depreciation expense for Year 13 (see transactions

(2) and (7) of Chapter 2, Problem 2.13).

(11) December 31, Year 13: Recognize income tax expense and income tax payable for
Year 13. The income tax rate is 40%. Assume that income taxes for Year 13 are pay-
able by March 15, Year 14.
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a. Using T-accounts, enter the balances in balance sheet accounts on January 1, Year 13
(see Chapter 2, Problem 2.13 and the effects of the 11 transactions above).

b. Prepare an income statement for Year 13.

c. Prepare a comparative balance sheet as of December 31, Year 12, and December 31,
Year 13.

23. Analysis of transactions and preparation of income statement and balance sheet. Refer
to the information for Patterson Corporation for January, Year 13, in Chapter 2, Problem
2.14, above. The following transactions occur during February.

(1) February 1: The firm pays the two-year insurance premium of $2,400 for fire and
liability coverage beginning February 1.

(2) February 5: Acquires merchandise costing $1,050,000. Of this amount, $1,455 is from
suppliers to whom Patterson returned defective merchandise during January but for
which the firm had not yet received a refund for amounts paid. Patterson Corpora-
tion acquired the remaining purchases on account.

(3) During February: Sells merchandise to customers totaling $1,500,000. Of this amount,
$4,500 was to customers who had advanced Patterson Corporation cash during Janu-
ary. Patterson Corporation makes the remaining sales on account.

(4) During February: The cost of the goods sold in transaction (3) was $950,000.

(5) During February: Pays in cash selling and administrative expenses of $235,000.

(6) During February: Collects $1,206,000 from customer for sales previously made on
account.

(7) During February: Pays $710,000 to suppliers of merchandise for purchases previously
made on account.

(8) February 28: Recognizes rent expense for February.

(9) February 28: Recognizes depreciation expense of $2,500 for February. Patterson Cor-
poration uses an Accumulated Depreciation account.

(10) February 28: Recognizes amortization expense of $450 on the patent. Patterson Cor-
poration does not use an Accumulated Amortization account for patents; instead, it
records the amortized amounts directly to the patent account.

(11) February 28: Recognizes an appropriate amount of insurance expense for February.

(12) February 28: Recognizes interest expense on the mortgage payable (see transaction
(12) in Chapter 2, Problem 2.14).

(13) February 28: Recognizes income tax expense for February. The income tax rate is
40%. Income taxes for February are payable by April 15.

a. Using T-accounts, enter the balances in balance sheet accounts on February 1, Year 13
(see Chapter 2, Problem 2.14), and the effects of the 13 transactions above.

b. Prepare an income statement for the month of February, Year 13.
c. Prepare a comparative balance sheet as January 31 and February 28, Year 13.

24. Miscellaneous transactions and adjusting entries. Assume that LBJ Group (LBJ), a Euro-
pean engineering firm, engaged in the following six transactions during the year ended
December 31, Year 3. LBJ applies U.S. GAAP and reports its results in millions of U.S.
dollars. Give the journal entries to record (1) each of the six transactions, and (2) any
necessary adjusting entries on December 31, Year 3. You may omit explanations for the
journal entries. Assume the six transactions are independent of each other.

a. On November 1, Year 3, LBJ gives a 90-day note to a supplier in exchange for inventory
purchased costing $180,000. The note bears interest at 8% per year and is due on Janu-
ary 31, Year 4.

b. On December 5, Year 3, LBJ receives $842,000 in cash from a customer for products
and services that LBJ will deliver in January Year 4.

c¢. LBJ acquires a machine on October 1, Year 3, for $1,400,000 cash. It expects the
machine to have a $160,000 salvage value and a 10-year life.

d. On September 30, Year 3, LBJ sells merchandise to a customer, on credit, for $565,000.
The merchandise has a cost to LBJ of $422,000.

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Questions, Exercises, and Problems 97

e. LBJ purchases insurance on its headquarters building on September 1, Year 3, for the
next 12 months beginning on that date. It pays the $360,000 insurance premium in cash.

f. On November 16, Year 3, LBJ issues 40,000 shares of common stock with a par value
of $1 for $26 per share. LBJ uses the cash proceeds to repay accounts payable.

25. Journal entries, adjusting entries, income statement and balance sheet preparation. The bal-
ance sheet of Rybowiak’s Building Supplies on June 30, Year 12, appears nearby.

RYBOWIAK’'S BUILDING SUPPLIES
Balance Sheet
June 30, Year 12

Assets
AN . e e e e e $ 44,200
Accounts Receivable . ..o v ot e e 27,250
Merchandise INVENLOTY. . . ..ttt e 68,150
Prepaid INSUIANCe . .« v v vttt et et e e e 400
TOtal CUMTENt ASSEES « . . v v vt e e e et e e e et e $140,000
EQUIPMENt—AL COSt .« .\ttt ettt e $210,000
Less Accumulated Depreciation . . . ... .ottt e (84,000)
Equipment—Net . . .. e $126,000
Total ASSEES .« v vttt e e e e e e $266,000
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity -
Accounts Payable . . ..ot e $ 33,100
Note Payable . . ..o vt e e 5,000
Salaries Payable . ..ot e e e 1,250
Total Current Liabilities. . o v v v et e e e $ 39,350
COMMON SEOCK & v v vt et et e e e e e e e e e e e $150,000
Retained Earmings. . . .o oottt e 76,650
Total Shareholders” EQUItY . . . o v v vttt e e $226,650
Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity. . .. .o oo v e i et e $266,000

The following transactions occurred during the month of July.
(1) Sold merchandise on account for a total selling price of $85,000.
(2) Purchased merchandise inventory on account from various suppliers for $46,300.
(3) Paid rent for the month of July of $11,750.
(4) Paid salaries to employees during July of $20,600.
(5) Collected accounts receivable of $34,150.
(6) Paid accounts payable of $38,950.
Information affecting adjusting entries at the end of July is as follows:

(7) The firm paid the premium on a one-year insurance policy on March 1, Year 12, with
coverage beginning on that date. This is the only insurance policy in force on June 30,
Year 12.

(8) The firm depreciates its equipment over a 10-year life. Estimated salvage value of the
equipment is negligible.
(9) Employees earned salaries of $1,600 during the last two days of July but were not
paid. These are the only unpaid salaries at the end of July.
(10) The note payable is a 90-day, 6% note issued on June 30, Year 12.

(11) Merchandise inventory on hand on July 31, Year 12, totals $77,950. The cost of
goods sold for July equals merchandise inventory on June 30, Year 12, plus purchases
of merchandise during July minus merchandise inventory on July 31, Year 12.

a. Prepare journal entries to reflect the transactions and other events during July. The
firm classifies expenses by their nature (that is, insurance, depreciation). Revenues and
expenses should appear in the Retained Earnings account but with an indication of the
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specific revenue or expense account debited or credited. Be sure to indicate whether each
entry increases or decreases assets, liabilities, or shareholders’ equity.

b. Enter the amounts from the June 30, Year 12, balance sheet and the effects of the 11
items above in T-accounts.

¢. Prepare an income statement for the month of July. Ignore income taxes.
d. Enter closing entries in the T-accounts from part b.
e. Prepare a comparative balance sheet as of June 30, and July 31, Year 12.

26. Preparing the income statement and balance sheet using the accrual basis. Bob Hansen
opens a retail store on January 1, 2013. Hansen invests $50,000 for all of the common
stock of the firm. The store borrows $40,000 from a local bank. The store must repay the
loan with interest for both 2013 and 2014 on December 31, 2014. The interest rate is 10%
per year. The store purchases a building for $60,000 cash. The building has a 30-year life,
zero estimated salvage value, and is to be depreciated using the straight-line method. The
store purchases $125,000 of merchandise on account during 2013 and pays $97,400 of the
amount by the end of 2013. A physical inventory taken on December 31, 2013, indicates
$15,400 of merchandise is still on hand.

During 2013, the store makes cash sales to customers totaling $52,900 and sales on
account totaling $116,100. Of the sales on account, the store collects $54,800 by Decem-
ber 31, 2013. The store incurs and pays other costs as follows: salaries, $34,200; utilities,
$2,600. It has unpaid bills at the end of 2013 as follows: salaries, $2,400; utilities, $180. The
firm is subject to an income tax rate of 40%. Income taxes for 2013 are payable on March
15, 2014. Assume that Hansen applies U.S. GAAP, and reports in U.S. dollars.

a. Prepare an income statement for Hansen Retail Store for 2013, assuming the accrual
basis of accounting and revenue recognition at the time of sale. Show supporting com-
putations for each revenue and expense.

b. Prepare a balance sheet for Hansen Retail Store as of December 31, 2013. Show sup-
porting computations for each balance sheet item.

27. Analysis of transactions and preparation of the income statement and balance sheet. Refer
to the information for Regaldo Department Stores as of January 31, Year 8, in Chapter
2, Problem 2.15. Regaldo Department Stores opened for business on February 1, Year 8.
Transactions and events during February Year 8 were as follows.

(1) February 1: Purchased display counters and computer equipment for $90,000. The
firm borrowed $90,000 from a local bank to finance the purchases. The bank loan
bears interest at a rate of 12% each year and is repayable with interest on February 1,
Year 9.

(2) During February: Purchased merchandise on account totaling $217,900.

(3) During February: Sold merchandise costing $162,400 to various customers for
$62.,900 cash and $194,600 on account.

(4) During February: Paid to employees compensation totaling $32,400 for services ren-
dered during the month.

(5) During February: Paid utility (electric, water, gas) bills totaling $2,700 for services
received during February Year 8.

(6) During February: Collected $84,600 from customers for sales on account (see transac-
tion (3) above).

(7) During February: Paid invoices from suppliers of merchandise (see transaction (2)
above) with an original purchase price of $210,000 in time to receive a 2% discount
for prompt payment and $29,000 to other suppliers after the discount period had
elapsed. The firm treats discounts taken as a reduction in the acquisition cost of
merchandise.

(8) February 28: Compensation that employees earned during the last several days in
February and that the firm will pay early in March Year 8 totaled $6,700.

(9) February 28: Utility services that the firm used during February and that the firm will
not pay until March Year 8 totaled $800.
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(10) February 28: The display counters and computer equipment purchased in transac-
tion (1) have an expected useful life of five years and zero salvage value at the end of
the five years. The firm depreciates such equipment on a straight-line basis over the
expected life and uses an Accumulated Depreciation account.

(11) February 28: The firm recognizes an appropriate portion of the prepaid rent as of
January 31, Year 8.

(12) February 28: The firm recognizes an appropriate portion of the prepaid insurance as
of January 31, Year 8.

(13) February 28: The firm amortizes (that is, recognizes as an expense) the patent over 60
months. The firm does not use a separate Accumulated Amortization account for the
patent.

(14) February 28: The firm recognizes an appropriate amount of interest expense on the
loan in transaction (1) above.

(15) February 28: The firm is subject to an income tax rate of 30% of net income before
income taxes. The income tax law requires firms to pay income taxes on the 15th day
of the month after the end of each quarter (that is, April 15, Year 8; June 15, Year §;
October 15, Year §; and January 15, Year 9).

a. Using T-accounts, enter the balances in balance sheet accounts on February 1, Year 8,

from Chapter 2, Problem 2.15 and the effects of the 15 transactions above.

b. Prepare an income statement for the month of February Year 8.
c. Prepare a comparative balance sheet as of January 31, Year 8, and February 28, Year 8.
28. Analysis of transactions and preparation of the income statement and balance sheet. Zealock
Bookstore opened a bookstore near a college campus on July 1, Year 4. Transactions and
events of Zealock Bookstore during Year 4 follow. The firm uses the calendar year as its
reporting period.
(1) July 1, Year 4: Receives $25,000 from Quinn Zealock for 25,000 shares of the book-
store’s $1 par value common stock.

(2) July 1, Year 4: Obtains a $30,000 loan from a local bank for working capital needs.
The loan bears interest at 6% per year. The loan is repayable with interest on June 30,
Year 5.

(3) July 1, Year 4: Signs a rental agreement for three years at an annual rental of $20,000.
Pays the first year’s rent in advance.

(4) July 1, Year 4: Acquires bookshelves for $4,000 cash. The bookshelves have an esti-
mated useful life of five years and zero salvage value.

(5) July 1, Year 4: Acquires computers for $10,000 cash. The computers have an esti-
mated useful life of three years and $1,000 salvage value.

(6) July 1, Year 4: Makes security deposits with various book distributors totaling $8,000.
The deposits are refundable on June 30, Year 5, if the bookstore pays on time all
amounts due for books purchased from the distributors between July 1, Year 4, and
June 30, Year 5.

(7) During Year 4: Purchases books on account from various distributors costing
$160,000.

(8) During Year 4: Sells books costing $140,000 for $172,800. Of the total sales, $24,600
is for cash, and $148,200 is on account.

(9) During Year 4: Returns unsold books and books ordered in error costing $14,600.
The firm had not yet paid for these books.

(10) During Year 4: Collects $142,400 from sales on account.

(11) During Year 4: Pays employees compensation of $16,700.

(12) During Year 4: Pays book distributors $139,800 of the amounts due for purchases on
account.

(13) December 28, Year 4: Receives advances from customers of $850 for special-order
books that the bookstore will order and expects to receive during Year 5.
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(14) December 31, Year 4: Records an appropriate amount of interest expense on the loan
in (2) for Year 4.

(15) December 31, Year 4: Records an appropriate amount of rent expense for Year 4.

(16) December 31, Year 4: Records an appropriate amount of depreciation expense on the
bookshelves in (4).

(17) December 31, Year 4: Records an appropriate amount of depreciation expense on the
computers in (5).

(18) December 31, Year 4: Records an appropriate amount of income tax expense for Year
4. The income tax rate is 40%. The taxes are payable on March 15, Year 5.

a. Using T-accounts, enter the 18 transactions and events above.

b. Prepare an income statement for the six months ending December 31, Year 4.

c. Prepare a balance sheet on December 31, Year 4.

Note: Problem 29 extends this problem to income transactions for Year 5.

29. Analysis of transactions and preparation of comparative income statements and balance
sheets. Refer to the information for Zealock Bookstore in Problem 28. The following trans-
actions relate to Year 5.

(1) March 15, Year 5: Pays income taxes for Year 4.

(2) June 30, Year 5: Repays the bank loan with interest.

(3) July 1, Year 5: Obtains a new bank loan for $75,000. The loan is repayable on June
30, 2010, with interest due at maturity of 8%.

(4) July 1, Year 5: Receives the security deposit back from the book distributors.

(5) July 1, Year 5: Pays the rent due for the period July 1, Year 5, to June 30, Year 6.

(6) During Year 5: Purchases books on account costing $310,000.

(7) During Year 5: Sells books costing $286,400 for $353,700. Of the total sales, $24,900 is

for cash, $850 is from special orders received during December Year 4, and $327,950
is on account.

(8) During Year 5: Returns unsold books costing $22,700. The firm had not yet paid for
these books.

(9) During Year 5: Collects $320,600 from sales on account.
(10) During Year 5: Pays employees compensation of $29,400.
(11) During Year 5: Pays book distributors $281,100 for purchases of books on account.
(12) December 31, Year 5: Declares and pays a dividend of $4,000.

a. Using T-accounts, enter the amounts for the balance sheet on December 31, Year 4,
from Problem 28, the effects of the 12 transactions above, and any required entries on
December 31, Year 5, to properly measure net income for Year 5 and financial position
on December 31, Year 5.

b. Prepare a comparative income statement for Year 4 and Year 5.
c. Prepare a comparative balance sheet for December 31, Year 4, and December 31, Year 5.

30. Reconstructing the income statement and balance sheet. (Adapted from a problem by Ste-
phen A. Zeff.) Portobello Co., a retailer, is in its 10th year of operation. On December 28,
Year 18, three days before the close of its fiscal year, a flash flood devastated the compa-
ny’s administrative office and destroyed almost all of its accounting records. The company
saved the balance sheet on December 31, Year 17 (see Exhibit 3.6), the checkbook, the
bank statements, and some soggy remains of the specific accounts receivable and accounts
payable balances. Based on a review of the surviving documents and a series of interviews
with company employees, you obtain the following information.

(1) The company’s insurance agency advises that a four-year insurance policy has six
months to run as of December 31, Year 18. The policy cost $12,000 when the com-
pany paid the four-year premium during Year 15.

(2) During Year 18, the company’s board of directors declared $6,000 of dividends, of
which the firm paid $3,000 in cash to shareholders during Year 18 and will pay the
remainder during Year 19. Early in Year 18, the company also paid dividends of
$1,800 cash that the board of directors had declared during Year 17.
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Portobello Co.
Balance Sheet
December 31, Year 17
(Problem 30)

EXHIBIT 3.6

ASSETS
(00 $ 18,600
Accounts Receivable . . . ..o e 33,000
Notes Receivable . . ... ...t e e 10,000
Interest Receivable . . . . .o e 600
Merchandise Inventories . . ... ... e 22,000
Prepaid INSUManCe . . . o o vttt ettt e e e e 4,500
Total CUITENT ASSEES. « . v v v et e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e $ 88,700

Computer System:

0 $ 78,000
Less Accumulated Depreciation . . . . . ..o e (26,000)
Net. o e $ 52,000

Total ASSEtS . o ottt $140,700

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY

Accounts Payable for Merchandise . . . . .. oo vttt e $ 36,000
Dividend Payable . . .. ...t e 1,800
Salaries Payable . . ..o ot e 6,500
Taxes Payable. . . oottt e e 10,000
Advances from CUSTOMETS. . . . ottt ettt e e et 600
Total Liabilities. . . o oottt e e $ 54,900
T COMMON SEOCK « v v e et e e e e e e e e e e $ 40,000
E” Retained Earmings. . . v oo vttt ettt e e e e 45,800
g Total Shareholders’ EQUItY. « « oottt ettt e e e e ettt $ 85,800
% Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity . .. ... ..ottt it $140,700
©

(3) On April 1, Year 18, the company received from Appleton Co. $10,900 cash, which
included principal of $10,000 and interest, in full settlement of Appleton’s nine-
month note dated July 1, Year 17. According to the terms of the note, Appleton paid
all interest at maturity on April 1, Year 18.

(4) The amount owed by the company to merchandise suppliers on December 31, Year
18, was $20,000 less than the amount owed on December 31, Year 17. During Year
18, the company paid $115,000 to merchandise suppliers. The cost of merchandise
inventory on December 31, Year 18, based on a physical count, was $18,000 larger
than the balance in the Merchandise Inventory account on the December 31, Year
17, balance sheet. On December 8, Year 18, the company exchanged shares of its
common stock for merchandise inventory costing $11,000. The company’s policy is
to purchase all merchandise on account.

(5) The company purchased delivery trucks on March 1, Year 18, for $60,000. To finance
the acquisition, it gave the seller a $60,000 four-year note that bears interest at 10%
per year. The company must pay interest on the note each six months, beginning
September 1, Year 18. The company made the required payment on this date. The
delivery trucks have an expected useful life of 10 years and an estimated salvage value
of $6,000. The company uses the straight-line depreciation method.

(6) The company’s computer system has a six-year total expected life and zero expected
salvage value.

(7) The company makes all sales on account and recognizes revenue at the time of ship-
ment to customers. During Year 18, the company received $210,000 cash from its cus-
tomers. The company’s accountant reconstructed the Accounts Receivable subsidiary
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ledger, the detailed record of the amount owed to the company by each customer. It
showed that customers owed the company $51,000 on December 31, Year 18. A close
examination revealed that $1,400 of the cash received from customers during Year 18
applies to merchandise that the company will not ship until Year 19. Also, $600 of
the cash received from customers during Year 17 applies to merchandise not shipped
to customers until Year 18.

(8) The company paid $85,000 in cash to employees during Year 18. Of this amount,
$6,500 relates to services that employees performed during Year 17, and $4,000 relates
to services that employees will perform during Year 19. Employees performed the
remainder of the services during Year 18. On December 31, Year 18, the company
owes employees $1,300 for services performed during the last several days of Year 18.

(9) The company paid $27,000 in cash for property and income taxes during Year 18. Of
this amount, $10,000 relates to income taxes applicable to Year 17, and $3,000 relates
to property taxes applicable to Year 19. The company owes $4,000 in income taxes on
December 31, Year 18.

(10) The company entered into a contract with a management consulting firm for consult-
ing services. The total contract price is $48,000. The contract requires the company
to pay the first installment of $12,000 cash on January 1, Year 19, and the company
intends to do so. The consulting firm had performed 10% of the estimated total con-
sulting services under the contract by December 31, Year 18.

Prepare an income statement for Year 18 and a balance sheet on December 31, Year 18.

31. Reconstructing the income statement and balance sheet. Computer Needs, Inc., operates a
retail store that sells computer hardware and software. It began operations on January 2,
Year 7, and operated successfully during its first year, generating net income of $8,712 and
ending the year with $15,600 in its bank account. Exhibit 3.7 presents an income statement
for Year 7, and Exhibit 3.8 presents a balance sheet as of the end of Year 7.

As Year 8 progressed, the owners and managers of Computer Needs, Inc., felt that
they were doing even better. Sales seemed to be running ahead of Year 7, and customers
were always in the store. Unfortunately, a freak lightning storm hit the store on December
31, Year 8, and completely destroyed the computer on which Computer Needs, Inc., kept
its records. It now faces the puzzle of calculating Year 8 income in order to assess its oper-
ating performance and to calculate income taxes for the year.

Prepare an income statement for Year 8 and a balance sheet at the end of Year 8. To
assist in this effort, you obtain the following information.

(1) The bank at which Computer Needs, Inc., maintains its account provided a summary
of the transactions during Year 8, as shown in Exhibit 3.9.

Computer Needs, Inc.

Income Statement

For the Year Ended December 31, Year 7
(Problem 31)

EXHIBIT 3.7

SaleS. L e $ 152,700

Cost 0f Goods Sold . . . . oo e (116,400)

Selling and Administrative EXpenses . .. ....... ...ttt (17,400)
% DEPreciation . . v v vttt e e e e (2,800)
B IEEES0 6000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000000 (4,000)
8 INCOME TaXES « ¢ v v ettt e ettt e e e e e e e e e 3,388)
% 4 T $§ 8712
6
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Computer Needs, Inc.
Balance Sheet
December 31, Year 7
(Problem 31)

EXHIBIT 3.8

ASSETS
L0 $ 15,600
Accounts Receivable . . . .o o e 32,100
INVENTOMIES .« o o oottt e 46,700
PrepaymentS . . .ot e e e e 1,500
Total CUITENT ASSEES. « . v v v et e e e e e e e et e e e e e e e $ 95,900
Property, Plant, and Equipment:
L 00 L P $ 59,700
Less Accumulated Depreciation . . . . . ..o e (2,800)
Net. o e $ 56,900
TOtAL ASSEES « + v et e e e e e e e e e e e $152,800
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Accounts Payable—Merchandise Suppliers. . . . ...t e $ 37,800
Income Tax Payable. . . ..ot e et e e 3,388
Other Current Liabilities. . . . . oottt e 2,900
Total Current Liabilities . . . oo ettt e $ 44,088
Mortgage Payable . . . .. e 50,000
Total Liabilities. . . v oottt e e $ 94,088
T Common Stock . ...ooui $ 50,000
'S Reta@ined EAIMiNgs. . . . ..o uve e ettt e e e e e e e e e 8,712
§ Total Shareholders’ EQUItY. « oottt e ettt e e e ettt $ 58,712
éﬁ Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity . ... .. ..ottt it $152,800
=
Computer Needs, Inc.
Analysis of Changes in Bank Accounts
2R ok for tKe Year Endegd December 31, Year 8
(Problem 31)
Balance, January 1, YEar 8 . . v v v vttt e e e e e $ 15,600
Receipts:
Cash from Cash Sales . . . .ottt e e e e 37,500
Checks Received from Third-Party Credit Cards and Customers. ... .................. 151,500
Disbursements:
To Merchandise SUPPLIETS . . . . o ottt e e e e (164,600)
To Employees and Other Providers of Selling and Administrative Activities . ............ (21,000)
s To U.S. Government for Income Taxes for Year 8. ... ... ...t nnnn.. (3,388)
,‘% To Bank for Interest ($4,000) and Principal on Mortgage ($800) ................... (4,800)
g To Supplier of Equipment . . ...t (6,000)
u::) Balance, December 31, Year 8. . . vt v ittt e e e e $ 4,812
©
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(2) Cash received during January Year 9, from third-party credit card companies and from
customers for sales made during Year 8 totaled $40,300. This is your best estimate of
accounts receivable outstanding on December 31, Year 8.

(3) Clerks took a physical inventory of merchandise on January 1, Year 9. Using current
catalogs from suppliers, you estimate that the merchandise has a total cost of $60,700.

(4) Computer Needs, Inc., had paid its annual insurance premium on October 1, Year
8 (included in the amounts paid to “Other Providers” in Exhibit 3.9). You learn that
$1,800 of the insurance premium applies to coverage during Year 9.

(5) Based on depreciation claimed during Year 7 and new equipment purchased during
Year 8, you estimate Year 8 depreciation expense of $3,300.

(6) Bills received from merchandise suppliers during January Year 9 totaled $45,300. This
is your best estimate of accounts payable outstanding to these suppliers on December
31, Year 8.

(7) Other Current Liabilities represent amounts payable to employees and other providers
of selling and administrative services. Other Current Liabilities as of December 31,
Year 8, total $1,200.

Prepare an income statement for Computer Needs, Inc., for Year 8 and a balance sheet on
December 31, Year 8. The income tax rate is 28%.

32. Effect of errors on financial statements. Consider the following hypothetical information
pertaining to Embotelladora Andina S.A. (Embotelladora), the producer and distributor
of Coca-Cola products in Chile. Embotelladora applies Chilean accounting standards, and
reports its results in thousands of Chilean pesos ($). Using the notations O/S (overstated),
U/S (understated), and NO (no effect), indicate the effects (direction and amount) on
assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity as of December 31 of the following independent
errors or omissions. Ignore income tax implications.

a. On December 1, Embotelladora paid $120,000 for rental of a building for Decem-
ber and the following January. The firm debited Rent Expense and credited Cash for
$120,000 on December 1, and made no further entries with respect to this rental during
December or January.

b. On December 15, Embotelladora received $82,000 from a customer as a deposit on mer-
chandise that Embotelladora expects to deliver to the customer during the next month,
January. The firm debited Cash and credited Sales Revenue on December 15, and made
no further entries with respect to this deposit during December or January.

¢. On December 1, Embotelladora acquired a truck to be used to transport beverages
from the central warehouse to retailers. The truck cost $98,000, has zero salvage value,
and is expected to last four years. The firm recorded the transaction by debiting Truck
Expense and crediting Cash for $98,000 and made no further entries during December
with respect to the acquisition.

d. On December 15, Embotelladora purchased office supplies costing $86,800. It recorded
the purchase by debiting Office Supplies Expense and crediting Cash. The Office Sup-
plies Inventory account on December 1 had a balance of $27,700. Based on a physical
inventory on December 31, office supplies costing $24,600 were on hand. The firm made
no entries in its accounts with respect to office supplies on December 31.

e. Embotelladora incurred interest expense of $34,500 for the month of December on a
60-day loan obtained on December 1. The firm properly recorded the loan on its books
on December 1, but made no entry to record interest on December 31. The loan is pay-
able with interest at the end of the following month, on January 31.

f. Embotelladora purchased merchandise on account costing $17,900 on December 23,
debiting Merchandise Inventory and crediting Accounts Payable. The firm paid for this
purchase on December 28, debiting Cost of Goods Sold and crediting Cash, but had
not sold the merchandise by December 31.

33. Effect of recording errors on financial statements. Forgetful Corporation (Forgetful)
neglected to make various adjusting entries on December 31, the end of its accounting
period. Forgetful applies U.S. GAAP, and reports in U.S. dollars. Indicate the effects on
assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity on December 31, of failing to adjust for the
following independent items as appropriate, using the descriptions overstated, understated,
and no effect. Also, give the amount of the effect. Ignore income tax implications.
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a. On December 15, Forgetful Corporation received a $1,400 advance from a customer
for products to be manufactured and delivered the next month, in January. The firm
recorded the advance by debiting Cash and crediting Sales Revenue and made no adjust-
ing entry as of December 31.

b. On July 1, Forgetful Corporation acquired a machine for $5,000 and recorded the acqui-
sition by debiting Cost of Goods Sold and crediting Cash. The machine has a five-year
useful life and zero estimated salvage value.

c¢. On November 1, Forgetful Corporation received a $2,000 note receivable from a cus-
tomer in settlement of an account receivable. It debited Notes Receivable and credited
Accounts Receivable on receipt of the note. The note is a six-month note due April 30
of the following year and bears interest at an annual rate of 12%. Forgetful Corporation
made no other entries related to this note.

d. Forgetful Corporation paid its annual insurance premium of $1,200 on October 1, the
first day of the year of coverage. It debited Prepaid Insurance $900, debited Insurance
Expense $300, and credited Cash for $1,200. It made no other entries related to this
insurance.

e. The Board of Directors of Forgetful Corporation declared a dividend of $1,500 on
December 31. The dividend will be paid 15 days later, on January 15. Forgetful Corpo-
ration neglected to record the dividend declaration.

f. On December 1, Forgetful Corporation purchased a machine on account for $50,000,
debiting Machinery and crediting Accounts Payable for $50,000. Ten days later the com-
pany paid the account and took the allowed 2% discount. It credited Cash $49,000 and
Miscellaneous Revenue $1,000. It debited Accounts Payable $50,000. Forgetful Corpo-
ration normally records cash discounts taken as a reduction in the cost of assets. On
December 28, the firm paid $4,000 cash to employees to install the machine; it debited
Maintenance Expense and credited Cash for $4,000. The machine started operation
three days later, on January 1. Since the firm did not place the machine into operation
until January 1 it correctly recorded no depreciation for the year of purchase.

34. Working backward to the balance sheet at the beginning of the period. (Problems 34 through
36 derive from problems by George H. Sorter.) The following data relate to the Prima
Company.

(1) Exhibit 3.10: Balance sheet at December 31, Year 8.
(2) Exhibit 3.11: Statement of net income and retained earnings for Year 8.
(3) Exhibit 3.12: Statement of cash receipts and disbursements for Year 8.

Purchases of merchandise during the period, all on account, were $127,000. All Other
Operating Expenses were credited to Prepayments.

Prepare a balance sheet for December 31, Year 7. (Hint: Using T-accounts, enter
the December 31, Year §, amounts from the balance sheet. Using the information in the
income statement and statement of cash receipts and disbursements, reconstruct the trans-
actions that took place during the year and enter the amounts in the appropriate places in
the T-accounts or transactions template. Finally, compute the amounts on the December
31, Year 7, balance sheet.)

35. Working backward to cash receipts and disbursements. Exhibit 3.13 presents the compara-
tive balance sheet of The Secunda Company as of the beginning and end of Year 8. Exhibit
3.14 presents the income statement for Year 8. The company makes all sales on account
and purchases all goods and services on account. The Other Operating Expenses account
includes depreciation charges and expirations of prepayments. The company debits Divi-
dends Declared during the year to Retained Earnings.

Prepare a schedule showing all cash transactions for Year 8. (Hint: Using T-accounts,
enter the amounts shown as of December 31, Year 7, and December 31, Year 8. Starting
with the revenue and expense accounts, reconstruct the transactions that took place during
the year, and enter the amounts in the appropriate places in the T-accounts. Note that the
Retained Earnings account in the balance sheet on December 31, Year 8, reflects the effects
of earnings activities and dividends during Year 8.)

36. Working backward to the income statement. Tertia Company presents balance sheets at
the beginning and end of Year 8 (Exhibit 3.15), as well as a statement of cash receipts
and disbursements (Exhibit 3.16). Prepare a combined statement of income and retained
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Prima Company
Balance Sheet
December 31, Year 8
(Problem 34)

EXHIBIT 3.10

ASSETS
Cash « oo e $ 10,000
Marketable Securities. . . . ..ttt e 20,000
Accounts Receivable . . .. oo e 25,000
Merchandise INVENtOrY. . . . vttt e e e e e e 30,000
Prepayments for Miscellaneous Services . . ... ...ttt n ittt 3,000
Total CUITENt ASSEES. . . v v vt e e et e e e e e e e e e $ 88,000
Land, Buildings, and Equipment (at cost) . ... ... ... ... i e $ 40,000
Less Accumulated Depreciation . . . .. ..o i e (16,000)
Land, Buildings, and Equipment (net) . ... ... ... ... .. e $ 24,000
TOtAl ASSEES « v e e et e e e e e e e e e e $112,000
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Accounts Payable (for merchandise). . . ... ..o $ 25,000
Interest Payable . . ..ottt e e 300
Taxes Payable. . ..ot e e 4,000
Total Current Liabilities . . . . oot e $ 29,300
Note Payable (6%, long-term). . . . . ... e 20,000
Total Liabilities. . . o oottt e e $ 49,300
T ComMMON SEOCK « . v v e ettt e e e e e e e e e e $ 50,000
_TE;“ Retained Earmings. . . o o v vttt ittt et e e e e 12,700
g Total Shareholders” EQUItY. « . v v vttt et ettt e e et ettt et $ 62,700
% Total Liabilities and Shareholders Equity ... ... ..ottt $112,000
©

Prima Company

Statement of Net Income and Retained Earnings
For Year Ended December 31, Year 8

(Problem 34)

EXHIBIT 3.11

SAlES. + it e e e $200,000

Less Expenses:

Cost of GOOAS SOLd . . . . vttt et e $130,000

Depreciation EXPeNSE. . o v vttt et e e e e 4,000

TaXES EXPOMSE o v v et ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 8,000

Other Operating EXPeNSES. . . v v v vttt e et e e e e ettt e 47,700

Interest EXPENSE. « v e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e 1,200
s TOAl EXPENSES - . v v v et et et et e e e e e e e e e $190,900
fg” L= Tl 11T $ 9,100
g Less Dividends . . . o oo e e 5,000
% Increase in Retained Earnings. . . ..t i ittt e e e $ 4,100
©
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Prima Company

Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements
For Year Ended December 31, Year 8

(Problem 34)

EXHIBIT 3.12

Cash Receipts

Cash Sales . v vt e e $ 47,000
Collection from Credit CUStOMErS. . . . o ottt et e et e e e e e e eeennns 150,000
Total ReCEIPES. . o o ot e $197,000
Cash Disbursements
Payment to Suppliers of Merchandise . ... ... .. .. . $128,000
Payment to Suppliers of Miscellaneous Services . . . . ..o oo v ittt 49,000
Payment of TaXes . . . .ottt e e 7,500
Payment of Interest. . . . . .ot 1,200
s Payment of Dividends ... ... ... . . 5,000
E’ Purchase of Marketable Securities . .. ... e 8,000
8 Total Disbursements. . . . ..ot e $198,700
éﬁ Excess of Disbursements over Receipts . . . . ..ottt e $ 1,700
©

The Secunda Company

Balance Sheet

December 31, Year 8, and December 31, Year 7
(Problem 35)

EXHIBIT 3.13

December 31

Year 8 Year 7
ASSETS
Cash .« et e $ 9,000 $ 20,000
Accounts Receivable . . . ... e 51,000 36,000
Merchandise InVentory. . . ..o v ittt e 60,000 45,000
Prepayments . ... e 1,000 2,000
Total Current ASSetS . v v v vt it e et e et e e e e e $121,000 $103,000
Land, Buildings, and Equipment (atcost) . ... ... ... ... .. $ 40,000 $ 40,000
Less Accumulated Depreciation . . . . ..o ottt (18,000) (16,000)
Land, Buildings, and Equipment (net) . ..........coiuttiiinnn... $ 22,000 $ 24,000
TOtAl ASSBES & v v v et et e e e e e $143,000 $127,000
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Interest Payable . . . ..o oo e $ 2,000 $ 1,000
Accounts Payable . . . ... o 40,000 30,000
Total Current Liabilities. . . . . oo v ittt e e $ 42,000 $ 31,000
Mortgage Payable . . . . . e 17,000 20,000
Total Liabilities . . . . oot e $ 59,000 $ 51,000
= Common StOCK . . v vt e $ 50,000 $ 50,000
% Retained Earnings. . . oo oottt e e e e e 34,000 26,000
§ Total Shareholders” EQUItY « « v v oot e $ 84,000 $ 76,000
§ Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity. . . . ... ..ot $143,000 $127,000
S
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The Secunda Company

Income Statement

For Year Ended December 31, Year 8
(Problem 35)

EXHIBIT 3.14

SalES REVENUE & v vttt et e e e e e e e $100,000

Less Expenses:

Cost of Goods Sold . . . .. v vt e e $ 50,000
s Tnterest EXPONSE. « . o it e et e e e e e e e e e e 3,000
E’ Other Operating EXPENSES. . . . v o v vttt e e e e et e e e e e e 29,000
§ Total EXPEMSES . . o ot ottt $ 82,000
éﬁ LS Tl 11T $ 18,000
6

earnings for Year 8. (Hint: Using T-accounts, enter the amounts shown as of December
31, Year 7, and December 31, Year 8. Starting with the cash receipts and disbursements for
the year, reconstruct the transactions that took place during the year, and enter them in the
appropriate places in the T-accounts. The Retained Earnings account reflects the effect of
earnings activities and dividends for Year 8.)

37. Preparing adjusting entries. Assume that a firm closes its books once per year, on Decem-
ber 31. The firm employs a full-time bookkeeper and a part-time professional accountant
who makes all necessary adjusting entries to prepare the financial statements on December
31. During the year, the firm uses the following simplified bookkeeping and transactions
recording convention: When it receives cash, the firm debits cash and credits a revenue
account; when it pays cash, the firm debits an expense account and credits cash. The pur-
poses of using this simplified transaction recording convention are (1) to achieve efficient
recording of cash receipts and disbursements so that the firm always has an up-to-date
balance in its cash account and (2) to avoid involving the professional accountant until the
end of the year. On December 31, the professional accountant makes the adjusting entries
necessary to properly record revenues and expenses of the period and calculate the correct
balances in balance sheet accounts. Construct the adjusting entry required for each of the
following scenarios.

a. On September 1, Year 6, a tenant paid $24,000 rent for the one-year period starting at
that time. The tenant debited the entire amount to Rent Expense and credited Cash. The
tenant made no adjusting entries for rent between September 1 and December 31. Con-
struct the adjusting entry to be made on December 31, Year 6, to recognize the proper
balances in the Prepaid Rent and Rent Expense accounts. What is the amount of Rent
Expense for Year 6?

b. Refer to part a. The tenant’s books for December 31, Year 6, after adjusting entries,
show a balance in the Prepaid Rent account of $16,000. This amount represents rent
for the period January 1 through August 31, Year 7. On September 1, Year 7, the tenant
paid $30,000 for rent for the one-year period starting September 1, Year 7. The tenant
debited this amount to Rent Expense and credited Cash but made no adjusting entries
for rent during Year 7. Construct the adjusting entry required on December 31, Year 7.
What is Rent Expense for Year 7?

c. Refer to part b. The tenant’s books for December 31, Year 7, after adjusting entries,
show a balance in the Prepaid Rent account of $20,000. This amount represents rent
for the period January 1 through August 31, Year 8. On September 1, Year 8, the tenant
paid $18,000 for rent for the six-month period starting September 1, Year 8. The tenant
debited this amount to Rent Expense and credited Cash but made no adjusting entries
during Year 8. Construct the adjusting entry required on December 31, Year 8. What is
Rent Expense for Year 8?

d. Whenever the firm makes payments for wages, it debits Wage Expense and credits Cash.
At the start of April, the Wages Payable account had a balance of $5,000, representing
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Tertia Company

Balance Sheets

December 31, Year 8, and December 31, Year 7
(Problem 36)

EXHIBIT 3.15

December 31

Year 8 Year 7
ASSETS
CaSh o e e $ 67,800 $ 40,000
Accounts and Notes Receivable. . .. ..o ittt ittt e 41,000 36,000
Merchandise Inventory. . . . .o oottt e 49,500 55,000
Interest Receivable . . .. o v i ittt e e 700 1,000
Prepaid Miscellaneous Services . . . ... ..ottt e 5,200 4,000
Building, Machinery, and Equipment . ........ ... ... ... ..., 47,000 47,000
Accumulated Depreciation . .. ... ...t e (12,000) (10,000)
TOtAl ASSEES « v v e e e e e $ 99,200 $173,000
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Accounts Payable (miscellaneous services) . ......... ... .. $ 2,500 $ 2,000
Accounts Payable (merchandise purchases)........... ... .. ... . ... 41,000 34,000
Property Taxes Payable. . . . . ... ot e 1,500 1,000
Mortgage Payable . . . . ..ot e 30,000 35,000
Total Liabilities. . .« oot e e $ 75,000 $ 72,000
= COMMON SEOCK & v v v o et e e e e e e e e e e $ 25,000 $ 25,000
‘> Retained Earnings. . ... ..........iiiiiii 99,200 76,000
§ Total Shareholders” EqUity. . . . o oottt et e $124,200 $101,000
% Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity . ........... ... ... ... $199,200 $173,000
S

Tertia Company

Statement of Cash Receipts and Disbursements
For Year Ended December 31, Year 8

(Problem 36)

EXHIBIT 3.16

Year 8

CASH RECEIPTS

1. Collection from Credit CUSEOMETS . « v v v vttt e e e e e et et e et ettt et et eeen $144,000

2. Cash Sales . . v vt e e 63,000

3. Collection of Interest. . . v vttt it e e e e e e e et e e e e 1,000

Total Cash ReCEIPES « « v v oottt et e e e e $208,000

LESS CASH DISBURSEMENTS

4. Payment to Suppliers of Merchandise . . ... ...t e $114,000

5. Repayment on Mortgage. . . . . ..ottt e 5,000

6. Payment of Interest. . . . ..ottt it e e 500

7. Prepayment to Suppliers of Miscellaneous Services. . ... ... .. 57,500
= 8. Payment of Property Taxes . . . ..ttt e e 1,200
‘> 9. Payment of DIVIAENdS. « . ..« v v vttt e e e 2,000
§ Total Cash Disbursements . . . .. ..ottt e $180,200
§ Increase in Cash Balance for Year 8 . . . . .o oot $ 27,800
3
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wages earned but not paid during the last few days of March. During April, the firm
paid $30,000 in wages, debiting the entire amount to Wage Expense. At the end of April,
analysis of amounts earned since the last payday indicates that employees have earned
wages of $4,000 that they have not received. These are the only unpaid wages at the end
of April. Construct the required adjusting entry. What is Wage Expense for April?

e. The firm purchased an insurance policy providing one year’s coverage from May 1, Year
5, and debited the entire amount to Insurance Expense. After the firm made adjusting
entries, the balance sheet on December 31, Year 5, correctly showed Prepaid Insurance
of $3,000. Construct the adjusting entry that the firm must make on January 31, Year 6,
if the firm closes its books monthly and prepares a balance sheet for January 31, Year 6.

f. For receipts a landlord collects related to an apartment building, the bookkeeper always
credits Rent Revenue for cash received from tenants. At the beginning of Year 7, the
liability account Advances from Tenants had a credit balance of $25,000, representing
collections from tenants for rental services the landlord will render during Year 7. Dur-
ing Year 7, the firm collected $250,000 from tenants; it debited Cash and credited Rent
Revenue. It made no adjusting entries during Year 7. At the end of Year 7, analysis of
the individual accounts indicates that of the amounts already collected, $30,000 repre-
sents collections for rental services the landlord will provide to tenants during Year 8.
Present the required adjusting entry. What is Rent Revenue for Year 7?

g. When the firm acquired new equipment costing $10,000 on January 1, Year 5, the book-
keeper debited Depreciation Expense and credited Cash for $10,000 but made no fur-
ther entries for this equipment during Year 5. The equipment has an expected service
life of five years and an estimated salvage value of zero. Construct the adjusting entry
required before the accountant can prepare a balance sheet for December 31, Year 5.
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Chapter

Balance Sheet: Presenting
and Analyzing Resources

and Financing

1. Understand the concepts of assets, 2. Understand why and how the recogni-
liabilities, and shareholders’ equity, tion and measurement guidance in U.S.
including the criteria for recognizing GAAP and IFRS affect the information LEARNING
(recording) these items on the bal- reported on balance sheets.

OBJECTIVES

ance sheet, measuring their amounts
(measurement), and identifying where
they appear on the balance sheet
(classification).

user of financial statements might raise questions such as the following with respect to a
firm’s balance sheet:

1. Does the balance sheet show all of the firm’s economic resources as assets and all of the claims
on those resources as liabilities and shareholders’ equity? If not, what kinds of resources and
claims are not recognized on the balance sheet and why?

2. How do the amounts reported on the balance sheet relate to prices observed in the market-
place? For example, how does the amount reported for a given asset relate to the amount
the firm would receive if it sold that asset? Is the amount reported for a liability equal to the
amount that the firm would have to pay to settle the obligation? How does the amount shown
for shareholders’ equity relate to the market value of the firm’s equity?

3. What does the balance sheet reveal about how the firm has financed its assets? Why do financ-
ing arrangements differ across firms?

Understanding the balance sheet permits the user to answer these and other questions about
a firm’s financial position. This chapter discusses the following concepts underlying the balance
sheet, emphasizing asset and liability:

B Definition.
B Recognition.
B Measurement.

Mastery of these concepts requires understanding also the procedures used to prepare the balance
sheet, described in Chapter 2.

UNDERLYING CONCEPTS

BALANCE SHEET EQuUALITY

Chapter 1 introduced the balance sheet, one of the three principal financial statements. Some refer
to the balance sheet as the statement of financial position. The balance sheet displays resources
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Chapter 4 Balance Sheet: Presenting and Analyzing Resources and Financing

(assets) and the financing of those resources (liabilities and shareholders’ equity) as of a point
in time.! The balance sheet reflects the following equality, called the balance sheet equation:

Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity

This equation requires that assets equal the financing provided by creditors and owners of the
firm. Stated differently, management uses the funds provided by creditors (in the form of liabili-
ties) and owners (in the form of shareholders’ equity) to acquire resources (in the form of assets).
The nature and mix of liabilities and shareholders’ equity comprise the financing structure, a topic
we return to later in this chapter.

BALANCE SHEET CLASSIFICATIONS

Balance sheets present lists of items, grouped by category. Two categories used to group assets
and liabilities result from the timing of cash receipts (for assets) and the timing of cash pay-
ments (for liabilities). Assets that management expects to convert to cash, or to sell, or to con-
sume during the normal operating cycle of the business are current assets. All other assets are
noncurrent assets. Similarly, obligations that management expects to discharge with a cash pay-
ment or otherwise settle during the operating cycle are current liabilities, whereas all other obli-
gations are noncurrent liabilities.

The operating cycle is the period of time required to convert cash into salable goods and
services, sell those goods and services to customers, and receive cash from customers in pay-
ment. A firm’s business model determines its operating cycle. The operating cycle can be as
short as one to three months. Some industries, such as building construction or wine mak-
ing, have operating cycles that span several years. Unless the operating cycle exceeds one year,
accounting convention uses one year to distinguish current items from noncurrent items. Thus,
the phrase current assets (current liabilities) is typically understood to imply assets (liabilities)
that will convert to (be paid for with) cash within one year.

Current assets include cash; marketable securities held for the short term; accounts and
notes receivable; inventories of merchandise, raw materials, supplies, work in process, and fin-
ished goods; and certain prepayments, such as insurance and rent paid for in advance of receiv-
ing the insurance or rental services. Noncurrent assets include property, plant, and equipment;
long-term investments in securities; and intangible assets (such as patents, trademarks, and
goodwill).

Current liabilities include amounts owed to suppliers (accounts payable), to employees
(accrued salaries and wages), and to governmental units (income taxes payable). They also
include the current portion of long-term debt—that is, the portion of notes and bonds payable
that must be paid within the next year. Noncurrent liabilities include interest-bearing obliga-
tions with maturities beyond one year (such as bonds, mortgages, and similar debts), some obli-
gations under long-term leases, some retirement obligations, and certain noninterest-bearing
obligations such as deferred income taxes.

BALANCE SHEET FormAT: U.S. GAAP

The typical balance sheet lists assets first, followed by liabilities and shareholders’ equity. In
U.S. GAAP, the balance sheet lists assets from most liquid to least liquid, where liquid refers to
the ease of converting the asset into cash. A balance sheet prepared according to U.S. GAAP
begins with the most liquid of the current assets—cash and cash equivalents—and then moves
to other current assets, followed by noncurrent assets. Similarly, the balance sheet lists liabilities
starting with those that the firm will discharge soonest (the most current or closest to maturity
liabilities) and ending with those that it will pay latest (the most noncurrent or distant to matu-
rity liabilities).

'The financial reporting requirements of the jurisdiction in which the firm is domiciled determine how often it
must prepare a balance sheet, file it with the appropriate regulatory body, and make it publicly available. For
example, in the United States, all firms with publicly traded debt or equity securities must prepare and file
financial reports quarterly. Elsewhere, semiannual reporting is more common. Nothing precludes more frequent
financial statement preparation, for example, to support internal decision making or negotiations with a lender,
such as bank.
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Underlying Concepts

Exhibit 1.1 (in Chapter 1) shows Great Deal’s balance sheet, prepared under U.S. GAAP as
of February 27, 2013. The balance sheet begins with cash and cash equivalents of $1,826 mil-
lion. The balance sheet then lists, in order, the remaining current assets in decreasing order of
liquidity, with merchandise inventories (of $5,486 million) and other assets (of $1,144 million)
the least liquid of the current assets. The list of noncurrent assets follows:

B Property, plant, and equipment, net.......... $4,070 million
B Goodwill......... ... ... ... 2,452 million
B Tradenames................ ... ... . ...... 159 million
B Customer relationships .................... 279 million
B Equity and other investments . .............. 324 million
B Otherassets ...........coiviuiennenna... 452 million

In the liability section, Great Deal shows that the liability it must discharge soonest is
accounts payable (amounts owed to suppliers and vendors) of $5,276 million. Next is Great
Deal’s obligation for unredeemed gift cards.>? Next in line for payment are amounts earned by
employees but not yet paid (accrued compensation and related expenses) of $544 million. Mov-
ing down the balance sheet, Great Deal reports long-term debt of $1,104 million. This amount
excludes payments of long-term debt due in the coming year. The current portion of long-term
debt ($35 million) appears among the current liabilities. Within the shareholders’ equity sec-
tion, Great Deal reports $5,797 million of retained earnings, the source for net assets that Great
Deal has generated through its earnings process over time (its cumulative earnings) and has not
distributed to shareholders.

Using Great Deal’s balance sheet, we can verify the balance sheet equation: assets ($18,302
million) equal liabilities (the sum of $8,978, $1,256 and $1,104, or $11,338 million) plus share-
holders’ equity ($6,964 million).

BALANCE SHEET ForMAT: IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) permit but do not require the reverse
ordering of balance sheets, with both assets and liabilities listed from least liquid to most lig-
uid. This reporting format appears in Exhibit 1.5 (in Chapter 1), which contains the balance
sheet for Thames Limited. Thames’s balance sheet dated December 31, 2013, begins with
its least liquid asset—goodwill—of €2,986.9 million. Thames’s tangible noncurrent assets
(€1,338.3 million) consist of land, buildings, plant, and equipment. Moving down the list,
Thames’s most liquid assets are its cash at bank and equivalents, €1,960.1 million at the end of
2013. We can use Thames’s balance sheet and the balance sheet equation to verify that assets
(€18,007.6 million) equal the sum of liabilities (the sum of €2,766.9 and €11,486.9, or €14,253.8
million) plus shareholders’ equity (€3,753.8 million).

Although Great Deal uses U.S. GAAP and Thames uses IFRS, their balance sheets present
similar information, albeit in differing orders. Many questions remain unanswered, however,
including the following:

1. Which resources does a firm recognize as assets, and which obligations does it recognize
as liabilities? That is, what conditions must an item meet to be an asset or a liability on a
balance sheet? Do these conditions differ between U.S. GAAP and IFRS?

2. How do firms measure assets and liabilities? That is, what number appears next to the item
on the balance sheet? Do measurements differ between U.S. GAAP and IFRS?

3. How do firms measure shareholders’ equity? What are the components of shareholders’
equity, and how do they appear on the balance sheet? Are those components, their mea-
surement, and their display the same under U.S. GAAP and IFRS?

The rest of this chapter addresses these questions. We distinguish, where necessary, between
the requirements of U.S. GAAP and IFRS. We refer to pronouncements from either the FASB
or the IASB as authoritative guidance.

2Accounting for gift cards is discussed in Chapter 5.
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ASSET RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

AsSeT DEFINITION AND RECOGNITION

Asset recognition means that the item is an asset on the balance sheet. For an item to be an
asset, it must meet both (1) the definition of an asset and (2) the asset recognition criteria.’

B Asset Definition An asset is a probable* future economic benefit that a firm controls
because of a past event or transaction. The definition of an asset is similar in U.S. GAAP
and IFRS.

B Asset Recognition The three criteria for asset recognition are the following:
1. The firm owns or controls the right to use the item.
2. The right to use the item arises as a result of a past transaction or exchange.

3. The future benefit has a relevant measurement attribute that can be quantified with suf-
ficient reliability.

Although all assets provide future benefits, not all future benefits are assets. This is because
a future benefit that qualifies as an asset must meet the three recognition criteria, the first two
of which are part of the definition of an asset. The third criterion pertains to recognition: an
item that meets the definition of an asset must be measurable with sufficient reliability. Reliabil-
ity of a reported amount means that the amount corresponds to what it purports to represent
and is reasonably free from error and bias, in the sense that multiple independent measurers
would agree on the amount.’ For example, if a reported amount on a balance sheet purports
to represent the acquisition cost of inventory, a reliable measure would be the price paid. That
price can be confirmed by independent measurers as the amount quoted in the invoice for the
inventories. Neither U.S. GAAP nor IFRS specifies what amount of reliability is sufficient, sug-
gesting that this judgment is context-specific and subjective.

To understand how these conditions influence asset recognition, we consider several exam-
ples of transactions that result in future economic benefits but may not result in the recognition
of an asset. Except where noted, both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the same accounting treat-
ment for these examples.

Example 1 Great Deal sold a television for $1,000 to a customer who purchased the televi-
sion using a Great Deal credit card. Although Great Deal has not received any cash, it has
received a future economic benefit in the form of a promise of cash payment. Great Deal would
recognize this benefit as an asset (an account receivable) because it has a right to receive a defi-
nite amount of cash ($1,000) as a result of the sale of the television.

Example 2 Thames purchased new equipment it will use in producing communications sys-
tems. The new equipment substitutes a robotically controlled machining process for a labor-
intensive process. Thames agreed to give the equipment vendor 200,000 shares of its common
stock in payment for the equipment. At the time of the transaction, Thames’s stock price was
€32 per share. Thames will recognize the new equipment as an asset because it controls the
equipment and it expects to receive future benefits in the form of reduced labor costs.®

3The U.S. GAAP asset definition is in FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements
of Financial Statements,” 1985, par. 26; and its asset recognition criteria are in FASB, Statement of Financial
Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,”
1984, par. 63-65. The IFRS asset definition is in the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of
Financial Statements, “Chapter 4, the remaining text,” 2010, par. 4.4-4.14.
4The word probable is used to capture the idea that commercial arrangements are often uncertain as to outcome.
It refers to items or events that can be reasonably expected to occur or believed to have occurred based on avail-
able evidence.
SThe FASB and IASB issued conceptual guidance in September 2010 that uses the term “representational
faithfulness” to capture the ideas associated with reliability in the asset recognition criteria. The U.S. GAAP
conceptual guidance on representational faithfulness is in FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts
No. 8, “Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting, Chapter 3, Qualitative Characteristics of Useful
Financial Information,” 2010, par. QC12-QC16. The IFRS conceptual guidance is in IASB, Framework for the
Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements, Chapter 3, 2010, par. QC12-QCI16.
®We discuss the amount Thames will report on its balance sheet for this equipment in a later section. This is the
asset measurement question.

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Asset Recognition and Measurement

Example 3 Thames sold 16 defense systems for a total of €80 million. The customer agreed
to pay Thames €20 million at the time Thames delivered the systems and the rest in four equal
installments at the end of each of the next four years. At the time of the final payment, Thames
will transfer the legal title of the systems to the customer. Although Thames has legal title to
the systems during the next four years, it has no rights to use them. Provided the customer
makes the required payments, the future benefits of the systems reside with, and will stay with,
the customer. Thus, the systems are the customer’s assets, not Thames’s. Thames will recognize
as assets the €20 million cash received at the time of delivery and a receivable for the remaining
payments.

Example 4 Some customers regularly purchase electronic items from Great Deal because of
Great Deal’s separate service, the Nerd Squad, which assists customers in installing these items.
Great Deal hires talented staff and invests in training to ensure high-quality service. Manage-
ment believes that the service leads to more loyal customers who are more willing to purchase
at Great Deal in the future. Thus, satisfied Nerd Squad customers provide future benefits in
the form of increased sales of Great Deal products. Neither the expected future sales nor the
satisfied customers are assets on Great Deal’s balance sheet because Great Deal cannot control
customers’ future purchasing decisions.

Example 5 Continuing with Example 4, the Nerd Squad itself provides a future benefit. It is
not, however, an asset on Great Deal’s balance sheet because it is typically not possible to own
or control a human being. (In the case of sporting teams, it is the contracts with players and
not the players themselves that are the assets.)

Example 6 Like many companies, Great Deal has developed and maintains a list of its cus-
tomers and their characteristics, which it uses for mailing catalogs and other promotions. Creat-
ing and maintaining a customer list takes time and resources, so a decision to have one entails
certain investments and continuing expenditures. The expected benefits of a customer list are the
future cash inflows associated with purchases made by listed customers after they receive their
promotional materials. The larger and more detailed the customer list, and the more high-pur-
chasing customers it includes, the greater are the expected future benefits of the customer list.
An internally developed customer list is not an asset, however. Although the item meets the defi-
nition of an asset, it does not meet the third recognition criterion, because the firm cannot mea-
sure the future economic benefits of the list with sufficient reliability. The firm would, however,
recognize an externally purchased customer list as an asset and measure (record) it at the pur-
chase price. Great Deal includes the purchase price of these acquired customer lists in the asset
called Customer Relationships on its balance sheet.”

Example 7 Thames plans to open a manufacturing facility in Poland next year. It has identi-
fied an existing facility that could be purchased for €500 million and modified for its use at an
additional cost of €200 million. Thames plans to use a combination of cash on hand and cash
recently raised from issuing common shares to finance the transaction. Although Thames has
firm plans to buy and modify the facility, it is not an asset until Thames has obtained control
of it as a result of a transaction with the current owner.

Example 8 Continuing with the transaction proposed in Example 7, suppose both the owner
of the facility and Thames sign a contract in which they promise to transact—to sell and pur-
chase the facility—one year later. Such an exchange of promises is an executory contract, an
exchange of promises for mutual performance in the future that neither party has yet begun to
perform. Thames has acquired the rights to the future benefits arising from the facility, but the
contract is unexecuted by both the facility owner (who must relinquish control of the facility)
and Thames (who must pay the agreed purchase price). Executory contracts are typically not
assets or liabilities until one or both of the contracting parties begin to complete their contrac-
tual obligations.

Example 9 Continuing with the transaction described in Examples 7 and 8, suppose that
Thames pays the owner of the facility €100 million toward the purchase of the facility. Thames

"Chapter 10 discusses the distinction between internally developed and acquired intangible assets in more detail
and introduces certain differences between U.S. GAAP and IFRS.
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has partially performed under the contract and will recognize an asset to the extent of its par-
tial performance. In this example, Thames would recognize an asset called Deposit Paid on
Factory for €100 million.

ASSET MEASUREMENT

Each asset on a balance sheet has an associated monetary amount (the measurement of that
asset). Authoritative guidance specifies bases for measuring those monetary amounts. In this
section, we describe several measurement bases that U.S. GAAP and IFRS use.

Acquisition Cost or Historical Cost Acquisition (historical) cost is the amount of cash
paid (or the cash equivalent value of other forms of payment) to acquire an asset. Most assets
are initially measured using acquisition cost, which the firm can generally document by ref-
erence to contracts, invoices, and canceled checks. The reason for initially measuring an asset
at its acquisition cost is that the buyer believes the asset will generate future benefits (that is,
increased cash inflows or reduced cash outflows) that are at least as large as the purchase price.
Otherwise, the buyer would have an immediate economic loss and would have no incentive
to acquire the asset. This reasoning implies that acquisition cost sets the lower bound on the
asset’s expected future benefits.

In the case of a nonfinancial asset, the acquisition cost includes the invoice price and all
expenditures made or obligations incurred to prepare that asset for use. For example, trans-
portation costs, installation costs, handling charges, and brokerage fees are among the costs
incurred to place the asset into service. The acquisition cost of some equipment is shown in the
following illustration:

Invoice Price of EqUipment . . . . ..ottt €400,000
Less: 2% Discount for Prompt Cash Payment. . . ... ... i (8,000)
Net INVOTCE PriCe . . v vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e €392,000
Transportation CoSt . . . vttt e e 13,800
INstallation CoSt & v v v vttt e e e e e e e e e 27,000

Total COSt . v vt ittt e e e e €432,800

The firm may acquire assets by paying cash or exchanging other items of value. For exam-
ple, a firm may exchange its own shares to acquire an asset. If the consideration exchanged for
an asset is not cash, the acquisition cost is the fair value of the consideration given or the fair
value of the asset received, whichever the firm can more reliably measure.

Example 10 Return to Example 2, where Thames purchased new equipment in exchange
for 200,000 shares of its common stock. At the time of the transaction, Thames’s stock price
was €32 per share. Thames would record the equipment on its balance sheet at €6.4 million (=
200,000 shares X €32 per share), the fair value of the shares exchanged, plus any additional
costs incurred to prepare the equipment for its intended use.

Current Replacement Cost The current replacement cost of an asset is the amount a
firm would have to pay to obtain another asset with identical service potential; it is therefore an
entry value that reflects economic conditions at the measurement date. This measurement base
is often used in U.S. GAAP to measure inventories whose usefulness (typically, in terms of sal-
ability) to the firm has declined below the acquisition cost of the inventories. Because invento-
ries are purchased or produced frequently, measuring their current replacement cost may be as
simple as consulting suppliers’ catalogs or price lists.®

Net Realizable Value Net realizable value is the net cash (selling price less selling costs)
that the firm would receive if it sold the asset today in an arm’s-length transaction. Net

$Chapter 9 discusses inventory in more detail.
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realizable value is an example of an exit value, because it reflects a price that the firm would
receive when an asset leaves the firm. Net realizable value is similar, but not identical, to fair
value.

Fair Value U.S. GAAP and IFRS define fair value as “the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date.” Unlike net realizable value, fair value does not reduce the price for
selling costs or other transaction costs in the measurement.!’ The notion of fair value as an exit
value applies to both assets and liabilities.

The fair value of an asset is an opportunity cost in the sense that fair value reflects an
amount that the firm could receive if it sold the asset today. Fair value is the amount the firm
forgoes by not selling the asset. Fair value reflects a market participant perspective. This means
that the firm measures fair value based on how market participants would use the asset, not
how management intends to use the asset. In addition, fair value reflects current economic
conditions, as opposed to acquisition cost, which reflects the economic conditions that existed
when the firm acquired the asset. As a result, fair value can (and does) change, with the fre-
quency, direction, and magnitude of changes determined by economic conditions.

Fair value is also a hypothetical amount (that is, the price at which the firm could sell the
asset), so it does not require data from actual transactions for the asset’s measurement. In con-
trast, acquisition costs of assets are typically readily observable from records of actual transac-
tions, such as invoices. While fair value measurements need not be based on actual transactions,
some fair values are more observable than others. For example, some assets, such as commod-
ities and securities, trade on well-organized and active markets, so the firm can observe fair
values. In contrast, for assets that do not trade in active markets, the firm must estimate fair
values. In estimating these fair values, authoritative guidance requires that the firm use mea-
surement techniques, inputs, and assumptions that market participants would use if they were
arriving at a transaction price. We discuss next an example of a technique that firms can use to
arrive at a fair value measurement when active markets for the asset do not exist.

Present Value of Future Net Cash Flows Present value is the amount that results
from using an appropriate interest rate to discount one or more future cash flows to the pres-
ent.!" The present value of future cash flows is the sum of the present values of the individual
future cash inflows and outflows associated with an asset. Present value is not a measure-
ment attribute. Rather, it is a means of arriving at a measurement attribute. In particular, if
the inputs to a present value calculation—the discount rate and the future cash inflows and
outflows—are amounts that market participants would use, the firm can use this technique
to arrive at a fair value estimate. The present value of an asset is always less than the sum of
the undiscounted future cash inflows and outflows associated with that asset, because some
amount of implied interest cost is always associated with the use of cash and other resources.
The following example presents the general approach.

Example 11 Great Deal lends $1 million to Worldwide Retailers Inc. The terms of the loan
call for Worldwide to pay Great Deal $130,000 at the end of each of the next five years and
an additional $655,000 at the end of the fifth year. The total amount of cash that Worldwide
will pay Great Deal is $1.305 million (= [$130,000 X 5] + $655,000). The present value of the
future cash inflows associated with this loan differs as the discount rate changes. If the discount
rate is the rate that a market participant would demand in an arm’s-length lending arrange-
ment, the present value is an estimate of the fair value of the loan. For example, if that rate is
7%, the present value, which is also the fair value, is calculated as follows (assuming each cash
flow occurs at the end of the year indicated, in millions):

°The U.S. GAAP definition is in ASC 820-10, par. 35-2. The application of fair value measurement to assets is
in ASC 820-10, par. 35-10 to 35-15. The IFRS definition is in IASB, IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, 2011,
Appendix A.

"The reason for excluding transaction costs is that they are not an attribute of an asset or liability but rather
costs incurred to sell an asset or transfer a liability. They are thus specific to the transaction and not to the asset
or liability that is the subject of the transaction.

""The Appendix discusses the technique.
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First Year: .. ............ $130 + (1.07)! = $ 121.50
Second Year: . ........... 130 + (1.07)% = 113.55
Third Year:. . . ........... 130 + (1.07)® = 106.12
Fourth Year:. .. .......... 130 + (1.07)* = 99.18
Fifth Year:. . ............ 130 = (1.07)° = 92.69
Fifth Year:.............. 655 + (1.07)° = _ 467.01
Total: ...t = $1,000.05

The sum of these discounted future cash flows is $1 million (after rounding). From a busi-
ness perspective, Great Deal is lending $1 million with the expectation that it will receive both
the principal of $1 million and an annual return of 7%. Great Deal expects to receive a total
undiscounted cash inflow from Worldwide of $1.305 (= [$130 X 5] + $655) million. These
undiscounted cash inflows include both principal and interest at 7%.!2

We can use the discounted cash flow technique to illustrate estimating a fair value in the
absence of an observable market price. First, the firm must identify the amounts of future cash
flows. In the loan example, the cash flows are specified in the loan contract. As a practical matter,
however, the future cash flows associated with an asset may depend on numerous factors, includ-
ing technological innovation, product introductions by competitors, and inflation rates. Even
in the example of the loan with contractually specified cash flows, there is some possibility that
Worldwide will default (that is, not make the promised payments). In a fair value measurement,
Great Deal would use a market participant perspective to estimate the probability of default.

Second, the firm selects the appropriate rate to discount the future cash flows to the pres-
ent. To provide an estimate of the asset’s fair value, the discount rate should be the rate that
market participants would use, reflecting current economic conditions that include expectations
of inflation and any uncertainty about the cash flows of the asset.

MEASUREMENT APPROACHES FOR SPECIFIC ASSETS

The same asset can have different measurements for tax purposes, for financial reporting pur-
poses, and for internal managerial decision-making purposes. In addition, certain specialized
business situations call for specific measurements; for example, an insurance policy on a ware-
house might specify that the insured amount of the warehouse is the cost to replace the ware-
house. In this textbook we focus on measurement for financial reporting.

Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS specify the asset measurement basis for financial reporting. As
noted earlier in this chapter, acquisition cost is the initial measurement basis for most assets.
Subsequent measurement depends on the type of asset. We discuss several broad categories of
assets and their measurements next.

Financial assets include cash and claims to cash, such as accounts receivable. The most
liquid financial asset, cash, appears as the amount of cash on hand or in the bank. Accounts
receivable from customers appears as the amount of cash the firm expects to collect. If the time
until collection extends beyond one year, by convention the firm discounts the expected future
cash inflow to a present value; otherwise, the measurement of receivables ignores implied inter-
est. Because the firm collects most accounts receivable within one to three months, the conven-
tion to ignore discounting for these assets rests on a lack of materiality.'?

In addition to cash and receivables, many firms also have financial assets in the form of
investments in marketable securities, typically bonds and stocks issued by other firms. The firm
initially measures these assets at acquisition cost, but the subsequent measurement depends on
the nature of the investment.'*

Nonfinancial assets are tangible and intangible resources that firms use in operations to
generate future cash flows. Common examples include inventory, land, buildings, machin-
ery, licenses, and patents. Firms initially measure nonfinancial assets at acquisition cost; they

2We discuss fair value measurement more fully in Chapter 11. Other techniques for estimating the fair value of
assets go beyond the scope of this textbook.

3Chapter 1 discusses the concept of materiality.

“Chapter 13 discusses marketable security investments.
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subsequently reduce this amount to reflect the consumption over time of the asset’s economic
benefits as well as to recognize declines in the fair value of the asset.

The first adjustment results from the depreciation process, which allocates the asset’s acqui-
sition cost less estimated salvage value to the periods during which the asset provides future
benefits (also called the asset’s useful life). Depreciation allocates the asset’s cost to the periods
of benefit. The depreciation process always results in reducing the asset’s carrying value,' from
initial acquisition cost to salvage value. The purpose of depreciation is to allocate costs to peri-
ods of benefit, not to track changes in fair value.

The second adjustment results from impairment, which occurs when an asset’s fair value
falls below its carrying value. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require that firms test assets for
impairment and have specific rules for measuring the amount of an impairment loss.'¢

THREE CONVENTIONS UNDERLYING
ASSET MEASUREMENT

Three conventions underlie the measurement of asset values: going concern, relevance and reli-
ability, and conservatism.

GoOING CONCERN

Accounting presumes that a firm will remain in operation long enough to carry out its current
plans. A firm that is a going concern will realize changes in the fair values of its assets by using
those assets or by selling them. Realized means converted to cash. An item is recognized, for
accounting purposes, when it is displayed in the financial statements."” For most assets, U.S.
GAAP and IFRS require the following recognition rules:

B Value decreases. The firm recognizes value decreases as impairment losses when the
decreases occur before it realizes the collection of the reduced cash flows. Thus, firms gen-
erally recognize unrealized losses.

B Value increases. U.S. GAAP forbids the recognition of unrealized gains from increases in
the fair value of most nonfinancial assets. The firm can realize the fair value increase by
selling the appreciated asset. IFRS permits, but does not require, firms to recognize unreal-
ized increases in the fair values of some nonfinancial assets on their balance sheets. That is,
IFRS permits firms to revalue certain nonfinancial assets to fair values that exceed carrying
values.'

RELEVANCE AND RELIABILITY

Recall the third criterion for asset recognition: the future benefit has a relevant measurement
basis that the firm can quantify with sufficient reliability."” Relevance means that the informa-
tion could affect the decisions of users of financial reports. Relevant financial accounting infor-
mation helps users form predictions or correct their expectations. Standard setters must choose
which of an asset’s several attributes, such as historical cost, fair value, and market value, pro-
vides the most relevant measurement, subject to reliability considerations.

Reliability means that the information presented is reasonably free from error and bias
and faithfully represents what it purports to represent. Standard setters view acquisition cost
measurements as providing reliable information that faithfully represents the economic value

5An asset’s carrying value is its value reported on the balance sheet.

1“Chapter 10 discusses these requirements more fully.

"The distinction between recognition and realization is essential to accrual accounting, hence the importance
accorded to recognition criteria. Firms recognize items that qualify for inclusion in the financial statements
when they enter the financial statements, regardless of when those items are realized by conversion to cash.

Chapter 10 discusses these cases.

YRelevance and representational faithfulness are discussed in FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts
No. 8, “Chapter 3, Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information,” 2010, par. QC6—QC10 and par.
QCI12-QCl6, respectively.
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sacrificed to acquire an asset. Reliability encompasses also the ability to verify the measured
amount. Acquisition cost is reliable in that different accountants will likely agree on the same
amount because each of them can verify the acquisition cost by reference to contracts and
invoices. Fair value measurements can be reliable, for example, if the asset being measured
trades in an active market. Because many assets do not trade in active markets, some accoun-
tants view acquisition costs as more reliable than fair values.

CONSERVATISM

Historically, conservatism has described a preference for financial reporting such “that possible
errors in measurement be in the direction of understatement rather than overstatement of net
income and net assets.”? Conservatism is the basis for the practice of reporting certain assets at
the lower of acquisition cost or fair value.?! The requirement to test assets for impairment and
to record impairment charges rests on the notion that a balance sheet carrying value should not
exceed the amount of cash that the firm expects to receive by using or selling the asset. Acquisi-
tion cost measurement combined with impairment testing thus provides conservative (that is,
lower) asset balance sheet values.

The general acceptance of these three conventions does not justify them. Some manag-
ers appear to prefer acquisition cost measures to fair value measures because the latter usu-
ally cause more volatility in reported income. The increased volatility results from fair values
reflecting changes in economic conditions as they occur. For the most part, U.S. GAAP and
IFRS specify the measurement basis. We will note the cases in which management has a choice
of measurement basis.

| 10 06]:105Y 8 4.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

Asset recognition and measurement. The following transactions relate to Polo Ralph
Lauren (“Polo”). For each, indicate whether the transaction immediately gives rise to an
asset for Polo and, if so, state the account title and amount Polo will record.

a. Polo spends $16 million to advertise a new line of perfume in the expectation that the
advertisements will attract new customers.

b. Polo signs a contract with Nordstrom for the distribution of its fall line of clothes.
Polo promises to distribute certain jeans exclusively through Nordstrom, and Nor-
dstrom promises to display and market the jeans in a manner designed to increase
sales. Polo estimates the fair value of the contract to be $4 million.

c. Polo invests $24 million in research and development related to its paint line of
business.

d. Polo spends $800,000 on tuition assistance programs for its middle-level managers to
obtain MBAs. Historically, 80% of the managers who seek MBAs receive them and
remain with the company five years or more.

e. Polo acquires and occupies a warehouse outside Seattle by signing a mortgage pay-
able for $75 million. Legal title for the warehouse remains with the bank (the holder
of the mortgage) because Polo has yet not made all the required mortgage payments.

2 Accounting Principles Board, Statement 4, par. 171, as discussed in FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting
Concepts No. 2, “Qualitative Characteristics of Accounting Information,” 1980. The latter was superseded in
2010 by Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 8. Later, you will learn that no accounting method can
report smaller income in all periods. The more conservative method reports lower income in earlier periods and
higher income in later periods.

2l As previously discussed, IFRS but not U.S. GAAP permits, but does not require, certain assets to be measured
at fair value even when fair value exceeds acquisition cost. In this sense, IFRS is less conservative than U.S.
GAAP.
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LIABILITY RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

LiaBiLiTY DEFINITION AND RECOGNITION

A liability arises when a firm receives goods or services and, in exchange, promises to pay the
provider of those goods or services a reasonably definite amount at a reasonably definite future
time.?? All accounting liabilities are obligations, but not all obligations are liabilities. To be a
liability, an item must meet both (1) the definition of a liability and (2) recognition criteria:

B Liability Definition Liabilities are probable? future sacrifices of economic benefits arising
from present obligations to transfer assets or provide services to other entities in the future
as a result of a past event or transaction.

B Liability Recognition The criteria for liability recognition are as follows:
1. The item represents a present obligation, not a potential future commitment or intent.

2. The obligation must exist as a result of a past transaction or exchange, called the 0bli-
gating event.

3. The obligation must require a probable future economic resource that the firm has little
or no discretion to avoid.

4. The obligation must have a relevant measurement base that the firm can quantify with
sufficient reliability.

To help you better understand liability recognition, we consider several examples of trans-
actions that result in obligations, and some that do not result in obligations.

Example 12 Great Deal purchased merchandise inventory from Sony and agreed to pay Sony
$180,000 within 30 days. This obligation is a liability on Great Deal’s balance sheet because
Great Deal received the goods and must pay a definite amount, $180,000, at a reasonably defi-
nite future time, within 30 days. Because Great Deal has promised to pay the amount within
one year, it is a current liability (accounts payable).

Example 13 Great Deal borrowed $50 million by issuing long-term bonds whose terms
require that on February 27 of each year, Great Deal pays 10% of the amount borrowed. In
addition, Great Deal must repay the $50 million amount borrowed in 20 years. The $50 million
obligation is a liability because Great Deal received the cash and must repay the debt. Great
Deal reports the borrowed amount as a noncurrent liability on its balance sheet (included in
Long-Term Debt) until the end of the 19th year, at which time Great Deal will reclassify the
$50 million as a current liability (included in Current Portion of Long-Term Debt). In contrast,
the annual 10% interest becomes a liability as time passes. By the end of each year, Great Deal
will record (accrue) $5 million (= 0.10 X $50 million) as Interest Payable, a current liability.
The obligating event is the passage of time.

Example 14 Thames received an advance of €60 million from a customer for navigation air
systems that Thames will deliver next year. The cash advance creates a liability for Thames
of €60 million. The obligating event is Thames’s receipt of the cash. Thames has incurred an
obligation to deliver the air systems next year, or it must return the cash advance.” Because it
expects to discharge this obligation within 12 months by delivering the systems, Thames clas-
sifies the €60 million as a current liability on its balance sheet, included in Advance Payments
from Customers.”

2The U.S. GAAP liability definition is in FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of
Financial Statements,” 1985, par. 35, and its recognition criteria are in Statement of Financial Accounting Con-
cepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measurement in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” 1984, par. 63-65.
The IFRS liability definition is in International Accounting Standards Board, Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements, 1989, par. 60—64. The Glossary discusses the U.S. GAAP and IFRS
definitions of a liability.

2 As was the case with the asset definition, the word probable as used in the liability definition refers to something
that can be reasonably expected or believed based on available evidence.

*In some transactions of this sort, the manufacturer does not have the option to return the cash. If the manu-
facturer does not provide the goods as promised, it may be liable for court-awarded damages based on the
economic harm the customer suffered from not getting the promised items.

We discuss this account more fully in Chapter 8.
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Example 15 Thames signs an agreement with its employees’ labor union, promising to
increase wages by 6% and to increase medical benefits. Although this agreement creates an
obligation, it does not immediately create a liability because the obligating event has not yet
occurred. That event occurs when employees provide labor services that require Thames to pay
wages and provide medical benefits. As employees work, Thames recognizes a liability on its
balance sheet.

The agreement in Example 15 is a mutually unexecuted contract (also called an executory
contract) because neither Thames nor its employees have performed under the contract. Firms
usually do not recognize the obligations created by mutually unexecuted contracts as account-
ing liabilities, nor do they recognize the benefits of such contracts as assets, as illustrated previ-
ously in Example 8.2

Example 16 Thames provides a five-year warranty on the communication systems it builds
and sells. The promise to provide repair services under the warranty agreement creates an obli-
gation, resulting from the sale of the communication systems. The selling price for a Thames
system includes payment for future warranty services even if the invoice does not explicitly
show the portion of the total purchase price associated with the warranty. At the time of sale,
Thames receives a benefit (the cash collected from the customer), but it has not fulfilled its obli-
gations with respect to the warranty period. It will fulfill those obligations over the five-year
warranty period. Based on past experience, Thames estimates both the proportion of custom-
ers who will seek services under the warranty agreement and the expected cost of providing the
warranty services. These estimates form the basis for measuring the warranty liability.?

Example 17 A customer files a suit claiming damages of €10 million from faulty defense sys-
tems that Thames manufactured. The case has not yet gone to trial, so no court has yet ren-
dered a decision or verdict. Firms do not recognize unsettled lawsuits as liabilities unless the
firm judges that it will probably lose, and the loss estimate satisfies some other conditions. If
the firm judges the eventual loss to be less than probable or if it judges the loss to be probable
but it cannot estimate the amount of payment, it will not recognize a liability. That is, unless it
is probable that Thames will have to pay and Thames can estimate the amount of payment, then
it will not record a liability for the lawsuit. Thames will disclose in notes to its financial state-
ments the existence of the lawsuit (if it is material) and the potential for future payments.

The warranty in Example 16 illustrates a liability that is of uncertain timing or amount or
both. Probable as a recognition criterion for liabilities with uncertain amount, uncertain tim-
ing, or both has a different meaning from the meaning in the asset and liability definition.
The IFRS guidance for recognizing these liabilities defines probable as more likely than not,
which implies more than 50%. Applying this criterion to Example 16, Thames would deter-
mine whether the likelihood that customers will require warranty services exceeds 50% and, if
yes, Thames will recognize a warranty liability. U.S. GAAP does not set a precise threshold to
probable; in practice the rule of thumb is approximately 80%. That is, a liability with uncertain
amount or timing or both must be at least 80% likely in order to recognize it. U.S. GAAP and
TFRS require similar (but not identical) measurements for these liabilities. Both specify that the
firm will recognize the liability (that is, measure the liability) at the most likely amount.?

The lawsuit (Example 17) illustrates an obligation that a firm would not recognize under
either U.S. GAAP or IFRS, although the firm would disclose the lawsuit in the notes if it
judged it to be material. In this example, the firm does not judge the obligation arising from the
lawsuit as probable and it cannot reasonably estimate the amount.

Arrangements of the sort illustrated in Examples 16 and 17 are common. For example,
most firms that sell products include some kind of warranty (Example 16). Arrangements like
the lawsuit in Example 17 are often disclosed, but not recognized, because they do not meet the
criteria specified for the accounting recognition of liabilities. For example, Great Deal displays
a commitment and contingencies line on the balance sheet; information about this item is in
Note 13. Thames’s balance sheet (Exhibit 1.5) displays an account called Reserves for Contin-
gencies; additional information is in Note 22.%

%Chapter 12 discusses the accounting treatment of some of these arrangements.

YChapter 9 discusses warranty liabilities.

#In U.S. GAAP, if there is a range of possible outcomes and no amount in this range is more likely than
any other amount, the firm will recognize the minimum of the range. Under IFRS, if the firm’s arrangement
involves a large number of items, such as a warranty, the firm will recognize the expected value.

PThe Glossary contains a discussion of reserve, as that word is used in accounting.
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SUMMARY OF LIABILITY RECOGNITION

Examples 12-17 illustrate obligations with varying amounts of uncertainty with respect to
amount and timing, as well as measurement. Figure 4.1 classifies obligations into six catego-
ries based on these characteristics. As the examples and the figure illustrate, obligations vary
considerably in the extent to which they contain uncertainties. In some cases, authoritative
guidance precludes the recognition of uncertain obligations that do not meet a probability
threshold.

LiaBILITY MEASUREMENT

Many liabilities are financial, requiring settlement with cash or other assets. The firm reports
those due within one year or less at the amount required to discharge the obligation. If the pay-
ment dates extend more than one year into the future (for example, the case of the Great Deal
bonds in Example 13), the firm records the liability on the balance sheet as a noncurrent liabil-
ity, measured at the present value of the future cash outflows.*

A liability that requires delivering goods or rendering services, rather than paying cash, is
nonfinancial. The warranty liability in Example 16 is nonfinancial because Thames has agreed
to provide services—system repairs. The cash advance in Example 14 is also nonfinancial,
because Thames will settle the liability by delivering systems. Other examples of nonfinancial
liabilities arising from cash payments from customers include amounts received by retailers for
(as yet) unused gift cards, by magazine publishers for future magazine deliveries, by theatrical
and sports teams for future performances or games, by landlords for future rental services, and
by airlines for tickets purchased in advance. Account titles used for liabilities of this type include
Advances from Customers, Deferred Revenues, Unearned Revenues, and Deferred Income.?!

m Classification of Obligations by Degree of Certainty

Obligations with Obligations

Obligations . Obligations . . Obligations Obligations That Are
e Fixed Payment . . with Uncertain
with Fixed Arising from .. Under Mutually Not Probable, Cannot
Amounts but Timing and
Payment Dates X Advances from Unexecuted Be Reasonably
Estimated Amount of .
and Amounts Customers a Contracts Estimated, or Both
Payment Dates Payment
Most _ Least
Certain Certain

Recognized as
Accounting Liabilities

Not Generally Recognized
as Accounting Liabilities

aThe firm recognizes these obligations as accounting liabilities if the amounts are probable and can be reasonably estimated.

© Cengage Learning 2014

| A0 IHEVE 4.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

Liability recognition and measurement. The following transactions relate to Polo Ralph
Lauren (“Polo”). For each, indicate whether the transaction immediately gives rise to a
liability and, if so, state the account title and amount that Polo would recognize.

a. Polo’s boutique stores sell gift cards for $100 per card. Assume that gift cards expire
three years from the date of issuance.

(continued)

¥Chapter 11 describes the measurement of debt obligations.

31 Although these account titles are common in practice, we do not use all of them in this book. The word revenue
in the account titles may lead the reader to infer that the firm has recognized items in income, when, in fact, this
is not the case.
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b. Refer to Problem 4.1 for Self-Study, part a. Polo receives an invoice for $16 mil-
lion in advertising services from the supplier, an agency that specializes in television
advertisements.

c. Attorneys have notified Polo that the firm is a defendant in a lawsuit claiming $12 mil-
lion in lost profits and damages, based on allegations that Polo unlawfully used fashion
designs belonging to the plaintiff. Polo’s lawyers predict that the court will probably
find Polo liable in the lawsuit, and Polo’s management estimates that the range of dam-
ages is $2 million to $10 million, with all amounts in this range equally likely.

d. A two-week strike by employees closed down one of Polo’s clothing manufacturing
facilities. As a result, Polo could not deliver merchandise totaling $20 million, for
which it has already received payment.

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY MEASUREMENT
AND DISCLOSURE

Shareholders’ equity is a residual interest or claim. That is, the owners (shareholders) of a firm
have a claim on assets not required to meet the claims of creditors.?> The measurement of the
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet therefore determines the measurement of total share-
holders’ equity. The accounting process also provides an independent derivation of the amount
of shareholders’ equity.

Corporate laws within many jurisdictions require that, within shareholders’ equity,
firms distinguish between amounts received from owners and amounts generated by opera-
tions that the firm has not distributed to owners. The amounts that firms report as received
from owners equal the amounts the firm received when it originally issued those shares.
Many firms further disaggregate the initial amounts they received from shareholders for
common shares into the par or nominal or stated value of the shares and the amounts
received in excess of this value, called additional paid-in capital (APIC), share premium, or
capital contributed in excess of par value.> We use additional paid-in capital, or APIC, to refer
to this account. The firm assigns the par value of a share of stock at an amount it chooses.
Par values are typically small, often $1 or less per share, and rarely equal the amounts the firm
receives when it issues the shares. The sum of the par value amount and the additional paid-in
capital amount is the total amount received from shareholders when the firm first issued the
shares. This total amount is also called contributed capital or paid-in capital.

For example, Great Deal reports that the par value of its common shares is $42 million.
Great Deal also reports additional paid-in capital of $441 million. Total paid-in capital for
Great Deal is, therefore, the sum of $42 million and $441 million, or $483 million.

Any subsequent sale of common shares from one investor to another (such as occurs on
stock exchanges) has no effect on the recorded amounts of shareholders’ equity. The issuing
firm does not take part in those transactions. As a result, in a rising stock market, the total
paid-in capital amount reported on a balance sheet will usually be less than the current market
value of the common shares. The balance sheet amount of shareholders’ equity does not, and is
not intended to, provide a measure of the market value of common equity. The user can, how-
ever, learn the market value of a publicly traded firm by looking up the most recent share price
(as reported in various online services) and then multiplying this share price times the number
of common shares outstanding, as reported on the balance sheet.

Retained earnings measures the net assets generated by a firm from operations exceeding
dividends declared. The Retained Earnings account accumulates the amounts of these undis-
tributed earnings over time. When the firm has accumulated losses, rather than profits, the
account is typically called Accumulated Deficit rather than Retained Earnings.

2FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 6, “Elements of Financial Statements,” 1985, par. 49.

$The distinction between par value and additional paid-in capital has legal significance but not economic signifi-
cance. For this reason, some firms report a single account, often called common stock, equal to the sum of par
value and additional paid-in capital.
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Retained earnings are a source of financing for assets. Retained earnings are not cash or
other assets. In contrast to liabilities and contributed capital, which common practice refers to
as external financing, common practice refers to retained earnings as internal financing.

Example 18 Hoskins Limited legally incorporated on January 1, 2011. In its initial public
offering (IPO), the firm issued 15,000 shares of €0.10 par value common stock for €10 cash per
share. During 2011, Hoskins generated net income of €30,000 and paid dividends of €10,000.
The shareholders’ equity section of the balance sheet of Hoskins on December 31, 2011, is as

follows:
Common Stock (at par value of €0.10 per share, 15,000 shares issued and outstanding). .. ... € 1,500
Additional Paid-In Capital. . . ... ..ot e 148,500
Retained Earmings . . . . oottt e 20,000
Total Shareholders” EQUity . . . . o oo ot e €170,000

The €1,500 amount reported as the total par value of the shares is the par value per share
times the total number of shares issued, or €0.10 per share X 15,000 shares. The €148,500
amount reported as additional paid-in capital (APIC) is the difference between the proceeds
from the sale of stock of €150,000 (= 15,000 X €10) and the par value of €1,500. The €20,000
amount of retained earnings reported by Hoskins for its first year of operations is the amount
of undistributed earnings, €30,000 of income minus €10,000 dividends.

Example 19 Continuing Example 18, assume it is now December 31, 2012. During 2012,
Hoskins issued another 5,000 shares of stock at €12 per share, earned net income of €5,000,
and paid dividends of €10,000. The shareholders’ equity section of the balance sheet of
Hoskins on December 31, 2012, is as follows:

Common Stock (at par value of €0.10 per share, 20,000 shares issued and outstanding). .. ... € 2,000
Additional Paid-In Capital. . . .. ...t e 208,000
Retained Earmings . . . . oo ottt e 15,000

Total Shareholders” EQUity . . . . oo oottt e €225,000

The €2,000 amount reported as total par value is the par value per share times the total
number of shares issued, or €0.10 per share X 20,000 shares. This €2,000 amount is the sum of
the par value of 1,500 shares issued in 2011 plus the par value of 5,000 shares issued in 2012.
The €208,000 amount reported as additional paid-in capital (APIC) is the sum of the €148,500
of APIC from 2011 plus the €59,500 of APIC from the issuance of 5,000 shares in 2012 (€12
per share X 5,000 shares minus €500 par value, or €60,000 — €500). The increase in Hoskins’s
share price, from €10 per share in 2011 to €12 per share in 2012, does not change the amount
reported on the balance sheet for the 15,000 shares issued in 2011. The firm does not change
the amounts reported for total paid-in capital (par value and APIC) to reflect changes in share
price. Rather, those amounts reflect the share price at the time the firm originally issued the
shares.™

Hoskins’s retained earnings at the end of 2012 of €15,000 is the cumulative undistributed
earnings through its second year of operations, equal to the beginning-of-2012 retained earn-
ings of €20,000, plus 2012 earnings of €5,000, minus 2012 dividends of €10,000. Because divi-
dends reduce retained earnings, not current earnings, a firm can declare and pay a dividend that
exceeds its net income for the year. A firm could even pay dividends in a year that it generated
aloss.

3#*Chapter 15 describes more complex transactions that affect additional paid-in capital.
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SUMMARY

The balance sheet displays three classes of items: assets, liabilities, and shareholders’ equity.
These items depict a firm’s financial position at a point in time. Broadly speaking, assets repre-
sent future economic benefits in the form of resources available to carry out operations. Liabili-
ties and shareholders’ equity show the sources of funds the firm used to acquire the resources
and show the claims on them. The following are two key factors in preparing a balance sheet:

1. Deciding whether items meet the definitions and recognition criteria for assets and liabili-
ties and, if so,

2. Deciding how to measure the items.

For a firm to recognize an asset, a resource must represent a future economic benefit that
the firm controls as a result of a past transaction or exchange, and the firm must be able to
measure the resource with sufficient reliability. For a firm to recognize an obligation as a liabil-
ity, the obligation must impose a future economic sacrifice because of a past event or transac-
tion that the firm has little or no discretion to avoid, and the firm must be able to measure
the obligation with sufficient reliability. Shareholders’ equity reports the amounts of funding
attributable to owners’ contributions and resulting from the retention of net assets generated by
earnings. Shareholders’ equity equals the difference between total assets and total liabilities and
typically comprises contributed (paid-in) capital and retained earnings.

Most asset and liability definitions and recognition criteria—particularly for items that we
focus on in this book—are similar under U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Once an item has met the
appropriate recognition criteria, the firm must measure the amount it will report on the balance
sheet. Measurement depends on the item being considered. U.S. GAAP and IFRS specify how
a firm should measure each asset and liability. Firms generally measure financial assets at their
cash equivalent amounts, while they generally report nonfinancial assets at acquisition cost,
reduced for use and impairment.

SOLUTIONS TO SELF-STUDY PROBLEMS

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 4.1 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Polo Ralph Lauren; asset recognition and measurement)

a. Polo does not recognize an asset. U.S. GAAP and IFRS do not allow firms to capitalize
most advertising expenditures as assets (the exception is certain direct-response marketing
costs®) because of the uncertainty of future benefits and measurement uncertainty.

b. Polo does not recognize an asset. U.S. GAAP and IFRS do not allow firms to record
exchanges of promises as assets.

c. U.S. GAAP and IFRS do not permit the recognition of research expenditures as assets
because of the uncertainty of future benefits and measurement uncertainty. This account-
ing issue is discussed more fully in Chapter 10.

d. Polo does not recognize an asset because of the uncertainty of future benefits and mea-
surement uncertainty, as given in part a.

e. Polo will recognize an asset, Land and Building, and measure it at $75 million. Polo must
allocate the purchase price between the land and the building because the building is depre-
ciable and the land is not. Polo will likely base the allocation on appraisals for the land
and building evaluated separately. Legal passage of title is not necessary to justify asset

$Direct-response marketing costs consist primarily of advertisements, including coupons for a firm’s products
or services. U.S. GAAP concluded that firms can measure the probable future economic benefits of these costs
with a sufficient degree of reliability, so the firm should recognize the costs as assets on the balance sheet. The
firm then amortizes the asset over its expected period of future benefits; in the case of coupons, this service life
is three months. (American Institute of Certified Public Accounting, Accounting Standards Executive Commit-
tee, Statement of Position 937, Reporting on Advertising Costs, 1994.)
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recognition. Polo has acquired the rights to use the land and building and can sustain those
rights as long as it makes the required payments on the mortgage obligation.

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 4.2 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Polo Ralph Lauren; liability recognition and measurement)
a. Polo would record a liability, Advances from Customers, measured as the amount received
on the sale of the gift cards.
b. Polo would record a liability, Accounts Payable, measured as $16 million.

c. Polo will recognize a liability, measured at the minimum point of the range, applying U.S.
GAAP.

d. At the time it received the payment, Polo recorded a liability for $20 million, Advances
from Customers. Because the firm has already recognized a liability, and assuming the cus-
tomers are willing to wait for the delayed delivery, the firm need recognize no additional
liability.

KEY TERMS AND CONCEPTS

Balance sheet equation Nonfinancial assets

Financing structure Going concern

Operating cycle Realized

Current assets Recognized

Noncurrent assets Relevance

Current liabilities Reliability

Noncurrent liabilities Conservatism

Asset definition Liability definition

Asset recognition Liability recognition

Executory contract Mutually unexecuted contract, executory
Acquisition (historical) cost contract

Current replacement cost Shareholders’ equity

Entry value Par, nominal, or stated value

Net realizable value Additional paid-in capital (APIC), share
Exit value premium, capital contributed in excess
Fair value of par value

Opportunity cost Contributed capital, paid-in capital
Present value of future cash flows Retained earnings

Financial assets Accumulated deficit

QUESTIONS, EXERCISES, AND PROBLEMS

QUESTIONS

1. Review the meaning of the terms and concepts listed in Key Terms and Concepts.
2. Who might the accounting convention of conservatism hurt?

3. One of the criteria for the recognition of an asset or a liability is that there be an exchange.
What justification can you see for this requirement?

4. Identify the underlying accounting principle that guides the items to include in the acquisi-
tion cost of inventories, equipment, buildings, and other similar assets. What is the ratio-
nale for this accounting principle?

5. Accounting typically does not recognize either assets or liabilities for mutually unexecuted
contracts. What justification can you see for this treatment?
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6. Accounting treats cash discounts taken on the purchase of merchandise or equipment as
a reduction in the amount recorded for the assets acquired. What justification can you see
for this treatment?

7. A group of investors owns an office building that it rents unfurnished to tenants. It pur-
chased the building five years previously from a construction company. At that time, it
expected the building to have a useful life of 40 years. Indicate the procedures you might
follow to ascertain the measurement amount for this building under each of the following
measurement approaches:

a. Acquisition cost.

b. Adjusted acquisition cost (reduced for services already consumed).
c¢. Current replacement cost.

d. Net realizable value.

e. Fair value.

8. Some of the assets of one firm correspond to the liabilities of another firm. For example,
an account receivable on the seller’s balance sheet is an account payable on the buyer’s
balance sheet. For each of the following items, indicate whether it is an asset or a liability
and give the corresponding account title on the balance sheet of the other party to the
transaction:

. Advances from Customers.

. Bonds Payable.

Interest Receivable.

. Prepaid Insurance.

e a0 T

Rental Fees Received in Advance.

9. For each of the following items, indicate whether the item meets all of the criteria in the
definition of a liability. If so, how does the firm value it?

. Interest accrued but not paid on a note.

. Advances from customers for goods and services to be delivered later.
Confirmed orders from customers for goods and services to be delivered later.
. Product warranties.

Damages the company must pay if it loses a pending lawsuit.

- e e T

Contractual promises to purchase specific quantities of natural gas for each of the next
10 years.
g. Promises by an airline to provide flights in the future in exchange for miles flown, if
customers accumulate a certain number of miles at regular fares.
10. What is the amount of the liability that the company recognizes in each of the following
independent cases?
a. A plaintiff files a lawsuit against the company. The probability is 90% that the company
will lose. If it loses, the amount of the loss will most likely be $100,000.

b. A cereal company issues coupons that can be exchanged for boxes of cereal. It issues 1
million coupons that promise the retailer who redeems the coupons $1 per coupon. The
probability of redemption of any one coupon is 9%.

11. The word probable appears in the definitions of assets and liabilities and in the recognition
criteria for liabilities with uncertain amount and/or timing.
a. What is the meaning of probable as used in the definitions of assets and liabilities?

b. How does the meaning of probable as used in the recognition criteria for liabilities with
uncertain amount and/or timing differ between U.S. GAAP and IFRS?

EXERCISES

12. Balance sheet formats. The following information is based on the balance sheet of Aracel,
a Brazilian manufacturer of paper pulp, for Year 6. Aracel applies U.S. GAAP and reports
its results in thousands of U.S. dollars. (Adapted from the financial statements of Aracruz
Celulose.)
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Inventories. ... ... $ 202,704
Other Current ASSetS . ..........covivuuenn... 132,782
Other Long-Term Liabilities. . ................. 350,761
Property, Plant, and Equipment, net............ 2,151,212
Retained Earnings. . ......................... 1,293,301
Cash and Short-Term Investments. ............. 579,643
Goodwill ....... ... . ... . 192,035
Common Stock (nopar)...................... 295,501
Preferred Stock . ... ... . . 614,496
Other Noncurrent Assets .. ................... 451,757
Current Liabilities. ... ......... ... ... ...... 286,819
Long-Term Debt . .......... ... ... ... ..... 1,155,050
Accounts Receivable ... ...................... 285,795

a. Prepare a balance sheet for Aracel for Year 6 assuming the firm follows U.S. GAAP.
b. Prepare a balance sheet for Aracel for Year 6 assuming the firm follows IFRS.

13. Balance sheet formats. The following information is based on the fiscal Year 7 balance
sheet of Delicious Foods Group, a Belgian food distributor. Delicious Foods applies IFRS
and reports its results in millions of euros. Prepare a balance sheet for Delicious Foods that
uses a format common to firms reporting under U.S. GAAP. (Adapted from the financial
statements of Delhaize Group.)

Assets
GoOdWILL .« e e e €2,445.7
Intangible AsSets . .o v vttt e e 552.1
Property, Plant, and Equipment . . . ... ..ttt e 3,383.1
Other Noncurrent Assets. . . .o e e 244.0
€6,624.9
Inventories . ... e €1,262.0
Receivables . . . oo e 564.6
Other Current AsSets . . . oo i e 121.5
Cash and Cash Equivalents . ...... .ottt e e e i 248.9
€2,197.0
Total AsSets . o oot e €8,821.9
Liabilities and Equity S
Share Capital « v oottt e e € 50.1
Share Premium . . ...t e 2,698.9
Retained Earmings . . v v v vttt et e e 2,355.3
Other Reserves and Adjustments . . ... .ot (1,428.3)
Total Shareholders” EQUItY. .« v v oottt e e e e e €3,676.0
Long-Term Debt . . ..ottt e €1,911.7
Obligations Under Finance Leases. . . . v v oo it ettt e e e 595.9
PrOVISTONS L o ot e e 207.2
Other Noncurrent Liabilities .. ... ... 210.4
Total Noncurrent Liabilities. . .. . ..o oo €2,925.2
Short-Term BorroWings. . . v v v vttt ettt e ettt e € 415
Long-Term Debt, Current Portion . ... ...ttt it 108.9
Obligations Under Finance Lease, Current Portion . ... ... ..o vivivn .. 39.0
PrOVISTONS L o oot e 41.8
Income Tax Payable. . .. ..ot e 58.7
Accounts Payable . ... ...t e 1,435.8
ACCTUE EXPENSES .« v v v vt ettt e et et e e e e e e 375.7

(continued)
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Other Current Liabilities. . . . ..ottt e 119.3
Total Current Liabilities . . . ..o v i €2,220.7
Total Liabilities. . . . oo e €5,145.9
Total Liabilities and EQUity . . . o oo ettt e €8,821.9

14. Classifying financial statement accounts. The balance sheet or income statement classifies
various items in one of the following ways:
CA—Current assets
NA-—Noncurrent assets
CL—Current liabilities
NL—Noncurrent liabilities
CC—Contributed capital
RE—Retained earnings
NI—Income statement item (revenue or expense)
X—Item generally does not appear on a balance sheet or an income statement
Using the abbreviations in the previous list, indicate the classification of each of the fol-

lowing items under U.S. GAAP and IFRS. If the classifications differ between U.S. GAAP
and IFRS, indicate what that difference would be.

a. Factory.

b. Interest revenue.

c. Treasury shares repurchased by a corporation.

d. Research and development expenditures.

e. Automobiles used by sales staff.

f. Cash on hand.

. Promise to a vendor to buy inventory from it next period.

= 0Q

. Commissions earned by sales staff.

=

Supplies inventory.
Note payable, due in three months.

o

. Increase in fair value of land held.
Dividends declared.
. Income taxes owed to state or city government.

55 -

Note payable, due in six years.
0. The portion of the note payable in part n that is due next year.

15. Balance sheet relations. Jennings Group, a Malaysian investment management company,
reported the following data for four recent years. Jennings applies Malaysian accounting
standards and reports its results in millions of ringgit (RM). Compute the missing balance
sheet amounts for each of the four years. In answering this question, assume that Jennings
uses U.S. GAAP. (Adapted from the financial statements of Genting Group.)

Year 7 Year 6 Year 5 Year 4

Noncurrent Assets. .. ........... ? RM18,717.4 RM11,289.1 RM9,713.9
Shareholders’ Equity . ........... RM21,537.3 16,666.9 9,002.0 ?
Total Assets . . ................ ? 28,224.7 ? ?
Current Liabilities. . ............ ? 4,351.3 1,494.2 1,755.2
Current Assets . ............... 10,999.2 ? ? 6,882.6
Noncurrent Liabilities ........... 5,721.7 ? ? 3,540.7
Total Liabilities and

Shareholders’ Equity. .. ....... 30,178.9 ? 18,491.3 ?

16. Balance sheet relations. Selected balance sheet amounts for Kyoto Corporation, a Japanese
construction firm, are shown in the following table for four recent years. Kyoto applies
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Japanese accounting standards and reports its results in billions of yen (¥). Compute
the missing balance sheet amounts for each of the four years. In answering this ques-
tion, assume that Kyoto uses IFRS. (Adapted from the financial statements of Kajima
Corporation.)

Year 10 Year 9 Year 8 Year 7
Total Assets . . .......ovvvvn... ¥2,107 ? ? ¥1,870
Noncurrent Liabilities ........... 437 ? ¥ 411 467
Noncurrent Assets. . ............ ? ¥ 773 703 ?
Total Liabilities. . . ............. ? ? 1,583 ?
Current Liabilities . . ............ 1,318 1,148 ? 1,172
Shareholders” Equity . ........... ? 298 220 ?
Current Assets . ............... 1,323 1,133 ? 1,110
Total Liabilities and
Shareholders’ Equity. .. ....... ? ? ? ?

17. Balance sheet relations. Selected data based on the balance sheet amounts for Finmest
Corporation, a Finnish paper company, for four recent years appear in the following table.
Finmest applies IFRS and reports its results in millions of euros (€). Compute the missing
balance sheet amounts for each of the four years. (Adapted from the financial statements
of Metso Corporation.)

Year 11 Year 10 Year 9 Year 8
Current Assets . ............... €3,357 €2,995 2 €2,097
Noncurrent Assets. .. ........... ? 1,973 ? ?
Total Liabilities. . ... ......... .. ? ? ? ?
Total Assets.................. ? ? €3,904 ?
Current Liabilities. . ............ ?c 2,610 1,802 1,466
Noncurrent Liabilities ........... 957 ? ? 1,109
Total Shareholders’ Equity. . ... .... ? ? 1,292 ?
Contributed Capital. ............ ? 711 ? 634
Retained Earnings. ............. 910 [ 553 361
Total Liabilities and
Shareholders’ Equity. . ........ 5,254 ? ? ?

3Current Assets — Current Liabilities = €675.
"Net income for 2006 is €252 and dividends are €66.
Current Assets — Current Liabilities = €651.

18. Asset and liability recognition and measurement. After winning America’s Next Top Model,
Danielle Evans signed a contract with Ford Models, was named a spokesmodel for Cover-
Girl, and signed a contract for a photo spread in Elle magazine. Although Ford did not
disclose the details of the contract, typical terms would provide for payments of $500,000
for each of the next three years. Assume that the present value of these payments is $1.2
million. At the time that Danielle signs the contract, Ford Models also provides her with
a BMW M3 convertible sports car, valued at $70,000. How should Ford Models treat this
contract at the time of signing?

19. Asset recognition and measurement. Duke University, a U.S. university, provides tuition
support for up to eight semesters of undergraduate education for up to two children of
faculty and staff of the university. To qualify for this tuition benefit, the faculty or staff
member must have at least seven contiguous years of full-time service and be a full-time
employee when the benefits are received. Duke estimates that this tuition benefit helps
retain and attract employees. How should Duke treat its expenditures on tuition benefits
each year?

20. Asset measurement. Assume that Jennifer’s Juice (JJ), an organic food retailer in the United
States, recently purchased a new refrigeration system for its Chapel Hill, North Carolina,
store. JJ paid $1.3 million for the refrigeration unit and paid an additional $120,000 to
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modify the unit to meet its specific needs. JJ paid $55,000 for the transportation and instal-
lation of the unit, plus $48,000 for an annual insurance premium for the first year, which
begins next month. Finally, assume that JJ hired a refrigeration technician, who is charged
with the maintenance of the unit; that technician’s annual salary is $80,000. How much
should JJ record as the acquisition cost of the refrigeration unit? Describe the treatment
of any of the above amounts that you did not include in the acquisition cost of the unit.

21. Recognition of a loss contingency. Consider the following hypothetical series of events.
While shopping in a Nordstrom store on July 5, 2013, a customer slips on the escalator
and falls, sustaining back and neck injuries. On January 15, 2014, the customer sues Nord-
strom for $1 million. The case comes to trial on April 30, 2014. The jury renders its verdict
on June 15, 2014, and finds Nordstrom liable for negligence. The jury grants a damage
award of $400,000 to the customer. Nordstrom, on June 25, 2014, appeals the decision to
a higher court, which rules on November 1, 2014, that the trial court should retry the case.
The trial court retries the case beginning March 21, 2015. Another jury, on April 20, 2015,
again finds Nordstrom liable for negligence and awards $500,000. On May 15, 2015, the
store pays the $500,000 judgment. Nordstrom applies U.S. GAAP.

a. When, if at all, should Nordstrom recognize a liability from these events? If Nordstrom
recognizes a liability, what is the amount? Explain your reasoning.

b. How would your response change if Nordstrom were applying IFRS?

22. Asset recognition and measurement. The following hypothetical transactions relate to Nestlé
S.A., the Swiss chocolate manufacturer. Indicate whether each transaction immediately
gives rise to an asset of the company under U.S. GAAP and separately, under IFRS. If
Nestlé recognizes an asset, state the account title, the amount, and the classification of the
asset on the balance sheet as either a current asset or a noncurrent asset. Nestlé reports its
results in millions of Swiss francs (CHF).

a. Nestlé invests CHF800 million in a government bond. The bond has a maturity value
of CHF1,000 million in five years, and Nestlé intends to hold the bond to maturity.

b. Two months prior to its year-end, Nestlé¢ pays its insurer CHF240 million to cover
annual premiums on its European plants.

c. Nestlé pays a developer in the Czech Republic CHF6 million for an option to purchase
a tract of land on which it intends to build a warehouse to serve the eastern European
markets. The price of the land is CHF450 million.

d. Nestlé signs a four-year employment agreement with its chief executive officer for a
package valued at CHF17.4 million per year. Of this amount, CHF3.1 million is base
salary; the rest is expected bonus and deferred compensation arrangements. The con-
tract period begins next month.

e. Nestlé spends CHF80 million on research and development (R&D) related to a new,
low-calorie chocolate; 60% of the total amount was spent on pure research, the rest on
development. The R&D is successful, and the firm is able to acquire a patent on the new
formula. The cost of filing the paperwork and other procedures to obtain the patent is
CHFO0.5 million.

f. Nestlé received notice that a cocoa supplier had shipped by freight cocoa beans invoiced
at CHF700 million with payment due in 30 days. The supplier retains title to the cocoa
beans until received by Nestlé.

23. Asset recognition and measurement. The following hypothetical transactions relate to
Ryanair Holdings, Plc. (Ryanair), an Irish airline. Indicate whether each transaction imme-
diately gives rise to an asset under U.S. GAAP and, separately, IFRS. If Ryanair recog-
nizes an asset, state the account title, the amount, and the classification of the asset on the
balance sheet as either a current asset or a noncurrent asset. Ryanair reports its results in
thousands of euros.

a. Ryanair’s board of directors decides to purchase 10 Boeing 777 airplanes, costing €640
million each.

b. Ryanair places an order with Boeing for 10 Boeing 777 airplanes, costing €640 million
each.

c¢. Ryanair pays Boeing €60 million as a deposit on the aircraft it ordered in part b.

d. Ryanair spends €50 million to obtain landing rights for the next five years at Beijing
Capital International Airport.
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e. Ryanair writes a check for €12 million and assumes a mortgage from its bank for
another €65 million to purchase new ground equipment costing €77 million.

f. Ryanair issues common stock with a market value of €160 million to acquire used air-
craft from a bankrupt regional airline. The carrying value of the equipment on the
bankrupt airline’s books is €75 million.

24. Liability recognition and measurement. The following transactions relate to Hana Micro-
electronic Public Company Limited (Hana Microelectronic), an electronics and semicon-
ductor firm headquartered in Thailand. Indicate whether each transaction immediately
gives rise to a liability under U.S. GAAP and, separately, IFRS. If accounting recognizes
a liability, state the account title, the amount, and the classification of the liability on the
balance sheet as either a current liability or a noncurrent liability. Hana Microelectronic
reports its results in millions of baht (Bt).

a. Hana Microelectronic agrees to purchase land and a manufacturing plant from Fujitsu
Limited for Bt3,000 million.

b. Hana Microelectronic receives a check for Bt168 million from a customer for the deliv-
ery of merchandise that Hana Microelectronic will produce next month.

c. Refer to the event in part b, except now assume that Hana Microelectronic will deliver
half of the merchandise next month and the remainder three years from now.

d. During the year, Hana Microelectronic issues 6 million shares of Btl par value common
stock, for Bt62 million.

e. Hana Microelectronic borrows Bt24 million from a local bank, payable in equal install-
ments over the next three years and bearing interest at the annual rate of 9%.

f. Hana Microelectronic signs a contract to purchase at least Bt45 million of merchandise
from a particular supplier over the next two years.

g. Refer to part f, and assume Hana Microelectronic places an order for Bt15 million of
this merchandise.

25. Liability recognition and measurement. The following hypothetical events relate to the Ber-
lin Philharmonic. Indicate whether each transaction immediately gives rise to a liability
under U.S. GAAP and, separately, IFRS. If the Berlin Philharmonic recognizes a liability,
state the account title, the amount, and the classification of the liability on the balance
sheet as either a current liability or a noncurrent liability. The Berlin Philharmonic reports
its results in euros.

a. The Berlin Philharmonic receives €3,040,000 for season tickets sold for next season.

b. The Berlin Philharmonic places an order with a printing company totaling €185,000 for
symphony performance programs for next season.

c. The Berlin Philharmonic receives the programs ordered in part b, along with an invoice
for €185,000.

d. The Berlin Philharmonic receives notice from its attorneys that a loyal customer attend-
ing a concert last season and sitting in the first row of the symphony hall has sued the
Berlin Philharmonic for €10 million, claiming hearing loss. The customer normally sits
farther back, but staff asked her to move forward for this particular concert because of
damage to the regular seat.

e. The Berlin Philharmonic signs a three-year contract with its first violinist at a salary of
€140,000 per year.

f. The Berlin Philharmonic signs a five-year contract with Sir Simon Rattle, present con-
ductor of the Philharmonic, to be the spokesman for the symphony at the end of his
current contract, in 2012. Under the terms of the deal, the Berlin Philharmonic will pay
compensation of €2 million a year to Sir Simon, beginning in 2012. Sir Simon will earn
this compensation regardless of whether the Berlin Philharmonic asks him to perform
any speaking engagements each year.

26. Recognition and measurement of a loss contingency. Consider the following hypothetical
scenario for Royal Dutch Shell (Shell), a Netherlands-based oil and gas firm. One of Shell’s
oil rig platforms collapsed, creating damage to the seafloor as well as environmental dam-
age to surrounding ocean water. Given the following additional information, what amount,
if any should Shell recognize as a liability were it applying U.S. GAAP and, separately,
IFRS? Shell reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.
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a. Engineers who have examined the damaged site believe that much of the damage will
naturally resolve itself, leading them to conclude that there is a 90% chance that damages
are zero. They further estimate there is a 10% chance that the forces of nature will not
resolve the damages, which will require additional intervention at a cost of $10 million.

b. Upon further analysis, the engineers in part a have revised their assessments. They now
believe there is a 51% chance that damages will be $5 million, and a 49% chance that
damages will be zero.

¢. Environmentalists who have examined the damaged site believe that the damage is exten-
sive and requires immediate cleanup, with the following range of damage estimates: $25
million (probability 20%); $300 million (probability 35%); and $4,000 million (probabil-
ity 45%).

d. Upon further analysis, the environmentalists in part ¢ have revised their assessments.
They now believe there is an 85% chance that damages will be $5,000 million and a 15%
chance that they will be zero.

PROBLEMS

27. Effect of recording errors on the balance sheet equation. Magyar Telekom is a Hungarian
telecommunications company. The company applies IFRS and reports its results in mil-
lions of Hungarian forints (HUF). For each of the following hypothetical transactions or
events facing Magyar Telekom, indicate the effects on assets, liabilities, and shareholders’
equity of failing to record or recording incorrectly the transaction or event. Use the nota-
tion O/S (overstated), U/S (understated), or No (no effect). For example, Magyar Telekom’s
failure to record the issuance of common stock for HUF10,000 cash would be shown as
follows:

B Assets—U/S HUF10,000.
B Liabilities—No.
B Shareholders’ equity—U/S HUF10,000.

(1) Magyar Telekom ordered HUFS5,600 million of inventory from a supplier but did not
record anything in its accounts.

(2) Magyar Telekom received the merchandise in transaction (1) and recorded it by debit-
ing Inventory and crediting Accounts Payable for HUF6,500 million.

(3) Magyar Telekom acquired new equipment costing HUF17,000 million by paying
HUF2,500 million in cash and signing a note payable for the remainder of the pur-
chase price. It recorded the acquisition by debiting Equipment for HUF2,500 million
and crediting Cash for HUF2,500 million.

(4) The firm paid the HUF36,000 million annual insurance premium on its headquarters
building by debiting Property and crediting Cash for HUF36,000 million. The insur-
ance period begins next month.

(5) Magyar Telekom won a contract to supply telecommunications services to a customer
next year. The value of the contract is HUF25,000 million. The customer delivered
a check to Magyar Telekom in the amount of HUF6,000 million. The firm made no
journal entries for these events.

(6) The firm issued 2 million shares of its HUF100 par value common stock when the
shares traded in the stock market at HUF700 per share. It issued the shares to acquire
land. It recorded the transaction by debiting Land and crediting Common Stock for
HUF200 million.

(7) The firm signed a three-year employment agreement with its chairperson for an annual
salary of HUF6.6 million. The employment period begins next month. The firm did
not record anything in its accounts related to this agreement.

i

28. Effect of recording errors on the balance sheet equation. Sidertrgica Venezolana “Sivensa,’
S.A., is a Venezuelan steel and metalworking company. Assume that during a recent year,
Sivensa recorded various transactions with the following journal entries. The company
applies IFRS and reports its results in thousands of U.S. dollars. Using the notation O/S
(overstated), U/S (understated), or No (no effect), indicate the effects on assets, liabilities,
and shareholders’ equity of any errors in Sivensa’s recording of each of these transactions.
For example, if Sivensa recorded the issue of $10,000 of common stock by debiting Cash
and crediting Bonds Payable, the effects of the error are as follows:
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B Assets—No.
B Liabilities—O/S $10,000.
B Shareholders’ equity—U/S $10,000.

(1) EQUIPMeNt . ..ot 10,000
CasSh vt e e e 2,000
Accounts Receivable. . . ... ... i 8,000

Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)

+10,000

—2,000

—-8,000
Sivensa acquired equipment costing $10,000 by paying $2,000 cash and

signing a note payable for $8,000. It debited Equipment, credited Cash for
$2,000, and credited Accounts Receivable for $8,000.

(2) EQUIPMENt ..ottt e 4,000
Note Payable. . ... e 4,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities + Equity (Class.)
+4,000 +4,000

Sivensa placed an order for equipment valued at $4,000 that it will receive
next month. Sivensa made a $1,000 deposit when it made the order and
promised to pay the rest on delivery of the equipment. Sivensa debited
Equipment for $4,000 and credited Notes Payable for $4,000.

(3) Cash .o 800
Accounts Receivable. . ... ... i 800
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+800
-800

Sivensa received $800 as a deposit from a customer and debited Cash and
credited Accounts Receivable for $800. The customer did not owe Sivensa
any amounts at the time of this transaction.

(4) PrepaidRent. ... ..ot e 1,000
RentPayable. . ...... o 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,000 +1,000

Sivensa signed a rental agreement for warehouse space for a one-year period
beginning next month. The monthly rental fee of $1,000 is due on the first
day of each month. Sivensa debited Prepaid Rent and credited Rent Payable
for $1,000.

(5) Sivensa exchanged common stock with a market value of $2,500 for a patent and made no journal entry to
record the exchange.
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(6) Merchandise Inventories ... ... 4,900
Cash .o 4,900
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+4,900
—4,900

Sivensa acquired $4,900 of office equipment for cash. It debited Inventory
for $4,900 and credited Cash for $4,900.

29. Balance sheet format, terminology, and accounting methods. Exhibit 4.1 presents the bal-
ance sheet of Hathway Atlantic Airways Limited (Hathway), a Hong Kong airline, for the

Hathway Atlantic Airways Limited

Balance Sheets

(amounts in millions of Hong Kong dollars [HKD])
(Problem 29)

EXHIBIT 4.1

Year ended December 31,

Year 11 Year 10
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Noncurrent Assets and Liabilities
Fixed ASSetS. v v ittt i e e e HKD 62,388 HKD 57,602
Intangible Assets . . . ..ot e 7,782 7,749
Investments in Associates . . ... .o ii it it i e 10,054 8,826
Other Long-Term Receivables and Investments. . .............. 3,519 3,406
83,743 77,583
Long-Term Liabilities. . . ... .. oo i (40,323) (33,956)
Related Pledged Security Deposits. .. ........ ..., 7,833 8,164
Net Long-Term Liabilities . . .. ... ... i (32,490) (25,792)
Retirement Benefit Obligations . . . ......... ... .......... (268) (170)
Deferred Taxation . . . v oo v it ittt et e e (6,771) (6,508)
(39,529) (32,470)
Net Noncurrent Assets . . . o v vttt it et e e e e e 44,214 45,113
Current Assets and Liabilities
SEOCK vt e 882 789
Trade and Other Receivables. . . ... ..o .. 11,376 8,735
Liguid Funds . . ... ...ttt e 21,649 15,624
33,907 25,148
Current Portion of Long-Term Liabilities . . .................. (4,788) (7,503)
Related Pledged Security Deposits. .. ..., 910 1,352
Net Current Portion of Long-Term Liabilities . ................ (3,878) (6,151)
Trade and Other Payables . . . ......... ... ... ... 0., (14,787) (10,999)
Unearned Transportation Revenue . . ......... ... .. ........ (6,254) (4,671)
IEEEIEIT 006000000 0600000060600006000060000000000000000 (2,475) (2,902)
(27,394) (24,723)
Net Current Assets. . ..ottt i e e e e 6,513 425
Net ASSetS . v vt HKD 50,727 HKD 45,538
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share Capital . .« oo v i et e HKD 788 HKD 787
= RESIVES & v ittt e e e 49,761 44,599
E’ Funds Attributable to Hathway Atlantic Shareholders . . ......... 50,549 45,386
8 Minority INterests . . oo vv e te e et 178 152
g TotalEquity ...t HKD 50,727 HKD 45,538
3
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fiscal years ended December 31, Years 11 and 10. This balance sheet uses the terminology,
format, and accounting methods of Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRS).
Hathway reports results in millions of Hong Kong dollars (HKD). (Adapted from the
financial statements of Cathay Pacific Airways Limited.)

a. Prepare a balance sheet for Hathway for each year, following the format and terminol-
ogy commonly used by firms that apply U.S. GAAP.

b. Prepare a balance sheet for Hathway for each year, following the format and terminol-
ogy commonly used by firms that apply IFRS.

30. Balance sheet format, terminology, and accounting methods. Exhibit 4.2 presents the balance
sheet prepared by Infotech Limited, an Indian information technology firm, for Years 12
and 11. Infotech applies accounting standards issued by the Institute of Chartered Accoun-
tants of India and reports its results in millions of rupees (Rs. Crore). (Adapted from the
financial statements of Infosys Limited.)

a. Prepare a balance sheet for Infotech for both years, following the format and terminol-
ogy commonly used by firms that apply U.S. GAAP.

b. Prepare a balance sheet for Infotech for both years, following the format and terminol-
ogy commonly used by firms that apply IFRS.

31. Balance sheet format, terminology, and accounting methods. Exhibit 4.3 presents the balance
sheet prepared by Svenson, a Swedish telecommunications firm, for Years 7 and 6. Svenson
applies IFRS and reports its results in millions of Swedish kronor (SEK). In addition to
the items reported in Svenson’s balance sheet, assume the following hypothetical informa-
tion is available to you. (Adapted from the financial statements of Ericsson.)

B In Year 7 Svenson revalued land with an acquisition cost of SEK300 million upward,
to its current fair value of SEK 1,200 million.

Infotech Limited

Balance Sheet

For Years 12 and 11

(amounts in millions of Rs. Crore) (Problem 30)

EXHIBIT 4.2

Year 12 Year 11
SOURCES OF FUNDS
Shareholders’ Funds
Share capital . ... ..ot Rs 286 Rs 286
Reserves and surplus . . . . ..ot 13,204 10,876

Rs13,490 Rs 11,162

APPLICATION OF FUNDS
Fixed Assets

0riginal CoSt. & v v v vt e Rs 4,508 Rs 3,889
Less: Accumulated depreciation. . .........c i e 1,837 1,739
Net book value . . . oottt e e 2,671 2,150
Add: Capital work-in-progress . . . ... oo i it i e 1,260 957
3,931 3,107
Investments . .. ... .. .. . .. . 964 839
Deferred Tax Assets. . .. ... ittt ittt 99 79
Current Assets, Loans and Advances
Sundry debtors . . ... e 3,093 2,292
Cash and bank balances . . . ... ..o oottt e 6,429 5,470
Loans and advances. . .. oo vttt e e e 2,705 1,199
12,227 8,961
Less: Current Liabilities and Provisions
= Current Habilities . . . v v ittt e e e 1,483 1,162
21 PrOVISIONS & v v it e e e 2,248 662
5 Net Current Assets ... ..............coooeiniiiiaiiaiiaii... 8,496 7,137
% Rs13,490 Rs 11,162
e
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Svenson

Balance Sheet

For Years 7 and 6

(amounts in millions of Swedish kronor [SEK]) (Problem 31)

EXHIBIT 4.3

December 31,

Year 7 Year 6
ASSETS
Noncurrent assets
Intangible assets
Capitalized development costs. . . ... ... ..ttt SEK 3,661 SEK 4,995
[T T 22,826 6,824
Intellectual property rights, brands, and other intangible assets. . . ... 23,958 15,649
Property, plant, and equipment. . .. ...... ... . 9,304 7,881
Financial assets
Equity in joint ventures and associated companies. .............. 10,903 9,409
Other investments in shares and participations . . ............... 738 721
Customer financing, noncurrent. . . ...... .ottt 1,012 1,921
Other financial assets, noncurrent . . ... oo oo it ittt it i 2,918 2,409
Deferred tax assets . . . oot ittt e e e e 11,690 13,564
87,010 63,373
Current assets
INVentories . ..ottt 22,475 21,470
Trade receivables . .. ..ottt e 60,492 51,070
Customer financing, current . . ... ..ottt e e 2,362 1,735
Other current receivables . . . ..o oo v ittt 15,062 15,012
Short-term investments . . . . .o oot i e 29,406 32,311
Cash and cash equivalents . . ....... ... i nnnn.. 28,310 29,969
158,107 151,567
Total @SSeES « & v vt e e e e e SEK245,117 SEK214,940
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Equity
Stockholders equity . .. ..o vt e SEK134,112 SEK120,113
Minority interest in equity of subsidiaries. ... ................... 940 782
135,052 120,895
Noncurrent liabilities
Post-employment benefits . .. ... ... . . 6,188 6,968
Provisions, NONCUIMENt . . v v v v v it it e e et et e et ettt et e 368 602
Deferred tax liabilities. . . . . v v vttt e 2,799 382
Borrowings, noncurrent . ... ... 21,320 12,904
Other noncurrent liabilities. . . . ... .. 1,714 2,868
32,389 23,724
Current liabilities
Provisions, CUMTeNt . . ..ottt ettt ettt 9,358 13,280
Borrowings, current. . . ... 5,896 1,680
s Trade payables . . . .ottt 17,427 18,183
E’ Other current liabilities . . . .. .o v ittt e 44,995 37,178
E 77,676 70,321
;ﬁ Total equity and liabilities. . . ... ........ ... .. ... .. ... ... SEK245,117 SEK214,940
S

B In Year 7 Svenson wrote down the value of equipment, with a net carrying value of
SEK?2,400 million, to its fair value of SEK 1,600 million.

B Included in current provisions for Year 7 is the estimated loss on a lawsuit that a com-
petitor filed, alleging patent infringement. Svenson estimates the following range of
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outcomes for this lawsuit: 10% chance of damages of SEK6,000 million, 10% chance
of damages of SEK2,400 million, 30% chance of damages of SEK500 million, 10%
chance of damages of SEK40 million, and 40% chance of zero damages.

Prepare a balance sheet for Svenson for Year 7, following the format, terminology, and
accounting methods required by U.S. GAAP. Ignore any income tax effects of any revi-
sions to reported amounts.

32. Balance sheet format, terminology, and accounting methods. Exhibit 4.4 presents the balance
sheet of Paul Loren Company for Years 10 and 9. This balance sheet uses the terminology,

Paul Loren Company

Balance Sheets

For Years 10 and 9

(amounts in millions of US$) (Problem 32)

EXHIBIT 4.4

Year 10 Year 9
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents . .. ...... ... ...ttt $ 563.1 $ 481.2
Short-term investments . . ... ... ... 584.1 338.7
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $206.1 and $190.9 million . . . 381.9 474.9
Inventories . . ... ottt e 504.0 525.1
Deferred tax @ssets . . .. .o vv it e 103.0 101.8
Prepaid expenses and other .. ......... ... . ... ... . . ..., 139.7 135.0
Total Current Assets ... ..... ...ttt 2,275.8 2,056.7
Noncurrent investments. . . ... ... e 755 29.7
Property and equipment, net .. ... ... ... ... 697.2 651.6
Deferred tax @ssets . . . . it 101.9 102.8
GoodWill . . v v e 986.6 966.4
Intangible assets, net . . .. .. ..ottt e 363.2 348.9
Other @ssets. . . oot vv ittt e e 148.7 200.4
Total ASSEtS . . oottt e $ 4,648.9 $4,356.5
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS" EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable . .. ... $ 149.8 $ 165.9
Income tax payable. .. ... ... 37.8 35.9
Accrued expensesand other . . ....... ... .. ... i ... 559.7 472.3
Total Current Liabilities. . . .. ......... .. ... ... .. ... ..... 747.3 674.1
Long-Term Debt. . . . . ... ... ... ... 747.3 674.1
Deferred Tax Liabilities . . .. ........ ... ... ... ... .. .. . ... 282.1 406.4
Other Noncurrent Liabilities . .............. ... ... ....... ... 126.0 154.8
Total Liabilities. . ... ... ... . ... 1,902.7 1,909.4
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:
Class A common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 75.7 million and
72.3 million shares issued; 56.1 million and 55.9 million shares
outstanding . . . ... 0.8 0.7
Class B common stock, par value $0.01 per share; 42.1 million and
43.3 million shares issued and outstanding................... 0.4 0.4
Additional paid-in capital. . . . . ..o 1,243.8 1,108.4
Retained €armings. . . . vttt e e 2,544.9 2,177.5
= Treasury stock, Class A, at cost (19.6 million and 16.4 million shares) . ... (1,197.7) (966.7)
E Accumulated other comprehensive income ................. ... ... 154.0 126.8
5 Total Stockholders’ Equity . . ........... ... ... ... ... .. ..... 2,746.2 2,447.1
% Total Liabilities and Stockholders” Equity . . ... ................. $ 4,648.9 $4,356.5
3
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format, and accounting methods of U.S. GAAP, and Paul Loren reports results in millions
of U.S. dollars. (Adapted from the financial statements of Polo Ralph Lauren.)

In addition to the items reported in Paul Loren’s balance sheet, assume the following
hypothetical information is available to you:

B 1In Year 10 Paul Loren revalued a building with an acquisition cost of $200 million
downward, to its current fair value of $182 million.

B In Year 10 Paul Loren wrote up the value of inventory, with a carrying value of $135
million, to its fair value of $165 million.

B  Included in commitments and contingencies for Year 10 is a lawsuit filed against Paul
Loren for breach of contract. Paul Loren estimates the following range of outcomes
for this lawsuit: 70% chance of damages of $100 million, 20% chance of damages of
$500 million, and 10% chance of damages of $1 billion.

a. Prepare a balance sheet for Paul Loren for Year 10, following the format, terminology,
and accounting methods required by U.S. GAAP. Ignore any income tax effects of any
revisions to reported amounts.

b. How, if at all, would your answer to part a differ if Paul Loren used IFRS?

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Chapter

Income Statement:
Reporting the Results

of Operating Activities

1. Understand the classifications of rev- 3. Understand the concept of comprehen-

enues and expenses on the income sive income and the relation between

statement. net income and comprehensive income. LEARNING
2. Understand the timing of revenue O BJ ECTIVES

and expense recognition and their
measurement.

he income statement reports net income (or net loss) for a time period, such as a quarter or

a year. Net income (also called earnings or profit) equals revenues minus expenses plus
gains minus losses.! This chapter focuses on revenues and expenses. Revenues reflect the increase
in shareholders’ equity resulting from the increase in net assets (assets less liabilities) that a firm
receives from its customers when it sells goods or renders services. Expenses reflect the decrease in
shareholders’ equity resulting from the decrease in the net assets consumed in generating revenues.
As a measure of performance, revenues reflect the value of goods sold and services rendered by
a firm, and expenses reflect the efforts required to create and deliver those goods and services.
Users of financial statements analyze net income because it summarizes how well a firm trans-
forms efforts (expenses) into salable output (revenues), with larger net income indicating better
performance.

This chapter considers the measurement principles and accounting procedures that underlie
the recognition of revenues and expenses. Our discussion focuses on simple revenue recognition.?
We also discuss typical ways income statements classify and display items. We conclude by con-
trasting comprehensive income with net income.

UNDERLYING CONCEPTS AND TERMINOLOGY

Chapter 3 introduces the income statement, one of the principal financial statements. The income
statement is also called the statement of operations, the statement of operating activity, or the state-
ment of profit and loss. Unlike the balance sheet, which displays assets, liabilities, and sharehold-
ers’ equity at a point in time, the income statement reflects the results of operations during an
accounting period. The accounting period is the time period between the beginning balance sheet
and the ending balance sheet. For example, Exhibit 1.2 shows Great Deal’s income statement for

"The FASB uses the term earnings in Statement of Financial Accounting Concepts No. 5, “Recognition and Measure-
ment in Financial Statements of Business Enterprises,” 1984, for example, in par. 33-44. The IASB uses the term
profit in International Accounting Standard 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements,” revised 2003, for example, in
par. 82-88. Many preparers of financial statements use net income to refer to this concept, and we will follow this
convention with the understanding that net income, profit, and earnings all refer to the same item.

2Chapter 8 contains a more detailed discussion of the criteria firms use to decide when to recognize revenue (timing)
and how much revenue to recognize (measurement).
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the years ending February 27, 2013, February 28, 2012, and February 27, 2011. The income
statement reflects changes in net assets during the one-year accounting period between the
two balance sheet dates. Stated differently, the income statement presents a summary measure
of the increments from revenues and the decrements from expenses that occurred during the
accounting period. In contrast, the balance sheet displays the levels of assets, liabilities, and
shareholders’ equity as of the date of the report. The equation linking the balance sheet and
income statement (discussed in Chapter 3) captures this distinction:

Retained Earnings Retained Earnings

+ Net Income — Dividends =

(beginning) (ending)
or
Retained ‘Earnings B Retaine(.i Ea.lrm'ngs — Net Income — Dividends
(ending) (beginning)
or
Change in Retained Earnings = Net Income — Dividends

This equation shows that the change in Retained Earnings equals the change in net assets,
which is equal to net income adjusted for dividends. For the year ended February 27, 2013,
Great Deal reports net income of $1,317 million and dividends of $234 million. Using the above
equation, Great Deal’s net income minus dividends for fiscal 2012 was $1,083 million (= $1,317
million — $234 million), exactly the change in retained earnings between fiscal 2012 and fiscal
2011 calculated from its balance sheets ($1,083 million = $5,797 million — $4,714 million).

INCOME STATEMENT DISPLAY

Income statements items are grouped by broad categories of revenues and expenses. The
income statement begins with revenues followed by expenses. U.S. GAAP and IFRS require-
ments for the presentation of income statements are similar, except that:

B Other than separating revenues from expenses, U.S. GAAP provides little guidance about
which items the firm must separately display or their order. IFRS requires separate display
of revenues, financing costs (for example, interest expense), income tax expense, profit or
loss for the period, and certain other items.

B Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the separate display of items whose size, nature, or
frequency of occurrence is necessary for accurately portraying performance.

B Both US. GAAP and IFRS require separate display of items related to discontinued
operations,’ as well as the portion of profit or loss attributable to the minority interest.*

B IFRS permits firms to present expenses by either nature or function. U.S. GAAP is silent
on this issue, but the Securities and Exchange Commission requires registrants to classify
expenses by function.’

To illustrate differences in income statement formats, we examine the income statements of
Great Deal (Exhibit 1.2 in Chapter 1) and Thames (Exhibit 1.6 in Chapter 1).

REPORTING REVENUES

Income statements begin with revenues. For this reason, analysts often refer to revenue growth
as “top-line” growth. In Chapter 3 we define revenues (or sales, sales revenues) as the inflow

3Chapter 17 discusses discontinued operations.

“Chapter 14 discusses minority interest in more detail. Authoritative guidance uses the term “noncontrolling
interest,” but in practice many firms use the term “minority interest.”

SAll of the income statements presented in this textbook display expenses by function, such as administrative
expense or cost of goods sold. Classification by nature groups expenses by their purpose—for example, com-
pensation expense or insurance expense.
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of net assets (for example, cash or receivables) received in exchange for providing goods and
services. U.S. GAAP and IFRS allow significant latitude with respect to whether and how to
aggregate revenues from multiple business lines (often referred to as segments) on the income
statement. There is no requirement that a firm with multiple segments separately disclose on the
income statement the revenues of each segment.® Great Deal’s income statement for the fiscal
year ended February 27, 2013, reports revenues of $49,694 million. Thames’s income statement
for the year ended December 31, 2013, reports revenues of €12,881.5 million.

REPORTING EXPENSES

Immediately below revenues, Great Deal and Thames report information about the cost of
sales. Cost of goods sold (cost of services rendered) is the cost of products sold and services pro-
vided during the period. Great Deal reports cost of sales of $37,534 million; Thames reports
cost of goods sold of €10,633.4 million.

Common terminology refers to the difference between sales and cost of sales as
gross margin or gross profit. Great Deal reports gross profit of $12,160 million. Thames does
not report this number, but we can calculate it to be €2,248.1 million (= €12,881.5 million —
€10,633.4 million). Neither U.S. GAAP nor IFRS defines gross margin or requires its display
on the income statement. However, because both sets of accounting standards require separate
display of sales and cost of sales, you can always calculate the gross margin.

After cost of sales, the income statement typically shows deductions for other
operating expenses. In addition to cost of sales, two common types of operating expenses are
selling, general, and administrative expenses (SG&A) and research and development expenses
(R&D). Great Deal reports SG&A expenses of $9,873 million, whereas Thames reports SG&A
expenses of €1,445.3 (the sum of marketing and selling expenses of €901.9 and general and
administrative expenses of €543.4 million), as well as R&D expenses of €550.5 million.

Subtracting total operating expenses from sales yields operating profit or operating income.
Neither U.S. GAAP nor IFRS requires separate display of operating profit. In addition, nei-
ther U.S. GAAP nor IFRS defines operating in the context of the income statement, so there
is no list of items considered operating expenses.” Items classified as operating expenses reflect
management’s judgment. Great Deal and Thames report operating income of $2,235 million
and €51.8 million, respectively.

Other (non-operating) items follow the reporting of operating expenses or operat-
ing profit. Most firms reporting under U.S. GAAP separately report financing costs, such as
interest expense. IFRS requires the separate display of financing costs. Both U.S. GAAP and
IFRS require the separate display of significant items that do not arise from the firm’s core
businesses. For example, selling the headquarters building might generate a gain that increases
income. Selling the headquarters building is not part of the core business, so it would not be
included in revenues. Instead, it would be included with other noncore items and reported
below operating income, probably as Other Income.

Great Deal’s list of non-operating items includes interest expense of $94 million (which
reduces income) and investment and other income of $54 million (which increases income).
Thames’s non-operating items include interest income and interest expense, other financial
income and expenses, and one-time gains and losses. The net effect of all non-operating items
reduces Thames’s profit by €476.1 million.

Subtracting non-operating expenses from operating income yields profit (or income) before
income taxes. Multiplying this amount by the tax rate yields the amount of income tax expense.
Subtracting income tax expense from income before taxes yields net income after tax.?

Sometimes a firm will sell a portion of its operations, such as a line of business. Account-
ing refers to these sold units as discontinued operations,’ and distinguishes them from the con-
tinuing operations of the firm. Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require separate income statement
display of income from continuing operations and income from discontinued operations. Separate

®Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the disclosure, in the notes to the financial statements, of selected informa-
tion about business segments. The distinction we make here is that the income statement typically does not
provide information about the operating results of business segments. Chapter 17 discusses segment reporting.
"Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, however, define the term operating for purposes of the statement of cash flows.
$We discuss how financial reporting presents information about income taxes in Chapter 12.

°Authoritative guidance reserves the label discontinued operations for the sale of entire lines of business, not
individual assets. The IFRS definition and the U.S. GAAP definitions of discontinued operations differ and are
discussed in Chapter 17.
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display aids users of the income statement in predicting future earnings. The firm expects
income from continuing operations to recur, whereas income from discontinued operations will
not recur. For similar reasons, the balance sheet separately displays the assets and liabilities of
discontinued operations.

To illustrate, Exhibit 5.1 shows Wheaton Corporation’s income statement for the year
ended January 31, 2013 (fiscal 2012), and Exhibit 5.2 shows its balance sheet for the same fiscal
period. Wheaton’s income statement shows a loss of $79 million in fiscal 2012 from discontin-
ued operations. Its fiscal 2012 balance sheet shows current assets and current liabilities of dis-
continued operations of $140 million and $92 million, respectively. Wheaton classifies these as
current items because it expects to dispose of them within one year.

This chapter discusses income statements prepared by Great Deal and Wheaton using
U.S. GAAP and by Thames using IFRS. These descriptions illustrate the diverse formats and
account names used on income statements. Our discussions so far have focused on the display
of income statement items and have left several questions unanswered:

1. What conditions must be met for a firm to record (recognize) revenue and expense?
2. How do firms measure revenues and expenses?

The next section discusses these questions.

Wheaton Corporation
EXHIBIT 5.1 Consolidated Income Statements
(Amounts in Millions of Dollars)

Fiscal Years Ended January 31,

2013 2012 2011
Revenues:
Netsales . o oottt et e $405,046 $401,087 $373,821
Membership and other income. .. ........ ... ... ... 3,168 3,287 3,202
408,214 404,374 377,023
Costs and expenses:
Costofsales . ..o 304,657 304,056 284,137
Operating, selling, general and administrative expenses. . . . 79,607 77,520 70,934
Operating income. . .........c.oiiiiuueneeiiinnee .. 23,950 22,798 21,952
Interest:
Debt. ot 1,787 1,896 1,863
Capitalleases . ............. ... ... o oL 278 288 240
Interest income. .. ... .ot (181) (284) (309)
Interest,net. . .. ..ot 1,884 1,900 1,794
Income from continuing operations before income taxes. . . . 22,066 20,898 20,158
Provision for income taxes:
CULTENT. « o v et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 7,643 6,564 6,897
Deferred . . ... (504) 581 (8)
7,139 7,145 6,889
Income from continuing operations. ................... 14,927 13,753 13,269
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax . . . . . (79) 146 (132)
Consolidated netincome .. ........ ..., 14,848 13,899 13,137
Less consolidated net income attributable to
noncontrolling interest. . ............ ... ... oo (513) (499) (406)
Consolidated net income attributable to Wheaton. . . ... ... $ 14,335 $ 13,400 $ 12,731
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Wheaton Corporation
EXHIBIT 5.2 Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Amounts in Millions of Dollars)

January 31,

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents. .. ....... ... $ 7,907 $ 7,275
Receivables, net. . ..o oot 4,144 3,905
TOVENTOIIES - o v v et et e e e e e e e 33,160 34,511
Prepaid expenses and other. . ........ ... ... .. o oo 2,980 3,063
Current assets of discontinued operations. . ......................... 140 195
Total CUITENT ASSELS . &« v v vttt ettt e e e e et e et e e et 48,331 48,949
Property and equipment:
TGl 6 0 6 6% 0 5 0 0 0 6% 6 70 6060 06 66000060 0LEE5000000000500008500000 22,591 19,852
Buildings and improvements. . . ........ .. oo 77,452 73,810
Fixtures and equipment ......... ... . o oo i i il 35,450 29,851
Transportation eqUIPMENT . ... ...uuuuttunneee e 2,355 2,307
Property and equipment. ... ... ......... 137,848 125,820
Less accumulated depreciation .. ... (38,304) (32,964)
Property and equipment, net ... ......... . i 99,544 92,856
Property under capital leases:
Property under capital leases. . .. ........ ... oo oo 5,669 5,341
Less accumulated amortization . ... ... ...ooi i (2,906) (2,544)
Property under capital leases, net ... ......... ... ... oL 2,763 2,797
Goodwill. . ..o 16,126 15,260
Other assets and deferred charges . . .............. ... ... ... 3,942 3,567
Total @SSEtS. « v v vt e $170,706 $163,429
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Short-term borrowings . .. ... $ 523 $ 1,506
Accounts payable ......... . o 30,451 28,849
Accrued liabilities . .. .. ..o 18,734 18,112
Accrued INCOME TAXES . .« o v vt ettt et e e e e e e e e e 1,365 677
Long-term debt due withinoneyear. .............................. 4,050 5,848
Obligations under capital leases due within oneyear................... 346 315
Current liabilities of discontinued operations ... ..................... 92 83
Total current liabilities . . . .......... ... . 55,561 55,390
Long-termdebt. . ... ... . 33,231 31,349
Long-term obligations under capital leases . . ................. ... ... 3,170 3,200
Deferred income taxesand other. . . ............. ... ... ... ...... 5,508 6,014
Redeemable noncontrolling interest .. ........... ... .. ... . . 307 397
Commitments and contingencies . . ...............uuuuuuuuenennnnn.. — —
Equity:
Preferred stock ($0.10 parvalue). . ... o i il = —
Common stock ($0.10 par value) .. ..o 378 393
Capital in excess of par value. .. ... 3,803 3,920
Retained earnings . . ..........ooiiiii i 66,638 63,660
Accumulated other comprehensive loss. .. .......... ... ... oL (70) (2,688)
Total Wheaton shareholders equity ............................. 70,749 65,285
Noncontrolling interest. . . ....... ... 2,180 1,794
Total equity ...ttt 72,929 67,079
Total liabilities and equity . . .. ......... ... ... . i $170,706 $163,429
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REVENUE RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue recognition refers to the timing and measurement of revenues. Management applies the
revenue recognition criteria to decide whether a given transaction results in recording revenues
and the related expenses. Revenue recognition is among the most complex issues in financial
reporting. This complexity results from two sources:

B First, misreporting of revenues is a common form of accounting fraud.

B Second, firms often bundle products and services and sell them in multiple-element arrange-
ments. An example of a multiple-element arrangement is the sale of machinery with a five-
year warranty, installation services, training for employees, and software upgrades.'

We distinguish revenues, which increase net assets, from other transactions that increase net
assets but do not involve transactions with customers. For example, issuing common shares of
stock for cash increases net assets, but it does not generate revenue. Exchanges of goods and
services for assets that occur as part of core operations constitute revenues.

We also distinguish revenues from gains, and we distinguish expenses from losses. Earlier in
this chapter we discussed the sale of a headquarters building at a gain. A gain means that the
cash or other assets received exceed the building’s carrying value at the time of sale. The gain
increases net assets and increases income, but it is not a transaction with a customer that is part
of core operations. Therefore, the gain is not revenue. Similarly, a loss decreases net assets and
decreases net income, but is not part of the firm’s core business and is not part of operating
expenses. For example, Thames reports as a non-operating item a €1.0 million loss on the dis-
posal of assets.

Revenue recognition involves decisions of both timing (when to recognize revenue) and
measurement (the amount of revenue to recognize). With regard to timing, a firm could recog-
nize revenue at the time it produced items to sell, or at the time it delivered items to customers,
or at the time it collected cash from customers, or at some other time. U.S. GAAP and IFRS
contain revenue recognition criteria that govern the timing of recording revenues.!! For now, we
introduce a simple analysis of revenue recognition criteria, to explain an important feature of
accrual accounting and to illustrate the journal entries for recording revenues and expenses. As
a general principle of accrual accounting, the firm recognizes revenue when a transaction meets
two conditions:

I. The seller has delivered all (or nearly all) of the goods and services it has agreed to provide.

I1. The seller has received cash or some other asset that it can convert to cash, for example, an
account receivable.

Criterion I focuses on the seller’s performance. Firms recognize revenues from many sales
of goods and services at the time of sale because that is often when the seller has delivered all
goods and services. Even if some items remain unperformed (for example, promises to provide
warranty services and promises to accept customer returns), the seller can recognize revenues as
long as it has substantially performed its obligations to the customer, and the seller can reason-
ably measure the cost of the unperformed items.

Criterion II focuses on measuring the amount of cash the seller will ultimately receive. The
exchange price between the customer and seller represents the assets exchanged by the customer
for goods and services and provides the measure of revenue.

APPLICATION OF REVENUE RECOGNITION

To understand the revenue recognition criteria and their importance for financial reporting, we
consider several examples of transactions that involve the sale of products and services. These
transactions may, or may not, result in recognizing revenues.

Example 1 Great Deal sold a television for $1,000 to a customer who pays with cash. The
television is marked down, and the customer cannot return or exchange it. Great Deal received

"We discuss the revenue recognition and measurements issues for multiple element arrangements in Chapter 8.
Chapter 8 discusses these criteria.
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cash, so the transaction meets criterion II. The transaction also meets criterion I because Great
Deal has no additional obligations after the customer has taken the television. Great Deal
would recognize revenue on this transaction and make the following journal entry: 2

CaSh o e e 1,000
Sales Revenue . . .o vttt e e e 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,000 +1,000 IncSt — RE

Sale of merchandise for $1,000 cash.

Example 2 Great Deal sold a television for $1,000 to a customer who paid with a Great Deal
credit card. The television is marked down and the customer cannot return or exchange it.
Great Deal has received a promise of cash payment (an account receivable), so the transaction
meets criterion I1."* The transaction also meets criterion I because Great Deal has no additional
obligations. Great Deal would recognize revenue on this transaction and make the following
journal entry:

Accounts Receivable. . . ..o i i e 1,000
Sales Revenue . . ..o vttt e e 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,000 +1,000 IncSt — RE

Sale of merchandise on account for $1,000.

Example 3 Great Deal sells gift cards. Great Deal has a liability because it has promised to
provide merchandise to the holder of the gift card up to the amount stated on the card. Assume
that gift cards expire five years after the issue date so that Great Deal has no obligation to pro-
vide merchandise after the expiration date. If Great Deal sells a gift card for $1,000 on the first
day of its fiscal year, Great Deal expects to deliver on its promise of providing merchandise
during the next 60 months. Great Deal has received $1,000 cash, so the transaction meets cri-
terion II. However, Great Deal has not met criterion I. It has incurred an obligation of $1,000
to perform in the future.!* At the time of the gift card purchase, Great Deal would record the
following journal entry:

CaSh ot e e e e 1,000
Advances from Customers™ . . ..o ittt i e 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,000 +1,000

At the time of the gift card purchase, to record the sale of the gift card for
cash.

2Great Deal would also recognize cost of sales when it recognizes revenues. We discuss the cost of sales journal
entries later in this chapter.

3We revisit the measurement of accounts receivable in Chapter 8 when we take up the issue of customers who
might not pay.

“This is an example of a deferred performance obligation. Deferred performance obligations are discussed
further in Chapter 8.

Great Deal calls this account “Unredeemed gift card liabilities” on its balance sheet.
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Great Deal does not recognize revenue at the time it sold the gift card. It recognizes revenue
as it delivers merchandise to the cardholder. If the cardholder used the card to purchase a $700
computer monitor, Great Deal would make the following journal entry to recognize revenues:

Advances from CUStOMErs . . .ttt e 700
Sales REVENUE . v v vttt et et e 700
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—700 +700 IncSt > RE

At the time of the computer monitor sale, to recognize the revenue on the
sale of the monitor.

At the gift card’s expiration date, Great Deal would recognize the remaining amount on the
card as revenue with the following journal entry: !¢

Advances from CUStOMErS . . oottt e ettt 300
Sales ReVENUE . « v v vttt e e e e 300
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—300 +300 IncSt —~ RE

To recognize revenue on the unused portion of the gift card at the end of 60
months when the card has expired.

Example 4 Another buyer of a gift card paid for the gift card with a Great Deal credit card.
The only difference is that the asset Great Deal received is an account receivable, not cash.
Therefore, the revenue-related journal entries are identical to those shown for Example 3 except
that the first journal entry shows a debit to Accounts Receivable instead of a debit to Cash:

Accounts Receivable. . . .. oo v i e 1,000
Advances from CUSTOMErs . . v oo ittt it e et et e 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,000 +1,000

At the time of the gift card sale, to record the sale of the gift card on
account.

In both Example 1 and Example 3, Great Deal receives cash from a customer, so both
transactions meet criterion II. The transaction in Example 1 also meets criterion I because the
customer has possession of the television, whereas the transaction in Example 3 does not sat-
isfy criterion I until the customer uses the gift card. Therefore, Great Deal recognizes revenue
in Example 1 but not in Example 3. In Example 2 and Example 4, Great Deal did not receive
cash from a customer. Even so, in both examples the transactions meet criterion II because
Great Deal expects to collect the account receivable in cash. The transaction in Example 2 also
meets criterion I because the customer takes possession of the television. The transaction in
Example 4, however, does not meet criterion I. Therefore, Great Deal recognizes revenue in
Example 2 but not in Example 4. Examples 1 to 4 illustrate an important concept in accrual

1°If the cardholder fails to use the entire $1,000 amount by the expiration date, Great Deal will recognize as
revenue any remaining amount on the card. This treatment is one of several possible treatments for unused gift
card balances. In this example, there is a clear expiration date. Some gift cards have no expiration dates, and
some states in the United States have laws that specify a minimum duration for gift cards or forbid expiration
altogether. After some period, which varies by state laws, the value of an unused gift card becomes unclaimed
property. Unclaimed property may revert to the firm or to the government, depending on state law. As a practi-
cal matter, many U.S. retailers establish their gift card operations in states whose laws will allow the retailer to
keep unused gift card balances.
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accounting—the timing of the receipt of cash from a customer does not affect the timing of
revenue recognition. What matters is whether the seller has received assets that it can convert to
cash and whether it has performed its obligations to deliver goods and services.

REVENUE MEASUREMENT

The seller measures revenue as the amount of cash, or the cash-equivalent value of non-cash
assets, that it receives from customers. This amount is typically the exchange price between
buyer and seller at the time of sale. If the firm has not performed all of its obligations, however,
it will need to adjust the exchange price to reflect those unperformed obligations.

EXPENSE RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT

TiMING OF EXPENSE RECOGNITION

Assets provide future benefits, and expenses measure the consumption of those benefits. Tim-
ing of expense recognition focuses on when the firm consumes the benefits. The critical question
is, “When does the firm consume the benefits of an asset?” That is, when does the asset leave
the balance sheet and become an expense on the income statement?

Balance Sheet Income Statement
Assets ———— = Expenses (which reduce net income and retained earnings on the balance sheet)

CRITERIA FOR EXPENSE RECOGNITION
The firm recognizes an expense when either of the following conditions holds:

1. The consumption of the asset results from a transaction that leads to the recognition of rev-
enue. For example, the recognition of revenue from the sale of merchandise consumes
the benefits of the inventory asset and results in an increase in the expense called Cost of
Goods Sold. The amount of this expense is determined by the product costs associated with
the inventory. This matching of the cost of the item sold with the revenue from the sale
(termed the matching convention) links the timing of some expenses to revenue recognition.

2. The consumption of the asset results from the passage of time. For example, the firm con-
sumes benefits of this month’s rent on a warehouse during the current month. Therefore,
the firm reports the cost as part of this month’s period expenses. Most administrative
expenditures are period expenses.

REecocGNITION OF PrODUCT COSTS

A seller of goods can easily match the consumption of the benefits of the asset sold with rev-
enues from its sale. Specifically, at the time of sale and revenue recognition, inventory leaves the
seller’s balance sheet. The seller recognizes revenue along with a reduction in inventory, and
records cost of goods sold expense equal to the amount by which inventory decreases.!’

RECOGNITION OF PERIOD EXPENSES

Many expenditures benefit accounting periods and are not linked to specific revenue transac-
tions. Common examples include the cost to manage the firm, including the president’s salary,
accounting and information systems costs, and support activity costs such as legal services,
employee training, and corporate planning. These administrative costs do not relate directly to
products produced or sold. The firm recognizes them as expenses when it consumes their ben-
efits in the period. The firm treats them, therefore, as period expenses.

"We discuss the accounting for inventory in Chapter 9.
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Another example of a period expense is the cost of marketing or selling products, for exam-
ple, salaries and commissions of the sales staff and costs to produce catalogs. The firm recog-
nizes those costs as expenses in the period when it consumes them.

EXPENSE MEASUREMENT

Expenses measure the consumption of assets during an accounting period, so the basis for
expense measurement is the same as the measurement of the consumed asset. If the firm mea-
sures an asset at acquisition cost on the balance sheet, it also measures expenses based on the
acquisition cost of the asset consumed. Examples 5 and 6 illustrate the concepts of product
costs, period expenses, and expense measurement.

Example S In Example 1, Great Deal sold a television for $1,000 cash. From Example 1,
Great Deal recognizes revenue on this transaction, resulting in the following journal entry:

Cash oot e 1,000
Sales REVENUE .« v v vttt e 1,000
Shareholders’
Assets = Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
+1,000 +1,000 IncSt - RE

Sale of merchandise for $1,000.

Great Deal must also show the expense associated with the television sold. If Great Deal
originally purchased the television for $650, Great Deal would record the following journal
entry to recognize the expense associated with the sale of the television:

Costof Goods Sold. . ...t e 650
Inventory . ..ot e 650
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—650 —650 IncSt - RE

To record the reduction of inventory associated with the sale of
merchandise.

This transaction affects Great Deal’s income statement. It also affects Great Deal’s balance
sheet when revenue and expense accounts are closed to the Retained Earnings account. The
revenue part of the transaction increases Retained Earnings by $1,000, and the expense part of
the transaction decreases Retained Earnings by $650. The net effect increases Retained Earn-
ings by $350 (before taxes). Net assets also increase by $350, the result of an increase in cash of
$1,000 and a decrease in inventory of $650.

Example 6 Great Deal prints and mails advertisements to its preferred customers prior to
annual sales events. Assume that these expenditures cost $2 million per year. Although Great
Deal management believes that spending $2 million to promote the sales events will increase
gross margin by at least $2 million, it cannot establish a causal link between any specific pro-
motional expenditure and the sale of a specific item. As a result, Great Deal treats the promo-
tion costs as period expenses in the period incurred:

Advertising and Promotion Expenses. .. ....... . . i i 2,000,000
Cash .o e 2,000,000
Shareholders’
Assets = | Liabilities | + Equity (Class.)
—2,000,000 —2,000,000 IncSt > RE

To record $2 million of advertising and promotion costs.
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| At 06 :{RIVE 5.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

Revenue and expense recognition. Crandall SA uses the accrual basis of accounting and
recognizes revenues at the time it sells goods or renders services. For each transaction,
indicate the amount of revenue or expense that Crandall recognizes during April, and
show the journal entry or entries that Crandall would make in April.

a. Collects €15,000 cash from customers during April for merchandise sold and deliv-
ered in March. The cost of the merchandise to the firm was €8,000.

b. Sells merchandise to customers during April for €24,500 cash. The merchandise cost
the firm €6,500.

c. Sells to customers, on account, merchandise with a selling price of €105,000. The firm
expects to collect the cash during May. The merchandise cost the firm €82,000 when
it purchased the items from its supplier last month. The firm has not yet paid the sup-
plier for the merchandise.

d. Pays suppliers €45,500 during April for merchandise received by the firm from its sup-
pliers and sold to customers during March for €109,000.

e. Pays suppliers €50,000 during April for merchandise received from its suppliers and
sold to customers during April. Crandall sold the merchandise for €90,400.

f. Receives from suppliers and sells to customers during April merchandise that cost
€20,000. The selling price of the merchandise to the customer was €38,000, all on
account. The firm expects to pay the supplier during May.

g. Receives from suppliers during April merchandise that cost €101,000 and that the
firm expects to pay for during May. The firm also expects to sell the merchandise in
May for €124,000.

h. Receives €26,500 from customers for merchandise that the firm will deliver in May.
The firm does not yet have the merchandise and expects to acquire it in May for
€23,000.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Previous sections of this chapter have discussed the recognition and measurement of revenues
and expenses that result in net income. The selling of goods and the rendering of services to
customers increases (decreases) both net assets and retained earnings in the amount of net
income (net loss).

U.S. GAAP and IFRS require firms in some instances to change the carrying value of cer-
tain assets and liabilities. Both sets of accounting standards preclude the recognition of these
changes in net income, and therefore in retained earnings. Instead, firms must include these
changes in other comprehensive income (OCI). Later chapters discuss the items that require
this accounting treatment. For now, we introduce the concept of OCI and Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (AOCI).

Example 7 Assume that U.S. GAAP and IFRS require firms to remeasure the amount of a
particular asset from $10 million to $8 million because of economic events. Accounting rules
further specify that the firm must include the $2 million decrease in net assets (= $10 mil-
lion — $8 million), in OCI, but not in net income. The firm would make the following journal
entry:

Other Comprehensive Income (Decrease in Measurement of Asset) . ....... 2,000,000

ASSBt . vt e e e e 2,000,000

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



152 Chapter 5 Income Statement: Reporting the Results of Operating Activities

The sum of Net Income and Other Comprehensive Income is comprehensive income, which
includes all changes in net assets for a period except for changes arising from transactions with
18
owners.

Net Income + Other Comprehensive Income = Comprehensive Income

Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require firms to report the cumulative effect of other comprehen-
sive income in a balance sheet account called accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI).
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income sums Other Comprehensive Income over time
just as Retained Earnings sums Net Income less dividends over time. AOCI is a component of

shareholders equity.
Retained Earnings (beginning) + Net Income — Dividends = Retained Earnings (ending)
Accumulated Other Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income Other Comprehensive Comprehensive Income
(beginning) + Income = (ending)

Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require firms to present the items that are included in Other
Comprehensive Income. Firms have a choice of two formats."

1. A single statement of comprehensive income that shows a// the changes in net assets. This
statement includes both Net Income and Other Comprehensive Income.

2. A two-statement presentation that includes an income statement and a separate statement
of comprehensive income.

SUMMARY

Net income or profit for a period is the difference between revenues from selling goods and
services and the expenses incurred to generate those revenues, plus certain gains and losses of
the period. U.S. GAAP and IFRS require the accrual basis of accounting, which separates the
recognition of revenue from the receipt of cash. A seller recognizes revenues when it has per-
formed its obligations to the customer and when it has received cash or an asset that is con-
vertible to cash. The firm matches the revenues recognized with the costs of the products sold
(product costs). The resulting expense is cost of goods sold. The firm recognizes other expenses
in the period when it consumes the benefits of the assets (period expenses).

SOLUTION TO SELF-STUDY PROBLEM

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 5.1 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Revenue and expense recognition.)

a. Crandall recognizes neither revenue nor expense in April. The firm makes a journal entry
in April to recognize the cash collected from customers for sales made in March:

8Typical transactions with owners include dividends, share issuances, and share repurchases.

¥In 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income, updating ASC 220. ASU
No. 2011-05 provides for this choice of two formats. The guidance is effective for fiscal periods beginning after
December 31, 2011. Prior to this guidance, firms applying U.S. GAAP also had the option to display Other
Comprehensive Income items as part of the statement of changes in shareholders equity.
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Cash oo e e e 15,000
Accounts Receivable. . ... ... i 15,000

Cash .« oo 24,500

Sales REVENUE . . . .ttt e 24,500
Cost of Goods Sold . . ... v vt e 6,500

Merchandise Inventory . . . oo v ettt i 6,500

c. In April Crandall recognizes revenue of €105,000 and expenses of €82,000.

Accounts Receivable. . . ..o 105,000

Sales REVENUE . . . .ttt e 105,000
Cost of Goods Sold . . ... v vt e 82,000

Merchandise Inventory . . . oo i ettt i 82,000

d. Crandall recognizes neither revenue nor expense in April. The firm makes the following
journal entry made to recognize the cash payment made to suppliers:

Accounts Payable. . .. ..ot e 45,500
Cash .o e 45,500

e. In April Crandall recognizes revenues of €90,400 and expenses of €50,000.

Merchandise InVentory . . .. .o vttt e e 50,000

Cash .o e 50,000
Cash .o e 90,400

Sales ReVeNUE . . . . e 90,400
Cost of Goods Sold . . ... v vt 50,000

Merchandise Inventory . . . oo v it it 50,000

f. In April Crandall recognizes revenue of €38,000 and expenses of €20,000.

Merchandise Inventory . . . ... v ittt e e 20,000

Accounts Payable. . ... oo vttt e 20,000
Accounts Receivable. . . ... oo 38,000

Sales ReVeNUE . . ..t 38,000
Cost of Goods Sold . . ...t v i e 20,000

Merchandise Inventory . . . oo i ittt e 20,000

g. Crandall recognizes neither revenue nor expense in April. The firm makes the following
journal entry in April to recognize the receipt of merchandise and the obligation to pay for
that merchandise:

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



154

Chapter 5 Income Statement: Reporting the Results of Operating Activities

Merchandise InVeNtory . .. oo vttt e e e e 101,000
Accounts Payable. . ..o o ittt e 101,000

h. Crandall recognizes neither revenue nor expense in April. The firm makes the following
journal entry in April to recognize the receipt of cash from customers and the obligation it
incurs for future delivery of merchandise:

Cash oot e 26,500
Advances from Customers . . ... ...ttt e 26,500

KEY TERMS AND CONCEPTS

Net income or net loss Revenue recognition
Earnings Gain
Profit Loss
Revenues Expense recognition
Expenses Product costs
Cost of goods sold, cost of services Matching convention
rendered Period expense
Gross margin, gross profit Other comprehensive income (OCI)
Operating expenses Comprehensive income
Operating income, operating profit Accumulated other comprehensive
Income from continuing operations income (AOCI)

Income from discontinued operations

QUESTIONS, EXERCISES, AND PROBLEMS

QUESTIONS

1. Review the meaning of the terms and concepts listed above in Key Terms and Concepts.

2. “The measurement of assets and liabilities relates closely to the measurement of revenues
and expenses.” Explain.

3. Distinguish between a cost and an expense.

4. Both interest expense on borrowing and dividends on common stock reduce net assets
and reduce shareholders’ equity. Accountants treat interest as an expense in measuring net
income but do not treat dividends on common stock as an expense. Explain the rationale
for this apparent inconsistency.

5. Why is it important to separate the income from discontinued operations from the income
from continuing operations on the income statement?

6. In an accrual accounting system, firms recognize revenues even if they have not received
cash. What criteria must sales transactions meet in order for the seller to recognize revenues
before collecting cash?

7. A customer has paid the firm, in advance, for merchandise the firm will deliver next month.
Why is the firm not permitted to recognize revenue when it receives the cash?
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8. Why is it important to separate gains from revenues?

9. Why might it be difficult to compare two otherwise similar firms in terms of their operat-
ing profits?

10. A student says, “It is inconceivable to me that a firm could report increasing net income
yet run out of cash.” Clarify this seeming contradiction.

EXERCISES

11. Revenue recognition. Neiman Marcus, a U.S. retailer, uses the accrual basis of accounting
and follows U.S. GAAP. It recognizes revenue at the time it sells merchandise. Indicate the
amount of revenue (if any) the firm recognizes during the months of February, March, and
April in each of the following hypothetical transactions, in which Neiman Marcus does the
following:

a. Collects $800 cash from a customer during March for a custom-made suit that the firm
will make and deliver to the customer in April.

b. Collects $2,160 cash from customers for meals served in the firm’s restaurant during
March.

c. Collects $39,200 cash from customers during March for merchandise sold and delivered
in February.

d. Sells merchandise to customers during March on account, for which the firm will collect
$59,400 cash from customers during April.

e. Rents space in its store to a travel agency for $9,000 a month, effective March 1. Receives
$18,000 cash on March 1 for two months’ rent.

f. Same as part e, except that it receives the check for the March and April rent on
April 1.

12. Revenue recognition. Fonterra Cooperative Group Limited (Fonterra), a New Zealand
dairy cooperative, uses the accrual basis of accounting and recognizes revenue at the time
it sells products or renders services. Fonterra applies New Zealand accounting standards
and reports its results in millions of New Zealand dollars (NZ$). In answering this prob-
lem, assume Fonterra uses IFRS. Indicate which of the following transactions or events
immediately give rise to Fonterra’s recognition of revenue.

a. Fonterra has completed the pasteurization of an order of 13,000 liters of milk it will
deliver to a grocery store chain next week. Fonterra has not yet delivered the milk or
invoiced the grocery store. The selling price of the milk is NZ$26,000.

b. Refer to part a, and assume that the grocery store paid Fonterra a deposit of NZ$5,000
on the order of the milk.

c. Fonterra delivered the milk and billed the grocery store. The grocery store has not yet
paid the invoice.

d. One day after delivery, the grocery store called Fonterra and reported that it has to
destroy 3,000 liters of milk because it had spoiled sometime prior to its delivery. The
grocer refuses to pay for these 3,000 liters.

e. Fonterra spent NZ$10 million to develop a technique to transform a by-product of
casein (a protein found in milk and cheese) into ethanol. Fonterra expects to use this
technique to generate sales of at least NZ$2 million over the next year.

f. Refer to part e, and assume that Fonterra signed contracts worth NZ$400 million for
ethanol sales.

13. Expense recognition. Sun Microsystems uses the accrual basis of accounting and recognizes
revenue at the time it sells goods or renders services. It applies U.S. GAAP and reports
in U.S. dollars. Indicate the amount of expenses (if any) the firm recognizes during the
months of June, July, and August in each of the following hypothetical transactions. The
firm does the following:

a. Pays $180,000 on July 1 for one year’s rent on a warechouse beginning on that date.

b. Receives a utility bill on July 2 totaling $4,560 for services received during June. It pays
the utility bill during July.

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



156 Chapter 5 Income Statement: Reporting the Results of Operating Activities

c. Purchases office supplies on account costing $12,600 during July. It pays $5,500 for
these purchases during July and the remainder during August. Office supplies on hand
on July 1 cost $2,400, on July 31 cost $9,200, and on August 31 cost $2,900.

d. Pays $7,200 on July 15 for property taxes on office facilities for the current calendar
year.

e. Pays $2,000 on July 15 as a deposit on a custom-made delivery van that the manufac-
turer will deliver on September 30.

f. Pays $4,500 on July 25 as an advance on the August salary of an employee.

g. Pays $6,600 on July 25 for advertisements that appeared in computer journals during
June.

14. Expense recognition. Tesco Plc. is a British-based grocer and retailer chain. It uses the
accrual basis of accounting and recognizes revenue at the time it sells goods or renders
services. It applies IFRS and reports in pounds sterling (£). Indicate the amount of expense
recognized during October (if any) from each of the following hypothetical transactions or
events. The firm does the following:

a. Pays £440,000 on October 5 for commercials that appeared on British television during
September.

b. Pays £1,200,000 on October 6 for refrigeration units delivered to its stores on September
30. The firm expects the refrigerators to last for five years and have no salvage value.

c. Pays £300,000 on October 10 for property taxes for the period from October 1 of this
year to September 30 of next year.

d. Pays £15,500 on October 15 for cleaning supplies purchased on October 10. Cleaning
supplies on hand on October 1 cost £3,500 and on October 31 cost £5,400.

e. Pays £4,000 on October 20 for repairs to a forklift truck on October 1. The truck had a
remaining useful life of five years on October 1.

f. Pays £100,000 on October 25 as a deposit on land Tesco plans to purchase for a new
store.

g. Pays £200,000 on October 31 as rent on a warehouse for October and November.

15. Relating net income to balance sheet changes. Comparative balance sheet data for Bondier
Corporation (Bondier), a Canadian airplane manufacturer, as of January 31, Year 8, and
January 31, Year 7, appear in the following display, based on Bondier’s financial reports as
of January 31, Year 8. Bondier applies Canadian accounting standards and reports in mil-
lions of U.S. dollars. In answering these questions, assume Bondier uses either U.S. GAAP
or IFRS; for the purposes of this problem, this choice will not matter.

Bondier Corporation
Balance Sheet Data
January 31, Year 7 and Year 8

January 31
Year 8 Year 7
Total ASSEES .« v v vttt e e e $20,562 $18,577
Liabilities .« .o e 17,444 15,844
Common StOCK . . v vt e 2,078 1,968
Retained Earmings. . . v vttt e e e e e 1,040 765

Bondier declared and paid dividends of $30 million during the year ended January 31, Year
8. During the same year, the firm also reported a positive adjustment to Retained Earnings
of $12 million.

a. Compute net income for the year ended January 31, Year 8, by analyzing the change in
retained earnings.
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b. Demonstrate that the following relation holds:

Net Income = Increase in Assets — Increase in Liabilities
— Increase in Contributed Capital + Dividends + or — Adjustments

16. Relating net income to balance sheet changes. Magtelkom, a Hungarian telecommunica-
tions company, reported the following balance sheet information for Year 11 and Year 12.
Magtelkom applies IFRS and reports in millions of Hungarian forints (HUF).

Magtelkom
Balance Sheet Data
Year 11 and Year 12

Year 12 Year 11
Total AsSets . . . e HUF1,135,578 HUF1,131,595
Total Liabilities. . . v v oot e e 553,885 538,428
Contributed Capital. . . ... ..o 129,954 128,728
Minority Interest. . . . it 66,695 67,128
Retained Earnings. . . . .ottt e 385,044 ?

During Year 12, Magtelkom declared and paid dividends of HUF72,729 million and made
other adjustments, which increased retained earnings by HUF307 million.

a. Compute Magtelkom’s balance in Retained Earnings for Year 11.
b. Compute Magtelkom’s net income for Year 12.

17. Income statement relations. Selected income statement information for Novo Limited
(Novo), a Hong Kong personal computer manufacturer, for the years ended March 31,
Years 9 and 10. Novo applies Hong Kong financial reporting standards and reports its
results in thousands of U.S. dollars. In answering this question, assume Novo uses either
U.S. GAAP or IFRS; for purposes of this problem, this choice will not matter.

Year 10 Year 9
REVENUES . ittt e e e e e e e e e e $16,351,503 $13,978,309
Costof Goods Sold . .. oo v it e e 13,901,523 12,091,433
Selling and Administrative Expenses . ... ........ . i 1,103,713 1,033,296
Gross Profit . ... e ? ?
Profit Before Taxes . ... ..cvuvii e ? ?
AdVertising EXPenSes. . o v v vttt e 595,902 488,150
Research and Development Expense. .. .....ccvviiiinne .. 229,759 196,225
Other Income (EXPENSE). . v v v v vttt e ? 18,130
Income Tax EXpense . .. ... i e 47,613 26,197
Net INCOMe & ottt e e e e e e e 484,708 ?

Compute the missing amounts for Year 9 and Year 10.

18. Income statement relations. Selected income statement information for Years 11, 12, and 13
for SwissTek, a Swiss engineering firm. SwissTek applies U.S. GAAP and reports its results

in millions of U.S. dollars.

Year 13 Year 12 Year 11

Sales of Products . ..o oo ittt e $24,816 ? $17,622
Income Tax Expense . ... ... it 595 ? 464
(continued)
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Year 13 Year 12 Year 11
Earnings Before Interestand Taxes . ... ....... ... 4,023 2,557 ?
Sales Of SerVICeS. v v v vttt i e e e e 4,367 3,778 3,342
Selling and Administrative Expenses .. ............ ... ..... 4,975 ? 3,780
Costof ServicesSold . . ..o i it e e ? 2,570 2,305
Income Before Taxes . . . v oo v v i it ? 2,076 1,199
Other Operating Income (Expense). ... ........ccvviinnnn.. ? 139 37
Interest and Other Financial Expense . . . ... ..o, 286 ? 407
Gross Profit . o v vt e 8,968 6,744 ?
Cost of Products Sold. . .. ... i i e 17,292 13,967 13,205
Other Non-operating Income (Expense) . ................... ? (321) (258)
Interest and Dividend Income. ... ... ... ... .. ... 273 147 ?
Net Income . . ..ottt e 3,757 1,390 ?

Compute the missing amounts for each of the three years.

19. Income and equity relations. Selected information based on the comparative balance sheets
for James John Corporation (James John), a U.S. clothing designer, manufacturer, and
retailer, for the years ended March 31, Years 10, 11, and 12, appears next. James John
applies U.S. GAAP and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.

James John Corporation
Balance Sheet Data
March 31, Year 12, Year 11, and Year 10

March 31
Year 12 Year 11 Year 10

CommON SEOCK « v v v vt e e ? ? § 11
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income . . ................ ? $(27.2) 0.0
Retained Earnings. . . .. ..ottt $1,742.3 ? 1,090.3
Treasury Stock . ..o ? (87.1) (80.0)
Additional Paid-In Capital .......... ... ... ... o .. 872.5 783.6 ?

Total Shareholders” Equity. . . .. ..o v i i 2,334.9 ? 1,675.7

James John issued no new shares of common stock after Year 10. In Year 11 James
John reported net income of $308.5 million and declared and paid cash dividends of $19.6
million. In Year 12 James John paid $234.4 million to repurchase shares of common stock.
Compute the missing amounts for each of the three years.

20. Income and equity relations. Selected information based on the comparative balance sheets
and income statements of Palmgate Company (Palmgate), a U.S. manufacturer of con-
sumer products, for the years ended December 31, Years 7, 8, and 9, appears in the follow-
ing display. Palmgate applies U.S. GAAP and reports its results in millions of U.S. dollars.

Palmgate Company
Selected Financial Statement Information
December 31, Year 9, Year 8, and Year 7

Year Ended December 31

Year 9 Year 8 Year 7
Income Statement Information:
NEt INCOME & v vttt et ettt e i e eae e $ 1,737.4 $ 1,353.4 $ 1,351.4
Other Comprehensive Income . .. ..... ... ... ... .. 414.4 ? 1.5
Balance Sheet Information:
Common Stock . . ... ? ? 732.9
(continued)
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Year Ended December 31

Year 9 Year 8 Year 7
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income ... .......... ? (2,081.2) (1,804.7)
Unearned Compensation. . ..............ooviinn... (218.9) (251.4) (283.3)
Preferred Stock. . . ... oo i 197.5 222.7 253.7
Retained Earnings. .. ...t 10,627.5 ? 8,968.1
Treasury Stock . ..o oo i ? ? (7,581.0)
Additional Paid-In Capital ............... ... ... ... 1,517.7 1,218.1 ?
Total Shareholders’ Equity. . . .. ... oo vt ? ? 1,350.1
Other Information:
Dividends Declared and Paid . ... ................... ? 677.8 607.2
Cost of Share Repurchases . . .........couiiunn... 829.8 492.9 615.6
Common Shares Issued. . .. ..., .. 0 0 0

Compute the missing amounts for each of the three years.

21. Accumulated other comprehensive income relations. Selected information based on the com-
parative balance sheets for MosTechi Corporation (MosTechi), a Japanese electronics man-
ufacturer, appears next for the years ended March 31, Years 6, 7, and 8. MosTechi applies
U.S. GAAP and reports its results in millions of yen (¥).

MosTechi Corporation
Balance Sheet Data
March 31, Year 8, Year 7, and Year 6

March 31
Year 8 Year 7 Year 6

Common Stock . . . v v it i e ¥ 626,907 ¥ 624,124 ¥ 621,709
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income . .......... ? ? ?

Retained Earnings. . . ... v v i it e ? 1,602,654 1,506,082
Treasury Stock .. ..ot ? (3,127) (6,000)
Additional Paid-In Capital .......... ... ... 1,143,423 1,136,638 1,134,222
Total Shareholders’ Equity. . . .. ... .ot 3,351,500 ? 2,870,338

MosTechi’s other comprehensive income for Year 7 was ¥229,238; in Year 8 it was ¥40,944.
During Year 8 MosTechi had net income of ¥126,328 and declared and paid dividends of
¥25,042. During Year 8 MosTechi reported a ¥3,807 decrease to retained earnings to adjust
for the cumulative effect of an accounting change. Compute the missing amounts for each
of the three years.

22. Accumulated other comprehensive income relations. Selected information based on the com-
parative balance sheets for Solaronx Company (Solaronx), a U.S. defense manufacturer,
appears in the following display for the years ended December 31, Years 10, 11, and 12.
Solaronx applies U.S. GAAP and reports its results in millions of dollars.

Solaronx Company
Balance Sheet Data
December 31, Year 12, Year 11, and Year 10

December 31

Year 12 Year 11 Year 10

CommonStock . ... oo $ 5 $ 5 $ 5
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income . ... ............. ? ? (1,919)
(continued)
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December 31

Year 12 Year 11 Year 10
Retained Earnings. . . . ..ot ? ? 2,998
Treasury Stock . ..ot e (816) (543) (73)
Additional Paid-In Capital ........ . ... ... 10,097 9,722 9,540
Total Shareholders Equity. . . .. ..o oo ii i ? ? ?

Solaronx’s other comprehensive income for Year 12 was $774, compared to ($31) in Year
11 and $275 in Year 10. In addition, in Year 12 Solaronx made a one-time adjustment of
($1,338) to accumulated other comprehensive income. Comprehensive income for Year 12
was $2,057, compared to $840 in Year 11 and $692 in Year 10. Dividends declared and
paid increased from $356 in Year 10, to $394 in Year 11, to $429 in Year 12. Compute the
missing amounts for each of the three years.

23. Discontinued operations. Selected information from PharmaCare’s financial statements for
the years ended December 31, Year 6 and Year 7, appear below. PharmaCare is a German
pharmaceutical company that applies IFRS and reports its results in millions of euros (€).

a. What portion of PharmaCare’s total net income in Year 7 came from discontinued oper-
ations? How does this compare to Year 6?

b. What portion of PharmCare’s total assets in Year 7 is associated with discontinued
operations? How does this compare to Year 6?

c. What explains the large decline in PharmCare’s assets held for discontinued operations
in Year 7?

PharmaCare
Balance Sheet and Income Statement Data
December 31, Year 7 and Year 6

December 31

Year 7 Year 6
Income from Continuing Operations (after taxes). ........... ... ... ..... € 2,306 € 1,526
Income from Discontinued Operations (aftertaxes) ....................... 2,410 169
Assets Held for Discontinued Operations. . ... ... 84 2,925
Total ASSEES & v v vt e e e e e 51,378 55,891

24. Discontinued operations. Selected financial information for Oratel S.A.E. (Oratel), an Egyp-
tian telecommunications firm, is shown in the following display for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, Year 13 and Year 12. Oratel applies Egyptian accounting standards and reports
its results in thousands of Egyptian pounds (£). In answering this question, assume that
Oratel uses either U.S. GAAP or IFRS; for the purposes of this problem, this choice will
not matter.

Oratel S.A.E.
Balance Sheet and Income Statement Data
December 31, Year 13 and Year 12

December 31

Year 13 Year 12
Income from Continuing Operations (before taxes). ................ £ 9,293,448 £ 4,456,900
Assets Held for Discontinued Operations. . .......... ... ... ? 7,327,709
(continued)
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December 31

Year 13 Year 12
Taxes on Income from Continuing Operations . ................... 2,571,426 ?
Income from Discontinued Operations (net of tax) . ................ ? 1,020,213
Income from Continuing Operations (aftertax) ................... ? 3,595,713
Net INCOME & v it e e e e e e e e e e e 11,935,088 ?
Assets Used in Continuing Operations. . .. ..., 34,348,838 ?
Total ASSEtS & v v v et e e e e e 39,492,853 34,209,746

Compute the missing amounts for each of the two years.

PROBLEMS

25. Income statement formats. Information from Cementex Corporation’s (Cementex) income
statements for the years ended December 31, Year 9 and Year 10, is shown in the following
display. Cementex is a Mexican construction firm that applies Mexican accounting stan-
dards and reports its results in millions of pesos ($).

Cementex Corporation
Income Statement Data
December 31, Year 10 and Year 9

December 31

Year 10 Year 9
Net SaleS. v vttt e $236,669 $213,767
Costof Sales . ..o v e 157,696 ?
Gross Profit . ..ot e ? 77,320
Administrative and Selling Expenses .. ...... ... .. 33,120 28,588
Distribution EXpenses . .. ... e 13,405 ?
Other Expenses, net. . . . ittt e 3,281 580
Operating InCcome . . .« vttt e ? 33,925
Financial EXpenses . ... ... e 8,809 ?
Financial Income . . ...ttt e 862 536
Income (Expense) from Financial Instruments ... ........ ... .......... 2,387 (161)
Other Financial Income (EXpense) . ... ..ottt 6,647 4,905
Equity in Income of Associates . . ... ..o e 1,487 1,425
Profit Before INCOmMe TaX . v v v vt vt it e et et e e et e et et et e ? 34,845
INCOME TaX . ottt e e e e ? ?
Consolidated Profit . . . ..o oot e ? ?
Portion of Profit Attributable to Minority Interest .. ................... 837 ?
Portion of Profit Attributable to Cementex Shareholders . ................ ? 27,855

Assume Cementex had an effective tax rate of 15.11% in Year 10 and 16.35% in Year 9.
a. Compute the missing amounts for each of the two years.

b. Prepare, in good format, an income statement for Cementex for Year 9 and Year 10
assuming the firm applies IFRS.

26. Income statement formats. Information from GoodLuck Brands’s income statements for
the years ended December 31, Years 6, 7, and 8, is shown next. GoodLuck Brands is a
U.S.-based manufacturer and distributor. The company applies U.S. GAAP and reports its
results in millions of U.S. dollars.
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Year 8 Year 7 Year 6
Net Sales. ..o i et e e $8,769.0 $7,061.2 $6,145.2
Cost of Products Sold. . . ...... ... . 4,618.9 3,843.0 3,342.1
Excise Taxes on Spiritsand Wine . .. ................... 514.0 326.5 299.7
Advertising, Selling, and Administrative Expenses . ......... 2,070.1 1,694.4 1,433.6
Amortization of Intangibles . . ....... ... .. .. ... . ... 43.5 33.4 35.4
Restructuring Charges . ... ..o oo ittt 21.2 — 9.8
Operating Income . . . . oo ittt 1,501.3 1,163.9 1,024.6
Interest Expense. . . ..o i ittt e 332.4 158.9 77.3
Other Financial Expense (Income) ..................... (40.2) 78.9 (47.0)
Income Before Minority Interest and Taxes . . ............. 1,209.1 926.1 994.3
Income Taxes . . v i it e 311.1 324.5 261.1
Minority Interests. . ... oo v e 67.9 20.0 17.2
Income from Continuing Operations. . .................. 830.1 581.6 716.0
Income from Discontinued Operations, nettax. . ........... — 39.5 67.8
NetIncome . . ..ottt e § 830.1 $ 621.1 § 783.8

Prepare, in good format, income statements for GoodLuck Brands for Year 6, Year 7, and
Year 8, assuming the firm applies IFRS.

27. Correcting errors in income statement transactions. Broyo Corporation (Broyo), a large
paper company, reported the following income statement for its year ended December 31,

Year 13. Broyo applies IFRS and reports its results in millions of euros.

Year 13
Net Sales. . o vttt e e € 4,221
Cost of Products Sold. . . . ...ttt e (3,110)
Gross Profit . . o oot e 1,111
Selling, General, and Administrative EXpenses . .. ...ttt (794)
Other Operating Income, Met. . . . . oottt e e e e e et 17
Share in Profits of Associated Companies . . .. ... ...ttt 1
Operating Profit . . . . oo e 335
Financial Income and Expenses, net. . .. ...t e (43)
Profit on Continuing Operations, before tax. . ... ..o oo vt i e 292
TNCOME TAXES & & v vt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e (72)
Profit from Continuing Operations, aftertax .. ...... ... .. .. 220
Profit from Discontinued Operations, netoftax.......... ... .. 17
PrOfit .« o e € 237
Portion of Profit Owned by Minority Interests . ... ... ... ottt R
Portion of Profit Owned by Shareholders. . ... ... .o i i i i 236

Broyo supplied additional information about the following six transactions or events that
happened during Year 13, with all euro amounts reported in millions.

a. On October 5, Year 13, Broyo signed a sales agreement with Office Supplies Interna-
tional. The agreement calls for delivery of 50,000 boxes of paper at a total price of
€200. On this date, Broyo recognized revenues of €200, and recognized cost of sales of
€160. No deliveries under the contract had occurred by December 31, Year 13.

b. On October 18, Year 13, Broyo signed a contract with a customer for €45. The customer
provided a cash deposit at this time of €20, which Broyo recorded as revenues. Broyo did
not recognize any expenses on October 18, Year 13.

c. Broyo fulfilled all terms of the contract in part b on November 28, Year 13. Broyo’s cost
of the inventory delivered was €36. Because Broyo had recorded revenues in October, it
made no entry on November 28.
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d. During the fourth quarter of Year 13, Broyo spent €11 on research and development.
Those expenditures, which were focused on creating a new waterproof paper, were
unsuccessful. Broyo capitalized the €11 as a development asset, which it plans to amor-
tize, beginning in Year 14, over 10 years.

e. On December 1, Year 13, Broyo delivered to a customer €266 of paper products, with a
cost of €250. The customer promised to pay Broyo in January Year 14. Because Broyo
had not received the cash by December 31, Year 13, it did not record anything for this
transaction.

f. On December 5, Year 13, Broyo sold one of its pulp plants for €100. Prior to the sale,
the pulp plant had a balance sheet carrying value of €80. Broyo recorded the transac-
tion as follows: debited cash for €100, debited plant and equipment for €80, credited
cost of goods sold for €80, and credited revenues for €100.

For each transaction, determine whether revenues and expenses are overstated or under-
stated. Ignore income tax effects.

28. Correcting errors in income statement transactions. Dragonfly Limited (Dragonfly), a diver-
sified electronics firm headquartered in Singapore, reported the following income state-
ment information for its year ended December 31, Year 7. Dragonfly applies Singapore
financial reporting standards and reports its results in thousands of Singapore dollars ($).
In answering this problem, assume Dragonfly uses either U.S. GAAP or IFRS; for pur-
poses of this problem, this choice will not matter.

Year 7
SalES. e e e $ 460,830
Cost Of Sales . . oottt e (416,378)
GroSS Profit & v et et e e e e 44,452
(01 =Y 3 To 12 1= 1,558
Selling and Marketing Costs . . . ..ottt e (20,714)
General and Administrative Costs. .. .. ... i (20,254)
Development Costs . . ..ttt e (1,232)
Finance Costs, Net. . . ..ttt e (6,692)
GainonSaleof Land. . ... i e 6,546
Share in Results of Associated Companies. . . . ..ottt ittt (2)
Profit Before TaX. « v v v ot e et e e e e e e e 3,662
I P 1o (1,094)
Profit (LOSS). « v v v et e $ 2,568
Portion of Profit Owned by Minority Interests .. ...... ... . ... i, W)
Portion of Profit Owned by Shareholders. ... ... i 3,135

Assume that Dragonfly supplied additional information about the following six hypo-
thetical transactions or events that happened during Year 7, with all monetary amounts
reported in thousands of Singapore dollars.

a. In January Year 7, Dragonfly collected $1,000 cash from customers who had purchased
items on credit in December Year 6. Dragonfly had delivered the items by mid-December
Year 6. Dragonfly recognized January revenues of $1,000.

b. On February 2, Year 7, the firm agreed to supply a customer with $25,000 of high-end
electronics products. On this date, Dragonfly recognized revenues of $25,000 and cost
of sales of $18,000 reflecting the carrying value of the high-end inventory. Dragonfly
delivered on the agreement in September Year 7.

¢. On June 4, Year 7, Dragonfly sold some land it had purchased many years earlier, prior
to the boom in the real estate market. The carrying value of the land on the firm’s
books was $454, and Dragonfly sold it for $7,000. Dragonfly recorded a gain on the sale
of the land of $6,546.

d. During Year 7, the firm incurred $1,232 in development costs associated with a new
product that the firm had developed; the firm expensed these costs. The product design
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164 Chapter 5 Income Statement: Reporting the Results of Operating Activities

and manufacture is nearly complete. The firm’s auditor has decided that Dragonfly
should have capitalized the development costs.

e. In December Year 7, Dragonfly recognized interest income on investments in market-
able securities of $230. The firm included this income in sales revenues.

f. Dragonfly spent $15,000 for advertising in Year 7. Because Dragonfly management
believed the advertising would result in future income, it capitalized the expenditures as
an asset. No amortization of the asset has yet taken place.

For each transaction, determine whether revenues and expenses for Year 7 are over- or
understated.

29. Classification and interpreting income statements. SeaBreeze Inc., a Taiwan-based semi-
conductor manufacturer, reported the following information for Year 12. SeaBreeze Inc.
applies IFRS and reports in millions of yuan (¥).

Year 12
REVENMUES . ittt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ¥ 1,891,466
oSt OF SAleS . v v vttt e e e e e (1,737,427)
GroSS Profit « vt e e e e e e e 154,039
Selling, General, and Administrative EXpenses. . . . ...ttt e ettt (98,524)
Profit Before TaX. . . ottt e e 55,515
TNCOME TaXES & & v vt e ettt e e e e e e e (23,594)
Net INCOMeE . . .t e ¥ 31,921

Further information available to you reveals the following five items (all financial figures
reported in millions of yuan).

a. During Year 12 SeaBreeze had ¥10,000 in gains on sales of assets. The firm included the
gains as part of Revenues.

b. SeaBreeze included financial income of ¥25,800 as part of Revenues, and financial
expenses of ¥12,000 as part of Cost of Sales.

¢. The firm included a ¥6,000 write-down of inventory in Selling, General, and Admin-
istrative Expenses. Normally in this industry, such a write-down is included in Cost of
Sales.

d. The firm included research and development expenditures of ¥34,000 in Cost of Sales.
None of the expenditures related to proven technologies (and so were correctly not
capitalized).

e. During Year 12 the firm committed to a plan to discontinue part of its operations. The
discontinued operations accounted for ¥22,000 of gross profit.

Evaluate the way SeaBreeze classified each of the five items on its income statement. If you
disagree with the classification, state your reasoning and determine the effect on the firm’s
gross margin and net income from the alternative classification that you would recommend.

30. Classification and interpretation of income statements. Dyreng Plc. (Dyreng), a Belgian-
based construction firm, reported the following information for Year 11. Dyreng applies
IFRS and reports in thousands of euros (€).

Year 11

REVENMUES . e it e s e e e e e e e e e e e € 18,957.2
oSt Of SalES . v vttt e e (14,161.9)
Gross Profit . . . oot e 4,795.3
Other Operating INCOME. « v vttt et e e e e e e e ettt e e 107.9
Selling, General, and Administrative EXpense. . ... ...ttt (3,929.5)
Other Operating EXpenses. . . . oo v ittt e e e (36.5)

(continued)
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Year 11
Operating Profit . . . . oo e € 937.2
FINANCe COStS . . . oottt e (347.2)
Income from Investments. . . ...ttt 14.5
Profit Before Taxes and Discontinued Operations ... ......... ... i .. 604.5
Income Tax EXPENSe . .o v vttt e (203.7)
Net Profit from Continuing Operations . ....... .ottt 400.8
Results of Discontinued Operations (net of tax). .. ...t .. 23.7

Net Profit oo et e e e € 424.5

Further information available to you reveals the following six items, with all euro amounts
reported in thousands.

a. During Year 11 Dyreng signed an agreement with the City of London to build a new
terminal at Gatwick airport. The construction will commence in Year 12. As evidence
of its commitment to the project, the City of London gave Dyreng a deposit of €80
toward the contract price of €240. Dyreng recognized revenues in Year 11 of €240 on
this transaction. Because Dyreng had not yet performed work, it recorded no costs of
sales at the time it recognized the revenue.

b. Dyreng recognized revenues of €700 in Year 11 related to a contract signed in Year 10.
It had performed all the work in Year 10, but the customer did not remit payment until
Year 11. It recognized the cost of the work performed, €660, as expense when it recog-
nized the revenue.

c. In Year 11 Dyreng consolidated its administrative functions and sold an office building
for €560. The carrying value of the building was €600. The firm reported this transac-
tion in revenues and cost of sales, respectively.

d. After preparing its income statement for Year 11, Dyreng realized that €45 of income
associated with discontinued operations was included in Other Operating Income.
Ignore tax effects in evaluating this transaction.

e. During Year 11 Dyreng completed a renovation project. The contract price was €450,
and the firm expended €230 in materials, labor, and overhead costs. Dyreng sent the bill
to the client, but because it did not receive payment in Year 11, the firm did not record
this transaction in its income statement for Year 11.

f. In Year 11, a firm offered to pay Dyreng to lease the advertising space on scaffolding
that Dyreng was erecting for a renovation project. The client offered Dyreng €960 to
lease the advertising space for one year. Dyreng accepted the offer and recorded €960
as a reduction of the cost of sales of the renovation project. At the end of Year 11, six
months of the lease remained.

Evaluate the way Dyreng classified each of the six items on its income statement. If you
disagree with this classification, state your reasoning and determine the effect on the firm’s
gross profit and pretax profit from continuing operations from the alternative classification
that you would recommend.

31. Calculation of tax rates. A multinational computer equipment manufacturer reported the
following amounts for two recent years (in millions of U.S. dollars). The firm applies U.S.

GAAP.

Year 10 Year 9
REVMUES . .« v vttt ettt e $ 88,396 $ 87,548
EXPENSES ¢ v et e (76,862) (75,791)
Income Before INCOmMe TaXes. & v v v v vt ittt et et et et et et e 11,534 11,757
Income Tax EXPense . . ..o vttt et (3,441) (4,045)
Net INCOME & v v ettt e e e e e e e et e e e e $ 8,093 $ 7,712
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166 Chapter 5 Income Statement: Reporting the Results of Operating Activities

a. Compute the ratio of net income divided by revenues for each year.

b. Compute the ratio of income before taxes divided by revenues for each year.

c¢. Compute the ratio of income tax expense divided by income before taxes, a ratio called
the effective tax rate.

d. What do these ratios suggest as to the principal reason for the change in profitability
between Year 10 and Year 9?7
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1. Understand why using the accrual basis 3. Develop an ability to prepare a state-

of accounting to prepare the balance ment of cash flows from compara-
sheet and income statement creates the tive balance sheets and an income LEARNING
need for a statement of cash flows. statement.
OBJECTIVES
2. Understand the types of transactions 4. Develop an ability to analyze the state-
that result in cash flows from operat- ment of cash flows.

ing, investing, and financing activities.

hat do Delta Airlines and Delphi have in common? Both firms filed for bankruptcy during

the early 2000s. Firms filing for bankruptcy often operated profitably for many years pre-
ceding their bankruptcy. The bankruptcies occurred because these firms were unable to generate
enough cash to cover operating costs and debt service payments. The ability to generate cash flows
and to manage their timing is critical to the success of business enterprises. For this reason, U.S.
GAAP and IFRS require that firms prepare a statement of cash flows showing the sources and
uses of cash during the period. The statement of cash flows reports the impact of a firm’s oper-
ating, investing, and financing activities on cash flows during the period. The statement of cash
flows relates to, but differs from, the statement of financial position (balance sheet) and statement
of operations (income statement).

NEED FOR A STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

How can a profitable firm run out of cash? Two explanations suggest answers.

1. Net income for a particular period does not equal cash flow from operations. Chapter 1 points
out that most firms use the accrual basis of accounting to measure operating performance.
This means that income does not equal cash flow for a given period. To understand why this
is the case, recall the principles of revenue and expense recognition:

B Revenue recognition. Firms typically recognize revenue at the time of sale, regardless of
when they receive the cash from the sale. Some firms, such as airlines, receive cash before
providing services and recognizing revenues. Other firms, such as manufacturers and dis-
tributors, receive cash after providing goods and recognizing revenues. Thus, revenues on
the income statement do not generally equal cash received from customers for that period.

B Expense recognition. Firms recognize expenses either in the period when they recognize
associated revenues or in the period when they consume materials or services used in oper-
ations. The cash outflow related to a specific expense does not always occur in the period
when the firm recognizes the expense. Thus, expenses on the income statement do not
generally equal cash paid to suppliers of materials and services for that period.
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168 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

Most of the cash outflows for operating expenses occur before the firm receives the cash
inflows from a sale. This lag between cash outflows and cash inflows can lead to cash shortages,
particularly for a growing firm. Consider the typical firm where cash disbursements to employ-
ees and suppliers precede cash collections from customers. The faster this firm grows (that is,
the faster it hires more employees and rents more space to expand the business), the greater is
the shortfall in cash. The firm might, for example, borrow funds from a bank to pay employees
and suppliers while it waits to collect cash from customers.

These examples highlight the fact that, for any accounting period, the income state-
ment does not reflect the cash flows for the period. Stated differently, using the accrual basis
of accounting to measure net income creates the need for a separate financial statement that
reports the impact of operations on cash flows. That statement helps the reader judge a firm’s
cash flow needs and how the firm has dealt with those needs.

2. Firms receive cash inflows and disburse cash outflows because of investing and financing
activities. The income statement does not report many of a firm’s investing and financ-
ing inflows and outflows directly. To understand how investing and financing flows affect
income and cash differently, consider the following examples:

B Firms building their productive capacity generally use cash to acquire property, plant,
and equipment. The firm capitalizes (that is, records an asset, not an expense) its expen-
ditures for property, plant, and equipment in the period of acquisition. Later periods’
income statements reflect the expensing of these costs, in the form of depreciation
expense.

B Debt service payments require cash. Some of those payments are for interest expense,
which the income statement will report. Other payments reflect principal repayments.
These principal payments are not expenses, so they never appear on an income statement.

B Some firms use cash to pay dividends. Dividends are not expenses on the income state-
ment. Dividends are distributions of net assets to owners.

Neither the balance sheet nor the income statement displays the firm’s sources and uses of
cash. A balance sheet reports the balance in the cash account at the beginning and end of the
accounting period but does not explain why cash changed during the period. The income state-
ment measures the increase (or decrease) in net assets from selling goods and providing services
for more (or less) than their costs. Accrual accounting results in an increase in net assets when
the firm earns income—but seldom is all this income in cash. The statement of cash flows helps
a reader understand how a firm obtains and uses cash.

OVERVIEW OF THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Exhibit 6.1 presents a statement of cash flows for Kellogg Group for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2013. We discuss the indirect and direct methods of computing cash flow from
operations later in this chapter. To facilitate later discussions, we also provide Kellogg Group’s
balance sheets for fiscal years 2012 and 2013 (Exhibit 6.2) and its income statement for 2013
(Exhibit 6.3).

THE STATEMENT EXxPLAINS THE REASONS FOR THE CHANGE
IN CAsH BETWEEN BALANCE SHEET DATES

The last few lines of Kellogg Group’s statement of cash flows report the amount of cash on the
firm’s balance sheet at the beginning and the end of the period. These amounts are the same
amounts reported on Kellogg Group’s fiscal 2013 balance sheet as the beginning cash balance
($524 million) and ending cash balance ($255 million). Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS require that
the statement of cash flows explain changes in cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents rep-
resent short-term, highly liquid investments in which a firm has temporarily placed excess cash.
Throughout this text, we use the term cash flows to refer to flows of both cash and cash equiva-
lents." The remaining lines on the statements of cash flows show the inflows and outflows of

'FASB, Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” 1987 (Codification
Topic 230); IASB, International Accounting Standard No. 7, “Statement of Cash Flows,” 1992.

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.



Overview of the Statement of Cash Flows

Kellogg Group
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(amounts in millions of US$)

EXHIBIT 6.1

Indirect Method Direct Method
2013 2013

Cash flows from operations: Cash flows from operations:
Netlncome. .. ..ot $1,192 Sources of Cash:
Add: Depreciation Expense. .. ................ 243 Receipts from Customers .. ....................... $12,690
Changes in working capital: Uses of Cash:

Accounts Receivable . .. ................... (132) Cash Paid for Goods Available for Sale . .. ............ (7,049)

INVENTOrIes « .« v ovvve e e et e 27 Cash Paid for Selling, General, and Administrative Items.. . (3,554)

Accounts Payable ............. ... ... ... 136 Cash Paid for Interest . . . .....covvuniinn .. (276)

Accrued Liabilities ....................... (140) Cash Paid for Income Taxes . ...................... (485)
Cash Flows from Operations . ................ $1,326 Cash Flows from Operations . ....................... $ 1,326
Cash flows from investing: Cash flows from investing:
Capital Expenditures on Property, Plant, and Capital Expenditures on Property, Plant,

Equipment..........ooiiiiiiii (525) and Equipment. .......... ... o oo (525)
Purchases of Long-Term Investments ........... (264) Purchases of Long Term Investments. .. ................ (264)
Cash Flows Used in Investing. . . .............. $ (789) Cash Flows Used in Investing. . .. .................... $ (789)
Cash flows from financing: Cash flows from financing:
Payments on Bonds Payable .................. (233) Payments on Bonds Payable ...................... ... (233)
Dividends Paid . ............ ... ... . ... (573) Dividends Paid . ......... .. (573)
Cash Flows Used in Financing . .. ............. $ (806) Cash Flows Used in Financing . .. .................... $ (806)
Changein Cash Flows ...................... $ (269) Changein Cash Flows ............................. $ (269)
Beginning Cash Balance..................... $ 524 Beginning Cash Balance. ........................... $ 524
Ending Cash Balance . ...................... $ 255 Ending Cash Balance $ 255

© Cengage Learning 2014

cash during the period. These inflows and outflows explain the change in cash between the two
balance sheet dates. Thus, the statement of cash flows reports flows or changes in cash over
time, whereas the balance sheet reports the amount of cash at specified dates.

THE STATEMENT CLASSIFIES THE REASONS FOR THE CHANGE IN CASH
As AN OPERATING, OR INVESTING, OR FINANCING ACTIVITY

The inflows and outflows of cash during the year appear in the statement of cash flows in one
of three categories: operating, investing, and financing. Figure 6.1 presents the three types of

cash flows, described next.

1. Operations A financially healthy company generates sustained cash inflows from sell-

ing goods and providing services. The amount of cash flow from operations indicates
the extent to which operating activities generate more cash than they use. A firm can use
cash flow from operations to acquire buildings and equipment, pay dividends, retire long-
term debt, and pay for other investing and financing activities.

. Investing The second section of the statement of cash flows shows the amount of cash

flow from investing activities. The acquisition of noncurrent assets, particularly property,
plant, and equipment, usually represents a major ongoing use of cash. A firm must replace
such assets as they wear out or become obsolete, and it must acquire additional noncurrent
assets if it wishes to grow. A firm may obtain part of the cash needed to acquire noncur-
rent assets from sales of existing noncurrent assets. Such cash inflows seldom, however,
cover the cost of new asset acquisitions. Firms not experiencing rapid growth can often
finance the acquisition of noncurrent assets with cash flow from operations. Rapidly grow-
ing firms must often borrow funds or issue common shares to finance these acquisitions.
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170 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

Kellogg Group
EXHIBIT 6.2 Consolidated Balance Sheet
(amounts in millions of US$)

2013 2012
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents. .. ....... .. ... i $ 255 $ 524
Accounts Receivable .. ... ... . . . 1,143 1,011
INVENEOTIES . . . v vttt e e _ 897 924
Total CUrrent ASSELS. . . . ... v v vttt ettt ettt et $2,295 $2,459
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost) .. ... 4,500 3,975
Accumulated Depreciation .......... ... . oo o oo oo i 1,567 1,324
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Net). . .. ...ttt 2,933 2,651
Long-Term Investments .. ......... ..ottt 2,138 1,874
TOtal ASSEES . . .. v vttt et $7,366 $6,984
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable. . . ... ... 561 425
Income Taxes and Interest Payable . ...................................... 78 78
Accrued Liabilities. . .. ... 102 242
Total Current Liabilities. . . . .......... ... $ 741 $ 745
B 011 d S a7 b 1,789 2,022
Shareholders' Equity
Retained Earnings. . . ........oooii 4,836 4,217
= Total Shareholders' Equity. . ......... ... $4,836 $4,217
.% Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity .. ........ ... ... .. ... ... ... $7,366 $6,984
o
Kellogg Group
EXHIBIT 6.3 Consolidated Statement of Earnings
(amounts in millions of US$, except per-share data)
2013
Sales REVENUES . . . . ottt $12,822
Cost of Goods Sold. . .. ..ot (7,212)
Depreciation EXPense . . .. ...ttt (243)
Selling, General, and Administrative Expense .. ........... .. o o oo (3,414)
Operating Profit. . . ...t $ 1,953
IS R ETINE 0 0i0m0.0 0 0 00 0:0.0.0010.0.0.0.0 08.0.0.0.0.0.0.0.0:0. 008 b 04006 000000 CBEg8 A tod 0030000 (276)
Earnings Before Income Tax. . . ....... ... .. ... . . $ 1,677
s Income Tax EXPEnse - . . o« oottt ii ottt it et e e e i e e e e e e e e e (485)
.% Net INCOME. . . oottt e e $ 1,192
o
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Net Change in Cash
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3. Financing Third, a firm obtains cash from borrowing and from issuing shares of stock. It
uses cash to pay dividends to shareholders, to repay borrowing, and to reacquire outstand-
ing shares of stock. These amounts appear as cash flow from financing activities in the
statement of cash flows.

Ambiguities in Classifying Cash Flows Cash flows do not always fit neatly into one
of these three categories. For example, you might think of cash received from investments in
securities—received in the form of interest and dividends—as coming from operating activi-
ties. The logic for this treatment is that interest and dividends appear as revenues in the income
statement. Alternatively, you might view cash received from interest and dividends as coming
from investing activities. The logic for this treatment is that cash flows related to the purchase
and sale of investments in some securities appear as investing activities in the statement of cash
flows. U.S. GAAP requires firms to classify cash receipts from interest and dividends as an
operating activity and to classify cash flows related to the purchase and sale of investments in
securities as an investing activity. IFRS permits firms to classify cash received from interest and
dividends as operating, or investing, or financing activities, provided the classification is consis-
tently applied across periods.

Similar ambiguities arise with interest expense. Classifying the cash outflow for interest
expense as an operating activity would achieve consistency with its inclusion in the income
statement as an expense. In contrast, classifying the cash outflow for interest expense as a
financing activity would achieve consistency with the classification of debt issues and retire-
ments as a financing activity. U.S. GAAP requires firms to classify cash payments for interest
expense as an operating activity. [IFRS permits firms to select the classification (operating, or
investing, or financing) for cash payments of interest expense, again requiring consistent clas-
sification from period to period. Under both U.S. GAAP and IFRS, issuing or repaying debt is
a financing activity, as is paying cash dividends.

Copyright 2014 Cengage Learning. All Rights Reserved. May not be copied, scanned, or duplicated, in whole or in part. Due to electronic rights, some third party content may be suppressed from the eBook and/or eChapter(s).
Editorial review has deemed that any suppressed content does not materially affect the overall learning experience. Cengage Learning reserves the right to remove additional content at any time if subsequent rights restrictions require it.




172 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

Finally, certain purchases and sales of securities can be either an investing activity or an
operating activity, and increases and decreases in certain short-term borrowings can be either
an operating activity or a financing activity.

206018V 6.1 FOR SELF-STUDY

Classifying cash flows by type of activity. Indicate whether each of the following
transactions of the current period would appear as an operating, investing, or financing
activity in the statement of cash flows. If any transaction would not appear in the
statement of cash flows, suggest the reason. Assume the firm uses U.S. GAAP.

a. Disbursement of $96,900 to merchandise suppliers.

b. Receipt of $200,000 from issuing common shares.

c. Receipt of $49,200 from customers for sales made this period.

d. Receipt of $22,700 from customers this period for sales made last period.

e. Receipt of $1,800 from a customer for goods the firm will deliver next period.
f. Disbursement of $16,000 for interest expense on debt.

g. Disbursement of $40,000 to acquire land.

h. Issue common shares with market value of $60,000 to acquire land.

-

Disbursement of $25,300 as compensation to employees for services rendered this
period.

j- Disbursement of $7,900 to employees for services rendered last period but not paid
for last period.

k. Disbursement of $53,800 for a patent purchased from its inventor.
1. Acquisition of a building by issuing a note payable to a bank.
m. Disbursement of $19,300 as a dividend to shareholders.

n. Receipt of $12,000 from the sale of equipment that originally cost $20,000 and had
$8,000 of accumulated depreciation at the time of sale.

0. Disbursement of $100,000 to redeem bonds at maturity.
p. Disbursement of $40,000 to acquire shares of IBM common stock.

q. Receipt of $200 in dividends from IBM relating to the shares of common stock
acquired in transaction p above.

READING AND INTERPRETING THE INFORMATION
IN THE STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

Refer to Exhibit 6.1. Kellogg Group reported positive cash flow from operations in 2013 in the
amount of $1,326 million. This amount exceeded Kellogg Group’s cash outflows for investing
purposes of $789 million. Business terminology refers to the excess of cash flow from opera-
tions over cash flow used for investing as free cash flow.> Kellogg Group’s free cash flow for fis-
cal 2013 was $537 (= $1,326 — $789) million.

Firms use free cash flow for various purposes. For example, to repay borrowing, pay a
dividend, repurchase common shares, or add to cash on the balance sheet. In the most recent
year, Kellogg Group reports that it paid dividends on common stock ($573 million) and repaid
bonds payable ($233 million). Kellogg Group’s net cash outflow for financing activities was
$806 million, or $269 million more than its free cash flow. Thus, as the last rows of Exhibit 6.1

2Free cash flow is not a technical term in accounting. It is a term that financial analysts and investment bankers
use, and has various definitions. Be sure you understand the definition as others use it.
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show, Kellogg Group’s cash balance declined by $269 million, from $524 million at the begin-
ning of 2013 to $255 million at the end of 2013. This decline is also evident from a comparison
of the cash balances on Kellogg Group’s balance sheet (Exhibit 6.2).

PRESENTATION FORMATS FOR THE STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

Both U.S. GAAP and IFRS permit flexibility with respect to the display of information in the
statement of cash flows. There are, however, the following requirements:

B Firms must report cash flows from operations, investing, and financing for the current year
and the prior two years.

B Firms must report the beginning and ending cash balances, and the change in the cash bal-
ance. The change in cash must reconcile to the sum of the cash inflows and outflows from
operating, investing, and financing activities.

B Within the investing and financing cash flow categories, the presentation for most items
should not net cash inflows against cash outflows. Instead, the firm must show the gross
(that is, not netted) cash inflows and cash outflows. Gross reporting requires, for example,
that firms show the amount of cash spent to acquire property, plant, and equipment for the
year separately from the amount of cash received on sales of property, plant, and equip-
ment during the year.?

B The operating, investing, and financing sections of the statement of cash flows do not report
nonmonetary, sometimes called non-cash, transactions. Nonmonetary transactions affect
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet but do not result in cash inflows or cash outflows.
Examples include the acquisition of equipment in exchange for shares of stock or the con-
version of a firm’s debt into common shares. Firms must disclose nonmonetary transactions
in the body of the statement of cash flows, or in a separate schedule, or in a note.

To illustrate these requirements refer to Great Deal, Inc.’s statement of cash flows (Exhibit 1.3)
and to Thames Limited’s statement of cash flows (Exhibit 1.7). Both firms

B Separately report cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities;

B Reconcile beginning and ending cash balances to the change in cash flows during the year;
and

B Use the indirect method of reporting cash flows, which calculates cash flow from opera-
tions by reference to net income. We discuss the indirect method later in this chapter.

THE STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows REcoNciLEs NET
INcoME WiITH CASsH FLow FROM OPERATIONS

Your first exposure to constructing a statement of cash flows occurred in Chapter 3. There you
analyzed every entry (change) in the Cash account and placed each change in a statement of
cash flows. You did not classify cash flows into operating, investing, or financing activities.
Although both U.S. GAAP and IFRS state a preference for the presentation of cash flows from
operations as you derived them in Chapter 3 (the direct method), most firms present cash flows
from operations as a reconciliation of net income to operating cash flow (the indirect method).

1. Direct method The direct method of presenting the cash from operations section of the
statement of cash flows reports the amounts of cash received from customers less cash
disbursed to suppliers, employees, lenders, and taxing authorities. The right panel of
Exhibit 6.1 shows Kellogg Group’s statement of cash flows using the direct method.

2. Indirect method The indirect method of presenting the cash from operations section of the
statement of cash flows begins with net income for a period and presents adjustments to
net income for revenues and expenses not matched with cash receipts from customers or
disbursement to suppliers of goods and services in the current period. The left panel of
Exhibit 6.1 shows Kellogg Group’s statement of cash flows using the indirect method.

3Because gross reporting provides more information than net reporting, standard setters view gross reporting as
providing a better representation of the firm’s operating, investing, and financing activities.
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174 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

Most firms report cash flow from operations using the indirect method. Before the FASB or
TASB expressed preference for the direct method, most firms used the indirect method, so both
preparers and users were familiar with it.* Experienced financial analysts who use the statement
of cash flows generally understand the adjustments required to convert net income to cash flow
from operations. Our experience in teaching the statement of cash flows indicates that on ini-
tial exposure to the statement of cash flows, some students have difficulty understanding these
adjustments, and therefore, find the direct method easier to understand. We illustrate the com-
putation of cash flow from operations using both the indirect method (because it is widely
used) and the direct method (because it may be easier to understand). The two methods differ
with respect to their derivation of cash flow from operations and are identical with respect to
their derivations of cash flow from investing and cash flow from financing:

Statement of Cash Flows

Cash Flow from Operations (CFO) Cash Flow from Operations (CFO)
using indirect method using direct method
Cash Flow from Investing (CFI) Cash Flow from Investing (CFI)
Cash Flow from Financing (CFF) Cash Flow from Financing (CFF)
Change in Cash = CFO + CFI + CFF Change in Cash = CFO + CFI + CFF

PREPARING THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

A firm could prepare its statement of cash flows directly from entries in its Cash account,
including classifying each transaction affecting cash as an operating, or investing, or financing
activity. As the number of transactions affecting cash increases, this approach becomes cum-
bersome. Most firms design their accounting systems to accumulate the information needed to
prepare income statements and balance sheets. They transform information from the income
statement and balance sheet into a statement of cash flows. We present a T-account work sheet
for transforming balance sheet and income statement information and for preparing the state-
ment of cash flows. This approach relies on understanding the formula for calculating the
change in cash from the balance sheet, described next.

THE CAasH CHANGE EQuUATION

To understand the preparation of a statement of cash flows, you must understand how changes
in cash relate to changes in non-cash accounts. The accounting equation states

Balance Sheet Assets Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity
Equation (Eq.1) Cash + Non-cash Assets = Liabilities + Shareholders’ Equity

This equation must be true for balance sheets constructed at the start of the period and at
the end of the period. If the start-of-period and end-of-period balance sheets maintain the
accounting equation, then the following equation must also hold:

Change Change in Change in Change in
(Eq.2) in Cash T Non-cash = Liabilities T Sharehglders
Assets Equity
Rearranging terms in this equation, we obtain the equation for the change in cash:
Cash Change Change Change in Change in , Change in
Equation (Eq.3) inCash = Liabilities T Ohareholders” — Non-cash
Equity Assets

*If the firm uses the direct method, it must also provide a separate reconciliation of net income to cash flows
from operations. The reconciliation can appear either at the bottom of the statement of cash flows or in a sepa-
rate note.
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The left-hand side of the cash change equation (Eq. 3) represents the change in cash. The
right-hand side of the equation reflects changes in all non-cash accounts and must also equal
the change in cash. The equation states that the change in cash (left-hand side) equals the
change in liabilities plus the change in shareholders’ equity minus the change in non-cash assets
(right-hand side). For example, a bank loan increases cash and increases a liability, whereas the
issue of common stock increases cash and increases shareholders’ equity. Each of these transac-
tions increases both sides of Equation 3.

Paying cash to acquire non-cash assets, for example, inventory or equipment, decreases cash
and increases non-cash assets. Increases in non-cash assets have a negative sign on the right-
hand side of the equation, so paying cash to acquire assets decreases both sides of Equation
3. We identify the causes of the change in cash by studying the changes in non-cash accounts and
classifying each change as operating or investing or financing activities. The preceding italicized
sentence provides the overview of the procedures that underlie the T-account work sheet for the
statement of cash flows.

T-AccouNnT WORK SHEET

The T-account work sheet does not show accounts as they appear in the firm’s general ledger.
Rather, it is like scratch paper, used for computations that are not part of the formal record-
keeping system. We use the T-account work sheet to show the effects of transactions on the
Cash account. Given the large number of transactions affecting the Cash account during a
period, most firms prepare the statement of cash flows after they have prepared the income
statement and the balance sheet. This section presents a step-by-step procedure for preparing
the statement of cash flows from the balance sheet and the income statement.

Step 1 Obtain balance sheets for the beginning and end of the period covered by the state-
ment of cash flows and an income statement for that period. We use the comparative balance
sheets of Kellogg Group for December 31, 2012 and 2013 (Exhibit 6.2) and its income state-
ment for fiscal 2013 (Exhibit 6.3).

Step 2 Prepare a T-account work sheet. An example based on the Kellogg Group for fiscal
2013 appears in Exhibit 6.4. The top of the work sheet shows a master T-account titled Cash,
subdivided into three sections labeled Operations, Investing, and Financing. The number at the
top of each T-account is the beginning balance; the number at the bottom is the ending bal-
ance. The beginning and ending cash amounts for Kellogg Group are $524 million and $255
million, respectively, and correspond to the amounts reported in its balance sheet (Exhibit 6.2).
The check marks indicate the figures are balances. The master T-account, Cash, represents the
left-hand side of Equation 3 for the change in cash.

After preparing the master T-account for Cash (the top of Exhibit 6.4), complete the
work sheet by preparing T-accounts for each liability, shareholders’ equity, and non-cash asset
account. The lower portion of Exhibit 6.4 shows the T-accounts for each of Kellogg Group’s
non-cash accounts that changed during fiscal 2013. The balance in the account Income Taxes
and Interest Payable did not change so the work sheet does not include a T-account for this
item. Enter the beginning and ending balances in each account, from the balance sheet (see
Exhibit 6.2). The sum of the changes in these individual T-accounts expresses the right-hand
side of Equation 3 for the change in cash.

Cash Change Equation (Eq. 3)

Change  Change in Change in Change in
in Cash — Liabilities T Shareholders’ Equity =~ Non-cash Assets

Step 3 Explain the change in the master Cash T-account between the beginning and the end
of the period. We do this by accounting for the cash effect of the change in each non-cash
account during the period. First, reconstruct the entries originally recorded in the accounts
during the period. Enter those entries into the same accounts on the T-account work sheet.
Second, classify the entries in the master account for cash as an operating, or investing, or
financing activity. The net change in all non-cash accounts provides the information needed
to account for the change in cash, the left-hand side of Equation 3. If the reconstructed
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176 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

Kellogg Group
T-Account Work Sheet

EXHIBIT 6.4

Cash
v 524
Operations
Investing
Financing
v 255
Property, Plant, and
Accounts Receivable Inventory Equipment (Cost)
v 1,011 v 924 v 3,975
v 1,143 v 897 v 4,500
Accumulated Depreciation Long-Term Investments Accounts Payable
1,324 / 1,874 / 425 /
1,567 2,138 v/ 561 v
= Accrued Liabilities Bonds Payable Retained Earnings
= 320 2,022 v 4,217
g 180 v 1,789 v 4,836 v
3
©

transactions explain the net change in the right-hand side of the Cash Change Equation
(Eq. 3), they will also explain the causes of the change in cash (the left-hand side).

In constructing the T-account work sheet, we make analytic entries that resemble journal
entries. These entries are not part of a firm’s record-keeping system, and that appear only on
the work sheet. Once we complete the T-account work sheet and prepare the statement of cash
flows, we discard the analytic entries or save them in a file to remind us next period what we did
this period.

The debits on the T-account work sheet must equal the credits. Common errors include
partial recording of a transaction and recording part of a transaction on the wrong side of a
T-account. The errors become evident on completion of the work sheet when the entries in one
or more accounts on the T-account work sheet do not explain the change in the account dur-
ing the period. The preparer must then retrace each of the entries to discover the source of the
error.

Reconstructing the transactions during the year usually proceeds more easily by accounting
first for supplementary information. The following information applies to Kellogg Group for
2013:

1. Net income is $1,192 million (Exhibit 6.3).

2. There were no sales, disposals, or impairments of property, plant, and equipment dur-
ing the period. Depreciation expense is $243 (= $1,567 — $1,324) million as reported on
the income statement (Exhibit 6.3). This amount also equals the change in the accumu-
lated depreciation account reported on the balance sheet between 2012 and 2013 of $243
(= $1,567 — $1,324) million.

3. Dividends declared and paid total $573 million. This amount also reconciles to the change
in retained earnings:
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I?egmmng. + Net Income - Dividends = Ending R.etamed
Retained Earnings Earnings
or
Dividends = I?egmmng‘ +  Net Income — Ending R'etamed
Retained Earnings Earnings

For Kellogg Group:

Dividends

$4,217 million + $1,192 million — $4,836 million
=  $573 million

The analytic entry to record the information about net income is as follows:
(1) Cash (Operations: Net Income). . .. ..o v it et 1,192

Retained Earnings . . . ..o i ittt e 1,192
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

All the journal entries that together record the process of earning $1,192 million in net
income are equivalent to the following single journal entry:

Net Assets (= All Assets Minus All Liabilities) ..................... 1,192
Retained Earnings . ... i i it e 1,192
Change in Change in
Change Change in Shareholders’ Non-cash
in Cash = | Liabilities @ + Equity - Assets
+1,192 +1,192

(Opns.)

Summary entry equivalent to recording earnings of $1,192 million.

The preceding journal entry summarizes all the effects on the balance sheet of the firm’s
income earning activities, as one debit to Net Assets. Both the T-account work sheet and the
cash flow from operations section of an actual statement of cash flows, for the indirect method,
start with the provisional assumption that all earnings produce cash from operations. Subse-
quent additions and subtractions adjust for transactions where that assumption is invalid.
Thus, in analytic entry (1), the debit shows a provisional increase in cash from operations equal
to net income for the period.

Cash Change Equation (Eq. 3)

Change  Change in Change in Change in
in Cash — Liabilities © Shareholders’ Equity = Non-cash Assets

Not all expenses decrease cash. To calculate cash from operations, we must add back to net
income the amounts of expenses that do not use cash this period but instead use non-cash net
assets in this period. An example is depreciation expense, illustrated in entry (2):

(2) Cash (Operations: Depreciation Expense Addback) . .................. 243
Accumulated Depreciation. ... ..ottt e 243
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

Depreciation expense, subtracted in calculating net income, did not reduce cash this period.
Some time ago, Kellogg Group used cash to acquire the property, plant, and equipment it now
depreciates. The use of cash appeared on the statement of cash flows for the earlier period, as
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178 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

an investing use of cash. (We revisit this use of cash when we consider the analytical entry for
the Property, Plant, and Equipment account.) The analytic entry for depreciation expense adds
back depreciation expense to net income in calculating cash flow from operations.

Next, we record the supplementary information concerning dividends of $573 million

declared and paid:
(3) Retained Earnings . .......ovuintiiii i 573
Cash (Financing: Dividends; Subtraction).................... 573

Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

Dividends reduce retained earnings and cash. Paying cash dividends is a financing activity
on the statement of cash flows.

Once the T-account work sheet reflects the supplementary information, we must make
inferences about the reasons for the remaining changes in the non-cash balance sheet accounts.’
Explanations for the changes in non-cash accounts appear below, in balance sheet order.

The Accounts Receivable account shows an increase of $132 (= $1,143 — $1,011) million.
The analytic entry to record this information in the work sheet is as follows:

(4) AccountsReceivable. . ... ... 132
Cash (Operations: Subtractions) . .. ......... ... . ... 132
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

The firm’s operations of the period generated sales, but not all of these sales resulted in an
increase in cash. Some of the sales increased accounts receivable. Because we start the state-
ment of cash flows with net income (provisionally assuming that all sales generated cash), we
must subtract the portion of revenues that did not produce cash in arriving at cash from opera-
tions. The portion of revenues that did not produce cash equals the excess of sales on account
over cash collections from customers. This amount equals the change in Accounts Receivable.
The amount of the increase (decrease) in accounts receivable is the amount that must be sub-
tracted from (added to) net income to calculate cash from operations.

The next non-cash account that changed, Inventory, shows a decline of $27 (= $897 — $924)
million. The analytic entry in the work sheet to explain the change in Inventory is as follows:

(5) Cash (Operations: Addition). . ......... ot 27
Inventory . .. oo e 27
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

Kellogg Group reduced the amount of inventory on its balance sheet. To calculate cash
from operations, we must add to net income the decrease in inventories during the year. If
inventories had increased, we would subtract the amount of the increase.

The next non-cash account, Property, Plant, and Equipment (PPE), shows an increase of
$525 (= $4,500 — $3,975) million. Point (2) of the supplemental information states that Kellogg
Group had no sales, disposals, or impairments of PPE during 2013. The only remaining trans-
action that could affect the PPE account is the purchase of new PPE during 2013. The amount
of the purchase must equal the increase in this account, $525 million. The analytic entry is as
follows:

(6) Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost). .. ..., 525
Cash (Investing: Acquisitions of Property, Plant, and Equipment) . .. 525
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

SThe preparer of a statement of cash flows for an actual firm will use information in the firm’s accounting
records regarding the change in each account.
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The next non-cash account, Long-Term Investments, increased $264 (= $2,138 — $1,874)
million during 2013. Absent other information, we assume Kellogg Group acquired long-term
investments for cash during 2013. The analytic entry is as follows:

(7) Long-Term Investments. ..............ouiuinininenenenennn.. 264
Cash (Investing: Acquisition of Long-Term Investments) ......... 264
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

The next non-cash account, Accounts Payable, increased in 2013 from $425 million to $561
million at the end of the year, $136 million. The analytic entry to explain this increase is as
follows:

(8) Cash (Operations: Additions) . .. ... ... iiiiii .. 136
Accounts Payable. . ... ... 136
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

To understand this analytic entry, assume that Kellogg Group increased its accounts pay-
able because it purchased a resource (such as inventory) on credit. At the end of 2013, Kellogg
Group acquired the resource but has not yet paid the supplier. Kellogg Group’s cash from oper-
ations is, therefore, higher this year by the amount of the increase in accounts payable.

The next non-cash account showing a change is Accrued Liabilities. The analytic entry to
explain the decrease in the amount of Accrued Liabilities is as follows:

(9) Accrued Liabilities . .. .o oo 140
Cash (Operations: Subtraction). . .......... ... ... . ... .. 140
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

The reasoning behind this analytic entry is the opposite as for analytic entry (8). Accrued
liabilities declined by $140 (= $102 — $242) million, indicating that Kellogg Group reduced this
liability (by paying cash) more than it increased resources acquired from creditors. (Acquiring
resources from creditors increases Accounts Payable.) The net effect is an outflow of cash from
operations by the amount of the decrease, $140 million.

Bonds Payable, the final non-cash account with a change not yet explained, shows a
decrease of $233 (= $1,789 — $2,022) million for fiscal 2013. We infer that Kellogg Group used
cash to repay some of its bonds payable during the year. The analytic entry is as follows:

(10) Bonds Payable....... ... et 233
Cash (Financing: Paid Bonds Payable) . . .................... 233
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

Exhibit 6.5 presents the completed T-account work sheet for Kellogg Group for 2013. The
10 analytic entries explain all changes in the non-cash T-accounts and show annotations in the
components of change in the Cash account.

Step 4 In the final step, we use the information in the master T-account for cash in the com-
pleted work sheet to prepare a statement of cash flows. Exhibit 6.1 presents the Kellogg Group
statement of cash flows. We describe the preparation of the statement of cash flows—under
both the direct and indirect methods—in the next section.

DIRECT METHOD OF PREPARING THE STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

In this section, we describe how to prepare the cash flow from operations section of the state-
ment of cash flows using the direct method. The panel on the right-hand side of Exhibit 6.1
displays the statement of cash flows derived using the direct method. The derivation of the
direct method follows the three steps shown in the three panels in Exhibit 6.8.
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Kellogg Group

2L T-Account Work Sheet (with Changes in Non-cash Accounts)

Cash
v 524
Operations
Net Income (1) 1192 132 (4) Increased Accounts Receivable
Depreciation Expense: (2) 243 140 (9) Decreased Accrued Liabilities
Addback
Decreased Inventory (5) 27
Increased Accounts (8) 136
Payable
Investing
525 (6) Acquisition of Property,
Plant, and Equipment
264 (7) Acquisition of Long-Term
Investments
Financing
573 (3) Paid Dividends
233 (10) Paid Bonds Payable
v 255
Property, Plant, and
Accounts Receivable Inventory Equipment (Cost)
v 1,011 v 924 v 3,975
(4) 132 27 (5) (6) 525
v 1,143 v 897 v 4,500
Accumulated Depreciation Long-Term Investments Accounts Payable
1,324 / 1,874 / 425 /
243 (2) 264 (8) 136 (8)
1,567 2,138 v 561 v
= Accrued Liabilities Bonds Payable Retained Earning
) 320 v/ 2,022 v 4,217
E 140 (9) (10) 233 (3) 573 1,192 (1)
g 180 v 1,789 v 4,836
S

| 3:1:36]:{03 YN 6.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

Preparing a T-account work sheet for a statement of cash flows. Exhibit 6.6 presents a
comparative balance sheet for Robbie Corporation as of December 31, 2012 and 2013.
Exhibit 6.7 shows the income statement for 2013. During 2013 the firm sold no property,
plant, and equipment. It declared and paid dividends of $2,000. Prepare a T-account
work sheet for the preparation of a statement of cash flows for 2013. Use the format
shown in Exhibit 6.5.

Step 1 Copy the income statement into the left-hand box.

Step 2 Copy into the middle box all the additions and subtractions in the operations sec-
tion of the master Cash account in the T-account work sheet, including the $1,192 of net
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Robbie Corporation

Comparative Balance Sheet
EXHIBIT 6.6 December 31, 2013 and 2012
(Problem 6.2 for Self-Study)

(all amounts in thousands of US$)

December 31

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets
07 $ 25 $ 10
Accounts Receivable . . . ... ... e 22 15
Merchandise INVeNtories . . .. .. oottt e i 18 20
Total Current ASSets . . . oo vttt e $ 65 $ 45
Noncurrent Assets
Property, Plant, and Equipment. . . ... ... . e $ 66 $ 50
Less Accumulated Depreciation . . .. ..o oo ~(31) _(25)
Total Property, Plant, and Equipment . .. ... ... ... ... $ 35 $ 25
Total ASSEtS . o vttt e $100 $70
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable for Merchandise . . . . ... ... ... $ 37 $ 30
Total Current Liabilities . ... ... ...ttt $ 37 $ 30
Long-Term Debt
Bonds Payable . . . ... .. e 18 _ 10
Total Liabilities . . . . oottt e $ 55 $ 40
Shareholders’ Equity
= CommON STOCK .« ottt e $ 20 $ 10
% Retained Earnings. . . . . oottt et e e e 25 20
g Total Shareholders’ EQUIty . . . . o oottt e e e e e e e e e $ 45 $ 30
;:’ Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity. . ... ..., $100 $70
S
Robbie Corporation
Income Statement
EXHIBIT 6.7 For 2013
(Problem 6.2 for Self-Study)
(all amounts in thousands of US$)
SaAleS REVENMUE . o o vttt ettt e e e e e e e e e $ 180
Cost of Goods Sold . . . ..ot (140)
= Selling and Administrative EXpenses ... ... ... e (25)
E’ Depreciation EXPENnse. . . ..ottt (6)
B INETESt EXPONSE. & o v v e ettt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e (@
€ NELINCOME ..ottt ettt ettt e et et e e $ 7
S

income shown below the box. Place the number next to the income statement item to which
the addition or subtraction relates. For example, place the Accounts Receivable subtraction
next to Sales Revenue, the Depreciation adjustment next to Depreciation Expense, and so on.
To do this, you need to understand which income statement item a given addition or subtrac-
tion refers to. In placing the number in column (b), use parentheses if the number represents
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Kellogg Group

EXHIBIT 6.8

Using Data from T-Account Work Sheet

Each step is a spearate panel. Later versions condense all work into a single panel.

1. Copy Income Statement and Cash Flow from Operations
Changes in Related Balance
Sheet Accounts From
T-Account Work Sheet

Deriving Direct Method Cash Flow from Operations

Operations (a) (b) (c) (d)
Sales Revenues. . ........ $12,822
Cost of Goods Sold . . ..... (7,212)
Depreciation Expense .. ... (243)
Selling, General and
Administrative Expense . ...  (3,414)
Interest Expense......... (276)
Income Tax Expense . .. ... (485)
Net Income ............ $ 1,192
$ 1,326 = Cash Flow from Operations $ —
- Derived via Indirect Method
2. Copy Information from T-Account Work Sheet Next to Related Income Statement Item
Changes in Related
Copy from Balance Sheet Accounts
T-Account from T-Account
Work Sheet Work Sheet
Operations (a) (b) (c) (d)
Sales Revenues. . ........ $12,822 (132) = Accounts Receivable
Increase
Cost of Goods Sold . . ..... (7,212) 27 = Inventory Decrease
136 = Accounts Payable Increase
Depreciation Expense. . . ... (243) 243 = (Expense Not Using Cash)
Selling, General, and
Administrative Expense . ...  (3,414) (140) = Accrued Liabilities Decrease
Income Taxes and Interest
Payable (no change in
Interest Expense. ........ (276) balance sheet account)
Income Tax Expense . ..... (485)
Net Income . ........... $ 1,192 $1,192 = Net Income
$1,326 = C(ash Flow from Operations $ —
via Indirect Method
3. Sum Across Rows to Derive Direct Receipts and Expenditures
Changes in Related
Copy from Balance Sheet Accounts
T-Account from T-Account Work Direct
Work Sheet Sheet Method From Operations: Receipts
Operations (a) (b) (c) (d) Less Expenditures
Sales Revenues. . ........ $12,822 (132) = Accounts Receivable $12,690 Receipts from Customers
Increase
Cost of Goods Sold . . ..... (7,212) 27 = Inventory Decrease (7,049) Payments for Goods Available
for Sale
136 = Accounts Payable Increase
Depreciation Expense. . . ... (243) 243 = (Expense Not Using Cash) —
Selling, General, and
Administrative Expense . ...  (3,414) (140) = Accrued Liabilities Decrease (3,554) Payments for Selling, General,
and Administrative Items
Income Taxes and Interest
Payable (no change in (276) Payments for Interest
Interest Expense. ........ (276) balance sheet account) Expense
Income Tax Expense . ..... (485) (485) Payments for Income Taxes
Net Income . ........... $ 1,192 $1,192 = Net Income
$1,326 = (ash Flow from Operations $ 1,326 Cash Flow from Operations via
via Indirect Method Direct Method

Note that the information in column (b) is cash flow from operations derived with the indirect method.
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Preparing the Statement of Cash Flows 183

a decrease in cash; no parentheses means the number represents an increase in cash. Add the
numbers in column (b) to check that you have shown the indirect method’s computation of
cash flow from operations. Column (b) resembles the cash flow from operations section of the
statement of cash flows prepared using the indirect method, except that the numbers have a dif-
ferent order—net income is at the bottom, not at the top—and the other numbers are in income
statement order.

Step 3 Add across the numbers in columns (a) and (b), and write the sums in column (d).
Label the sum as either Receipts or Payments, and describe the nature of the receipt or pay-
ment. Add the numbers in column (d). If you have done the work correctly, the sum in column
(d) will match the sum in column (b) and will equal cash flow from operations.

INDIRECT METHOD OF PREPARING THE STATEMENT OF CAsH FLows

The indirect method applies to the cash from operations section of the statement of cash flows.
The indirect method begins with reported net income, and adjusts net income to derive cash
flow from operations. We illustrate the adjustments and the calculation of cash flow from oper-
ations under the indirect method using the data provided for Kellogg Group. Kellogg Group’s
statement of cash flows for fiscal 2013, prepared using the indirect method, is shown in the
panel on the left-hand side of Exhibit 6.1.

The first line shows Kellogg Group’s net income, $1,192 million, from the income statement
(Exhibit 6.3). The first adjustment to net income is to add non-cash depreciation expense of
$243 million (the third line of Kellogg Group’s income statement in Exhibit 6.3). To under-
stand this adjustment, note that Kellogg Group used cash in some earlier period to acquire a
building or equipment. In that prior period, it reported the use of cash as an investing activity.
Depreciation appears as an expense on the income statement because it reflects the use of a
portion of the buildings and equipment whose service life extends over many years. Accounting
recognizes a portion of the cost of the cost of these assets as depreciation expense each period.
Depreciation expense decreases shareholders’ equity and increases accumulated depreciation,
which decreases net assets.® The journal entry that the firm would make to recognize deprecia-
tion expense is:

Depreciation Expense . . .. oo ottt e 243
Accumulated Depreciation. .. ... ... L i i 243
Journal entry to record depreciation expense of $243 million for the year.

Depreciation expense does not use cash. This is evident by the fact that cash is not cred-
ited in the above journal entry. The amount of depreciation expense does, however, reduce net
income.

The indirect method starts with net income, which includes a subtraction for depreciation
expense (the third line of Exhibit 6.3 shows this subtraction). Because depreciation expense
reduces net income but does not use cash, adding the depreciation expense amount back to
net income yields an amount that is closer to cash flows. Thus, under the indirect method, the
adjustment that adds back depreciation removes the effect of a non-cash expense, in calculating
operating cash flows.”

The remaining adjustments to net income relate to changes in working capital items. In par-
ticular, Exhibit 6.1 shows subtractions of $132 million for accounts receivable and $140 million
for accrued liabilities and additions of $27 million for inventories and $136 million for accounts
payable. We explain one of these adjustments—accounts receivable—and leave the others for
later chapters.

®The accounting for long-lived assets is discussed in Chapter 10. We introduce depreciation expense and accumu-
lated depreciation here because they are central to the statement of cash flows.

"To see this another way, imagine a firm whose only activity for a period was the recording of depreciation
expense of $100—nothing else. That firm would show negative net income, a loss, of $100 and no change in
cash. Cash flow from operations is zero. So, the reconciliation must start with the net loss of =$100, then add
back the $100 depreciation expense, in order to reconcile the —$100 net loss with the zero cash flow from opera-
tions. Later chapters explain why the change in the balance sheet account for accumulated depreciation rarely
equals the income statement amount for depreciation expense.
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184 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

Recall that accounts receivable represent the amount that customers who purchased on
credit owe at the balance sheet date. To derive the amount of cash Kellogg Group collected
from its customers during 2013, it is helpful to understand the following:

B Cash collected from prior period credit sales. Kellogg Group made sales in earlier periods
as well in the current period. Kellogg Group received cash this period from customers
who purchased in prior periods. The revenue from those prior sales appeared in the prior
period’s income statement. Those sales increased Kellogg Group’s accounts receivable in
the prior period and were followed by a decrease in accounts receivable this period when
Kellogg Group collected the cash.

B Cash sales this period and credit sales this period that were also paid this period. Kellogg
Group received additional cash from customers who (a) paid cash ¢his period and (b) pur-
chased on credit and paid this period. Both cases result in no change in accounts receivable
from the beginning to the end of 2013.

B Credit sales this period that have not yet been paid. Kellogg Group made credit sales in 2013
that it will collect in future periods.

Exhibit 6.2 shows that, as a result of the above transactions, Kellogg Group’s accounts receiv-
able increased by $132 (= $1,143 — $1,011) million during 2013. Thus, the amount of cash
Kellogg Group collected from customers in 2013 equals its sales revenues for 2013 ($12,822 mil-
lion, reported in Exhibit 6.3), reduced by the increase in accounts receivable during this period
(or increased by the decrease in accounts receivable during this period).® Thus, Kellogg Group
collected $12,690 million cash from customers in 2013 ($12,822 million sales revenue — $132
million increase in accounts receivable).’

To reflect the amount of cash collected from customers, the indirect method adjusts net
income for the difference between revenues recognized ($12,822 million) and the amount of
cash collected (512,690 million). That difference is the change in accounts receivable during the
period. Under the indirect method, the firm will subtract from income an increase in accounts
receivable and add to income a decrease in accounts receivable to arrive at cash flow from
operations.

The following summarizes the adjustments to net income required under the indirect
method to account for changes in working capital items:

Adjustment to Net Income Required to Derive Cash
Working Capital Account Flow from Operations Under the Indirect Method

Change in Current Asset:
Increase Subtraction of the amount of the increase
Decrease Addition of the amount of the decrease
Change in Current Liability:
Increase Addition of the amount of the increase
Decrease Subtraction of the amount of the decrease

To understand that the indirect and direct methods calculate the same amount of cash from
operations, consider the following summary. The indirect method starts with net income, equal
to revenues minus expenses. Then, it adjusts net income for revenues or expenses that produce
or use cash in amounts different from the revenue or expense item. The direct method lists each
revenue amount that increases cash and each expense amount that reduces cash.

8To see this another way, consider two unrealistic assumptions. First, assume that during a period a firm col-
lects no cash from any of the accounts receivable on its balance sheet at the beginning of the period. Then, the
amount of cash the firm receives from customers equals sales revenue less the increase in accounts receivable.
Second, assume that a firm has historically made sales on account but that in the current period it makes all its
sales for cash and collects some of the accounts receivable on its balance sheet at the beginning of the period.
Then, the amount of cash it receives during the period equals sales revenue plus the decrease in accounts
receivable.

°This is the same amount reported as Receipts from Customers under the direct method (right-hand panel of
Exhibit 6.1).
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2106 :{RIYN 6.3 FOR SELF-STUDY

Deriving the statement of cash flows from a T-account work sheet. Refer to Problem 6.2 for
Self-Study and its solution, including Exhibit 6.13.

a. Using the information in the T-account worksheet in Exhibit 6.13 and the format of
Exhibit 6.8, derive cash flows from operations, using the direct method, for Robbie
Corporation for 2013.

b. Prepare the cash from operations section of Robbie Corporation’s statement of cash
flows for 2013 using the direct method.

c. Prepare the cash from operations section of Robbie Corporation’s statement of cash
flows for 2013 using the indirect method.

d. Prepare the cash from investing section and the cash from financing section of Robbie
Corporation’s statement of cash flows for 2013.

e. Reconcile the net cash flow of Robbie Corporation in 2013 with the change in the
cash account shown on its balance sheet.

EXTENSION OF THE ILLUSTRATION TO MORE CoMPLEX TRANSACTIONS

The illustration for Kellogg Group is simpler than the typical published statement of cash flows
in at least four respects:

1. Only a few balance sheet accounts require explanation.

2. Several more complex transactions that affect cash flow from operations do not arise.
3. Each transaction recorded in Step 3 involves only one debit and one credit.
4

. Except for the Retained Earnings account, each explanation of a non-cash account change
involves only one analytic entry on the work sheet.

Most of the complications that arise in interpreting published statements of cash flows relate to
accounting events that later chapters discuss. We illustrate here one complication, arising from
an asset sale. We first assume the firm sold some of its equipment during the year at its carrying
value. That is, we assume the cash proceeds from the sale equal the acquisition cost of the asset
less the accumulated depreciation on the asset. With this assumption, there is no gain or loss on
the sale.

Sale of Equipment with No Gain or Loss Reconsider the Kellogg Group example,
assuming that Kellogg Group sold some equipment during 2013 for $13 million cash. It originally
paid $20 million for this equipment, and the accumulated depreciation on the equipment was $7
million. The entry made during the year to record the sale of the equipment was as follows:

Cash o e 13
Accumulated Depreciation. . ... ... . e 7

Buildings and Equipment (Cost) . . ... ... 20
Journal entry for sale of equipment at carrying value.

Further assume the net decrease in cash for 2013 is still $269 million. To reflect the new
information about the sale of the asset, we add one new journal entry (1a), replace journal
entry (6) with (6a), and replace analytic entry (2) with (2a). The following analytic entry in the
T-account work sheet recognizes the effect of the sale of equipment:

(1a) Cash (Investing: Sale of Equipment) ... ...... ... oo, 13
Accumulated Depreciation. ... ..o o ittt e 7
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost). . .................... 20

Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.
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186 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

The debit to Cash (Investing: Sale of Equipment) shows the proceeds of the sale. As a result
of analytic entry (1a), the T-accounts for Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost) and Accumu-
lated Depreciation appear as follows:

Property, Plant, and Accumulated
Equipment (Cost) Depreciation
v 3,975 1,324 4
20 (1a) (1a) 7
4 4,500 1,567 v

We can now analyze the change in the Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost) account: the
T-account requires a net debit amount of $525 million to balance. The T-account indicates a
credit (entry 1a) of $20 million to recognize the sale of equipment. To explain the net increase
in the Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost) account, given the decrease of $20 million, it
must be the case that Kellogg Group acquired new PPE for $545 (= $525 + $20) million during
2013.

The reconstructed analytic entry, which replaces analytic entry (6), and which completes the
explanation of the change in this account is as follows:

(6a) Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost). .. ........co v, 545
Cash (Investing: Acquisition of Property, Plant, and Equipment) . . .. 545
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

Likewise, to explain the change in the T-account for Accumulated Depreciation, we con-
sider the net credit change of $243 million and the debit entry of $7 million (1a), to recognize
the sale of the asset. Thus, depreciation expense for 2013 must have been $250 (= $243 + §7)
million. The reconstructed analytic entry, which replaces analytic entry (2) and which completes
the explanation of the change in the Accumulated Depreciation account is as follows:

(2a) Cash (Operations: Depreciation Expense Addback) . .................. 250
Accumulated Depreciation. . ... ..ot e 250
Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

The increase in depreciation expense, $7 million, reduces income, from $1,192 to $1,185
(= $1,192 = $7) million. There is no effect on cash from operations. Exhibit 6.9 presents a
revised T-account work sheet for Kellogg Group incorporating the new information on the sale
of equipment.

Loss on Sale of Equipment Now assume that during 2013 Kellogg Group sold the
equipment discussed previously for $12 million, instead of $13 million. The entry made to
record the sale of the equipment is as follows:

Cash o 12
Loss on Sale of Equipment. . . . ... ..ottt e 1
Accumulated Depreciation. . . ... ou vt i e 7
Buildings and Equipment (Cost) . ......... .. .. ... ... 20

This entry removes from the accounting records all amounts related to the equipment sold
including its acquisition cost of $20 million and the $7 million of accumulated depreciation
recognized while Kellogg Group used the equipment. The entry also records the cash Kellogg
Group received from sale of the equipment. The difference between the cash proceeds and the
carrying value of the equipment is a loss of $1 [= $12 — (§20 — $7)] million. This loss reduces
net income by $1 million.

The following analytic entry on the T-account work sheet would recognize the effect of the
sale of equipment for $12 million:
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Kellogg Group

EXHIBIT 6.9 Revised T-Account Work Sheet

Cash
v 524
Operations
Net Income (1) 1,185 132 (4) Increased Accounts Receivable
Depreciation Expense: (2a) 250 140 (9) Decreased Accrued Liabilities
Addback
Decreased Inventory (5) 27
Increased Accounts (8) 136
Payable
Investing
Proceeds from Sale of (1a) 13 545 (6a) Acquisition of Property,
Property, Plant, and Plant, and Equipment
Equpiment 264 (7) Acquisition of Long-Term
Investments
Financing
573 (3) Paid Dividends
233 (10) Paid Bonds Payable
v 255
Property, Plant, and
Accounts Receivable Inventory Equipment (Cost)
v 1,011 v 924 v 3,975
(4) 132 27 (5) (6) 525 20 (1a)
v 1,143 v 897 v 4,500
Accumulated Depreciation Long-Term Investments Accounts Payable
1,324 1,874 425 /
(1a) 7 250 (2) 264 (8) 136 (8)
1,567 v 2,138 v 561 v
= Accrued Liabilities Bonds Payable Retained Earnings
= 320 v/ 2,022 / 4,217
E 140 (9) (10) 233 (3) 573 1,185 (1)
g 180 v 1,789 v 4,829 v
S
(1a) Cash (Investing: Sale of Equipment) ... ...... ... i, 12
Cash (Operations: Loss on Sale of Equipment Addback) . .............. 1
Accumulated Depreciation. . . ..ottt e 7
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost). . .................... 20

Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

The debit to Cash (Investing: Sale of Equipment) shows the $12 million proceeds of the
sale. The debit to Cash (Operations: Loss on Sale of Equipment Addback) for $1 million
adds back to net income the loss on the sale of equipment. Like the depreciation expense
addback, the debit to Cash (Operations: Loss on Sale of Equipment Addback) does not rep-
resent an operating source of cash. The addback offsets the subtraction of the loss in comput-
ing net income. The loss reduced income but did not use cash this period. The firm spent cash
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188 Chapter 6 Statement of Cash Flows

sometime in the past, and it disposed of the assets purchased with that cash for an amount less
than their carrying value.

The impact of selling the equipment at a loss on various lines of the statement of cash
flows is as follows:

OPERATIONS

Net Income (Loss on Sale of Equipment) . ... ...ttt i, $(1)

Loss on Sale of Equipment Addback . .. ... ... 1
Cash Flow from Operations. . . . ..ttt e et $o0

INVESTING

Proceeds from Sale of EQUIpMENt . . . vt ittt e $12

Change in Cash from Sale of Equipment. . . ... ittt i e e e $12

One might view the recognition of a loss on the sale of equipment as indicating that the
firm recorded insufficient depreciation during prior periods. If Kellogg Group had known for
certain that it would receive $12 million for the equipment, it would have recognized another $1
million of depreciation expense during the periods when it used the equipment. Then, the sale
of the equipment would then have resulted in no gain or loss.

Gain on Sale of Equipment Extending this illustration still further, assume that Kellogg
Group received $15 million cash when it sold the equipment. The entry to record this sale is as

follows:
Cash oo e 15
Accumulated Depreciation. . . ..ottt e 7
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost). . .................... 20
Gain on Sale of Equipment . ........ ... . i 2

Journal entry to record sale of equipment.

This entry, like the one to record the sale at a loss, removes the balance sheet amounts for
the cost of the equipment and its accumulated depreciation, and records the cash proceeds. In
this case the cash proceeds exceed the carrying value of the equipment, resulting in a gain. This
gain increases net income by $2 million.

The following analytic entry in the T-account work sheet would recognize the effect of the
sale of equipment for $2 million:

(1a) Cash (Investing: Sale of Equipment) ... ...... ..., 15
Accumulated Depreciation. . ..o oottt e 7
Property, Plant, and Equipment (Cost). . .................... 20
Cash (Operations: Gain on Sale of Equipment Subtraction) . ....... 2

Analytic entry recorded in T-account work sheet.

The debit to Cash (Investing: Sale of Equipment) shows the $2 million proceeds of the sale.
The credit to Cash (Operations: Gain on Sale of Equipment Subtraction) reduces net income
for the gain on the sale of equipment that did not provide an operating cash inflow. Unless
we subtract the $2 million gain in the operations section of the work sheet, we overstate the
amount of cash inflow from this transaction, as the following analysis summarizes:

OPERATIONS
Net Income (Gain on Sale of Equipment) . . ... ...ttt $2
Subtraction for Gain on Sale of Equipment Not Providing an

Operating Cash Inflow. . . . .t e e e $(2)
Cash Flow from Operations ... ......... .ottt $0
INVESTING
Proceeds from Sale of Equipment . . . . ... oottt e $15
Change in Cash from Sale of Equipment. . . . ... o i e $15
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2206 :{RIYE 6.4 FOR SELF-STUDY

Preparing a statement of cash flows. Exhibit 6.10 presents a comparative balance sheet
for Gordon Corporation as of December 31, 2012 and 2013. Exhibit 6.11 presents the
income statement for 2013. Supplemental information pertaining to Gordon Corporation

follows:

B During 2013 the company declared and paid dividends of $120,000.

B During 2013 the company sold buildings and equipment that originally cost $55,000
and had accumulated depreciation at the time of sale of $30,000.

a. Prepare a T-account work sheet for the preparation of the statement of cash flows for

2013 using the indirect method for cash flows from operations.

b. Derive a presentation for cash flows from operations using the format of Exhibit 6.8.

c. Present a statement of cash flows for 2013 using the direct method for cash flows

from operations.

Gordon Corporation
Comparative Balance Sheet

EXHIBIT 6.10 December 31, 2013 and 2012

(Problem 6.4 for Self-Study)

(all amounts in thousands of US$)

December 31

2013 2012
ASSETS
Current Assets
CaSh e e e e e $ 40 $ 70
Accounts Receivable . ... ... e 420 320
Merchandise INVENtories . ... v vttt ittt et e 470 360
Prepayments . . ..o e e e 70 50
Total Current ASSetS . o v v vttt et e e e $1,000 $ 800
Property, Plant, and Equipment
Land . . e e $ 250 $ 200
Buildings and Equipment (Net of Accumulated Depreciation of
$840 in 2013 and $800 1N 2012) .« v v v oo e 1,150 1,000
Total Property, Plant, and Equipment . .. ... ...ttt $1,400 $1,200
TOtal ASSEES .« v vttt e e $2,400 $2,000
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS" EQUITY
Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable . ... ... e $ 440 $ 320
Income Taxes Payable . ... oo v ittt ettt 80 60
Other Current Liabilities. . . . . oo vt e e e 360 170
Total Current Liabilities . . ..o oottt e $ 880 $ 550
Noncurrent Liabilities
Bonds Payable . . .. ... 200 250
Total Liabilities . . . vttt e e $1,080 $ 800
Shareholders’ Equity
s Common SEOCK « & v vttt et e $ 540 $ 500
E’ Retained Earmings. . . . ..ottt e 780 700
g Total Shareholders’ EqUity . . . . oottt e et et e e e $1,320 $1,200
% Total Liabilities and Shareholders” Equity. . . . ... oo oottt $2,400 $2,000
s
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Gordon Corporation

Income Statement

EXHIBIT 6.11 For 2013

(Problem 6.4 for Self-Study)

(all amounts in thousands of US$)

REVENMUES .« v v e et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $1,600

Less:

Cost of Goods Sold . . . . oo e (900)

Depreciation EXPENSE. . . . v v vttt et e e e e (70)

Selling and Administrative EXpense . . . . ..o o e (255)
S Interest EXPEMSE. . . v v vt e e e e e e e (30)
E’ Loss on Sale of Buildings and Equipment . . ... ... ..t (15)
g Income Tax EXPENSE . . .o v vttt ittt e (130)
€ NeLINCOME . ..ottt ettt ettt e et et e $ 200
3

USING INFORMATION FROM THE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The statement of cash flows provides information that helps the reader assess (1) the impact of
operations on liquidity and (2) the relations among cash flows from operating, investing, and
financing activities.

IMPACT OF OPERATIONS ON LiIQuUIDITY

Perhaps the most important omission from the balance sheet and the income statement is
how the operations of a period affected cash flows. Increased earnings do not always gener-
ate increased cash flow from operations. When increased earnings result from expanding
operations, the firm usually has decreased cash flow from operations. A growing, successful
firm may have increasing amounts for accounts receivable and inventories, resulting in a lag
between earnings and cash flows. The need to wait for the collection of accounts receivable but
to acquire and pay for additional inventory in anticipation of future sales can lead to negative
cash from operations. Growing businesses often use financing from issuing debt or common
shares to meet their cash needs. A failure to obtain long-term financing can lead to chronic
liquidity problems.

On the other hand, increased cash flow can accompany reduced earnings. Consider, for
example, a firm that is experiencing operating problems and reduces the scope of its activities.
Although such a firm likely will report reduced net income or even losses, it might experience
positive cash flow from operations. The positive cash flow results from its collecting accounts
receivable from prior periods while it does not replace inventories, thus saving cash.

REeLATIONS AMONG CAsH FLows FROM OPERATING,
INVESTING, AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The relations among the cash flows from each of the three principal business activities differ
depending on the characteristics of the firm’s products and its maturity, for example a new and
rapidly growing firm versus a stable and mature firm. Consider each of the four following pat-
terns of cash flows.

Cash Flows from: Firm A Firm B Firm C Firm D
Operations. . ..o vttt e $ (3) $ 7 $15 $8
Investing. . . oo e (15) (12) (8) (2)
Financing . .. .ooii ittt e 18 5 ) _(6)
NetCash Flow. ... ... .o, $ 0 $ 0 $0 $0
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Firm A is a new, rapidly growing firm that is not yet profitable. It experiences buildups of its
accounts receivable and inventories and, thus, has negative cash flow from operations. To sus-
tain its growth, Firm A invests in plant and equipment and relies on external sources of cash to
finance both its operating and its investing activities.

Firm B is a more seasoned firm than Firm A, but one that is still growing. It operates profit-
ably and generates positive cash flow from operations. This cash flow from operations, however,
falls short of the amount needed to finance acquisitions of plant and equipment. Firm B there-
fore requires external financing.

Firm C illustrates the cash flow pattern of a mature, stable firm. It generates sufficient cash
flow from operations to acquire new plant and equipment, to repay financing from earlier peri-
ods, and, perhaps, to pay dividends.

Firm D is a firm in the early stages of decline. Its cash flow from operations is positive, per-
haps because of decreases in accounts receivable and inventories. In the later stages of decline,
its cash flow from operations may turn negative. A declining firm reduces its capital expendi-
tures and uses some of its cash flow from operations to retire outstanding debt and shares. It
may also use cash to invest in developing new products or to enter other industries.

These four cases do not, of course, cover all of the patterns of cash flows found in financial
reports. They illustrate how the characteristics of a firm’s products and industry can affect the
interpretation of information in the statement of cash flows.

INTERPRETATIVE ISSUES INVOLVING
THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Some analysts view cash flow from operations as equally important, or more important,
than net income as a performance measure and in doing valuations.!” Interpreting cash from
operations as a measure of operating performance requires considering cash flows along two
dimensions:

1. Their timing.
2. Their classification and disclosure in the statement of cash flows and related notes.

TiMING OoF OPERATING CasH FLows

Firms have some choice as to when they disburse cash. Delaying payments to suppliers during
the last few days of an accounting period conserves cash and thereby increases cash flow from
operations for that period. The cash payments during the early part of the next period reduce
cash flow from operations in that period. Thus, delaying payment increases cash flow from oper-
ations during the first period and decreases cash flow from operations during the second period.
The firm can repeat the process at the end of the second period—delaying payments from then
to the third period—to offset the negative cash flow effects of the payments made early in the
second period. A growing firm that delays payments at the end of every period reports larger
cash flow from operations each period than if it had not delayed making the cash payments at
the end of every period. Such a firm is, in effect, obtaining short-term financing from its suppli-
ers. Absent contracts or other agreements that preclude delayed payments, this business practice
is legal. Sufficiently delayed payments might harm a firm’s reputation or its credit rating.

CLASSIFICATION AND DiIscLOSURE OF TRANSACTIONS

Earlier in this chapter we discussed certain ambiguities in the classification of cash flows. Other
ambiguous classifications involve complex financial instruments that are beyond the scope
of this textbook. Still others involve transactions that you have not yet seen. An analyst who
wishes to use cash flows from operations as an indicator of performance should be aware that
classification decisions can affect cash from operations, perhaps significantly.

""When performing a valuation (for example, of a firm), it is important to distinguish between one-time and
recurring items. The statement of cash flows often presents operating items in a way that makes interpreting
this recurring/non-recurring distinction difficult. Rather, one needs to study the income statement items, as
Chapter 17 describes.
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Example 1 Distinguishing cash flows to acquire inventory from cash flows for investing activ-
ities. Suppose a firm purchases items such as films and games for short-term rentals to custom-
ers. The useful lives of these items range from about six months to two years.

B Are these items inventory? If so, cash paid to acquire the items is an operating cash flow.
B Or, are the items noncurrent assets? If so, the cash paid is an investing cash flow.

The firm does not sell the items; it rents them. Accounting practice classifies the cash payments
to acquire the rental items as part of operations. The classification does not affect total cash
paid by the firm to acquire rental items. Cash from operations is larger if the firm classifies the
expenditure as an acquisition of noncurrent assets.

Example 2 Many auto dealers finance a portion of their inventories by borrowing from
banks. These arrangements are commonly known as “floor plan financing.” Is a floor plan
financing an operating cash flow, because it functions like accounts payable in financing inven-
tories, or is it a financing cash flow? Accounting practice classifies the arrangements as financ-
ing. The classification does not affect total cash flows nor does it affect the substance of the
financing arrangement, but it does affect cash from operations.

| 160103V E 6.5 FOR SELF-STUDY

Effect of transactions on the statement of cash flows. Exhibit 6.12 shows a simplified
statement of cash flows for a period. Numbers appear on 11 of the lines in the statement.
Other lines (indicated with an “S”) are various subtotals and grand totals; ignore these

(continued)
Simplified Statement of Cash Flows
2 LLAR Pt (PrcI:bIem 6.5 for Self-Study)
OPERATIONS
Cash Receipts from CUSLOMErS. . . . vttt ittt e e e e et (1)
Less: Cash Payments to Suppliers, Employees, and Others . ......................... =)
Cash Flow from Operations [= (1) = (2)]. . ¢ oottt e e —S1
Reconciliation of Net Income to Cash Flow from Operations
= AEEE 0 0 0 000 00000000000000000006000000000000000000060a0600006000a N C)
Additions to Net Income to Compute Cash Flow from Operations ..................... _+(4)
Subtractions from Net Income to Compute Cash Flow from Operations. . ................ (5
Cash Flow from Operations [= (3) + (4) = (5)]. -« e oot i et s
INVESTING
Proceeds from Dispositions of “Investing” Assets. ... ...... ..ttt +(6)
Cash Used to Acquire “Investing” Assets. . . .. ...ttt i ittt eeeee e =@
Cash Flow from Investing [= (6) = (7)] - .« oot v it i _S2
FINANCING
Cash Provided by Increases in Debt or Capital Stock. ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... +(8)
Cash Used to Reduce Debt or Capital Stock . ... ... —(9)
Cash Used for Dividends. . . ...ttt e e —(10)
< Cash Flow from Financing [= (8) = (9) = (10)] . . ... ..ot _S3
E Net Change in Cash [=S1 4+ S2 + S3]. . . . . it et (11)
§ Cash, Beginning of the Period. . . . o .ottt ettt e e e e e e e _ S4
&  Cash, End of the Period [= (11) + S4] .. ..ottt )
s
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in the remainder of the problem. Assume that the accounting cycle is complete for the
period and that the firm has prepared all of the financial statements. It then discovers
that it has overlooked a transaction. It records that transaction in the accounts and
corrects all of the financial statements. For each of the following transactions, indicate
which of the numbered lines of the statement of cash flows change, and state the amount
and direction of the change. If net income, line (3), changes, be sure to indicate whether it
decreases or increases. Ignore income tax effects.

(Hint: First, construct the entry the firm would make in its accounts to record the
transaction. Then, for each line of the journal entry, identify the line of Exhibit 6.12 that
the transaction affects.)

a. Depreciation expense of $2,000 on an office computer.
b. Purchase of machinery for $10,000 cash.

c¢. Declaration of a cash dividend of $6,500 on common stock; the firm paid the divi-
dend by the end of the fiscal year.

d. Issue of common shares for $12,000 cash.

e. Proceeds of the sale of an investment in another firm’s common shares, a noncurrent
asset, for $15,000 cash; the firm sold the investment for its book value of $15,000.

SUMMARY

The statement of cash flows reports the effects of a firm’s operating, investing, and financing
activities on cash flows. Information in the statement helps readers to understand the following
concepts:

1. The effect of operations on the liquidity of a firm.
2. The level of capital expenditures needed to support ongoing and growing levels of activity.
3. The major changes in the financing of a firm.

Preparing the statement of cash flows requires analyzing changes in balance sheet accounts
during the period, as represented by the cash change equation (Eq. 3). As an outcome of the
balance sheet equation, the net change in cash equals the net change in all non-cash accounts.

The statement of cash flows usually presents cash flow from operations in the indirect
format, beginning with net income for the period. The indirect format adjusts net income for
revenues not providing cash, for expenses not using cash, and for changes in working capital
accounts. The result is cash flow from operations. Some firms use the direct method to present
cash flow from operations, listing all receipts generated by revenue transactions and subtract-
ing all expenditures for expenses that use cash during the current period. The cash flows from
investing activities and financing activities appear after cash flow from operations.

Interpreting a statement of cash flows requires an understanding of the economic char-
acteristics of the industries in which a firm conducts its activities, including capital intensity,
growth characteristics, and similar factors.

SOLUTIONS TO SELF-STUDY PROBLEMS

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 6.1 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Classifying cash flows by type of activity.)
a. Operating

b. Financing
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Operating
Operating
Operating
Operating
Investing

oot e e n

Item does not affect cash flows during the current period and would therefore not appear
in the statement of cash flows. The firm must disclose this transaction in a separate sched-
ule or a note to the financial statements.

i. Operating

Py

Operating

F

Investing

—

Item does not affect cash flows during the current period and would therefore not appear
in the statement of cash flows. The firm must disclose this transaction in a separate sched-
ule or note to the financial statements.

. Financing
Investing
Financing
Investing

=2 F ° F B

Operating

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 6.2 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Robbie Corporation; preparing a T-account work sheet for a statement of cash flows.)
Exhibit 6.13 presents a completed T-account work sheet for Robbie Corporation.

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 6.3 FOR SELF-STUDY
(Robbie Corporation; deriving the statement of cash flows from a T-account work sheet.)

a. Exhibit 6.14 derives the direct method presentation for cash flows from operations from the
T-account work sheet in Exhibit 6.13.

b. Robbie Corporation’s statement of cash flows derived under the direct method is as follows:

Sources of Cash:

Receipts from Customers . . . ... .. it e $ 173,000
Uses of Cash:

Cash Paid for Merchandise . ......... ... . i (131,000)

Cash Paid for Selling, General, and Administrative . .. ..................... (25,000)

Cash Paid for Interest Charges. . . . ..o i ittt e (2,000)
Cash Flow from Operations . . . .. ... ... .. ittt $ 15,000

c. Robbie Corporation’s statements of cash flows derived under the indirect method is shown

below:
Nt INCOME & v v et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 7,000
Depreciation Expense (Addition) . ....... . e 6,000
Adjustments for Changes in Working Capital:
Increase in Accounts Receivable (Subtraction). .. ... . ... ... .. L. (7,000)
Decrease in Inventory (Addition). . ...t 2,000
Increase in Accounts Payable (Addition). . ....... ... i i i 7,000
Cash Flow from Operations . . . . ... ... . it $15,000
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Robbie Corporation

T-Account Work Sheet

(Problem 6.2 for Self-Study)

(all amounts in thousands of US$)

EXHIBIT 6.13

Cash
v 10
Operations
(2) 2 7 (1)
(4) 6
(5) 7
®) 7
Investing
16 (3)
Financing
(6) 8 2 (9)
(7) 10
v 25
Property, Plant,
Accounts Receivable Merchandise Inventories and Equipment
v 15 v 20 v 50
(1) 7 2 (2) (3) 16
v 22 v 18 v 66
Accumulated Accounts Payable
Depreciation for Merchandise Bonds Payable
25 v 30 v/ 10 v
6 (4) 7 (5) 8 (6)
31 / 37 / 18 v
= Common Stock Retained Earnings
E 10 v 20 v
E 10 (7) (9) 2 7 (8)
g 20 v 25 v
S

d. Robbie Corporation’s cash flows from investing and financing for 2013 is as follows:

Cash Flow from Investing

Purchased Property, Plant and Equipment . . .. ... ... ... i $ (16,000)

Cash Flow from Investing. . .. ... ... ... . i, $(16,000)
Cash Flow from Financing -
Issued Bonds Payable. . . ..o oo $ 8,000
Issued Common Stock . ..o v vt 10,000
Paid Dividends on Common Stock. . . ... ..o (2,000)

Cash Flow from Financing. . . .. ...... ..ttt $ 16,000

e. Net change in Robbie Corporation’s cash flows for 2013 follows:

Cash Flow from Operations (Direct or Indirect Method) ... .......... ... ... .... $ 15,000
Cash Flow from Investing . . . . oottt e e (16,000)
Cash Flow from Financing . . . ...ttt ettt e e e e e 16,000
Net Cash FLOW . . . ..ot $15,000
Cash Balance, Beginning of 2013, . . vttt ittt ettt $ 10,000
Cash Balance, End of 2013 . . ... ... .. . ittt e $25,000
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Robbie Corporation

Deriving Direct Method Cash Flow from Operations
Using Data from T-Account Work Sheet

(Problem 6.3 for Self-Study)

EXHIBIT 6.14

1. Copy Income Statement and Cash Flow from Operations
2. Copy Information from T-Account Work Sheet Next to Related Income Statement Item
3. Sum Across Rows to Derive Direct Receipts and Expenditures

Changes in Related
Indirect Balance Sheet Accounts from Direct
Method T-Account Work Sheet Method | From Operations:
Operations (a) (b) (c) (d) Receipts Less Expenditures
Sales Revenues. . ...... $ 180,000 $(7,000) | = Accounts Receivable Increase (1) $ 173,000 | Receipts from Customers
Cost of Goods Sold . . ... (140,000) 2,000 | = Inventory Decrease (2) $(131,000) | Payments for Merchandise
7,000 | = Accounts Payable for Merchandise
Selling and Administrative Increase (5)
Expenses............ (25,000) (No balance sheet account changes.) (25,000) | Payments for Selling and
Administrative Services
Depreciation Expense. . . . (6,000) 6,000 | (Expense Not Using Cash) (4) —
Interest Expense. ... ... (2,000) — | Interest Payable (no change in (2,000) | Payments for Interest
balance sheet)
Net Income . ......... $ 7,000 $ 7,000 | = Net Income Totals........ $ 15,000 | = Cash Flow from Operations
5 Derived via Direct Method
$15,000 | = Cash Flow from Operations
Derived via Indirect Method

Note that the information in column (b) is cash flow from operations derived with the indirect method, with items in a different order.

© Cengage Learning 2014

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 6.4 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Gordon Corporation; preparing a statement of cash flows.)

Exhibit 6.15 presents a completed T-account work sheet for Gordon Corporation.
Exhibit 6.16 derives a direct method presentation of cash flows for operations. Exhibit 6.17
presents a formal statement of cash flows.

SUGGESTED SOLUTION TO PROBLEM 6.5 FOR SELF-STUDY

(Effect of transactions on the statement of cash flows.) Preparing the journal entry for each
transaction aids in understanding the effect on the 11 numbered lines in Exhibit 6.12.

a. Depreciation EXpense . . . ..ottt it e 2,000
Accumulated Depreciation. . ...... ... ... i i i 2,000
Change in Change in
Change Change in Shareholders’ Non-cash
in Cash = | Liabilities @ + Equity - Assets
0 0 —2,000 —2,000

This entry has no impact on operating cash flows, so it has no effect on lines (1) and (2). It
involves a debit to an income statement account, so line (3) decreases by $2,000. Deprecia-
tion expense reduces net income but does not affect cash line (11). Thus, line (4) increases
by $2,000 for the addback of depreciation expense to net income. This addback eliminates
the effect of depreciation on both cash flow from operations and cash.

b. Machinery. . . . 10,000
Cash vt e 10,000

(continued)
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Gordon Corporation

T-Account Work Sheet

(Problem 6.4 for Self-Study)

(all amounts in thousands of US$)

EXHIBIT 6.15

Cash
v 70
Operations
(1) 200 100 (5)
(4) 70 110 (6)
(3) 15 20 (7)
(10) 120
(12) 20
(12) 190
Investing
(3) 10 50 (8)
245 (9)
Financing
(14) 40 120 (2)
50 (13)
v 40
Accounts Receivable Merchandise Inventory Prepayments
v 320 v 360 v 50
(5) 100 (6) 110 (7) 20
v 420 v 470 v 70
Land Buildings and Equipment Accumulated Depreciation
v 200 v 1,800 800 v
(8) 50 (9) 245 55 (3) (3) 30 70 (4)
v 250 v 1,990 840 v
Accounts Payable Income Taxes Payable Other Current Liabilities
320 v/ 60 v 170 v
120 (10) 20 (11) 190 (12)
440 80 v 360 v
s Bonds Payable Common Stock Retained Earnings
> 250 v 500 v 700 v
§ (13) 50 40 (14) (2) 120 200 (1)
g 200 v 540 v 780 v/
o
Change in Change in
Change Change in Shareholders’ Non-cash
in Cash = | Liabilities & + Equity - Assets
—10,000 0 0 +10,000

(Invst.)

This entry does not involve receipts from customers nor payments to suppliers, so it does
not affect lines (1) and (2). It involves a credit to Cash, so line (11) decreases by $10,000.
Because line (11) is the net change in cash for the period, some other line must change
as well. Acquisitions of equipment represent Investing activities, so line (7) increases by
$10,000. Note that line (7) has a negative sign, so this means an increase to an amount
subtracted; increasing this line reduces cash.
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Gordon Corporation

Deriving Direct Method Cash Flow from Operations Using Data
EXHIBIT 6.16 from T-Account Work Sheet

(Problem 6.4 for Self-Study)

(all amounts in thousands of US$)

1. Copy Income Statement and Cash Flow from Operations
2. Copy Information from T-Account Work Sheet Next to Related Income Statement Item
3. Sum Across Rows to Derive Direct Receipts and Expenditures

Changes in Related
Indirect Balance Sheet Accounts from Direct
Method T-Account Work Sheet Method | From Operations:
Operations (a) (b) (c) (d) Receipts Less Expenditures
Revenues. . ........... $1,600 $(100) | = Accounts Receivable Increase $1,500 Receipts from Customers
Cost of Goods Sold . . . ... (900) 120 | = Accounts Payable Increase (890) | Payments for Merchandise
(110) | = Merchandise Inventory Increase =
Depreciation Expense. . . . . (70) 70 (Expense Not Using Cash)
Selling and Administrative
Expenses............. (255) 190 | = Other Current Liabilities Increase (85) | Payments for Selling and
(20) | = Prepayment Increase Administrative Services
Interest Expense. . ... ... (30) — | = Interest Payable (no change in (30) | Payments for Interest
Loss on Disposal of balance sheet)
Buildings and Equipment. . . (15) 15 | (Loss Not Using Cash) —
Income Tax Expense . . ... (130) 20 | = Income Taxes Payable Increase (110) | Payments for Income Taxes
Net Income . ......... $ 200 $ 200 | = NetIncome Totals........ $ 385 = Cash Flow from Operations
. Derived via Direct Method
$ 385 | — Cash Flow from Operations
- Derived via Indirect Method

Note that the information in column (b) is cash flow from operations derived with the indirect method, with items in a different order.

© Cengage Learning 2014

C. Retained Earnings . . ... oo ittt 6,500
Cash vt e e 6,500
Change in Change in
Change Change in Shareholders’ Non-cash
in Cash = | Liabilities & + Equity - Assets
—6,500 0 —6,500 0
(Finan.)

This entry involves a credit to Cash, so line (11) decreases by $6,500. Dividends are a
financing activity, so line (10) increases by $6,500.

d. Cash oo e 12,000
Common Stock. . . oot it 12,000
Change in Change in
Change Change in Shareholders’ Non-cash
in Cash = | Liabilities @ + Equity - Assets
+12,000 0 +12,000 0
(Finan.)

The debit to Cash means that line (11) increases by $12,000. Issuing stock is a financing
transaction, so line (8) increases by $12,000.
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Gordon Corporation

Statement of Cash Flows
EXHIBIT 6.17 For 2013

(Problem 6.4 For Self-Study)

(all amounts in thousands of US$)

OPERATIONS
Receipts from Customers . . . ... ittt e $1,500
Payments to Suppliers of Merchandise . .......... ... ... uuiinnn.. (890)
Payments for Selling and Administrative Expenses . . . ...........oouuu.. (85)
Payments to Lenders for Interest. . .. ..o v et n e (30)
[FEMIES (@7 INEDmE TERESe 0 0 0 0 0 0000000000000 000000000000000000 _(110)
Cash Flow from Operating Activities. . . .. .. ..ot $ 385
RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATIONS
NEt INCOME « . v v e ettt et et e e e e et e et e e e eae e $ 200
Additions:
Depreciation EXpense . . o v v vt e e 70
Loss on Sale of Equipment . .. ... ... .. e 15
Increase in Accounts Payable . ....... ... ... ..ottt 120
Increase in Income Taxes Payable. . . .. ... ... ..., 20
Increase in Other Current Liabilities . . . ........ ... . oot 190
Subtractions:
Increase in Accounts Receivable .. ... ... ... ... . ... .o ... (100)
Increase in Merchandise Inventories. . .. ..... ... i, .. (110)
IREEESE i FTEpEiaiiSe ¢ o o oo oooooooooncnoo0onocooo0ococooaa _ (20)
Cash Flow from Operations . .......... ... ...ttt ... $ 385
INVESTING
Acquisition of Land. . .. ..o oo $ (50)
Sale of Buildings and Equipment. . ... .. ...ttt 10
Acquisition of Buildings and Equipment . . ... ... ... .. . _ (245)
Cash Used for Investing . . . . ..o o v v it i e e (285)
FINANCING
Common Stock ISSUB .« o v vt ettt et e e e e $ 40
Dividends Paid . . . ..ot (120)
ReEEymamt @ BEmES o o 00 0c 0000000000000 000000000000000000000 _(50)
s Cash Used for FINancing . . . ..o e ittt i ittt e iieee e _(130)
T NetDeCrease in Cash. . . ..o o e ettt $ (30)
§ Cash, Beginning of 2013 . . . . ...ttt ittt e e 70
g  Cash, End of 2013, .. ... oot $ 40
6
e. CaSh o e e e 15,000
Investment in Securities. . . ..o oo ittt e 15,000
Change in Change in
Change Change in Shareholders’ Non-cash
in Cash = | Liabilities @ + Equity - Assets
+15,000 0 0 —15,000
(Finan.)

The debit to Cash means that line (11) increases by $15,000. Selling investments in securi-
ties is an investing activity, so line (6) increases by $15,000.
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KEY TERMS AND CONCEPTS

Statement of cash flows Free cash flow

Cash equivalents Direct method

Cash flow from operations Indirect method
Cash flow from investing activities cash change equation
Cash flow from financing activities T-account work sheet

QUESTIONS, EXERCISES, AND PROBLEMS

QUESTIONS

1. Review the meaning of the terms and concepts listed in Key Terms and Concepts.

2. “One can most easily accomplish the reporting objective of the income statement under
the accrual basis of accounting and the reporting objective of the statement of cash flows
by issuing a single income statement using the cash basis of accounting.” Evaluate this
proposal.

3. “The accrual basis of accounting creates the need for a statement of cash flows.” Explain.

4. “The statement of cash flows provides information about changes in the structure of a
firm’s assets and sources of financing.” Explain.

5. A student remarked: “The direct method of computing cash flow from operations is easier
to understand than the indirect method. Why do the majority of firms follow the indirect
method in preparing their statements of cash flows?” Respond to this student.

6. The statement of cash flows classifies cash expenditures for interest expense as an operat-
ing activity but classifies cash expenditures to redeem debt as a financing activity. Explain
this apparent paradox.

7. Under U.S. GAAP, the statement of cash flows classifies cash expenditures for interest on
debt as an operating activity but classifies cash expenditures for dividends to shareholders
as a financing activity. Explain this apparent paradox.

8. The statement of cash flows classifies changes in accounts payable as an operating activity
but classifies changes in short-term bank borrowing as a financing activity. Explain this
apparent paradox.

9. The acquisition of equipment by assuming a mortgage is a transaction that f